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CHAPTER I:
San Francisco, California
“It’s an Airstream. A 310 turbo diesel. Isn’t she a beaut?”
“I know what it is, Judge,” McCormick said. “What I meant was, what is it doing here?”
“Well,” the Judge paused for a moment, clearing his throat and looking somewhere other than at Mark, “I dunno, I just thought maybe we could use a little break. That was kind of a rough couple of days we had there, up at Clarkville.”

Mark’s eyes narrowed suspiciously. “You mean ... a vacation?”

The older man smiled. “Yeah, a road trip. It’s a great tradition. Travel by byways and the highways, see the sights -- ”

“The last time we took a road trip you almost wound up dead at the bottom of a reservoir.”

“Yeah, but that was last month. And we aren’t going anywhere near Clarence,” the Judge added grimly. “This time it’ll be fun.”

Mark’s eyes narrowed further. “Why?”

“Heck, because it’s a couple of guys hitting the road. No worries. No hedges. I’ll show you Mt. Rushmore. You ever been to Mt. Rushmore?”

“I meant ‘why’ as in ‘Who’s after us that we’re sneaking out of town on short notice like this without me even having time to finish mowing the back forty and you looking over your shoulder every couple of minutes?’ That ‘why’. And how long are we going to be gone for?”

Hardcastle frowned for a long silent moment. Then he said, “A month, maybe two.”
“The Tony Boutros trial.” Mark stabbed the air between them with one finger. “I knew it. I knew that was going too easy.”

“The FBI offered us witness protection. You want that instead?”

McCormick made a face. 

“Yeah, that’s what I thought you’d say. And Frank says maybe there’ll only be the one hit man --”

“What hit man?”

“Oh, um,” the Judge looked suddenly a little less forthcoming. “He missed me,” he muttered.

“By how much?” Mark’s voice had gone up a clear half-octave. 

Hardcastle turned his left arm in slightly. The rip in the fabric along the outer side of the sleeve was now clearly visible. 
“Kinda stupid, trying to take me out on the steps of the state’s attorney’s office and all.”

Mark paled slightly. 

“When are we leaving?”

#     #     #
“This is really great, ya know?” said McCormick with a grin.  He checked his rear view mirror again and settled a little deeper into the cushioned driver's chair.  “It handles a lot better than I thought it would.”  
Hardcastle nodded and leaned back comfortably in his own seat.  “One nice thing, it'll keep you at the speed limit.”

McCormick snorted in amusement and pressed just a bit harder on the accelerator, with no discernable result.  “So, I'll flip you for who gets the real bed and who gets the sofa bed.”

“Hah!”  The Judge shook his head.  “I'm paying, I get the bed.” 

Mark grimaced in complaint, then decided it wasn't worth even pretending to argue.  “So after Frisco, what?”
“San Francisco,” said the Judge patiently.  “The folks who live there get riled if you say 'Frisco'.  And after that, we head up through redwood country, take our time, see the sights, and cross over into Oregon.  Lots of coastline up in Oregon, and hey!”  He pulled a AAA guidebook out of the passenger side door pocket, “they got these lava fields.  You can go into lava caves and stuff.  That ought to be interesting.”
“Okay, we got about four and a half more hours to San Francisco,” Mark shot a look at the older man out of the corner of his eye.  “Where'd you plan for us to have lunch?”
Hardcastle waved a hand nonchalantly.  “Plenty of places between here and Fris -- the City.”  He cleared his throat loudly, overriding McCormick's snicker.  “Paso Robles would be good.  I know a place there.  It's about an hour past San Luis Obispo.”

#     #     #
Lunch in Paso Robles was followed by a quick stroll through the small park in the town center and a photo of the inn where Joe Dimaggio and Marilyn Monroe had spent their honeymoon.
A leisurely drive up the Salinas Valley (“the salad bowl of the country,” read the Judge from the guidebook) brought them into Gilroy (“the garlic capital of the world”) and then into heavy traffic from San Jose into the outskirts of San Francisco.
“This is a nightmare,” Mark grumbled, negotiating narrow streets and multitudes of jaywalkers.  “What were we thinking?”

Hardcastle patted the air placatingly.  “Just get us to Fort Mason and we'll take a cab to the places I want to see, okay?  There, just up ahead, next to the water.  Park over there.”
A cab did indeed take them to Coit Tower for an incredible view of the City by the Bay, and the Bay itself.  Then a trip to Fisherman's Wharf for a bread bowl of clam chowder and a walkaway crab cocktail, and a drive through Golden Gate Park.  
The cabbie took them past the Japanese Tea Garden and the fly-fishing pools, the museums and the stadium, then out the end of the park to Seal Beach and the Cliff House.  The chocolate-covered banana place had closed at dark, so Hardcastle reluctantly instructed the driver to take them back to the Fort Mason area.
“Quite a tour, Judge,” McCormick remarked as the cabbie smiled his thanks at the surreptitious tip Mark had passed him and drove off.  “Four hours for the whole city.”
“Well, it's a big country.  We don't want to take too long in any one place.  Besides, we've been here before.”  Hardcastle stretched expansively, then opened the Airstream's passenger door.  “Let's just get across the Golden Gate and we'll find a place to park for the night.  Tomorrow, the redwoods!”

#     #     #
The sequoias were breath-taking, and the twosome decided to meander through the park for the entire day.
“See, we saved so much time by just hitting the highlights in Frisco, that we can take it easy here.”  Hardcastle smiled and drew in a deep breath, letting it out slowly.  “Smell that air!”
Mark wagged a finger at him.  “Don't call it Frisco,” he admonished.
“Whatever.”  The Judge lifted his head and stared rapturously at the tops of the giant redwoods.  “Aren't they something?”

McCormick looked at him consideringly.  He seems awful relaxed for a guy ducking out of the way of a bullet.  Maybe he needed a break, a vacation.  He chuckled quietly out of sheer pleasure.  Maybe we both did.
“Come on, kiddo, let's get some pictures.  You stand over there and look up.”  The Judge peered through the viewfinder and shook his head.  “No, try pointing up or something.  Look interested or like you're having fun.  Naw, that's not right.  There!” he said, as Mark put his hands on his hips and looked at him with patient irony.  “That's more like it!”

CHAPTER II:
Oregon

The next morning was spent driving along mountain roads, through evergreen forests, up into Oregon.
“You see why I didn't let you drive?”  Mark took the Airstream around another sharp curve.  “You leave this to the professional, okay?”

Hardcastle grumped a bit.  “It's not like I never drove anything this size, ya know.  You never drove a tractor.”

“I promise you, Judge, if we ever rent a tractor, you can drive it, okay?  But this,” he patted the steering wheel, “is my job.”  He looked in his rear view mirror, then checked the side mirror as well.
“What's the matter with you, anyway?  You think somebody's following us?”  The Judge turned in his own seat to look at the empty road behind them.  “Ah, you're getting paranoid on me now, kid.”
McCormick shrugged.  “Just thought I saw the same car back there since Yreka.  Now they're gone.  Musta taken that last exit to Ashland or something.”  He shrugged again.  “Doesn't hurt to keep an eye open, ya know.  Hey, look up how we get to the coast, willya?”

As the two continued up the coast, Hardcastle pulled out his guidebook and perused his options. “Hey kiddo, why don’t we head over to 101 and stop in at Florence? They have this fantastic underground cave where hundreds of sea lions live!”
“Sea lions?”  Mark repeated.  “Sure, why not.” 
A few hours later, Mark pulled the Airstream into the parking lot of a gift shop.  The sign outside urged visitors to take the tour of the fabulous cliff cave.  The two men went inside and paid the fee to ride the elevator down inside the cliff face.  Once at the bottom, Mark was amazed to see the vast cave with the hundred or so sea lions lying about.  He wrinkled up his nose at the smell of so many animals coupled with the tang of salt ocean spray.
Hardcastle grinned at his young friend’s expression.  “What’s wrong?  Place doesn’t smell any worse than your bedroom before Sarah picks up all your dirty socks.”  He chuckled at the outraged look on Mark’s face. “I’m hungry.  What say we go on up the coast to Newport?  They have this restaurant there that makes its own clam chowder from scratch.”  Hardcastle clapped his hands together and led the way back to the elevator.  As the doors closed, he missed the stare from the angry-looking young man at the back of the cave.
An hour's drive up Highway 101 brought them to Newport.  They enjoyed lunch at Mo’s, then spent a quiet afternoon seeing the rest of the sights.  Hardcastle loved the old lighthouse and laughed at Mark’s face when they read the booklet that told of the ghost of the young girl who was murdered at the lighthouse.  “But Judge, the story has to be true.  The floor in that room was painted pink!  The tour guide told me they had to do that to cover up the bloodstain.”
“It’s all in your imagination, McCormick.  All these old places have a story like that for the tourists.”  His words couldn’t erase the grin on his face.  He didn’t know what was more fun, the sights themselves, or watching the fun that Mark was having.  He led the way down the trail back to the beach.  He wanted to walk along the shore and do some old fashioned beachcombing.  
The two found a knoll to sit on and sat in companionable silence, watching the ocean and listening to the surf.   Mark had his hands wrapped around his knees, listening intently and rocking gently back and forth.  He had never been on a real vacation before and could have been fully enjoying himself, except for the fact that the man who sat beside him might be a target.    His musings were interrupted by a shape rising out of the water.
“Look, McCormick!  A whale!”  Both men stood to get a better look as the whale breached and fell gracefully back into the water. “I’ve seen ‘em back home, but this is better.” Mark was awed by the sight of the gentle giant and scanned the horizon looking for more.
Finally, the Judge broke the silence.  “Come on, kid.  We have to find a place to park this thing for the night.  There’s a campground just up the coast called Agate beach.  It’s not far from Depot Bay, the world’s smallest harbor.”  They walked in silence back down the coast and had just about reached the trail when a nondescript black sedan slowed to a stop at the head of the trail.
McCormick glanced up at it curiously, then with a squint of suspicion.  He reached for the Judge's arm when a window began rolling down, then heard several high-pitched squeals as a young family raced across the head of the trail and down toward the beach.  The sedan immediately pulled off and headed out the exit of the small parking lot.
Hardcastle hadn't noticed the aborted grab for his arm, and keep climbing to the top of the trail.  “Come on, McCormick.  Let's get moving.” 
Mark followed, a thoughtful expression on his face. 

#     #     #


They were on the road again.  They decided to turn east and headed down Hwy 20 toward Albany.  Hardcastle regaled McCormick with stories of the Oregon Trail and pointed out the many farms and fields.  
“This is where they were headed.  Look at the land, McCormick.  Anything you wanna grow, you can grow it here.  Except for okra, too cold for okra.”  He didn’t miss Mark’s sardonic grin at the mention of the southern vegetable.
Driving into the night, they found a campground just outside of Sisters. After a quick dinner in the local café, they turned in for the night.
Early the next morning, Hardcastle shook Mark awake.  “Let’s go, you’re gonna miss it.”
“Miss what?” Mark turned a bleary eyed look on his mentor.  “It’s not even sun-up yet.”
“You wanna see sunrise up here.  Sisters is a series of volcanoes.  It’s nothing like the coast range.  Eastern Oregon is all desert and lava fields and mountains.  Come on!”  He yanked the covers off and laughed aloud at Mark’s strident objection.
Ten minutes later, the two men were sitting just outside of the same little café drinking coffee and watching the sun peek up over the shoulder of the mountain. Mark wasn’t about to say so, but he was glad that the older man had woken him up for this.  A leisurely breakfast later, the two men were ready to hit the road again.
Hardcastle spread out the map and studied it.  “Okay, we have two ways to go here.  We can go on east and hit Idaho, or we can head north on 97 and follow the Columbia River gorge.  From there we can head west to Portland and go up into Washington, or we can head east to Idaho.  Take your pick.”
Mark thought for a moment, and then shrugged.  “Doesn't matter to me.  You pick.”
The Judge pushed out his lower lip and considered for a moment.  “Okay.  Let’s head for Portland and then drive through the Gorge over through Idaho and on to the Dakotas.  While we're in Portland, we can go to this little bookstore I know, Powell’s Books.  We can get more guidebooks there, maybe a coupla books about the history of some of the stuff we're seeing.  That sound like a plan?”

After an hour of clean up, the two were ready to hit the road again.  Mark settled into the driver’s seat of the RV and began going through his mental checklist of gas, gauges, mirrors and ... what was that?  Adjusting the side mirror, Mark noted the pickup that was parked in the camping area just across the way from their RV.  A man was sitting in the Dodge truck, apparently writing something down in a notebook.  He looked up to see Mark staring directly at him.  Putting on a big smile, the man waved the newspaper he was writing on.  “'Morning,” he called.  “Beautiful day!”

Mark relaxed and smiled back.  “Sure is,” he called back before putting the Airstream in gear and driving off.

The drive to Portland was beautiful, following the coast nearly the entire way.  They found a truck stop just outside of town and parked the RV. Since neither one wanted to drive the large Airstream in downtown Portland, Hardcastle arranged to rent a car for the day.  After a hearty lunch of fish and chips, they drove into downtown Portland.

“So what’s the big deal about a bookstore?  We have lots of them at home,”  Mark asked.

“This is Powell’s Book Store,” the Judge patiently explained as he negotiated the narrow streets.  He turned a final corner and pointed triumphantly, “There it is.”

‘There’ was a long, low, concrete building with a corner entrance.  The Judge drove around the corner and pulled into what looked to be an abandoned building behind the bookstore that proved to be a multi-level parking garage.

“A bookstore with its own parking garage?” Mark asked.

“Yep.  Wait till you see the inside.  Don’t forget to get a map and don’t get lost.  If you do, just sit down, I’ll find you,” Hardcastle said cryptically as the two men made their way back to the entrance.  Once inside, Mark was amazed at the size of the used bookstore.  Instead of being a dark hole in the wall, Powell’s took up an entire city block.  A young girl inside welcomed them and handed each man a two-sided map of the store before turning to the next customers.

“Wow,” was Mark’s low-voiced response.

“Now, while I go find the law books and some new jazz music, you can follow the map to the True Crime section,” Hardcastle said with a twinkle in his eye.

“Ha, ha.”  Mark shook his curly head.  “I wonder if they have a section on racing?” The men split up after agreeing to meet in the entryway in two hours.

Three hours later, the Judge found his ward curled up in an armchair with a thick book of racing legends.  Three other books lay piled at his feet. Hardcastle was surprised to note that at least one of them was on the history of law.  He studied the young man for a while.  Mark’s face was shining with joy and his bright eyes were full of curiosity.  Hardcastle’s heart ached for the chances that had never been presented to a young Mark McCormick.  Just what would he have accomplished in a world where he could have taken advantage of the numerous opportunities that he had now?

Mark looked up at that time and caught Hardcastle watching him.  “This place is fantastic!  Now I see why it takes up a city block.  Look at what I found.”  
Hardcastle listened in amusement as Mark began to point out all the racers in the book he had in his lap.  They ended up buying nearly a hundred dollars worth of books from the shop before leaving.  Mark had his history of law book as well as two on racing and one on landscaping to go with the Judge’s two books on jazz music, one picture book on the life of John Wayne, a Chilton’s car manual to go with the Corvette, and two books on the history of the American Northwest.

Back at the Airstream, they turned in the rental car and decided to head on east to the Columbia River Gorge that afternoon.  As they drove, Hardcastle read aloud from one of his 'new' books, stories of the early pioneers who followed the Oregon Trail down this gorge by wagon and by raft.  “This whole area is what the settlers were aiming for,” he said looking up from the book. “From here they could start to find new homes, or go on down into the valley by Salem.  A lot of them kept going south and ended up in California.”  Hardcastle finally directed Mark to pull off the road at one of the many lookout points.  Mark protested but wasted no time in pulling the big camper off the road.  He had spotted the wind surfers.  Men and women wearing wetsuits were making their way up and down the river on surfboards outfitted with wind sails. Mark had seen wind surfers on the southern California beaches, but this was entirely different.  The waves on the river were high and choppy with a high wind that stung and bit even in the warm weather.  Hardcastle could see that his young friend was entranced.  “Do you wanna try that?”

“Who, me?” Mark turned wide eyes on the older man.  “No way am I that crazy!”  Mark turned back to watching, unaware of the silent chuckling behind him.
They continued on, stopping twice more, both times at spectacular waterfalls.  The first was right off the side of the highway, and they took several photos of each other standing in front of it.  McCormick kept a surreptitious watch on cars passing them as they posed and clicked, but none of the passers-by showed any particular interest in them.
Hardcastle insisted on taking a turn at the driving after the second waterfall.  “This is some of the most spectacular scenery in the country.  You oughta have a chance to see it.  Now just sit there and keep quiet.”
At the end of the Gorge, they stopped for a meal at a diner in the outskirts of Pendleton, then found a nearby RV park for the night.  Each settled in happily with his newly-acquired books, and they both turned in at ten for an early start the next morning.
CHAPTER III:
Idaho/Wyoming/South Dakota
That day was spent in a leisurely drive through the eastern part of Oregon into Idaho.  A stop in Boise for lunch, and a trip through the southern half of the state to Twin Falls, then a visit to the lava beds between there and Pocatello ate up the afternoon.   Then up to Yellowstone National Park in the northwest corner of Wyoming.
“Look, that's a buffalo!”  McCormick pointed in excitement.  “There's a whole bunch of buffaloes!”
The Judge pondered that.  “Never been sure if that's 'buffaloes' or 'buffalo'.”  He took a left-turn into a parking lot set aside for larger vehicles.  “You never saw a buffalo on the hoof before, huh?”

“Judge,” said Mark patiently, “I'm from Jersey.  The only 'hoofs' I ever saw were mounted cops.”

“Yeah, well, then get out the camera, kiddo.”  Hardcastle parked the Airstream and stretched expansively.  “We'll find one of those little tour buses and see Old Faithful and then check out the museum.”

The rest of that day and the entirety of the next was spent exploring the wonders of Yellowstone.  Old Faithful wasn't the only geyser to be visited, and the scenery was indescribable.  Mark bought three more rolls of film for the camera and the Judge bought a Yellowstone baseball cap.  

“This was a great idea,” enthused McCormick, as they pulled out and headed across Wyoming for South Dakota.  “I mean, it's just great.  I've never seen anything like this.”

“Well,” the Judge settled into the passenger seat with his guidebook and map, “I've never been here before, either, and I gotta tell ya, kiddo, this is great.  It's something everybody oughta see at least once.  And so's the next stop.”  He looked up from the map.  “Mount Rushmore.  I'm really looking forward to that.”
The drive across Wyoming was uneventful.  McCormick thought, for one brief moment, that he'd spotted the same black sedan again, but it left the highway at the next exit, so he decided he'd been overly-sensitive to black vehicles recently.

“Hey,” he said, as they grabbed a burger lunch in Casper, “Did you see that guy in the parking lot?  The one with the Dodge truck and the Yellowstone sweatshirt?”

Hardcastle shook his head and took another bite of Billy Bob's Best Burger.  “Nope,” he said thickly, “How come?”

McCormick took a gulp of his vanilla shake and lifted an eyebrow.  “I think I saw him at the coast, back in Oregon.”

“Ah, you'll start seeing a lotta the same people.”  The Judge took a French fry and waved it explanatorily.  “We're hitting all the big tourist spots, see, just like everybody else.  I betcha you see him at Mount Rushmore, too.”

The next stop was for the night at the Jewel Cave National Monument just over the state line in South Dakota.  And the next morning found them at Mount Rushmore.

“That's amazing,” murmured McCormick.  “That's just ...”

“Yep.”  The Judge nodded and stared for a few minutes, then turned and said, “Let's go check out the tourist center and get some more film.”

The tourist center was vast, and crammed with interesting historical and geographical data and extensive information on the construction of the monument.  Various souvenirs were for sale, and the Judge bought yet another baseball cap.

“Hey, you can't have too many,” he explained defensively.

Mark snorted, then surreptitiously bought himself a t-shirt.

Hardcastle grinned when he caught sight of the bag.  “Hah!”  He donned his new cap and rubbed his hands together.  “How 'bout some lunch?”

After lunch, they both stood and admired the view again, for quite some time.  Mark caught sight of a familiar Dodge truck and looked around.  Sure enough, there was the same man he'd seen twice previously, now gazing at the stone faces in rapt appreciation.  Mark quickly scanned the parking area for a black sedan, but the only black vehicles were trucks and station wagons.

McCormick cast a sharp look back at the man with the Dodge truck, but he'd moved away and couldn't possibly overhear them.

“So, where next, Kemo Sabe?” he said, turning back to the Judge and taking the camera from him.  “Stand over that way a bit,” he motioned, and held the camera to his right eye.  “Now look judicial.”  

Hardcastle grinned at the camera and stuck his hand inside his shirt a la Napoleon.  Then, after the click of the lens, he replied, “Up to Rapid City, then out to the Badlands National Park.  I figure we stay there tonight, then head over to Sioux Falls and up to North Dakota from there tomorrow.”

“Sounds okay to me.  What's in North Dakota?”  McCormick handed the camera back and posed himself, one arm outstretched theatrically toward George Washington, the other held over his heart.

“Fargo,” answered the Judge.  “Well, that finishes that roll.”


#     #     #
The Badlands were spectacular, the perfect afternoon trip. Later that night, sitting around a campfire, drinking coffee with a million stars overhead, McCormick was more relaxed than he ever thought possible. He couldn’t help but smile as he stared up at the stars. The Judge was watching him and couldn’t help but smile himself. McCormick looked like a kid without a care in the world.
“Want to roast some marshmallows?” asked the Judge with a smile.

“Yeah, that would be great.” McCormick hesitated before speaking again. “We don’t have any, do we?” 
“Nope. Just thought I would see if you wanted to.” The Judge chuckled. “Maybe we’ll get some for our trip through the State of 10,000 Lakes. You do know which state that is, right?”

“Well, since we're heading north and east, I'm going say it’s Minnesota.”

“Correct. We’ll pick up some marshmallows for our visit to Itasca State Park – home to the Headwaters of the Mississippi River.” The Judge yawned and stood up. “Time to get some sleep. Tomorrow's gonna be a long day of driving across the prairie.”

“I’m going to stay up a little while longer. I’ll put out the fire and be in later. Good-night, Judge.” 

“Good-night, kiddo.”

McCormick lay back on the blanket next to the fire and stared up at the stars. “Amazing,” he whispered to himself. He watched the stars for a few minutes, rolled over onto his stomach, picked up his notebook, and began to write.

CHAPTER IV:
North Dakota/Minnesota
The drive across South Dakota to Sioux Falls was long and open. The Judge drove to Sioux Falls, stopping in Mitchell to see the Corn Palace and have lunch. Getting back on the road, McCormick turned to the Judge and said, “Judge, the Corn Palace was kinda neat and weird. I didn’t realize that people did art with seeds. Way too many seeds for me.”
“It’s different, that’s for sure. So, you ready to go to Fargo?”

“What’s in Fargo?”

“Nothing really. There's an old theater that was just restored. Thought we could catch a movie tonight, assuming we get there before 7 pm.”

“If there’s nothing in Fargo, then why are we going?”

“Because the guys in the black sedan and the Dodge pick-up wouldn’t think of it and the movie at the Fargo Theater is a classic.”

“Oh, I guess you have been paying attention. What’s the movie?”

“Casablanca. You ever see it in a movie theater?”

“Casablanca. Nice, never saw it in a theater. Last time I saw it was San Quentin, 1981, without the popcorn.”

They arrived in Fargo, found a place to park the Airstream for the night, had dinner, and went to the theater. Both enjoyed the movie, and Hardcastle made sure McCormick had popcorn. 

“So, what’s on the itinerary for tomorrow?” asked Mark, trying to stifle a yawn as they walked back the Airstream.

“Well, Itasca State Park is a couple hours drive from here. I thought we would head there tomorrow after you finish at the laundromat, do some hiking, put our feet in the mighty Mississippi, and roast some marshmallows over the fire.”

“Laundromat! You’ve got to be kidding.” McCormick cast a quick glance at the Judge. 

“Well, we have been on the road for a week now. Can’t have the Airstream looking like the gatehouse.” Hardcastle laughed at Mark’s expression.

“Itasca sounds nice.”

“Have you ever seen the Great Lakes?”

“The Great Lakes -- nope, never had a chance.”

“We’ll have to see if we can find a way to visit all five of the Great Lakes. We’ll head for Duluth and Lake Superior after Itasca.”

“Duluth, Minnesota! That’s where Bob Dylan was born. Cool!”

As Hardcastle unlocked the door and stepped inside, he turned around and asked, “Bob who?”

“You’ve got to be kidding! Bob Dylan, Mr. Tambourine Man.” Seeing the confusion on the Judge’s face, McCormick began to sing.
“Hey! Mr. Tambourine Man, play a song for me,
I'm not sleepy and there is no place I'm going to.
Hey! Mr. Tambourine Man, play a song for me,
In the jingle jangle morning I'll come followin' you.”
Hardcastle held up his hand. “Enough! I got it. Sorry I asked.” He looked at Mark, who quickly was putting his bed together and said, “Get some sleep.”
Early the next morning, McCormick grabbed the bag of laundry along with one of his new books and headed out. The Judge stayed back and reviewed the maps. A couple hours later, McCormick returned and they headed east on U.S. 10 towards Park Rapids, Minnesota.

They arrived at Itasca State Park just after lunch and quickly set up their campsite, then proceeded to hike through the towering red and white pines to the dam, marking the headwaters of the Mississippi River. Along the hike, McCormick was surprised to see several whitetail deer, as well as numerous rabbits. As they neared the headwaters, Mark stopped suddenly.

“Judge, look!” whispered McCormick. “A bear!”

“It’s just a black bear, McCormick.  Probably looking for something to eat.”

“Black bears don’t eat meat, do they?” whispered McCormick with a bit of panic in his voice.

“They’ll eat anything if they’re hungry enough, but mainly berries, fish, roots, and grubs. Don’t be so jumpy,” responded Hardcastle as they watched the bear walk away.

They reached the rock dam where McCormick took off his shoes and socks, rolled up his pants, and stepped into the water.

“Oh man, it’s cold!” exclaimed McCormick. “Quick, get a picture before I freeze to death.”

“It’s springtime here in the north. What did you expect?” groused Hardcastle as he snapped a few pictures of McCormick standing in the Mississippi River. “Okay, you can get out now.” Hardcastle tried hard but was unable to contain the laughter.

The young man carefully made his way to shore and sat down. “Man, my feet are cold!” he said through chattering teeth as he rubbed them and tried to put his socks back on.

“If you think this is cold, wait until you put your feet in Lake Superior tomorrow. Now, let’s hike the next trail before dinner.”

“What’s for dinner?”

“Hamburgers. It’s too early to fish for walleye, northerns, trout, or bass. If you wanted to clean bluegills, we could fish for those.”

“Judge, I’ve never been fishing, let alone learned to clean one. Hamburgers are perfect. Besides, you got marshmallows for tonight.”

They hiked along in companionable silence when Hardcastle stopped McCormick with a gentle pull on his arm. Hardcastle pointed to something swimming in the lake.

“Otters.”

Both men watched the otters swimming silently across the still waters. A few minutes later, Hardcastle pointed out another visitor to the lake, a loon.

“We're in for a real treat tonight with the loons. They have the most amazing song,” whispered Hardcastle. 

As soon as he was done speaking, the loon called across the lake to its mate, sending a shiver down both Hardcastle and McCormick’s spines.

“Wow, that is a really eerie call, but I like it,” said McCormick as his stomach growled. “Judge, can we head back soon -- I’m hungry.”

“Yeah, we can. All this fresh air is getting to you.”

The walk back to their campsite was enjoyable. Every once in awhile the men would hear the loon calling to its mate. After dinner, both sat around the campfire, relaxing while listening to the wind whispering in the pines and the sounds of the evening fire crackling. As the stars came out in full force, Hardcastle handed McCormick a stick and the bag of marshmallows.

“You go first, kiddo.”
“Thanks.” McCormick quickly opened the bag of marshmallows and began to roast his first marshmallow. “Judge, did you know that this is the first time I've really been camping. I’ve never roasted marshmallows before, either. Thanks for doing this.”

The Judge shifted in his chair uncomfortably and rubbed his nose. “Well kid, I guess there’s always a first time for everything. Now, I’m gonna give you a quick warning about marshmallows.”

“Yeah, what’s that?” asked McCormick as he took a bite of his marshmallow. “Oh my God, that’s hot!” shouted McCormick as he spit the marshmallow out and took a big swig of his beer. McCormick’s face turned green as the beer mixed with the sugary sweet aftertaste of marshmallow.

“They are really hot … and they taste bad with beer,” Hardcastle laughed. “Hot chocolate goes better with marshmallows.”

“Now you tell me.” McCormick went back to roasting marshmallows and was determined to let the next one cool before biting into it.

“Better late then never.” The Judge watched his young friend and smiled. He got up and went to the camper for a cup of water. He returned and handed it to McCormick. “Here, this'll taste better for the next time you burn your mouth on a marshmallow.”

“Not doing that again,” mumbled Mark as he took the cup.

“We’ll see. I’m going to bed. Don’t stay up too late.” Hardcastle patted Mark on the shoulder and went back to the camper.

A few minutes later, Hardcastle was lying in bed with a book, when he heard McCormick muttering and spitting another hot marshmallow out. The Judge chuckled and turned the light off.

#     #     #
Both men rose early and cleaned up the campsite. McCormick looked around and sighed. The Judge looked at him with a questioning glance but said nothing. They loaded up the Airstream and headed east towards Cass Lake, where they would pick up U.S. 2. 

“So kid, how many more times did you burn your mouth last night?”

“Three,” came the quiet response from the driver’s seat.

“Any marshmallows left for tonight?”

“Yeah, half a bag. Where are we staying tonight?”

“Gooseberry Falls State Park, about an hour north of Duluth.”

Mark stopped the motor home in Grand Rapids to visit the Judy Garland museum. After a quick look at her birthplace and the famous ruby slippers, they hopped back in the Airstream and headed towards Duluth. As they traveled, Mark commented on how remote the area seemed. The Judge mentioned that north of Grand Rapids it was even more remote, especially in the areas referred to as the Iron Range and the Boundary Waters.

As they neared Duluth, McCormick began to see signs informing him of steep grades. At the crest of one hill, he pulled the Airstream over to the side of the road. 

“Judge, look!” McCormick was pointing at the horizon.

“That’s Lake Superior, kiddo. The largest, deepest, and coldest of the great lakes. We’ll stop here in Duluth for lunch and then head up the coast to the falls and the Split Rock lighthouse.”

“Amazing. It looks like an ocean. And hey, look at the ocean freighters!”

“I believe they call those ore boats or lower-lakers.”

They had a quick lunch at a café along the harbor. As a fog bank started to roll in off the lake, they headed up Highway 61 towards Two Harbors. The fog was thick and cool. At times, they were able to make out the waves breaking on the rocks along the shoreline. It started to rain and the wind picked up.

“Great timing. I guess we won’t be checking out the lighthouse this afternoon,” complained McCormick as he continued to drive further north.

“So we won’t hike this afternoon. We can sit back, enjoy the fresh air off the lake and read our books,” responded Hardcastle. “Maybe this evening things will clear enough for another campfire.”

As they neared the entrance to the Gooseberry Falls State Park, Hardcastle pointed to a pullover near a bridge. “Let’s check this out. It’s supposed to have a short hike to the Upper Falls as well as the Middle Falls.” Hardcastle had the guidebook open and began to read: “Waterfalls can be viewed near the Highway 61 bridge and in the gorge. Here the Gooseberry River tumbles over the 30-foot Upper Falls into a pool, glides to the two-tiered Middle and Lower Falls, plunging 60 feet to the last pool, and then meanders through a valley to Lake Superior.”

“Sounds great.” McCormick opened the door on the Airstream and was amazed at how cool the air coming off the lake was. He quickly shut the door and went to the back of the Airstream.

“Judge, the air is so cold here. Where did we pack the sweatshirts and jackets?” he asked, as he began digging through one of the overhead storage compartments. 

Hardcastle went into the bedroom and returned with McCormick’s jacket. “Not sure where you packed the sweatshirts, but here,” he said handing the coat to Mark. “Let’s get going!”

Despite the fog and the cold drizzle coming from the lake, they were able to hike to a vantage point near the Upper Falls. With the spring rains and the snowmelt, the falls were spectacular. The thunderous noise was such that Hardcastle had to yell at McCormick whenever they wanted to talk. Hardcastle enjoyed taking pictures of the waterfall and one particularly soggy young ex-con. The mist in the air and the spray from the waterfall seemed to cling to McCormick’s curls, making them droop into his eyes.

They decided to hike a bit further downstream to see the Lower Falls, and once again were not disappointed. By now both men were wet and the cool breeze, from the lake was beginning to chill both of them. Having shot two rolls of film, they decided it was time to park the Airstream for the evening.

They checked into the state park and parked at their campsite, close to Lake Superior and the hiking trails. They quickly changed into dry clothes and had a pot of coffee brewing. Hardcastle sat back with a book to read, while Mark wrote in his notebook. 

“Judge, did you pack an extra quilt for me? You know I get cold and like to hibernate.” 

Hardcastle went into the bedroom and returned with an extra quilt. “Anything else?”

“Nope.” Mark put the quilt down and turned to Hardcastle. “I’m bored and want to see the lake. The fog seems to be clearing. You coming?”

“Sure. Just keep in mind that we're on top of a cliff overlooking the lake. Don’t get too close to the edge,” admonished Hardcastle.

They headed down the path that would take them to the cliff overlooking the point where the river met the lake. The wind had picked up and the waves were crashing against the rocks below. It was amazing to see the six- and eight-foot waves breaking on the rocks. Mark stood as close to the edge of the cliff as he could, reveling in the feel of the wind on his face.

“McCormick, get away from the edge!” shouted Hardcastle. 

“I’m fine, Judge!” shouted back McCormick. “This is awesome. Look at the shades of gray mixed with the blues. Look at the red and black rocks below. Listen to the crashing waves.”

The Judge smiled at the childlike joy that was present on McCormick’s face as he stood facing the wind. The sound of the waves was musical to McCormick. How many times had he watched McCormick staring out over the seawall at night, listening to the waves? How many times had he done the same things after Nancy and his son had died? And yet, every time, the waves presented a different melody that was able to soothe the soul.

Once the low rumble of thunder could be heard Mark turned his face back to Hardcastle and smiled. “Guess we need to head back now. Sounds like we have a thunderstorm coming, and that means no campfire or marshmallows tonight.”

“It’s all right. I have popcorn to enjoy tonight.”

“Popcorn! We don’t have a microwave. How are you going to do that?”
“Easy – Jiffy Pop on the stove,” grinned Hardcastle. “Come on, let’s head back.”

As they settled into the trailer for the evening, listening to the rain on the roof, Mark heard a truck and a car pull into campsites near them. He peered out the window and saw a familiar looking Dodge pick-up at the site across from them. Three sites down it appeared that a red Monte Carlo was attempting to pitch a tent in the storm. He thought that maybe he should mention it to Hardcastle, but the Judge looked so relaxed with his book and bowl of popcorn that he decided against it. Instead he settled back onto his bed, wrapped in the extra quilt, and picked up his book.

The next morning it was still overcast, but not raining, so they did a little hiking after breakfast around Gooseberry Falls. After lunch, they drove up the coast to explore the shoreline around Split Rock Lighthouse.
On one of the particularly rocky outcroppings McCormick made the mistake of trying to hop from rock to rock in order to get a better view of the shoreline. His foot slipped on a wet rock and SPLASH! McCormick fell into about two feet of frigid Lake Superior water. 

“McCormick! Quit goofing around and get out of the water!” shouted the Judge. “You’re going to get sick. That water is about 40 degrees!” Hardcastle took a quick snapshot of McCormick sitting in the water.
“Judge, stop taking pictures of me. This isn’t funny,” whined McCormick as he pulled himself out of the water. “And I don’t think the water is even that warm. Please tell me the other lakes are warmer than this. I’ve seen pictures of people swimming in Lake Michigan and such, but they can’t be this cold.” Mark started to shiver.

“Okay, hotshot, back to the trailer for dry clothes. It’s a good thing you bought a sweatshirt at the gift shop, cause you’re going to need it.” Hardcastle saw the shivering and decided Mark needed some hot coffee as well as warm clothes.

They returned to Gooseberry Falls for the evening. The red Monte Carlo was still at its campsite, as well as the Dodge pick-up. Mark had an uneasy feeling about both vehicles, but didn’t say anything. After dinner, a black sedan pulled into a campsite next to the Dodge pick-up. Mark went into the trailer to talk with Hardcastle.

“Okay, so where are we headed tomorrow?” asked McCormick. He wanted to get away from the two vehicles that he felt had been following them, as well as the red car that was making him nervous.

“Wisconsin. We go back to Duluth and pick up U.S. 53 heading south to Eau Claire. After that, we’ll see where the open road takes us.” 

“Sounds like a plan.”

As they sat in the Airstream, looking over the maps, McCormick decided to ask the Judge about the guys that had been following them. “Judge, who are those guys following us?”

“Well, I’m not entirely sure, but I would guess that at least one is a hit man and the other is an FBI agent.”

“So, which one is which?”

“Black sedan would be the hit man and the pickup is the FBI.”

“How do you know? What aren’t you telling me?” McCormick asked nervously.

“Well, the guy in the pickup seemed friendly back in Wyoming. The guy in the black sedan seems way too business-like. Plus, I called Frank the other morning when you were doing laundry.”

McCormick looked at the Judge in disbelief. “You called Frank!”

“Yeah. I told him I'd check in periodically. He is collecting the mail after all, and I wanted to make sure there was nothing important.”

“Unbelievable.”

“McCormick, go to bed. I think you need some sleep. You’re losing your mind.”

“How can I lose something I’m not even sure I had to begin with,” muttered McCormick as he picked up his notebook and headed outside to think at the picnic table.

Hardcastle watched the young man sitting at the picnic table, writing in the notebook. What are you working on, kid? Oh well, he’ll tell me if and when he’s ready. Maybe he’s keeping a travel diary? Hardcastle returned to the back bedroom and picked up his book. A half hour later he turned out the light and lay back listening to the wind in the trees. 

An hour later, McCormick returned to the trailer, quietly closing the door. He quickly made his bed and went to sleep. Hardcastle rolled over in bed and smiled. Tomorrow is another long day on the road.
The next morning they woke with the sunrise. They took a few minutes to enjoy the sun playing on the water while they drank their coffee. Once things were cleaned up, Mark hopped into the driver’s seat, adjusted the mirrors, put a tape in the tape deck, and slowly pulled the Airstream out of their campsite.
“Okay, navigator, where to?”
“South, back to Duluth.”
Mark smiled, turned up the volume on the radio, and sank back into the driver’s seat. They passed the neighboring campsites and he noticed that the red Monte Carlo was packing up, but was happy to see the black sedan and Dodge pick-up were still set up. Pulling onto the highway, he relaxed and listened to the music. Road tripping with Hardcastle wasn’t too bad.
CHAPTER V:
Wisconsin
As the Airstream rolled smoothly south across the Minnesota border into the northwestern reaches of Wisconsin, Mark began to notice a subtle change in the passing scenery. The edges of the landscape were softening. Wild flowers dotted the wind-sheltered slopes, and tentative patches of early growth were blending into fields and groves of vibrant green. Mark thought that he had never seen such a color before, brilliant – nearly glowing – with a vitality he could almost feel.
Spring had arrived in the upper Midwest. As always, it had entered with coquettish capriciousness: enticing with a passing fragrance, flirting with brief but lovely glimpses, intoxicating with its seeming nearness. But now, with the advent of May, the season had finally unpacked and settled down to stay, adorning the countryside with a fresh and verdant beauty.
“Hey, Judge!” Mark reached out to gently shake the slumbering form in the passenger seat beside him. “Would you look at that!”
“H-huh? What?” Hardcastle jerked awake with an irritated grumble. Scowling at his friend, he rubbed his eyes with his fists. “This had better be good, McCormick. I was havin’ a good dream …”
“Yeah?” Mark flashed the Judge a cocky grin. “What about? You teamin’ up with the Duke and the Lone Ranger to round up the criminal element of California?”
“Nah. I said a good dream, kiddo, not a great one.” Hardcastle sighed, relaxing as he became more alert. “Just reliving a few decisions I made on the bench. Those were some days!”
“That’s a good dream? Man, Hardcase, a dream ought to at least have a leggy blonde in it to qualify as good.”
Hardcastle chuckled. “Who said it didn’t?”
Mark shook his head in disbelief, smile widening, but before he could return the quip, Hardcastle started in again. “So, what’s so important ya had to go and ‘Hey, Judge’ me?”
Mark’s grin faded as he became suddenly serious. “This,” he said, left hand gesturing at the driver’s side window.
“Huh?”
“This.” The younger man pointed out the windshield this time. “All of it, everything. This place … the trees, the grass. Judge, I’ve never seen anything like it before.” Mark shrugged and scratched his head in wonder. “It’s like I’ve never even seen spring before.”
Hardcastle turned to scrutinize his friend. He couldn’t help but detect the note of awe that had crept into Mark’s voice. Where would the kid have had the chance to experience a change of seasons quite like this? Not in Southern California, with its wind-swept hills and sun-baked canyons. And certainly not in Jersey, with its concrete peaks and valleys. Not even Florida, land of endless summer, knew the peculiar green of springtime in the north. 
“I know what ya mean.” Hardcastle scratched his own head thoughtfully. “I remember when Nancy an’ me first drove up this way. She had some cousins, lived in a little town called New Glarus. Whole place looked like a Swiss chalet ... Anyway, we came for a visit in June, I think, and everything was blooming. Coulda been a postcard.” The Judge’s voice softened and his lips curved into a slight smile. “Nancy loved it. Heck, she loved anything that grew. Planted the roses at the estate herself, y’know.”
Mark hadn’t known. But he just waited quietly for once while the older man continued. It wasn’t often the Judge talked about his family, and a nostalgic Hardcase was virtually unheard of. Here was a chance for Mark to fit together a few more pieces of the man’s past.
“Yeah, she wouldn’t let anyone else prune ’em, not even the gardener ... well, not until she couldn’t do it herself anymore …” Hardcastle trailed off, lost briefly in sad, sweet memories. But he didn’t let the moment last. “So, this your first trip to the Dairy State, kiddo?” he asked Mark.
“Yup.”
“Well, whadda ya think?”
“I think …” Mark paused to consider his next words carefully. “I think it feels like home.”
Hardcastle cast his friend a curious glance. “Huh? California or New Jersey?”
“Neither,” Mark replied, as they sped past a small farmhouse tucked neatly between fresh-tilled hillsides. “I guess I meant it feels like home ought to feel, y’know?”
Hardcastle thought hard about that for a minute, staring out the window at the quaint cottage and the rich, dark soil. “Yeah,” he finally said. “Yeah, I do.”
#     #     #
The two men stopped for breakfast around 9 a.m. at a mom-and-pop diner just off the highway. As they slowly sipped their coffee, Hardcastle studied the roadmap, tracing his right index finger along the path they planned to take across Wisconsin.
“Next large town is Eau Claire. We’ll pick up the interstate there and head for Madison, state capital and home to a pretty good school. Not a bad football team, and one heck of a hockey team this year.”

But Mark didn’t seem to hear the last part of the Judge’s travelogue. “O’Clare,” he mused aloud. “Didn’t know many Irish settled around here. Wonder if there were any McCormick pioneers?”

“Not Irish, sport,” Hardcastle corrected with a laugh. “French. E-A-U  C-L-A-I-R-E,” he spelled.

“Oh,” Mark said thoughtfully. “Almost like éclair.”

“I shoulda known you’d find a way to bring up food.”

“Well, now that you mention it, I did notice a bakery case near the cash register …”

#     #     #
I-94 plowed a steady macadam furrow southeastward, first across fertile, rolling farmland and then the rugged, unglaciated uplands of the Dells and Baraboo. 

A leisurely stop at Paul Bunyan’s Restaurant in downtown Wisconsin Dells provided Mark and Hardcastle with a pleasant break, as well as lunch “lumberjack style.” Afterward, they decided to forego the touristy theme parks saturating the area in favor of a chance to view its more natural wonders. 

Hardcastle insisted that an Original Wisconsin Ducks tour was “the only way” to see the majestic waterways, woodlands and rocky gorges of the Dells. Mark agreed out loud, but privately wondered how the seven-and-a-half-ton metal dinosaurs would navigate the rough terrain.

Two hours later, nose pink with sunburn and clothes soaked with the cold waters of the Wisconsin River and Lake Delton, he knew. The tough, amphibious vehicles simply lumbered tank-like over land and wave just as reliably as they had done 40 years before in World War II.

“Well, that was something, huh, McCormick? Don’t think that tour’s changed in fifteen years. It’s still the best way to get up close and personal with the land hereabouts.”
“Land hereabouts?” Mark questioned with a raised eyebrow. “Arkansas roots showing through?” he teased. 

“Nah, that’s northwoods talk for ‘this here place,’” the Judge returned good-naturedly. “Ready for some hog jowls and grits now, kid?”

“Er … no.” Mark’s grimace wasn’t entirely faked. “But shouldn’t that be bear steaks and mashed potatoes, hereabouts?” he asked, eyes merry with mischief. 

“Probably. But we might have trouble findin’ bear in Madison.”

“Guess badgers are more common, huh?” Mark stumbled as a strong push from behind propelled him toward the passenger side of the Airstream.
“C’mon, wise guy. Move your mouth less and your butt more. We still got miles to make today,” Hardcastle grumbled loudly. But the indulgent chuckle that followed removed any sting from his words.

#     #     #
“Think Jeannie would like this bear in the ‘Mad City’ T-shirt, or one of these Bucky Badger toys?” Mark held up one fluffy stuffed critter and then another.
“Which one’s Jeannie again?” Hardcastle asked archly. “Kinda hard to keep track of ’em all.”

“Ha-ha, Judge. The day I start dating the neighbors’ five-year-old daughter is the day I’ll turn myself in.” 

The two friends had just completed a walking tour of the University of Wisconsin-Madison, and were now browsing through the gift section of The University Book Store, with souvenirs and soft drinks on their minds.

They had arrived in Wisconsin’s capital in the late afternoon, glad of the steadily lengthening days that allowed them to make the most of their traveling time. Mark’s first impression of the city had been that it was an odd mixture of old and new buildings -- with student housing abutting residences on a crazy maze of one-way streets. Downtown traffic was heavy for a mid-size city, and the flow of vehicles wasn’t helped by the fact that one of the major arteries split to circumnavigate the capitol building itself. 

As they had detoured around it, the younger man had eyed the stately domed structure with interest, knowing it was on the next day’s agenda. But when the Airstream had jerked and slowed in traffic (Hardcastle cursing earnestly at the wheel), Mark had commented that the building really was inconveniently located. 
Parking the mobile home had proved no easier than maneuvering it through traffic, but Hardcastle had finally managed to find a spot not too far from the university. Then, guidebook in hand, the two men had set out on foot to explore its points of interest. 

They had ended their tour with the obligatory trudge up Bascom Hill to view Weinman’s dignified bronze of Abraham Lincoln. After strolling for a while under the red oaks and venerable elms, Hardcastle had joined the president in gazing out across the campus. Mark, meanwhile, had settled on a less lofty but equally satisfying view: a group of pretty coeds studying in a patch of late-afternoon sunlight. 

“Good law school here,” Hardcastle mumbled half to himself, catching Mark’s attention. 

“So I’ve heard,” the younger man shrugged, a strange smile playing at the corners of his mouth. “If you’re the sort of guy that likes hauling a hundred books up and down this hill every day.” 

“Well, that’d rule you out. Can’t even get you to haul your butt outta bed in the morning without grumbling.”

Mark had looked up sharply, then studied the two craggy faces above him. One was calm, benevolent and wise; the other, keen-eyed and strong. But both were profiles of justice -- like opposite sides of the same judicial coin.

“I don't know about that, Judge,” he finally answered with a grin. “Do you know what time the basketball team practices?”

#     #     #
The next morning dawned clear but cool. Wanting to make the most of their day, the two men set out early, breakfasting on cold sandwiches as they made their way to the capitol.
Once inside the building, they took advantage of one of the free guided tours offered on the hour. Mark was fascinated by the lavish furnishings and the allegorical paintings that graced the chambers and rotundas. But when the tour guide paused in the Governor’s Conference Room to explain how it had been modeled after the council halls of the Doge’s Palace in Venice, the younger man couldn’t suppress a commentary of his own. Elbowing Hardcastle gently in the ribs, he stage-whispered, “Man, Hardcase. And I thought there was a lot to dust in the study at Gull’s Way!”

The Judge chuckled, earning himself a stern look from an elderly woman beside him. Yet, later, as he studied Cox’s intricate, glass-tile mosaic of “Justice” in the first-floor rotunda, he was all seriousness. “Now, there’s a real lady, McCormick,” he explained, pointing at the image of a grave young woman seated on a lion throne. In her hands rested the traditional scales of legal equity, but unlike most personifications of justice, she wasn’t wearing the symbolic blindfold. 

“Hey, Judge,” Mark questioned. “How come she can see us? I thought Lady Justice was supposed to be blind.”

“Not blind, hotshot, impartial … y’know, fair. And how can you be fair if you can’t see all the evidence?” Hardcastle grumbled. “Never made sense to me, folks covering up her eyes and all.”

“I’ve never thought about it that way before,” Mark said earnestly. Then, he added with a grin, “But now I gotta wonder if it wouldn’t help me out if one particular justice didn’t always see everything quite so clearly.”


#     #     #
“Next stop, Milwaukee,” Hardcastle announced from his navigator’s position in the Airstream’s passenger seat, “land of beer and bratwurst –”
“And buxom German barmaids in those fluffy short skirts!” Mark chimed in.

“Not that you’ll have time to meet any of those. We still got a full schedule for today. Remember, McCormick?”

“I know. I know. But what you’re forgetting is what’s next on our agenda: the Miller brewery tour.”

“I haven’t forgotten,” the Judge harrumphed. “Until we get there, though, I want you to keep your mind on the road and out of the … uh, beer garden. Got it?”

“Aye, aye, sir! Got it. Sure.”

“Then, what are you smirking for?”

“Smirking? Who’s smirking. I’m not smirking …”

But Mark was still smiling as he guided the mobile home into the outskirts of the city more than an hour later, the distinctive scent of brewer’s yeast assailing his nostrils. He was feeling more relaxed than he had in a long time, and the fact that he hadn’t seen so much as a suspicious-looking bumper-sticker in the past two days had a lot to do with it.

Following Hardcastle’s instructions, he exited I-94 at 35th Street and headed down into Miller Valley. The Milwaukee brewery still occupied the site of the original plant at 40th and State, on land purchased by founder Frederick J. Miller in 1855. Mark was impressed at the size of the operation, which spanned a network of massive brick buildings.
The hour-long tour took the two men through each step of the beer-making process, from milling to fermentation and finally to storage in the vast holding tanks. Afterward, Mark and the Judge made their way to the outdoor beer garden for a complimentary stein of the brewery’s famous product. Much to Mark’s disappointment, however, their server, though young and female, wore a neatly tailored suit rather than the abbreviated dirndl of his fantasy Fräulein.
“Slow down, McCormick,” Hardcastle warned as the younger man took a deep pull from his mug. “You’re still on chauffeur duty.”

“Don’t worry; I think I can handle one beer, Judge.” Mark took another sip. “But I could use some food about now. It’s past lunchtime.”

Hardcastle pulled out the guidebook and leafed through it as he drained his own mug. “How ’bout this place … Leon’s Frozen Custard. Says here it’s ‘a family-owned fifties-style drive-in’ and ‘Home of the World’s Finest Frozen Custard.’ That sounds like a challenge to me.”

“Hey! I think I’ve heard of that place. Wasn’t it the inspiration for Arnold’s Drive-In on Happy Days?”

“Hold on.” The Judge scanned further down the page. “Yup. That’s right! You been playing that new game, Trivia something or other, kiddo?”

“Trivial Pursuit? Nah. Just have a good memory, I guess.”

“At least when it comes to food.” Hardcastle pushed his chair away from the table and stood. “Hurry and drink up, or we won’t have time for that ice cream before we head for the ferry in Manitowoc.”

“Yeah, yeah,” Mark muttered as he pushed himself to his feet. “Man, even on vacation Tonto’s gotta follow orders …” He set his mug on the table with a sigh. “Okay. Let’s go, Kemo Sabe.”
#     #     #

“Okay, Hardcase, how do we get to Manitowoc?” asked McCormick, looking at the Judge, who was sitting in the Airstream studying the map book. “And where’s the final destination for tonight?”
“Well, kiddo, we’ll head north on US-43, pick up US-10 East, and cross Lake Michigan to Ludington, Michigan.”
“You said something about a ferry. The ferries that I’m familiar only handle passengers. So, what kinda ferry are we going on?”
“A car ferry. The S.S. Badger. See this dashed line crossing the lake?” Hardcastle said, pointing to the map. “The car ferry is the continuation of US-10.” Hardcastle looked at his watch and then motioned to McCormick to get in the Airstream. “It leaves Manitowoc at 2 p.m., so we gotta hustle.”
“What’s a car ferry?” asked the young man as he climbed into the Airstream.
“A ship, McCormick. According to the guidebook, the Badger was built in 1953 to transport railroad freight cars, but it also had passenger accommodations. The Badger reigned as Queen of the Lakes during the car ferries’ Golden Era of the late Fifties, with Manitowoc, Milwaukee, and Kewaunee as her Wisconsin ports of call.” Hardcastle looked at McCormick and continued, “At this point, she only sails out of Manitowoc, and still takes on a few railcars, as well as passenger vehicles.”
“So, just how big is this boat?” McCormick was intrigued the prospect of crossing one of the big inland seas, especially after seeing the freighters on Lake Superior.
“Well, according to this, she’s 410 feet long, 7 stories tall, and 59 feet wide. You’ll like this tidbit of information. She has two Skinner Unaflow four-cylinder steam engines with 3,500 horsepower at 100 RPM for a total of 7,000 horsepower. Her average speed is 18 miles per hour.”
“Not very fast, but I suppose it is a big boat.” Mark smiled and looked at the Judge. “Michigan; what activities do you have planned for us?”
“Ship, it’s a ship. And yes, it is a big ship. She weighs in at 8,000 tons when fully loaded.” Hardcastle smiled at McCormick. “Michigan will be another adventure -- crossing Lake Michigan, camping at the Ludington State Park, fishing with an old buddy of mine, seeing the Mighty Mackinaw, and whatever else we find to do.”
“Okay, I got it. Lots of adventure but nothing planned. Manitowoc, here we come.”
#     #     #
They arrived in Manitowoc an hour and a half hour later. They parked the Airstream alongside a semi-trailer, that was also waiting to be loaded, and went to look for their sweatshirts since it could be chilly on the open water.
“McCormick, don’t forget to grab the guidebook!” Hardcastle yelled from the back of the Airstream, where he was digging out a sweatshirt, the camera, and a Zane Grey novel to take on board. “By the way, do you have a backpack we could put this stuff in?”
“All I got is my black tool bag,” replied McCormick, waiting patiently for the yelling to begin.
“Whattaya mean your black tool bag?!” yelled Hardcastle. He came forward and looked directly at McCormick before continuing. “We’re on vacation and you’re on parole, so why on God’s green earth did you think to pack it?”
“Well, it came in handy in Clarence, and you never know what we might get into,” answered the young man, looking at the black bag in his hand. “So, which did you pack -- Millie or the shotgun?” he asked, looking at the Judge with an impish grin on his face.
The Judge rubbed his hand across his face. “Well, I mighta brought Millie along, since I don’t like the idea of a hit man possibly following us. But, at least I have a permit for that!” Hardcastle looked at McCormick. “ Never mind the bag -- just put it away and we’ll carry our books and the camera on board.”
They boarded the Badger, took a leisurely stroll around the deck, located a couple of chairs on the main deck towards the bow, and sat down to read until sailing time. The Judge looked at Mark and asked, “Do you get seasick?”
“I don’t know. I’ve never been on a lake this big before,” answered McCormick. “Why’d you ask?”
“Well, it’s fairly calm here in the harbor, but it could always get rough on the lake this afternoon.”
“What do you mean ‘rough’? And just how long are we going to be on here?”  Concern was evident in McCormick’s voice.
“It’s a four-hour crossing, in good weather. As for rough, I don’t think we’re in for bad weather.”
The sound of chains grinding against the metal hull could be heard as the anchors were raised. A few minutes later, the gentle sensation of forward motion began as the Badger pulled away from the pier, heading towards the harbor opening. McCormick set his book down and moved to the railing, anxious to see the Manitowoc lighthouse as they left the harbor. The people walking along the breakwall, heading to the lighthouse, waved as the Badger passed. McCormick waved back as the Judge came to stand alongside him. Passing the lighthouse and moving into the open water, the Badger picked up speed, but it still remained at a slow and methodical pace.  McCormick looked over to the Judge and smiled, the wind gently blowing his reddish-brown curls. The Judge smiled back and turned to watch the fishing boats that were returning to the harbor.
An hour into the crossing, no land was visible on either horizon. Wisconsin was behind them and Michigan was somewhere in front of them. McCormick enjoyed walking around the ship with the warm sun on his back, monitoring the horizon, and watching the swirling wake of the ship. The variety of colors that surrounded the old black and white car ferry was amazing: the clear blue sky, the calm green-blue waters of Lake Michigan, the swirling blue-white wake of the Badger, and the coal-black smoke coming from the smokestack.
The Judge sat back in his chair reading his book, waiting for McCormick to return from his wanderings. The kid just had too much energy to sit still! The Judge looked up and smiled as he saw McCormick coming towards him with a travel magazine.
“Hey, Judge, look at this!” exclaimed McCormick, sitting down next to the Judge.
“Yeah. What’s so exciting about it?”
“Look at this picture,” said Mark pointing to a giant sand dune. “Can we go here? Please.”
“Sure, why not.” Hardcastle couldn’t resist the pleading voice of the 5-year-old trapped in the body of a 29-year-old man. “Where is it?”
“Sleeping Bear Sand Dunes. The guide says it's about two hours north of Ludington, near Traverse City,” came the answer to the question. “Listen to this description: ‘The Leelanau Peninsula, which juts out into the hypnotic inland seas known as Lake Michigan, is a paradise of outdoor activities -- swimming, hiking, fishing and canoeing. But it is the dunes at Sleeping Bear, which range in color from pale champagne to burnt sienna and which roll and spike to 400 feet in height that earned a perfect 10 in our Splendor category.’ Doesn’t it sound cool? … Wonder why it’s called Sleeping Bear Dunes?”
“Sounds like a box of Crayola crayons, if you ask me.” The Judge sighed.  “Okay, after our visit to Ludington, we’ll head north to Sleeping Bear Dunes.”
“So, what are we going to do in Ludington?” asked McCormick, sounding more like a kid than an adult.
“Well, an old friend, Harry, will be meeting us when we arrive tonight. Then we're going out for dinner. Tomorrow morning, we’re going fishing. Depending on how the weather is and whatever else you decide you wanna do ...” Hardcastle paused, looking directly at Mark, “... we might relax a bit on the beach, or walk to the Big Point Sable Lighthouse.”
“Okay. Sounds like it should be fun. A nice, leisurely breakfast followed by some fishing. I can handle that. So, who exactly is this friend?”
“No big breakfast. We'll be meeting Harry around 4:30 a.m., then heading out. Fish start biting at first light, which should be around 5:30. Wanna have the best chance to catch them,” replied Hardcastle with a grin as he saw the look of horror that crossed McCormick’s face.
“4:30 a.m.! Are you serious? That’s the middle of the night!” exclaimed the young man. “Can’t Kemo Sabe go and Tonto stay back to guard the homestead?”
“Nope, you’re coming. And 4:30 a.m. isn't the middle of the night for normal people … people who go to bed before 2 a.m.” Hardcastle looked over at Mark and laughed. “Don’t worry, you’re going to have fun. Harry’s a great guy. He grew up in Ludington, but we were in the service together. He moved to L.A. after the war, became a cop, and retired ten years ago. He returned to Ludington for the spring and summer fishing.”
“Great! Vacationing with ex-cops that don’t know what sleeping in is.” Mark paused a moment before asking, “So, where you taking me for dinner?”
“Well, since it’ll be after 7 p.m. when we get into Ludington, Harry suggested we eat at the House of Flavors, which is on our way to the State Park. He said it was a combination diner and ice-cream parlor. They make all their ice-cream right there.”
“Ice-cream … mmm … sounds perfect.” Mark looked around before quietly asking, “Judge, did you notice the red Monte Carlo with the Minnesota license plate that was parked near the Airstream before it was loaded? Don’t you think it's weird that we saw a red Monte Carlo at Gooseberry Falls and now it’s here?”
“McCormick, are you sure it was the same red Monte Carlo? I mean … there are lots of red Monte Carlos.”
“I’m pretty sure it’s the same one. I didn’t see the pick-up or the black sedan though.”
“Well, I wouldn’t worry about it now. Just sit back, read your book, or take a nap. We should be in Ludington in a couple more hours.”
McCormick decided a nap in the sun would be good. He stretched out in the deck chair and drifted off to sleep with the warm sun on his face and a gentle breeze ruffling his hair. About an hour and a half later, Hardcastle was nudging him awake. “Look alive, kiddo. We’ll be in Ludington in twenty minutes.”
McCormick sat up, rubbed his eyes and looked around. He noticed the landform on the horizon and decided to take another walk. Hardcastle joined him. As they came back to the bow of the ship, the Ludington Lighthouse was getting close. McCormick took a couple of snapshots as they approached the lighthouse. When they passed the lighthouse, entering the harbor, the S.S. Badger blew its steam whistle, announcing its arrival. Just like in Manitowoc, people had lined the breakwalls and waved to those aboard the Badger. McCormick waved back and this time the Judge waved as well. About fifteen minutes later, the S.S. Badger had backed into the dock and was in the process of being tied up when the steam whistle sounded again -- three long blasts, the traditional home port call.
CHAPTER VI:
Michigan
After disembarking from the Badger, a tall, thin older gentleman came up to them and shook hands with Hardcastle. “Milt, it’s great to see you again! I’m so glad you were able to come visit.”
“Harry! You look great. Retirement must be agreeing with you.” Hardcastle turned to McCormick and motioned for him. “Harry, this is Mark McCormick, the guy I told you about.”
McCormick shook hands with Harry and smiled, “Nice to meet you, Harry.”
“Welcome to Ludington, Mark,” responded Harry warmly. “Well, let’s get your vehicle and head over to the House of Flavors for dinner.”
They waited for a few minutes before a familiar-looking red Monte Carlo came off the Badger, followed by their Airstream. Harry indicated that they should follow him to the restaurant, which was about ten blocks away as the crow flies. 
After an enjoyable and simple dinner of patty-melts and French fries, Mark exclaimed that he wanted to have some ice cream. The waitress came over and McCormick asked about the Pig’s Dinner. The waitress smiled politely at him and explained to him that the Pig’s Dinner consisted of four flavors of ice cream (vanilla, chocolate, strawberry, and orange-pineapple) served on a banana in a pig’s trough, with pineapple, cherry, strawberry, and chocolate toppings. Hardcastle groaned as Mark ordered one, substituting Blue Moon ice cream for the Orange-Pineapple ice cream. Harry just smiled. He had seen the Pig’s Dinner before, but didn’t know too many people that had actually finished one, especially after eating a full dinner.
McCormick’s eyes danced with surprise and joy when the waitress returned with the Pig’s Dinner. It was huge! He dug into it heartily while Harry and Hardcastle chatted about the fishing trip plans for the next morning. Harry provided a commentary on fishing, which intrigued Hardcastle. 
“Fishing starts in April, but May is a lot of fun. It’s the start of spring king salmon fishing. The early season salmon are lean and mean and provide the ultimate in tackle-busting action, as well as some fine eating. In addition to the shallow-water kings, brown trout and silvery steelhead are bonus catches. Lake trout became legal on May 1st. Milt, I think that May is one of the best months because of the variety you can catch,” explained Harry. He could see the excitement in Hardcastle’s eyes.

The waitress returned and filled their coffee cups several times while McCormick worked on his ice cream. About thirty-five minutes later, the trough was empty, McCormick had a pin and certificate stating he was a pig, and they were headed to the state park.
The next morning at 4:15 there was a knock on the Airstream’s door. Hardcastle greeted Harry with a smile and a cup of coffee. “Come on in. McCormick’ll be ready in a few minutes. He’s not a morning person.”
“Not a problem, Milt. The marina is only fifteen minutes away and the boat is all ready,” replied Harry, as he watched the less than awake McCormick emerge from the bathroom.
“G’morning…” grumbled McCormick as he reached for the coffee pot, only to find it empty. “Ju-udge . . .”
“Quit your whining, McCormick! If you’d gotten up earlier, you coulda had a cup.” Hardcastle tossed a thermos to McCormick. “The thermos is full and you can have some after we get on the boat.”
As promised, the marina was a fifteen-minute drive. The boat was a newer 33-foot Chris Craft, named “Blatant Necessity”. Mark looked at the name, shrugged, climbed aboard, and took up residence in the boat’s cockpit area. Hardcastle cast off the lines as Harry started up the engines. Within fifteen minutes, Mark had a cup of coffee and was saying good-bye to solid land for the next six hours. Harry slowly guided the boat past the S.S. Badger, which was getting ready for its morning sailing, down the channel, past the lighthouse, and into the open water. Once reaching open water, Harry opened up the throttle and they headed south, bouncing along on the foot-high waves.
“Okay, gentlemen -- since neither of you have fished for salmon or trout on the big lake, I want to cover a couple of quick items. We will be fishing in thirty to fifty foot of water, using a combination of lures on downriggers, dipsy divers, and planer boards. The planer boards will be set for fish in the fifteen to twenty-five foot depths. The most important thing to remember is this: when you see the tip on the pole start to bounce and then pop up, yell ‘Fish On’! I will set the hook and then you’ll be responsible for reeling it in. Any questions?”
“Nope! I’m ready for some action,” responded Hardcastle enthusiastically. He turned to McCormick and asked, “How ‘bout you, kid? Ready for some fun?”
“Yeah, after another cup of coffee.”
Harry slowed the boat as they neared an island of rocks. He looked at McCormick and said, “Keep the bow pointed slightly southwest. Don’t let us get too close to the rocks.” He pointed towards the shoreline and continued, “That’s Consumers Power Pumped Storage hydro-generation plant. The rocks mark the intake and outlet tubes for the generators. Great fishing in the area, but you need to stay clear of the intake tubes.”
Mark nodded his head in understanding and took the seat by the helm, making sure the boat stayed in a southwest direction. Harry quickly set up the poles; two downriggers with cannon balls on the back corners, two dipsy divers off the center, and a planer board on either side of the boat. The sun was just starting to color the eastern sky when he finished setting the last line. Hardcastle had been watching the other lines when he suddenly yelled, “Fish On!” 
Harry quickly grabbed the pole from the left side downrigger and jerked the pole, setting the hook. He handed off the pole to Hardcastle. “Okay, Milt. Feel him fighting?” Hardcastle nodded. “Good, let him fight for a minute and then reel down and pull up,” instructed Harry, indicating that the Judge should let the tip of the pole go down when he reeled in the fish and then pull it back gently. Hardcastle did as he was told. “Good, that’s it, Milt. Keep doing that while I get the net.”
McCormick was monitoring the boat’s direction while watching Hardcastle, when he noticed another tip bouncing. “Fish On! Fish On, other downrigger!”
Harry quickly grabbed the other pole, set the hook, and handed the pole to McCormick. “Remember what I told Milt. Just do the same thing and get the fish close to the boat.” 
McCormick nodded and started to reel down. 
“A doubleheader and it's only 5:30. Gotta love spring fishing!” exclaimed Harry.
Harry checked their position, grabbed the net, and went to the back of the boat, where Hardcastle’s fish was starting to surface. He put the net in the water and lifted the fish out of the water. Hardcastle backed up as Harry brought the fish on board. Harry extracted the fish from the net and handed it over to the Judge. 
“Got yourself a nice looking Coho, Milt. I’d guess about 11 pounds. Should taste nice on the grill.”
“Harry, I could use a little help,” cried McCormick, when the line on his pole started to scream as the fish made a run for deeper water. 
“Let him run for a moment! Then start reeling down but try to keep the tip from getting too low,” coached Harry as he put the Judge’s salmon in the cooler. “That’s it, Mark. You’re doing fine,” encouraged Harry as Mark reeled down again. Mark continued to reel down and pull up. “That’s it. Milt, hand me the net.”
Another ten minutes of reeling and Harry was leaning over the back of the boat with the net. He netted the fish and brought it on board, allowing McCormick to catch his breath. He removed the fish from the net and handed it to McCormick. “Very nice, Mark! You’ve got a big lake trout.”
“How big?” asked Mark anxiously.
“I’m guessing about fifteen pounds, maybe sixteen. It’s a great first catch!” Harry took the fish and placed it in the cooler.
“Did you hear that, Hardcase? My fish is bigger than yours. My fish is bigger than yours!” taunted Mark as he rubbed his sore bicep muscles.
Hardcastle chose to ignore Mark and continued to watch the poles and asked, “So Harry, now what?”
“Now, I get these two lines back in the water, while you keep your eyes on the other poles. I want more fish in the box.”
A little after eleven, the tired fishermen returned to the marina. It had been a fun and very successful fishing trip. Hardcastle landed one Coho, a Chinook, and a brown trout. McCormick had his lake trout, two Cohos, and one brown trout. Harry had a couple of browns and one lake trout. Harry cleaned the fish and bagged them for the Judge. 
McCormick took the bag containing half of his Coho salmon filets and handed it to Harry. “Thanks Harry, I had a great time!” Harry looked at the bag that Mark offered. “Please, take it. I don’t think I can eat all the fish we have already.” Mark smiled at the Judge.
“Thanks, Mark. I always enjoy the salmon on the grill.” Turning to Hardcastle, Harry asked, “So, what’s the plan for this afternoon and evening?”
“Well, I figured we head back to the park, clean up a bit, let McCormick take a nap,” Hardcastle pointed to the yawning young man leaning against the car. “and maybe walk up the beach to the Big Point Sable lighthouse.”
“Sounds like a great plan for the afternoon. How about we do dinner at the campground? I’ll bring the supplies necessary for salmon on the grill, we'll have a few beers, and relax while watching the sunset.”
“Sounds like a plan. Dinner around 6:30-ish,”replied Hardcastle as he headed towards the car.
“Deal.” 
Harry drove them back to the campground, promising to return around six o’clock. McCormick headed to the shower, after announcing that the smell of fish was too strong for a small space. Hardcastle agreed with the observation and opened a couple of windows, allowing the fresh breeze from the lake to penetrate the Airstream. After showering, McCormick sat down on the couch and fell asleep while the Judge took his shower.
Later that afternoon, the two friends walked the trail that led to the beach. McCormick looked north towards the Big Point Sable Lighthouse, a tall black- and white-striped structure. “That’s where we’re going?”
“Yeah, it’s about a mile and a half up the beach. An easy walk,” responded Hardcastle lightly.
The walk wasn’t exactly easy. The soft sand slowed their pace but it was an enjoyable walk. A couple times they stopped to throw stones across the relatively calm waters. At one point in the walk, McCormick had decided to take off his shoes and was happily walking barefoot on the hard, wet sand. He enjoyed the feel of the waves brushing over his feet. The water was cool, but not frigid like Lake Superior, creating a pleasant experience. They explored the area surrounding the lighthouse for an hour before deciding to head back to the campground. 
The sound of the seagulls and the waves mixed with the warm May sun was relaxing. As they returned to the beach where the trail to the campground was, Mark decided he was not ready to return to the campground. Instead, he sat down on the beach, close to the water’s edge. He scooped large handfuls of wet sand together to create a small mountain. He took handfuls of waterlogged sand and dribbled it over the mountain, creating spires of wet sand. He continued to dribble the wet sand onto the mountain until he was satisfied. Then, taking a seagull feather he had found on the walk, he placed it on top of the center spire, like a flag atop a mighty castle. He turned, looking back at the Judge who sat on the soft dry sand, and smiled. The Judge returned the smile, remembering the simple pleasures of watching a kid build a sandcastle. 
At six, Harry returned, carrying various supplies for dinner in a brown paper grocery bag. He quickly got to work preparing the salmon filets for the grill. He cut open the grocery bag, laid the filets skin down on the bags, and cut around them, leaving a ¼” of paper around each filet. He then placed slices of lemon, sprigs of dill, and a bit of salt and pepper on the filets. He then covered the filets with plastic wrap and set them aside. 
McCormick had watched Harry during the whole process. “What’s the grocery bag for?” 
Harry smiled at McCormick, handed him a beer, and replied, “You’ll see. It’s a simple recipe but the results are terrific.” 
Mark smiled back, took a sip of his beer, and watched as Hardcastle brought out some snacks. The Judge looked so relaxed and happy that it was hard to imagine they could still have a hit man and an FBI agent following them. Harry walked over to the grill, and began stacking the charcoal briquettes.
About a half hour later, the charcoal was ready for the salmon filets. McCormick watched as Harry placed the filets on the grill, paper bag backing and all. Another round of beer later, Harry was pulling the filets off the grill and placing them lemon side down on a platter. He then pulled the paper bag off the filets.
“So that’s what the paper bag is for,” exclaimed McCormick as he watched the fish skin come up with the paper bag.
“Yes, as well as keeping the fish from sticking to the grill. Now, who wants the first piece?”
All three men enjoyed their dinner. Mark enjoyed hearing stories about the area, and Hardcastle shared some of their latest adventures with Harry. It was a peaceful evening watching the colors of the sunset spread over the sky. The pastels of the spring and early summer sunsets were delicate and soft, making it hard to imagine the old sailor rhyme that Harry had shared with them the night before:

Red sky at night, sailors delight.


Red sky at morning, sailors take warning.
The next morning, Mark and the Judge woke to a red sky and a strong wind blowing off the lake. The waves were crashing against the Ludington Lighthouse, sending spray over the top of it. Mark was glad they had done their fishing the day before. Deciding it would be safest to forgo the walk out to the lighthouse, they walked around town, shopped for a bit, and then headed for Sleeping Bear Dunes. 
Leaving Ludington, they headed north along US-31 towards Manistee, where they picked up M-22. It was a scenic drive, passing through several small towns as well as farming country. Small family dairy farms mixed with apple and cherry orchards in blossom dotted the hillsides. Both men were taken by the simple beauty of the hillsides, awash in pink cherry and white apple blossoms.

Coming into the town of Frankfort they crossed over Lake Betsie, drove through the historic downtown district where they stopped for lunch at Dinghy’s Restaurant and Bar. It was an eclectic place to eat, decorated with old car ferry and fishing signs. The food was good and plentiful. Both men enjoyed their meals and listened to the local fishermen who were stuck in port due to the rough water. After lunch, they proceeded north along M-22 to their destination for the evening, Sleeping Bear Sand Dunes.

Pulling into their assigned campsite, Mark let out an audible gasp. Hardcastle turned to look at him with questioning eyes. Mark just stared at the red Monte Carlo with a Minnesota license plate, parked in the campsite next to theirs.

“I don’t believe it! How’d they know we were coming here?” exclaimed Mark.

Hardcastle looked at the car then back to McCormick before answering, “It’s not the same car, McCormick!”

“Yes it is! I wrote down the license plate – BRZ094. See, look,” said McCormick pointing to a number written on the parking receipt from the Badger.

“Okay, so maybe they’re doing a tour of the Great Lakes and this just happens to be one of their stops. Lighthouses and sand dunes tend to be very popular places to visit,” suggested Hardcastle. “Come on, kid. Let’s get set up and go climb the dunes before dinner.”

McCormick looked back at the red Monte Carlo. “All right, Judge. It’s just a little too weird for me.”

An hour later, both men were hiking through the forested dunes, heading towards the area marked Dune Climb. They had several bottles of water tucked in Mark’s infamous black backpack. The Ranger had warned them that the walk was a strenuous three- or four-hour hike to Lake Michigan, but well worth the effort.  As they approached the Dune Climb area, they stopped and looked up at the incredible pile of sand that was in front of them. It was several hundred feet of sugary-soft sand. 

Mark looked at the Judge and asked, “You ready?”

“Yeah, as ready as ever. Bet you twenty bucks that my pulse rate is lower when we reach the top.”

“You’re on!”

They began the climb. For every two steps forward, they would slide back a full step in the soft sand. Hardcastle kept a slow and steady pace. McCormick started slow, but as the warm breeze blowing down the dune reached his face, he found he couldn’t wait. He wanted to stand on top of the dune and look out over the lake, just like the picture in the brochure he found.

After twenty minutes of climbing, Mark reached the top of the dune with a lot of huffing and puffing. He looked towards the east and saw Glen Lake in the distance. He turned to look west, towards Lake Michigan, only to see another sand dune in his way. He then looked down to see Hardcastle was getting close to the top. “Judge,” he called down the dune, “is the bet for the top of this dune or the next dune?”

“This dune, kid. But since you’ve had a chance to rest, I think we’ll change it. How about twenty bucks at Lake Michigan?”

“Sure, that’s assuming you can make it. Looks like we have at least one more dune to go over before we get there.” McCormick sat down to wait for Hardcastle to finish the climb.

“I’ll make it. Don’t worry about me,” snarled Hardcastle. He was enjoying the view from the top of the dune and the hike was a nice change from sitting in the Airstream.

They headed down the dune and started back up the next dune. About an hour and a half later, both men were winded from climbing the third and last sand dune before reaching Lake Michigan. As they reached the top, Mark looked at Hardcastle. Both men took their pulses and McCormick quietly handed over his twenty dollars.

The view from the 400-foot sand dune was impressive. The wind had calmed down from the morning’s gale, but it had changed the lake’s appearance. The lake was no longer a clear blue-green ocean, but a milky gray. It was a dramatic change. The lake no longer looked inviting; instead it seemed almost cold and angry.

McCormick stood at the edge of the dune and watched the gulls drifting on the wind while Hardcastle remained further from the edge and took a few pictures. Neither of them had been paying attention to the trail that they had used. A couple in their early forties came up the path and were walking towards them. 

“Good afternoon,” said the tall gentleman with a black windbreaker. “Amazing view from up here.”

McCormick jumped and tried to turn, but was so startled that he lost his balance and began to tumble down the sand dune, heading for the beach below. Hardcastle turned just in time to see McCormick disappear over the edge. 

“McCormick!” shouted the Judge.

“I’m sorry. We didn’t mean to startle you,” responded the tall gentleman as he quickly followed Hardcastle to the edge of the dune.

His partner was already down the front face of the dune after McCormick. Mark managed to only roll halfway down the dune before coming to a complete stop. Hardcastle watched from the top, as the young man lay perfectly still while the woman in a pale blue jacket quickly moved down the dune towards him.

As the woman approached McCormick, he began to groan and tried to sit up. She quickly moved over to his side and gently pushed him back down. She spoke quietly to him as she checked him over: a sprained right wrist; a lot of sand in the eyes, mouth, and ears; but fortunately no broken bones. A few minutes later, she had McCormick sitting upright and was helping wipe the sand from his face, away from the eyes. She handed him a bottle of water from her backpack and watched him carefully.
Hardcastle and the tall stranger watched from the top of the dune. Hardcastle wanted to call down but wasn’t sure if his voice would carry with the winds coming off the lake.  The tall gentleman saw the concern on Hardcastle face. “She’s a trained medic. Don’t worry, if something’s wrong, she’ll take care of it.”

“Klutzy kid. Always doin’ something foolish,” grumbled Hardcastle as he watched the woman help McCormick to his feet for the long climb up the dune.

“I’m really sorry to have startled you.” The man offered his hand to Hardcastle, “My name’s Mike Swenson and that young lady helping your friend is Mallory Larson.”

Hardcastle shook his hand as he responded, “Milt Hardcastle, and the klutz is Mark McCormick.”

Hardcastle and Swenson continued to chat while waiting for McCormick and Mallory to return to the top of the dune. It took about forty minutes before the two of them reached it. McCormick was covered in sand and had his right arm tucked carefully into his jacket, cradling it.

“About time you quit goofing off and got back up here, McCormick,” grumped Hardcastle, as he looked over his sandy young friend.

Mark looked at Hardcastle sheepishly and mumbled, “Can we go back to the Airstream? I’ve had enough fresh air for one day.”

“Sure, kiddo.” 

Hardcastle watched as Mark slowly headed back down the trail. He wished the couple a good day and started after McCormick. He had only gone about ten steps before Mallory suggested that they should head back as well and offered to walk back with them, and then she could wrap Mark’s wrist properly. Hardcastle agreed, and they chatted about the various locations that they had visited on their way out from California.

McCormick had gone down the first dune with no problem and was not looking forward to climbing the second or third dunes. He was tired, sore, and wanted a shower. He had sand in places he didn’t know you could get sand in. Every time he ran his hand through his hair more sand came out. He continued to walk ahead of Hardcastle and the couple, focusing on getting home with minimal mishaps.

The return trip took about two hours but there were no further incidents. Hardcastle invited the couple to join them for dinner that evening. They agreed and headed towards their campsite, promising to return in an hour for dinner. McCormick watched them walk towards the campsite with the red Monte Carlo and gasped. He cast a glowering look at Hardcastle and headed for the shower.

The simple steak dinner with baked potatoes and tossed salad was enjoyable. The couple from Minnesota brought a bottle of wine that they'd found at a local winery in Traverse City to share, as they watched the colors from the sunset tint the sky a delicate pink. 

McCormick was sitting in a lawn chair, staring at the fire when Mallory came over to check his slightly swollen wrist. She carefully picked it up and began to gently wrap it with an ace bandage. She smiled at McCormick and said, “Try not to fall off any more sand dunes for a few days. Icing it will also help reduce the swelling.”

“Thanks. I think I can handle those instructions. Besides, we’re heading out tomorrow, so no more sand dunes for me.”

“Where are you heading next?” she asked innocently.

“Not sure. The Judge suggested seeing Mackinaw Island and the Bridge, or heading to Detroit to check out Greenfield Village. How about you?”

“Well, we’re leaving tomorrow as well. We’re heading to Mackinaw City and across the Upper Peninsula to return to Minnesota.” Mallory watched McCormick’s face change when she mentioned Mackinaw. “What’s wrong?”

“Nothing, just tired,” replied McCormick. “Is there anything to do in Mackinaw City?”

“Well, there is the ferry to the island, shops that sell fudge, and Fort Michilimackinac in Mackinaw City, or Fort Mackinac on the island to explore. The island is like stepping back in time because no motorized vehicles are allowed; just bikes, horses, and lots of walking. Unfortunately, the tourist season doesn’t really start until June, so most things are fairly quiet there now. In early June, they have the Lilac Festival on the island, which is really amazing.”

“Sounds interesting. I’ll have to see what the Judge wants to do next. I’m just the driver; he’s the navigator.” McCormick yawned and got up. “I think it’s time I got some sleep. Have a safe trip back to Minnesota.”

“Thanks. I hope you enjoy the rest of your travels. Good night.” Mallory smiled and watched the young man walk back to the Airstream. She turned to join the conversation with Hardcastle and Swenson.

An hour later, McCormick was just putting away his notebook away when Hardcastle returned. “Hey, Judge, where are we headed tomorrow?”

“Mackinaw and then south towards Indiana,” answered Hardcastle.

“Why not Detroit?” asked McCormick in a sleepy voice as he lay on his bed.

“Because we’ve been warned to avoid Detroit,” replied the jurist quietly.

“Warned! What do you mean? Who warned us?” shouted McCormick, sitting up and no longer sleepy.

“Yeah, well, I have it on good authority that the guys in the black sedan were picked up in Wisconsin. However there appears to be a contract out on a silver Airstream with California plates. Word on the streets in Detroit is that we’re worth about $20,000 to the guys who find us.” Hardcastle watched the young man settle back down on his bed. “So, we’re going to avoid the Motor City, but don’t worry, I got something better planned.”

“Great, another vacation that ends with us running from guys with guns. At least this time, it’s not someone we know.” Mark looked at the Judge. “So, who did you talk with to get all this information?”

“Well, you were right, the red Monte Carlo had been following us. Mike and Mallory are with the Minneapolis FBI office. They’ve been asked to watch out for us since the Detroit office was too busy dealing with the contract issues.” Hardcastle headed to the back towards his bed. “Oh, and Frank says hi.” Hardcastle turned the light out. “Now get some sleep. Lots of driving tomorrow.”

“Good night, Judge.” McCormick turned off the light and tried to sleep.

The next morning, Hardcastle woke McCormick at 5 a.m. Finding his wrist still slightly swollen, McCormick was ordered to be the co-pilot and navigator. Pulling out of the campground, they headed northward, traveling through Traverse City via M-72, where they picked up US-31 north again. They followed the coastline northward.

Three hours later, they pulled into Mackinaw City and found a truck stop for breakfast. They ate quickly and headed over to Shepler’s Ferry Dock, where they purchased tickets for the 9:30 ferry to the island. 

From the ferry, they were able to see the entire Straits of Mackinaw and the five-mile-long Mackinaw Bridge. In some respects it was similar to the Golden Gate Bridge, only longer and green.

After the twenty-minute ferry ride, they stepped onto the island and Hardcastle quickly began walking up Main Street towards Mahoney Avenue. As they neared Mahoney Avenue, Hardcastle pointed out the sign for Jack’s Livery Stable. 

McCormick looked at the Judge and asked, “What are we doing here?”

“Gonna rent a horse 'n' buggy. With your wrist, we can’t do bicycles.”

“Judge, you can’t be serious! You don’t know how to drive a horse and buggy.”

“Oh, yes I do! Grew up farming, and we didn’t have a car at first. Learned to drive a buggy before a car.” The Judge gave McCormick a look that dared him to make any more comments. After a minute he added, “Besides, I’m not walking to Arch Rock or the fort.”

After a few minutes of talking with the livery owner, both men climbed into the buggy and Hardcastle steered it onto Lake Shore Road, otherwise known as M-185 -- the only highway in Michigan that does not allow motor vehicles on it.  They followed the highway around the island until they reached Arch Rock, which was on the eastern side of the island. After enjoying the scenery around the rock, they headed over to Fort Mackinac. They explored the grounds of the historic fort for a couple of hours before Hardcastle suggested the need to return the horse and buggy. 

Heading towards the livery stable along Cadotts Avenue, they passed the Grand Hotel. The white structure was an impressive architectural wonder from a time long forgotten. The expansive front porch with its rocking chairs was quaint and inviting. McCormick found himself enjoying the slow pace of the horse-drawn buggy ride. It gave him a chance to look at the Victorian-era homes and cottages, and to see the quiet lifestyle of the year-round island residents.

After returning the horse and buggy, Hardcastle led them back downtown, where they stopped at Murdick’s Fudge Shop. McCormick bought a pound of Mackinaw Island fudge, as well as a pound of mint-chocolate fudge. Hardcastle bought a pound of old-fashioned lemon drops. 

They proceeded to the Pink Pony Restaurant for an early dinner. When they entered the restaurant and went to the front podium, Hardcastle asked if the other half of the Swenson party had arrived. McCormick was surprised when Hardcastle mentioned the name Swenson, but wisely decided to remain quiet. They were escorted to a table outside overlooking the marina, where Mike and Mallory were seated already. They stood up as the Judge and McCormick approached.

“So, Mark, how’s your wrist today? And what do you think of the island?” asked Mallory.

“The wrist is good. I’ve been taking it easy. The island’s nice. I can see why you suggested coming here during the Lilac Festival.”

“So, Mike, were you able to make those arrangements for me?” asked Hardcastle casually while looking over the menu.

“Sure did. Things are all set for you. I hope you enjoy the side trip,” replied Mike with a knowing grin.

“What arrangements? And what side trip are we taking?” asked McCormick suspiciously, as the waitress approached their table.

“Nothing to worry about, kiddo. I told you earlier that you’d like it.” Hardcastle looked up at the waitress. “I’ll have the Whitefish Special.” Turning back to McCormick he said, “You worry too much. Now what’ll you have?” 

McCormick ordered the chicken with a Michigan cherry sauce, and sat back to watch the boats in the marina. Over the leisurely meal, the foursome discussed some of the unique features of the upper Midwest. Mark was surprised at how many unique and fun locations they were getting to see on their trip. Mallory mentioned that their trip across the U.S. was one of the more interesting witness protection programs that she had participated in during the last few years.  But everyone agreed that this was a lot better than sitting in a hotel room during the trial.

They ended their dinner in time for McCormick and Hardcastle to catch the 5 p.m. ferry back to Mackinaw City. McCormick hopped into the Airstream’s driver’s seat while Hardcastle directed him to take I-75 south, towards Grayling. Pulling the vehicle back onto the expressway, McCormick began to sing:

“Here I am, on the road again, 


there I am up on the stage.


Here I go, playing star again, 


there I go, turn the page.”
“What are you singing?” asked Hardcastle as he looked up from a map he had been reading.

“Bob Seger’s ‘Turn the Page’. He’s from Detroit, and since we’re not going there, I thought I’d honor him in song. You have to admit, the song seems appropriate, ‘on the road again’.”
“You’re crazy … but at least you’re not trying to be Willie Nelson.” Hardcastle looked back at the map and said, “Just focus on driving and stick to the speed limit.”

“Hey!  I haven’t gotten a single ticket on this trip,” responded McCormick indignantly.

“Yet …” came the chuckle from the passenger seat.

“Judge, where are we staying tonight?” asked McCormick diffidently. “I mean, this is the first night that we don’t seem to have a plan.”
“Well, I have a plan. I just haven’t shared it with you. But for now, keep driving south. I’d like to get to the Michigan-Indiana border tonight. We’ll find someplace to park later.”

“Okay, I’ll drive for awhile. I really wish you’d let me know what the plan is …”

No answer came from the passenger seat, and McCormick drove in silence. A half-hour later, as they approached Gaylord, the Bob Seger tunes began again.

“Twelve hours out of Mackinaw City, stopped in a bar to have a brew

Met a girl and we had a few drinks and I told her what I'd decided to do

She looked out the window a long long moment then she looked into my eyes

She didn't have to say a thing, I knew what she was thinkin'

Roll, roll me away …”
“McCormick, knock it off! I’m trying to read here and that noise is not helping.”
“Sorry, but I’m bored and I’m hungry again,” complained the young man. “Can you grab me some crackers and peanut butter from the back?”

“How can you be hungry again? You had a big dinner.”

“Yeah, but we didn’t get lunch,” retorted McCormick. “Never mind, just pass me the fudge and a Coke.”

“Good grief. Sugar and more sugar. At this rate, you’ll never sleep tonight.” 

The Judge moved to the back and grabbed the requested snacks, returned to his seat, and handed the fudge over. The fudge, Coke, and crackers kept the two of them busy until south of Grayling, where Hardcastle indicated that McCormick should take the US-27 towards Lansing/Clare. 

The driving continued in relative silence, with the ex-con bursting into the occasional song before the Judge would silence him with a glare or grunt.

As the Airstream came into Lansing around ten o’clock that night, Mark looked over at the Judge and asked, “Are we there yet? I was up at 5 a.m. and now I’m tired. Tonto’s ready to make camp.”

“Pull over at the next rest area and I’ll drive for awhile. I still want to get down to the state line tonight.” 

They passed a road sign for the Michigan International Speedway. 

“Judge, did you see that sign? We’re only forty miles from the speedway! Man, I wish we could have gone there. What a track! It’s two miles with eighteen-degree banking, designed by the same guy who did Daytona … Lots of great guys have raced there: Cale Yarborough, Mario Andretti, A.J. Foyt, Emerson Fittapaldi, Al Unser …”

“You done dreaming?” interrupted Hardcastle

“Yeah, it just would have been fun to go there.” Mark was quiet for a moment. “You sure about driving more tonight? I mean it’s getting late.” McCormick yawned but he kept an eye on the road. 

They passed a sign indicating a rest area in two miles. “Yeah, I want to get as close to tomorrow’s destination as possible. Limit the amount of driving for tomorrow.”

“Judge, where are we going? Tonight or tomorrow? I’m a bit curious, especially since you seem to be so buddy-buddy with the FBI agents.”

“Just pull off at the next rest area,” ordered Hardcastle.

McCormick did as instructed. They traded positions and quickly got back on the road. McCormick looked over at the Judge who was focused on the road signs. “What are you looking for?” he asked quietly.

“The exit for I-69 South, heading towards Fort Wayne. Go ahead and lean back in the seat. Get some sleep.” Hardcastle looked over at the tired eyes of his friend. “Go ahead, I’m not going to drive all night.”

McCormick nodded in agreement, reclined the seat, and closed his eyes. He soon drifted off to sleep. Four hours later, Hardcastle pulled into a parking lot and turned off the Airstream. He nudged McCormick and told him to move to the back. The young man barely woke up enough to move to the waiting couch bed.

CHAPTER VII:
Indiana

McCormick woke to the sound of someone banging on the door of the Airstream. He stumbled to the door and opened it, surprised to see two uniformed Indiana State Patrol Officers standing there. 

“Excuse me, sir. Are you Judge Hardcastle?” asked one of the officers.

“Ahh, no. Just a moment.” McCormick looked back towards the bedroom and yelled, “Judge, there’s a couple of Indiana State Patrol Officers here and they want to talk to you.” 

“All right, all right. No need to shout, I heard him knocking,” grumped Hardcastle as he came forward.

“Judge, where are we?” whispered McCormick nervously as the Judge passed him and moved to the doorway.

“Welcome to Indianapolis, Judge Hardcastle.” The officer handed the Judge a large manila envelope. “Everything that you requested should be in here. Agent Randall will be stopping by tonight to pick up the signed copies. Is there anything else we can help you with?” asked the officer.

McCormick stared at the officer, not believing he heard him correctly. As Hardcastle responded, McCormick turned to the Judge, who quickly held up his hand, effectively silencing McCormick before he could speak.

“No, I think we’re all set. Thank you for delivering the paperwork.”

“If that will be all, then I will again welcome you to the Brickyard. Enjoy the practice and qualifiers as well as your stay in our wonderful state.” The officer tipped his hat and left.

“Brickyard! Indianapolis! Qualifiers! Judge, are we where I think we are?” whooped an over-excited McCormick

“I don’t know where you think we are, but we’re at the Indianapolis Speedway,” grumbled the Judge as he headed towards the bathroom. “Make some coffee.”

Mark began to dance around, bouncing up and down, and shaking the Airstream as he exclaimed, “I can’t believe it! I really can’t believe it! The Brickyard. The middle of May. My God! The Indy 500! Mario Andretti, Al Unser, Rick Mears …”

“McCormick! Knock it off and make some coffee!” yelled Hardcastle from the small bathroom. 

The young man stopped jumping, grabbed a jug of water and began to make the coffee. Only after the brewer was started did he look out the window and notice that they were in the parking lot of the raceway with about twenty other trailers, including some from the racing teams. 

A few minutes later, the Judge came out of the bathroom. He took notice of the young man, who was trying very hard to contain himself as he sat at the table. He opened the envelope that the officer had given him, took out a few papers, read them over, and signed them. He then took another piece of paper out of the envelope and handed it to McCormick. It was the schedule of events for the day, a seat assignment for Section E, and a garage pass.

McCormick looked at the schedule and then to the Judge. He couldn’t believe that he was actually at the raceway, let alone there during the month of May, and here the Judge was giving him some of the best seats for viewing the runs and a garage pass. He figured just touring the grounds would be great, but sitting in the stands on Turn One and having access to the garage area – that was just amazing.

“How? … Why? …” gasped McCormick when he could finally speak. 

“Remember, I’m a leaner.” Hardcastle slowly poured himself a cup of coffee, savoring the moment of one speechless ex-con. “So I leaned a bit.” He took a sip and continued; “As to why, well, let’s just say … it seemed like a good idea at the time.”

“It’s a great idea! An incredible idea!” McCormick jumped up to give Hardcastle a hug but stopped when the jurist handed him a cup of coffee.
“Stop slobbering on me! Drink your coffee.” Hardcastle smiled at the embarrassment of the young man standing before him. “I vaguely remember being told that practice starts at noon. You got some time to tour the garage, if you want.”

McCormick drank his coffee and dressed in record time. He was anxious to see Gasoline Alley, tour the garage area and see who was practicing. He still couldn’t believe that Hardcastle had brought them to the Indianapolis Speedway during the month of May – the most important month for racing.

“Are you coming?” queried Mark, getting ready to leave.

“Nah, go have fun. There’s a few more papers I need to read before I’ll sign.” Hardcastle saw a brief look of disappointment flash across the young man’s face. “How about we meet back here at eleven, go watch a few laps, and then tour the museum?” 

“Sure.” The excitement was back in the expressive blue eyes of the young man.

Hardcastle handed the excited McCormick some money. “Here, buy a t-shirt or something and a Sharpie marker. I’ve been told that you can get autographs in the garage area or Gasoline Alley.”

“Thanks!” McCormick gave the Judge an immense grin. He was anxious to go explore the speedway. “I’ll see you in a couple hours.”

It was a beautiful morning with clear blue skies and warm sunshine; the perfect day to be at the greatest racetrack in America. McCormick headed towards the gate that would lead him to the infield and eventually the garage area. He had heard all about the wild parties and fights that tended to occur on the infield at turn one, earning it the nickname of The Snake Pit. He knew better than to risk his parole by visiting the area and getting involved with one of the potentially illegal activities.

McCormick purchased a black Sharpie marker, several postcards, a Mario Andretti t-shirt, and a Rick Mears hat from the first souvenir stand he found. Treasures in hand, he left to explore Gasoline Alley. He was surprised at the number of cars that were competing for one of the thirty-three positions. He counted at least eighty cars in the garage area.

He met Michael Andretti, who was debuting as a rookie, racing alongside his father Mario. He was thrilled to get both Michael and Mario’s signatures on his t-shirt. Mario Andretti was a hero for McCormick and here he was face-to-face with him. It was a dream come true to meet the racing legend.

Mark was also able to meet Rick Mears and get his autograph on the hat. Rick Mears fascinated Mark.  Mears had won the race in 1979, and held the pole position in 1982. He was also the Indy car National Champion in 1979, 1981, and 1982. Rick was the first person to record a 200-mph race lap at the Brickyard. He was a racing champion and everything that Mark had dreamed about while in prison.

He saw the cars for Bobby Rahal, Al Unser and his son, Emerson Fittipaldi, A.J. Foyt, and the defending champion Tom Sneva. So many talented drivers in one location and he was there, walking amongst them. It was an amazing morning for Mark.

It was almost eleven when Mark headed back to the trailer. He was so anxious to share his morning discoveries with the Judge that he never noticed the man dressed in blue jeans and yellow t-shirt following him back toward the parking lot. On returning to the trailer, he displayed his t-shirt and hat, complete with signatures. Hardcastle couldn’t help but smile at Mark’s enthusiasm; it was infectious.

“Come on, sport. You can show me the track and we can find something to eat before practice starts,” responded the Judge to all of McCormick’s babble. He watched McCormick dig up a pen and notepad and place them in his backpack along with the camera, a water bottle, and a bag of chips. “What’s the notepad for?”

“I want to time the laps and keep track of the individual runs. Oh, I found a place that sells Indy Dogs. You should like those,” stated McCormick, leading the way back to the track.

The two men returned to the track, grabbed several Indy dogs from the vendor McCormick had found earlier, and took their seats in Section E. Hardcastle chuckled as McCormick made himself comfortable in his seat, anxious for the practice runs to begin. A few minutes later, practice started and McCormick was all business. He had the stopwatch out and timed the first driver, Derek Daly of Ireland. 

“Wow! Did you see that, Judge? He did that lap in forty-five seconds. He’s gotta be doing at least … 200 mph!”

“Yeah, kid, I saw it,” replied Hardcastle even though he hadn’t seen the first lap. He was too busy watching the expressions on McCormick’s face. 

They watched several teams practice, with McCormick providing insight on some of the drivers as well as some of the history behind the Indy 500. Shortly after watching Emerson Fittipaldi complete his practice laps, the Judge noticed McCormick filling out a postcard.

“Who’s the postcard for?”

“Barbara Johnson. I gotta tell her that I actually got to see Fittipaldi drive and met Mario Andretti and Rick Mears.” Mark wrote a couple more lines on the postcard. “Thanks again for bringing us here. This has been an incredible day!”

“Didn’t you send her one from the Badlands?”

“Nah, that was Teddy. I thought he’d get a kick out of the name.” Mark pulled a book of stamps from his wallet and placed one on the postcard.

“So, do you miss racing?” asked Hardcastle, even though he was pretty confident he knew the answer.

“Yeah, I do. I was good and fast. It was one of only a few things I could do really well and was legal. The whole time I was in prison, I kept thinking about how I couldn’t wait to get back on the track and race again with Flip.” McCormick looked out over the track. “When Flip died, well, I thought the dream was lost. Then you came along.”

“I never meant for you to give up on your dreams, kiddo,” said Hardcastle quietly

“I know. When the Denco ride came along, you supported me as much as you could, until it was obvious things weren’t entirely legal. I can’t fault you on that lost opportunity. The Lone Ranger is good at finding trouble and Tonto goes along for the ride.” McCormick looked back at Hardcastle and smiled. “Besides, Tonto thinks riding with Lone Ranger is a bit like racing; you never know when you’re going to crash.”

“All right, wise guy, how about we watch a couple more laps, and then tour the museum?”

“Deal!” McCormick looked back at the track and noticed that Rick Mears’ car Number 6 was sitting at the starting line. “Judge, it’s Rick Mears! We gotta watch this one.” For the next five laps, McCormick’s eyes never left the track other than to look at the stopwatch. “My God! He’s completing the laps in less than forty-four seconds … which means he’s doing something like 205 mph. Man, what a ride!”
“So, what’s the fastest you’ve ever done?” questioned the jurist.

“On the track or off?” asked a cautious McCormick.

“Either,” came the casual reply.

“On the track, 177 mph, at a race back in 1980. With the Coyote, on track … 161 mph; off track … 140,” came the guarded response.

“140 mph on the street! Are you crazy? When and where did you do a crazy thing like that?” asked the Judge, suddenly aware that this was probably not the time nor the place to be asking these questions.

“On the return trip from Vegas, after we got Cody. I didn’t think I’d make it to Dalem’s office in time, especially if I stuck to the double nickel.” Mark shifted in his seat a bit. “It was an open stretch, I could see for miles, and I had four Nevada State Highway Patrol officers following me. You gotta love a parade …”

“No, I don’t ‘gotta love a parade’.” Hardcastle rubbed his hand across his face before continuing, “No wonder they didn’t want to drop the charges when I called.”

“What?!” McCormick was looking directly at the Judge. “You called and pulled a few strings, didn’t you?”
“I made a couple of calls. That’s it.” Hardcastle looked out over the field. “What’s with the group on the infield; sitting on top of their cars with a buncha half-dressed women?”

“That’s The Snake Pit, Judge. Hardcore party zone.” McCormick looked back at the Judge and took note that the previous conversation was closed. “Ready to go to the museum?”

“Sure.”

They spent the next couple of hours touring the museum, looking at classic racing cars and trophies. It was an interesting mix of Indy 500 memorabilia, as well as general information on the history of the racetrack and racing in America. It was more interesting than the Judge had anticipated. In the gift shop, Hardcastle bought a new cap for himself and a couple of postcards. 

They returned to the Airstream via the garage and Gasoline Alley. McCormick wanted to show the Judge some of the cars up close. Most of the teams were in the process of putting things away for the evening when they came on Tom Sneva’s car and team. McCormick was quick to inform the Judge that Sneva was the reigning Champion. After a few minutes of conversation with the crew, they were back on their way to the Airstream with another autograph for McCormick’s collection. McCormick failed to notice the stranger following them.

They sat outside the Airstream and enjoyed a leisurely dinner of beer and hamburgers on the portable grill. McCormick was busy writing in his notebook when a young man walked up to them. “Good evening. I’m Agent James Randall with the FBI office here in Indianapolis.”

“Ah yes, Agent Randall. I have signed all of the paperwork,” replied Hardcastle as he shook the FBI agent’s hand. He moved towards the door of the Airstream and said, “I’ll be right back.”

The agent turned to McCormick and asked, “Did you enjoy your pass to the Garage?”

“Yeah, it was great! So, who did Hardcastle have to lean on to get one of those?”

The agent never got a chance to answer before Hardcastle returned with the manila envelope. “Here’s the papers and I have a list of things that I'd like you to fax to Frank Harper with the LAPD. His number is on the top of the list.”

“Not a problem. I'll get this faxed over first thing tomorrow morning.” Agent Randall turned to Mark and said, “ By the way, Agent Larson wanted to know how your wrist was doing.”

“Who’s Agent Larson?” asked a confused McCormick.

“Mallory,” responded Hardcastle with a chuckle. “I guess you never heard us call her by her last name.”

“Ahh, yeah, Mallory. You can tell her it’s fine.” McCormick shifted in his chair. “How come they were so nice compared to the guys we’ve met in California?”

“Agent Larson is pure Minnesota Nice. But then again, most of us from the Midwest are pretty relaxed, unless provoked.” Randall smiled at the disbelief that was clearly on McCormick’s face.  “So where are you headed tomorrow, if I might ask?”

“Tomorrow we’re heading for Pittsburgh. We’ll probably stop along the way in Ohio for lunch. I hear there’s good barbeque and chili along the way.”

“Oh, that there is,” replied the agent. “Best chili is up towards Cincinnati. Might I recommend the Dancing Donkey Smoke House in Cambridge? It’s just off of US-40 and has some of the best ribs outside of St. Louis.”

“Sounds good,” responded McCormick. He turned to the Judge and asked, “So what’s on the list for Frank?”

“A couple items that you neglected to deal with before we left; car insurance for the Coyote, your phone bill, and one parking ticket. Frank informed me that the phone was already disconnected and the parking ticket was due last week.” Hardcastle looked over at Agent Randall and smiled. “Kids. Can’t trust them to stay out of trouble, especially this one.”

“Ju-udge …” whined McCormick.

“Listen, sport. You can’t let parking tickets lapse. You’re supposed to be rehabilitated.”

“Rehabilitated, yeah. It means I no longer steal cars. I’m not a saint, ya know. Even you've gotten a parking ticket or two, right?”

“Nope,” replied Hardcastle smugly.
“Well, Judge Hardcastle, I can see you have your hands full.” Randall laughed at the admonishment that caused the young ex-con to blush. “Enjoy the remainder of your time at the track, and safe travels. I’ll make sure Lieutenant Harper receives the fax.” Randall smiled and shook his head as he left the quarrelsome pair alone.

They sat outside for another hour, enjoying the evening breeze while the Judge read a book and McCormick wrote in his notebook.  As darkness closed in, they picked up the chairs and stored them away. As much as Mark wanted to wander around the track, he had the oddest sensation that they were being watched, so he settled for listening to the radio and playing cards with Hardcastle.

CHAPTER VIII:
Ohio/Pennsylvania

The next morning found them heading east out of Indianapolis on I-70. They stopped briefly for breakfast at a International House of Pancakes near the track and didn't planning on stopping again until Cambridge, Ohio. As they made their way out of Indianapolis, a dark blue sedan followed them for about ten miles and then passed them.
They had lunch at the Dancing Donkey. The ribs were good, some of the best that the Judge had tasted. They chatted about where they were going to stay for the night, determining that Rose Point Park in New Castle would be a good choice, even though it was still about an hour north of Pittsburgh.

Returning to the Airstream, Hardcastle climbed into the driver's seat while McCormick curled up in the passenger seat. They headed north on I-77 towards Canton, Ohio, where they would turn and head east. McCormick quickly fell asleep, leaving Hardcastle to drive the next hour with a dark blue sedan following. They stopped briefly in Canton to visit the William McKinley Presidential Library and Museum and change drivers.

Turning east, McCormick settled into the role of driver with a bag of chips and a Coke nearby. Two uneventful hours later, they pulled into New Castle, Pennsylvania, and quickly located the campground. 

After setting the lawn chairs around the fire pit, Hardcastle handed McCormick a large bag of dirty garments. “Okay, kid, time to earn your keep. Head over to the laundry facilities and don’t come back until it’s all clean.”

“Judge, you gotta be kiddin’,” complained the young man.

“Nope. You haven’t done laundry since Fargo. I don’t want to see you sniff one more shirt to determine if it’s clean or not.” Hardcastle gave McCormick a gentle push. “Go on, I’ll figure out something for dinner.”

Mark returned two hours later with a bag full of clean clothes and a look of panic on his face. “Judge, I think there’s a blue sedan following us now.”

“Come on, not this again. The paperwork that Randall gave me assured me that things would be quiet going forward.” 

“How can you be sure? I mean hasn’t the FBI been wrong about things before?” asked McCormick while putting the laundry away.

“Yeah. But so far, they kept things pretty well under control. Don’t worry so much.” Hardcastle took some salmon fillets from the fridge and seasoned them. “Let’s just enjoy dinner. We still have marshmallows left …”

“All right. I’ll try to relax and have a few marshmallows.”

That night they enjoyed a quiet evening around the campfire, talking about some of the sights that they hoped to visit while on the east coast. As the stars came out, McCormick looked up and caught a glimpse of a shooting star. He smiled and relaxed. Shortly before midnight, both headed to bed, knowing tomorrow would be another day on the road.

#     #     #
As Mark made their breakfast of eggs and bacon the next morning, Hardcastle was busy studying the AAA Guidebook. “Did you know that Pennsylvania was one of the largest land grants to an individual in history?” Hardcastle explained. “Charles II granted the land to William Penn in 1681 to repay a debt of ₤20,000.”
Mark left out a whistle. “That would be a heck of a lot of money way back then. Actually now that I think about it, that’s still a good amount of money even now.”

“It was called Pennsylvania, which means ‘Penn’s Woods’, in honor of Admiral Penn, William’s father. And it says here that Pennsylvania is not only called the Quaker state, but also the Keystone state. Do you have any idea why?” Milt asked, as he glanced over the top of the guidebook to peer at a puzzled McCormick.
“I think I remember something about the Keystone state ... yeah, it was due to the fact that Pennsylvania was in the center of the original thirteen colonies,” Mark answered with a grin.

“Very good; you did pay attention in a few of your history classes. Philadelphia was very important to our nation’s history. The Continental Congress met, drew up, and signed the Declaration of Independence there in 1776, as well as the U.S. Constitution later after the war,” Hardcastle explained.

“But that still doesn’t tell me why they also call it the Quaker state,” Mark still pondered the question.

“It's called the Quaker state because William Penn was a Quaker, and he understood the importance of a guarantee of freedom to practice one’s religion without oppression. There were some earlier disagreements between Pennsylvania and Virginia over Pittsburgh, and with Maryland and Pennsylvania over Philadelphia, which very well might have been the nation's capital; so in 1780 the Mason-Dixon line was extended, placing Pittsburgh in Western Pennsylvania -- and Washington, D.C. was created to avoid any state claiming the nation's capital. This compromise is why there's an arch in the lower eastern border between Pennsylvania and Maryland where the Mason-Dixon Line stops,” Milt finished summarizing the history. “I’ve picked out some places to visit here in Pennsylvania.  First we're starting here in New Castle, the Fireworks Capital of America.”


“You mean fireworks, like the Fourth of July Celebrations, fireworks?” Mark asked.

“Yeah, the Zambelli Fireworks Company was founded here in New Castle, and it’s one of the largest fireworks or pyrotechnics companies in the world.”
After breakfast they made their way to the Zambelli Fireworks Park. They learned that the documentation of fireworks goes back to 12th century China, where fireworks were used to frighten away evil spirits with their loud sounds, and to pray for happiness and prosperity. Mark was amazed at the amounts of gun powder (in the tons) that was used for large firework displays, and the safeguards that need to be in place to avoid disastrous explosions when storing fireworks.
“And to think we used to play with M80’s when any of my friends would get them, usually around the 4th of July. It’s scary to realize that we could've gotten seriously injured. Any one of us could have lost fingers or an eye, and we thought it was just fun,” Mark said, shaking his head as they left the park. “So, where to now, Kemo Sabe?”

“I think we’ll hit Pittsburgh next, take Route 60 South and get on I-76, the Pennsylvania Turnpike. We’ll go see the Carnegie Museums, picking up lunch as we go,” Milt explained.

Within an hour they pulled the Airstream into a parking area, and hopped onto the metro buses to take them into Pittsburgh. During the ride they saw the US Steel Tower, 64 floors and 841 feet tall, as well as the Cathedral of Learning on the Pitt (University of Pittsburgh) Campus. They got off at the Carnegie Institute, and spent the afternoon at the Museum of Natural History and the Science Center. On the way out of the city they stopped at the Duquesne Incline located in Pittsburgh’s South Side. Completed in 1877, the railroad incline or funicular is 800 feet long and inclined at a 30 degree angle. And they visited the National Aviary which houses over 200 different species of birds. Finally exhausted, they made their way back to the Airstream.
“We’ll take the turnpike down to exit 91 at Donegal, and then take Route 31 to Route 381 and camp at Ohiopyle overnight. Are you awake enough to drive?” Milt asked the yawning McCormick.
“Yeah, I’m okay, but no one ever warned me that sightseeing was this exhausting.  It’s almost like a contact sport,” Mark joked.

An hour later they left the turnpike and were heading down Route 381 toward Ohiopyle. Mark occasionally glanced in the driver’s side mirror to see the dark blue sedan that appeared to be following them.

“Judge, I’m telling you I keep spotting that dark blue sedan -- and what the heck would they be doing on this road anyway?” Mark challenged.

“Well, there happens to be a very famous architectural structure back here in the beautiful Laurel Highlands,” Milt answered. “Are you sure it’s the same car?”

“I’m pretty sure,” Mark said as he glanced in the mirror again. “But now I don’t see it. Are you sure there’s an important structure back here somewhere?”

“Yes, I’m sure about it being back here, unlike you and your over-active imagination,” Hardcastle grumbled as he settled down into his seat. “Just keep your eyes on the road in front of you, and make sure you don’t fall asleep on these curvy mountain roads.”


It was close to midnight when they finally pulled into the Ohiopyle State Park.  Both of them quickly crawled into their respective beds and fell asleep.


After breakfast they packed up the camp and made their way to Fallingwater, where they spent the morning taking pictures of the dynamic structure.
Built in 1935, the structure was designed by famous American architect Frank Lloyd Wright. Fallingwater is considered Wright’s greatest masterpiece, for its integration into the natural surroundings. It was built for Edgar Kauffman, a successful Pittsburgh businessman and founder of Kauffman’s Department Stores. At the time of construction the cost was $155,000, and it was the family’s weekend home from 1937 to 1963 when Edgar Jr., who studied briefly under Wright, donated the property to the Western Pennsylvania Conservancy. The cantilevered floors made it possible to be built over a waterfall, and have a naturally-filled swimming pool that runs off into the river.
They ate lunch in the camper, and by mid-afternoon they were once again headed east on the Pennsylvania turnpike. They left I-76 at exit 161 onto Route 30 east under Hardcastle’s instructions, and traveled for approximately two hours, arriving in Gettysburg around supper time. They stopped at McDonald’s before making their way to a nearby campground and setting up camp for the night. 

As they sat by the campfire roasting marshmallows, Hardcastle discussed the historical significance of Gettysburg with Mark. “The Battle of Gettysburg was considered the turning point of the Civil War, leading to the defeat of the South and the surrender of General Lee at Appomattox. They have tour buses that take you around to the different areas of the battlefields. Since it's May and the kids are still in school, we may be riding with school groups. So, McCormick, you're going to have to behave yourself and try to act like an adult,” Hardcastle chastised.


“I always act like an adult, Hardcase,” Mark proclaimed. 


“Oh, really.  Have you seen any phantom sedans lately?” Hardcastle smirked.

“No, I haven’t, and really there has been a lot of traffic lately.  It would make it a little more difficult to spot a tail, ya know,” Mark challenged.


“All right, let’s hit the sack early tonight.  We’re gonna have a busy day tomorrow, and a good deal of walking to do.”


“Sure.  I’ll be there in a minute,” Mark answered as he pulled out his notebook and began to write as Hardcastle entered the camper.


Arriving at the Welcome Center for the Gettysburg National Military Park, they boarded a tour bus with the fifth grade class from Middleburg Elementary School. As the teacher, Mrs. Kerstetter, explained to Milt, they were from Snyder County, which is located fifty-five miles north of Harrisburg, the state capital, along the Susquehanna River, making it close to the geographic center of the state. They were a polite group of children, but full of energy and questions. 


The rest of the day was spent seeing various parts of the battlefields. A trip to the map room had balcony seating for them to view a topographic map lighted with red and blue lights depicting the troop movements of the North and the South. They learned that the Battle of Gettysburg was fought between July 1st to July 3rd, 1863, and it was the battle with the largest number of casualties in the American Civil War -- estimates of 46,000 to 51,000 casualties during the three-day battle.
Mark smiled as Mrs. Kerstetter cautioned her class to pay close attention to what the tour guides were telling them. They would be required to write a paper on what they had learned during this trip for their History Class. Next they arrived at Little Round Top, where some of the fiercest fighting was staged. At Devil’s Den, Mark climbed among the rocks with the boys from the fifth grade. The girls announced that they didn’t want to get dirty so they stayed up on the hill under the oak trees shade and watched. Milt stayed with the girls and shook his head in disbelief as he watched Mark disappear among the rocks and peek out at various places simulating the battle. Next they arrived at Cemetery Ridge, where 12,500 Confederates had assaulted the Union Forces during the infamous Pickett’s Charge. Of course Mark joined the boys (and some of the girls) in running up the Ridge in a mock charge.          


The tour bus then took them to the Gettysburg Museum, where they viewed actual uniforms worn by Confederates and Union Soldiers. The meshed musket bullets fascinated Mark.  Two soldiers had aimed at one another and by luck or circumstance their bullets were frozen together for all eternity, and now were displayed in a glass case with other memorabilia.

“Mr. Mark, come here,” squealed one of the boys, as he pulled Mark to another part of the Museum. “Look, isn’t it cool.” The boys were showing him that they could stick their fingers through a bullet hole in a wooden door. The tour guide chuckled and explained that a stray bullet had passed through the door and killed 20-year-old Jennie Wade, the only civilian to die during the battle, as she made bread in her kitchen.
The last part of the Museum was dedicated to the Gettysburg Address. The tour guide explained that it is regarded as one of the greatest speeches in American history. Lincoln summed up the Civil War as a struggle for equality for all its citizens, and prophesied that it would be a new birth of a unified nation. Beginning with the phrase “Four score and seven years ago,” Lincoln referred to the American Revolution, and described the ceremony which dedicated the Gettysburg National Cemetery to ensure that “government of the people, by the people, for the people, shall not perish from the earth.”

The tour guide then split the class into two groups, and had them face each other across the room. He placed the teacher and the chaperones, with Mark and Milt, on opposite sides. “Do any of you have relatives: cousins, aunts, uncles, or grandparents that live in another state?” He looked around at the hands that were raised. “Now imagine these two groups,” the tour guide emphasized his point by pointing at them. “You now have to fight each other to the death.  You have to kill someone who was a friend just a few minutes ago. The Civil War was just that -- neighbor against neighbor, friend against friend, or the ones who raised their hands earlier, you ended up fighting your cousin or other relatives.” Several of the class nodded their heads acknowledging some understanding of what occurred for their forefathers.


The two- to three-minute speech that Lincoln delivered that chilly November was immortalized in history to heal a suffering nation and to honor the fallen soldiers of both the North and the South. Mark left the building with a renewed sense of national pride, a copy of Lincoln’s famous speech, and a cannon paperweight. Later Milt smiled as he watched the now-quiet class as they viewed the National Cemetery, the rows of tombstones a silent reminder of the nation’s losses. He lowered his head in respect and gave a silent prayer for the souls lost during the worst war in American history.
They made their way back to the campgrounds after eating supper with the fifth grade class, finally bidding their new friends goodbye, with appreciation for a day well spent. Mark sat quietly staring into the campfire until Milt interrupted the silence.
“What’s on your mind, kiddo?  You’ve been pretty quiet since we came back to camp,” Hardcastle inquired.
“I don’t know.  I guess I was wondering what it would have been like back in those days to be fighting your own friends and relatives just because of what part of the nation you were from. Plus the medical practices back then had a lot to be desired. Heck, if you were shot in the leg they’d just cut it off; makes you wonder if the medical treatment wasn’t just as bad as the carnage on the battlefield.”

“Yeah, it makes you think, doesn’t it, that we lost more soldiers fighting amongst ourselves during the Civil War than we lost all together in all other wars combined,” Milt reluctantly admitted.

“Nah ... that can’t be right, can it?” Mark mumbled, trying to convince himself more than Hardcastle.

“Unfortunately, it is right.  I picked up some of the literature in the museum,” the Judge said quietly as he pulled the pamphlet from his pocket. “According to the 1860 census, the casualties were unprecedented in U.S. military history: 620,000 soldier deaths, a total of 970,000 casualties; three percent of the population. The Civil War accounted for more casualties than all other U.S. wars combined. Twenty-four percent of all white males aged thirteen to forty-three died in the war -- six percent in the North and eighteen percent in the South.”

They both sat quietly staring into the campfire contemplating the losses and devastation that the country had suffered, while the crickets chirped trying to bring them back to the present. Milt finally broke the mood by throwing a new bag of marshmallows at Mark. “Make me a good one this time, and try not to burn them all tonight.”

Mark chuckled and grabbed the stick he had whittled just for that purpose. Carefully, he browned a perfect marshmallow and handed it to Hardcastle. “Now don’t blame me if you burn yourself,” he challenged.

“Okay, I gotta admit, kiddo, that one’s not too bad,” Milt conceded.

“How about perfect?” Mark added, grinning.

“Well, now that you got roasting marshmallows down to a science, maybe we can move you onto bigger and better things,” Hardcastle harassed.

“Gee, thanks, Judge,” Mark added as he continued to push yet another marshmallow onto his stick to roast. 

“All right, I’m gonna hit the sack before I fall asleep out here.  I guess watching you guys run all over the battlefields today made me tired,” the Judge admitted.

“It was a lot of fun; I really enjoyed Devil’s Den … and so did those kids, by the way,” Mark finished with a yawn.

“I think you better be hitting the sack soon, too,” Hardcastle suggested as he opened the camper door.

“Yeah, I’ll be along in a minute,” Mark said as he began to eat his marshmallow. Sitting there alone, Mark again pulled out his notebook and began to write.

#     #     #
Hardcastle pushed some of the contents of the cupboard to one side as he searched, “All right, wise guy, what did you do with the cupcakes?”

“What did I do with the cupcakes? Judge, I didn’t put them away, you did. So ask yourself what you did with the cupcakes,” Mark added as he pushed past Hardcastle to get to the door. “I’m gonna go get a shower and then we can hit the road.  Give me fifteen minutes,” he added as he shut the door.

“Fifteen minutes, it never just takes him fifteen minutes for a shower.  Aha! There they are,” Milt said as he pulled the Tastykakes from the next cupboard.

Almost an hour later they were back on the road again. They headed east on Route 283 toward Lancaster. After Lancaster they took Route 30 through Bird-in-Hand, Paradise and Intercourse.
“Okay, these Pennsylvanians sure have a sense of humor. I mean who would name a town Intercourse?” Mark snickered.

“We’re not gonna go there, okay?” Milt added sternly as he went back to looking at the map. “Up here we’re gonna pass Dutch Wonderland and then look for the signs for the Amish Home and Farm.”

“An Amish home?  Is that where we’re heading?” Mark asked.

“Yep, we’re gonna see how the Plain People live,” Milt answered.

“The Plain People?” Mark queried as he rolled his eyes.

“Yeah, the Amish are called the Plain People. This Amish Farm opened their doors to the public to give everyone an accurate glimpse of their way of life, in both historical and contemporary Amish culture.”

Soon they pulled into the parking area of the Amish homestead. Mark was grumbling under his breath about what a waste of time this excursion was going to be.
They joined a group that was just forming to follow a tour guide through the fifteen-acre farm. The tour guide’s name was Sandy. She began as they walked, “The house was built in 1805 and the bank barn in 1803. The land on which the farm is located was originally deeded by William Penn and has been farmed since 1715. As you can see, we have people out working the fields with horses and plows just as they did back then.”

“That’s some big horse there, Hardcase.  I bet you never rode one of those,” Mark chuckled.
“Those are work horses, McCormick.  Look how tall they are. They’re probably 15-16 hands at least. They're bred just for working the plows and discs,” Hardcastle added.

“Very good.  You are right. The horses that you see in the fields are work horses, which are a lot larger than the usual horse. You will see later the other horses that pull the carriages,” Sandy finished as they moved on.
They toured through the house showing the large kitchen and small bedrooms. Sandy explained that the clothing was made with hook closures as they believe that God wanted them to remain plain in appearance. Next was the blacksmith exhibit, which explained how horseshoes and tools were made. And finally they made their way to the gift shop, which was filled with locally-made jellies and candies, handmade wood products, dolls and quilts. The tour group split up as they perused the gift shop. Mark was standing off to the right of the entrance way talking with Sandy. 

“So even today they shun the modern ways and still use horses and buggies to get around?” Mark asked skeptically.

“Yes, this is their way, their culture. They are a very close-knit community within our community. They teach their children in the same fashion that they were taught. Now there are some new order Amish that do send their children to public school,” Sandy explained.

“I think it's fascinating that living in this modern age they don't allow electricity in their homes, or phones, or drive cars,” Mark added.

“Well, they have very strong beliefs, and they have a separate society among us. And I would suggest that you buy one of the shoo-fly pies that are made by the local Amish. They are wonderful,” Sandy offered.

“I think I will since you suggested it.  Thank you for a wonderful tour. I really envisioned this differently; you have taught me a great deal today.” Mark said shaking her hand.

He entered the gift shop where Hardcastle was looking at a handmade broom. “You can’t buy a broom like this just anywhere,” Milt commented.

“No, you can’t, Judge,” Mark answered as he rolled his eyes behind Hardcastle’s back. “Hey, Sandy suggested we buy a pie, shoo-something or other,” he said as he looked around at all the canned jellies and baked goods.

“A shoo-fly pie.  Yeah, they are really good, they have molasses on the bottom.” Milt shook his head. “Rather than stand here all day and explain it to you we’ll get one. The wet bottom ones are the best. And we’ll get some of these whoopie pies too,” he added as he laid his purchases up on the counter.

“Hey, I’m gonna go find a hat. I’ll meet you at the Airstream in about fifteen or twenty minutes,” Mark said as he went back through the shop.

#     #     #
Approximately a half hour later Mark entered the Airstream to find Milt eating a piece of shoo-fly pie. 


“You couldn’t wait for me, huh?” Mark harassed.

“Well, if I’d waited for you I’d never get lunch,” Milt retorted. “There’s Lebanon bologna there and bread.  Make yourself a sandwich and then have a piece of this pie.  It’s great.”

“Lebanon bologna?” Mark asked as he picked up a piece and smelled the dark meat.

“Yeah, it’s made near here -- Seltzer’s Lebanon bologna. It’s also a Dutch food; try some,” Milt encouraged.

Mark sat down at the small table across from Milt with his sandwich, while taking a tentative bite. “Hey, this is pretty good,” he murmured as he chewed a bigger bite.

“You think I’d steer you wrong, hum?  Just wait until you eat a piece of this pie, or one of the cookies,” as he pointed to the whoopie pies.

“Okay, I’m still confused.  You say the Dutch, but the Amish are of German descent right?” Mark asked.

“Well, the German word for German is Deutsch -- that’s D-E-U-T-S-C-H -- so people confused it with Dutch, so they are called the Pennsylvania Dutch. Get it?  Dutch Wonderland that we passed?” Milt explained.

“Oh, now I get it, and whoopie pies are actually cookies?” Mark asked, still confused.

“Whoopie pies are two chocolate cake-type cookies with cream filling in the middle. Just try one, but make sure you get a glass of milk; they're really chocolatey,” Milt cautioned.

After eating three sandwiches and two whoopie pies, Mark ate “just a small piece” of shoo-fly pie (actually about a third of a pie) and sat back with a sigh.

“I don’t know about anything else but, dang, these Amish can cook,” Mark stated in appreciation.

“All right, now that you’re full for a few minutes maybe we can spend some time on the road. It’ll take us about two and a half hours to get to Philadelphia, so we’ll drive down, find campgrounds, and eat a late supper cooked over the fire.”

“Judge, I just found a pamphlet in the gift shop about Hershey, Pennsylvania. They call it the Sweetest Place on Earth. Can we go and tour the chocolate factory? It’s not too far out of our way,” Mark requested.

Milt thought about it a minute before adding, “Okay, why not; I’ve been picking most of the places that we go see, so why can’t you pick for once. But why Hershey? I know you like chocolate, but what’s the big draw?” Hardcastle asked.

“Well, I was reading the pamphlet, and the city of Hershey and Hershey Chocolate Company were founded by Milton S. Hershey.  He’s also famous for the Milton Hershey School, which he built in 1909 to house and educate orphaned or needy children. I just thought it would be neat to see. I mean, I know we don’t really have the time to spend at Hershey Park, but the factory tour would be neat. And according to the pamphlet it’s only about a thirty-minute drive,” Mark rambled on.

“All right, to Hershey it is,” Milt cut him off. “Give me a minute to look at the map. Yeah.  You want to take Route 283 North to Hershey. So turn left out here onto the main road. And don’t forget to watch for the horse and buggies,” Milt instructed. “Just so you know, I’m not gonna be riding any roller coasters or any other rides,” he added, staring at the map. He was wondering if Mark wished he could have attended a school like Hershey as a kid.  His life would have turned out a heck of a lot differently.
From Route 283 they took Route 322 into Hershey, and followed the signs to Hershey Park and the Chocolate Factory. They arrived in the huge parking lot and parked by other campers. The Chocolate Factory tour was a simulated plant tour, since the actual operational plant was no longer allowed to have tours. They learned that Milton S. Hershey founded the Lancaster Caramel Company in 1883, which he made a success, but he was always fascinated by German chocolate making. Milk chocolate at the time was a Swiss luxury item. He sold the caramel company in 1900 for a million dollars, but maintained the rights to the chocolate making. In 1903 he built the world’s largest chocolate manufacturing plant on 40,000 acres of land he bought in Derry Church, where he was born. Around his factory he built a model town for his employees. In April of 1907, a park was opened as a leisure park for the employees; later the company decided to open the park to the public.
After the tour they stopped in the gift shop.  Mark purchased some big chocolate bars for a few of their friends and a Reese’s Peanut Butter Cup t-shirt. In talking with one of the clerks in the gift shop he learned a new recipe, so he purchased a package of smaller chocolate bars as well.

After grabbing a few sandwiches again for supper in the Airstream, they decided to head toward Philadelphia. On leaving the parking lot Milt pointed out the Pennsylvania State Police Academy located on top of a large hill directly across from the Hershey Park. “Formed in 1905, the Pennsylvania State Police is one of the country’s oldest law enforcement agencies,” Hardcastle explained. When Mark gave him a truly baffled look, Milt further explained, “I had the chance to meet a retired Pennsylvania state trooper once in Frank’s office, a real great guy. He had stopped in to pay his respects when one of Frank’s officers got killed in that fire a few years ago, you remember that. Anyway, a real class act, those Pennsylvania troopers. I knew the Academy was around here somewhere so I looked it up in the guidebook.”

Heading out on Route 322 to catch Route 76, the turnpike, again, they headed toward Philadelphia, with Milt driving most of the three-hour trip. Deciding they would camp for the night and go into the city in the morning they set up camp. After the campfire was burning, Mark set up the chairs and came out with Hershey chocolate bars, graham crackers and marshmallows. 


“The girl at the Hershey gift shop told me how to make s’mores, so we’re gonna make some,” Mark replied to Hardcastle’s questioning look.

Mark placed a quarter of a chocolate bar on top of a half of a graham cracker, and sat the plate near the fire. “That’s so the chocolate gets warm.” Then he proceeded to toast a marshmallow; once toasted he placed it on top of the chocolate and topped it with the other half of the graham cracker. Mark bit into the treat and laughed as he got the gooey marshmallow on his lips. 

“Hardcase, you really gotta have one of these.  They’re really good.  The hot marshmallow melts the chocolate.”

“Well then, make me one,” Milt chuckled.

After Mark ate about six of the s’mores they decided to call it a day and entered the camper. Mark had noticed a dark blue four-door sedan parked three campsites down from theirs. Although he could not see if it was the same car, he did feel as though they were being watched.    

#     #     #
In the morning they headed into Philadelphia, the City of Brotherly Love. Parking the Airstream, they took a cab through the city to see Independence Hall, where the First Continental Congress met and gave birth to the American Revolution, and where the Declaration of Independence was signed. They found out that before Philadelphia was the first Capital of the United States it was the second largest city in the British Empire. They saw the Liberty Bell, and the homes of Betsy Ross and Edgar Allan Poe, then purchased lunch from one of the vendors near the Franklin Institute.  They discovered that the country's first zoo and hospital were located in Philadelphia as well.
After spending the entire day in Philadelphia, they returned to the camper. Mark, of course, wanted to make s’mores, while Milt went to get a shower. Mark was on his second s’more when a dark blue sedan drove by. Mark watched cautiously.  There were possibly two occupants, but in the dark he really couldn’t make out anything for sure. He thought about it and decided that it couldn’t be the car following them, because a hit man wouldn’t make the mistake of warning them by driving by.
He shook his head and laughed at himself.  The Judge had been right.  He had an overactive imagination. He went back to roasting another marshmallow for yet another s’more.

CHAPTER IX:
New York

The next morning they loaded up the camper and headed across the Delaware River onto the New Jersey Turnpike toward the Big Apple, New York City.

“Ah, New York!” McCormick grinned as he waited to cross the George Washington Bridge.  Traffic was backed up for two miles -- not bad, considering.  The scent of idling car exhaust permeated the RV, and Mark inhaled deeply.  “Sure is different from the clean Midwest, eh, Judge?”
Hardcastle slipped down lower in his seat.  Sure was, no doubt about that.  He listened to the impatient honking of horns and observed drivers jockeying for position in the fastest toll lane.  “Maybe I’ll take a nap!” he retorted.  “We’re going nowhere fast, and a nap never hurt.”

“You do that, Judge,” Mark answered smartly.  “I’ll choose our next destination.  Maybe north to the Finger Lakes, Niagara Falls, the Adirondack Mountains.  Maybe I can leave you off at Sleepy Hollow and you can sleep for a hundred years …”

“Or maybe you could just shut up and drive,” Milton Hardcastle retorted irritably.

“Probably not.  Drive: yes; shut up, that’s the tough one,” Mark grinned.  “What interests you, Judge?” he queried as he inched forward, the toll booth almost in sight.  “Horse racing?  The Big Apple is one of the nation's premier racing venues.  Saratoga Racetrack is the oldest continuously operating racetrack in America, although it only runs in August.” Mark shook his head.  “No, that’s wrong.  They started opening the last week of July a few years ago, but that’s still a few months away.  Now, Belmont, you’d like that, Judge.”  He shook a finger in the Judge’s direction. “Belmont is fashioned like the European racetracks, and hosts more classic races than any other American racetrack -- but that doesn’t open until just before The Belmont Stakes, the first Saturday in June; still a ways off.  Hey did you know that Belmont is the longest Thoroughbred race track in America?”

“Nah, I’m not into betting,” The Judge answered.  “And I’ve had my share of horse racing.”

“There’s Aqueduct, not impressive as racetracks go, but functional. Just the place for the Whistler,” he nudged the Judge.

“Look, I’ve had enough of racetracks and horses, kid.  Skip them,” the Judge growled and pulled his cap down lower so the brim covered his eyes.  He settled into the seat, pressing his broad shoulders back.

Mark inched the Airstream forward and thought about New York, the sister state to his own home state of New Jersey.
“Maybe you want to head north and see the mighty falls at Niagara. Take the boat -- Maid of the Mist -- under the powerful falls that divide New York and Canada.  It’s awesome!  You have to wear a rain coat, and the sound of the water is so loud … and it’s cool to be in the small boat with the millions of gallons of water spilling over you.”

“Maybe,” Hardcastle intoned, hearing the eagerness in the kid’s voice. “But I was looking for a more laid back venue.”

“Not the city then, I guess. Midwesterners like you would be overwhelmed there.”

“Hey!  Maybe we can stop there on the way back, but for now let’s try a more relaxing venue.”  The Judge closed his eyes.

“Long Island, first stop,” Mark nodded.  “Good choice, Judge.  It’s the longest island in the contiguous United States, connected to New York State by bridges and a tunnel, and to Connecticut by ferries.  The island is shaped like a fish, with the town of Riverhead at the point where the fish’s tail forks. The south fork is new money, the Hamptons, quality shopping, surfing, ocean beaches. The north fork is farming, vineyards, older families with descendants from the original farmers, people who migrated from Nantucket and Cape Cod in Massachusetts.  Old-fashioned ideals and quiet rural strength.”

“North fork,” Hardcastle grunted, as Mark edged forward slowly, but closer to the toll booths.

“Wine country,” Mark nodded smiling.  “Long Island is the playground of the rich and famous, with vineyards equivalent to France, European climate, and laid back ambiance. It’s truly an island, separate from the city and the state. The south shore is gentle and even, though plagued by rip tides from the fickle Atlantic Ocean.   And the North Fork borders Long Island Sound.  It contains some of the highest points on the island, which was formed by glacial retreat at the end of the ice age.  But the North shore is mostly cliffs where the glaciers dropped off into the sound.  If you stand on the edge of the North fork you can easily see Connecticut on a clear day.”

“Sounds good to me,” the Judge responded.  “And would you stop reading from that travel guide!”

Mark edged forward, only a dozen cars from the toll booth that took them from New Jersey to New York.  “Did you know that Long Island is fifteen miles wide, and one hundred and twenty miles long.  That’s some big fish!”

“Nope, but I know I want to take a nap until we are out of this traffic.”

“That could be a good long nap. Once we get past the toll booth we have the Cross-Bronx Expressway which is never quick, and then we have to pay the toll to take the Throg’s Neck Bridge to Long Island.”
“Wake me up when we get to wine country,” Hardcastle replied, as he slunk lower in his seat.

#     #     #
McCormick checked his rearview mirror, watching the sedan that followed at a leisurely pace, maintaining its distance. New York was Mob territory, and a bounty on their heads in this area meant extra risk.  McCormick hoped the red sedan was FBI, not bounty hunters, but with the Judge asleep he couldn’t be sure.  These New Yorkers drove like idiots!  They were fast all right, McCormick could do that as good as the best of them, but the tailgating and lane switching without signals made the Long Island Expressway seem more like the speedway in Indianapolis!  Well, McCormick could do that too and did, setting off a frenzy of horns and shouts as he zipped across two lanes to make his exit at the Riverhead sign.  That was where the Expressway would soon end and the Island split like a fish’s tail.

He left behind the bustle and anger and headed for Route 48, made a quick left on Doctors Path right after the hospital, and headed for Sound Avenue, the road closest to the sound, long and rambling with the most wineries and farms. 

May was warm here, weather sunny, and temperature in the 70’s and often higher.  The trees were in full leaf and the farms were plowed, tilled and planted.  Early crops of peas and radishes sprouted in some of the fields, along with spring lettuce. McCormick knew that the fields would be utilized for other crops in a few more weeks, some going for a third planting of fall vegetables.  Staring at the many migrant workers, he cranked open the window a little further, letting the soft scent of freshly-turned soil and new vegetation suffuse the car. 

The first winery he came upon was Palmer Vineyard.  He pulled into the semicircular gravel drive too quickly and felt the rear of the Airstream slide out, but he corrected instantly with a turn into the skid.  The Judge awoke with a start.

“Whatta ya doin?!  You want to give me a concussion?”

“Just making sure we don’t miss Palmer Vineyard.  The travel book lists it as one of the older, more established wineries, family owned and operated.”  He opened his door and stepped out, taking in the vista.  Acres of grape vines twirled around supporting wires held high on posts in neat rows.  The noon sun shone brightly, dancing off the waving welcome of grape leaves, as the breeze lifted them and let them fall back like a cat batting at a mouse.

Hardcastle stretched and stepped out as well, staring across at the rambling one-story building which housed the great oak barrels, the vats, and the equipment to make and bottle wine. To the far right was a door which led into the tasting area.

“Let’s go see if we should put some of this into the wine cellar,” Hardcastle puffed, wondering if these Long Island wines held a candle to the California variety, or should even be placed in the same room with the European wines.

The two men entered Palmer’s showroom, noting the rugged wood floor, the polished mahogany bar, and the small tables to the side and on the sunny deck.  Attractive displays of various wines were positioned around the periphery, and the walls were hung with Long Island memorabilia.  A sweet-faced, dark-haired woman in her late thirties was polishing the bar, while a few customers held complimentary glasses, sipping.

Hardcastle and McCormick moved in unison toward her.  She smiled.

“Welcome to Palmer Vineyard. Here’s our sampling menu.  The wines listed can all be sampled free of charge except the last two, which are limited quantity.  But you can sample them for a small charge of $2.00 a sample.”

McCormick smiled at her, enjoying her mature beauty.  “What do you suggest?”
“Start with the white wines and then go to the reds,” she answered.  “It’s easier to keep the tastes separate that way.”

By the time they were done, they’d each had the equivalent of half a bottle of wine.  Mark could feel the calming effects and welcomed those, knowing that future tasting would be for the Judge, who was paying for the wine he wanted for his wine cellar.

Three more stops: Castel DeBorghese, Martha Clara and, cutting back to the main road and west again, they made a final stop at Pindar Winery.  The Judge was feeling the wine; he wanted to sleep, and as the two men watched the sun begin its descent Hardcastle muttered, “How about Chinese for supper?”

“You got it, Judge,” McCormick answered as he revved the engine and pointed the vehicle west. Hardcastle slumped against the window, eyes closed.  Mark drove silently as darkness fell, and the fields and wineries became nothing more than acres of blackness.


#     #     #


“Wake up, Judge!” Mark nudged his friend and grinned.

The Judge sat up, rubbing the sleep from his eyes.  “Where are we?” he questioned.

“You wanted Chinese food …”

Hardcastle’s eyes were wide open now. “You drove to Chinatown!  Dummy! We have a contract out on us. What are you doing in the city?”

“I wanted to see the World Trade Center,” McCormick answered softly, “and I did. While you slept I drove by and got a look.”

Hardcastle was silent.  Finally he simply nodded.  “Well kid, we’re here.  We might as well eat.”

The two men hopped out and joined the mob of pedestrians.  The lights sparkled, a rainbow of color illuminating the street side merchants hawking everything from Chinese porn to purses.  Buildings contained shops and restaurants, and here and there an Eastern apothecary offered freshly-made herbal remedies without prescription.  

“If you don’t see anything you like, Little Italy is within walking distance.” 

“Now you’re pushing your luck!” Hardcastle growled.  “Hey, I’m really getting jostled,” he complained.

“No respect for the old man, eh?”

“There are just too many people here.”

Mark shrugged.  “You get used to it.  Hey, do you like the way I maneuvered that Airstream right into a parking space?  You know how rare it is to actually find two spaces together?”

“I hope you put money into both meters.”

Mark reddened. “Ooops.”  He grabbed Hardcastle by the arm and changed the subject excitedly.  “There’s the place I was looking for.   I came here a few times when I was a kid -- well, teenager actually. It’s small, but the food is great.”

Elbowing through the crowd of milling tourists Mark steered his friend into a dim, small room with only six tables.

“Good place for a hit,” Hardcastle grunted, and then smiled quickly at the elderly Chinese man who hurried to seat them.  They were handed paper menus written in Chinese, with translation provided beneath the lavish characters.

“I left my reading glasses in the camper -- just order something with beef in it for me.”  The Judge looked around at the paper lanterns and the flickering candles and muttered, “They sure aren’t putting any money into the décor.  You sure this place is good?”

“Trust me, Judge.” The corners of Mark’s lips pulled up in a grin as he beckoned the old man over to take their order.


#     #     #
“Oh, I’m so stuffed!” Hardcastle moaned.  “And for once I have to admit that you were right. The place was a dump, but the food was out of this world.”

“Well, thank you, Judge.” Mark stood a little taller with pride as he pulled a ticket off the camper, unlocked it and hopped in, watching the Judge haul himself up wearily. “So you want a little New York night life, or I should head upstate to the campsite I booked.”

“When did you book a campsite?” Hardcastle asked incredulously

“While you slept off your wine.”

“Campsite will be fine,” Hardcastle waved a hand dismissively at Mark.  “But drive slow so we can have a look around.”

“Judge, you can either careen around the city honking at everyone like a taxi, or drive slow to reasonable -- no in-between.”

“Leave the careening to the taxis.”

Mark nodded, pulled the Airstream out into the night, and drove slowly back through the city, enjoying the energy in the air, the bright lights, and the architecture as much as the Judge. In truth, he had missed the East Coast, though not the weather.  He wondered if any of his childhood friends had moved to the city, gotten the great jobs they’d all talked about, had money, beautiful wives and security.  He supposed maybe a few had made it, but others probably were no better off than he was. And still others, well, doing time or dead.  Actually he could have been worse off.  Old Milt was a grouch sometimes, and a little tight in the paycheck department, but his heart was good.

Mark drove around slowly, taking a roundabout route so Hardcastle could see the Empire State Building, Madison Square Garden, then over to Yankee Stadium -- which really woke him up.  Then they left the twinkling lights behind and headed north, to the campground and to a well-deserved night's sleep.


#     #     #
“So what do you think?” Mark grinned across from his bed to the Judge.  “We’re sleeping in Sleepy Hollow, New York.  Get it?”

“I get it,” the Judge answered with a wave of his hand.

“Hey, maybe we’ll see the ghostly figure of the headless horseman.”

“That’s only a story.’

“Or is it?   Oooooooo!”  Mark tried to sound ghostly.  He opened the window blind and peered out.  “I think I see him out there.  He’s coming for you!”

“Probably just a deer.”

“No, I don’t think so, unless deer carry headless torsos around to frighten hunters.”

“Shut up and go to sleep before I hit you over the head with a wine bottle.”


#     #     #
Mark was awake most of the night. Between the Judge’s snoring and the creaking of the tree branches, the rustling of leaves, the soft steps of the deer, and the cackle of a rudely-awakened wild turkey, Mark had convinced himself that the legend was in fact truth, and that he was crazy for coming here.

It wasn’t until he prodded the Judge to roll over, then opened up one of the bottles of Long Island wine and had a couple of glasses that he was able to rest.

“Wake up, lazy bones!  The sun’s been up for an hour now,” the Judge boomed.  “I’ve got breakfast ready.  You want to get to that cemetery today, don’t you?”

Mark pulled the pillow over his face. “Go away and let me sleep,” he mumbled thickly.

“Look, if you hadn’t drunk all that wine last night, you’d be up and at 'em.”

Mark threw the pillow on the floor and pushed himself upright, swinging his legs over the side of the bed. “I only had two glasses ...” he started to protest.

“Well, two glasses is enough for most people,” the Judge retorted.  “Now get over here and eat your eggs and sausage.  It’s time to start the day.”

And start the day they did. First a trip to the Sleepy Hollow cemetery, and Pocantico River behind it, made famous by the tale written by Washington Irving.  They perused the headstones, some from the 1600’s, worn and sagging, sliding into the earth.  They went to the Union Church to see the beautiful stained glass windows designed by Marc Chagall and Henri Matisse.  Finally, they strolled the magnificent tree-lined streets and did a little shopping.

“Can I get a t-shirt?  I saw one that said ‘I lost my head over Sleepy Hollow’!” 

“Sure kid,” the Judge answered feeling magnanimous.  “Here’s a twenty.  Buy me one too.”

Mark disappeared into a store, emerging a few minutes later with two bags.  “Here, Judge, thanks!”  He pulled out his desired t-shirt and held it aloft proudly.  

The Judge opened the bag and took his out, holding it out and examining it with a snort.

“Cute, McCormick. It says ‘Got Ghosts?’ And on the back is the headless horseman.  I’m going to look like a ghostbuster.”

McCormick laughed, slapping the Judge on the back. “Yeah, and since the picture is on the back, it shows the back side of the horse too.  Did you get it?”

Hardcastle shook his head. “Come on, let’s get some lunch.  I saw a pizza joint across the street.  We have to get back on the road.  I’m taking you to New Jersey next, and I want to be there before the traffic starts.”

McCormick grinned. “Awesome, Judge!  Let’s make the pizza to go and hit the road.”

“I’ll drive this time,” Hardcastle responded.  “We’ll cross the Hudson River via the Tappan Zee bridge, then head south. I’ll have you in your old stomping grounds in no time.”

CHAPTER X:
New Jersey
As the Airstream headed west, a red Monte Carlo followed it at a discreet distance.

But neither Mark nor Hardcastle noticed. During the subsequent drive down the Garden State Parkway toward the southern part of New Jersey, Hardcastle had to concentrate on his driving because of the heavy late-day traffic. Mark’s thoughts were elsewhere.
Now that they were heading for South Jersey he couldn’t help thinking about his early years living in Atlantic City with both his parents. There weren’t all that many memories to remember, as his father left on his fifth birthday, never to return -- and after that Mark and his mother had been forced to move to a cheap second-floor flat in Hoboken, where he subsequently grew up. He didn’t dwell on those early years in Atlantic City much, as they were too painful for him. But every once in a while he wondered about whatever became of his father. Maybe one of these days he would make a serious attempt to find him …

Mark’s reverie ended as Hardcastle took Exit 52 off the Parkway. The sign said “Route 563 – Wharton State Forest”. They were still about twenty miles north of Atlantic City.

“Hey, why are you taking this exit?” Mark asked.

“There’s a free campground area a few miles west of here out in the woods,” Hardcastle replied. “I thought we’d stay the night there before going any further south. This part of Jersey is what they call the ‘Pine Barrens’. It’s supposed to be one of the real unique outdoor spots in the country.”

“Yeah, it’s unique all right,” Mark responded, sarcasm dripping from his voice. “Lots of short, scrubby pine trees, sand instead of dirt, various tangled vines and creepers, and plenty of four-legged critters that would just love to curl up in a sleeping bag with you and spend the night. … And on top of all that, it’s the home of the Jersey Devil too!”

“The Jersey what?” Hardcastle shot back.

“The Jersey Devil! Oh, he’s just your type, Judge!” Mark told him. “You know -- big, aggressive, breathes fire when he’s mad, that kind of thing!”

Hardcastle gave Mark ‘The Look’ (which meant: “Okay, I’m not taking you seriously anymore from this point on because you’ve obviously lost your mind”). Then he proceeded to ignore him altogether.

Within a few miles they found the campground, which was really not much more than a parking area out in the middle of the woods. To one side there was a rusted pipe and spigot sticking out of the ground which was their water supply for the night. The only other accommodation in sight was an old, rickety, wooden outhouse.

“Nice, Judge,” Mark commented wryly. “Not exactly the Hilton, but nice.” He made that little high-pitched laughing sound he always did when he was making fun. The Judge continued to ignore him.

They parked the Airstream and put some folding chairs outside next to it where they could sit and read for a while, since the air was clear and a pleasant temperature. The smell of pine was pungent. When darkness began to fall Hardcastle brought out the barbecue, a package of hot dogs, and a bag of rolls. He was now adorned in a cooking apron which had “I Never Met A Hot Dog I Didn’t Like” emblazoned in big letters on the front.

As they both chowed down, Hardcastle managed to ask a question between bites.

“Now what’s this stuff about a ‘Jersey Devil’ again?” he asked.

“Geez, Judge, everyone who grew up around here knows the story of the Jersey Devil,” Mark explained. “The story goes that, somewhere near here back in the 1700's a woman named Mrs. Leeds was pregnant with her thirteenth child. There was a rumor going around that she was a witch, and in the midst of labor pains for the new baby she cursed it. Well, when she finally had it, it turned out to have pointed ears, a long face like a horse, claws on its hands and feet, and the lower extremities of a goat. It gave a screech, unfurled its huge bat-like wings, and flew through the window out into the Pine Barrens. They say it’s been haunting this area ever since.”

“Hogwash,” Hardcastle grunted.

“Maybe,” Mark replied. “But there have been an awful lot of people over the years that have sworn that they’ve seen it. Once they even posted a reward for its capture.”

“Yeah, sure,” Hardcastle said. “Did anyone ever claim it?”

“Well…no.”

Hardcastle smiled that smile which meant: I knew all along that you were wrong, and I was right.
That night Hardcastle slept quite soundly, as usual. But Mark kept waking up every half hour or so, sure he heard scratching noises on the outside of the Airstream that sounded like an animal trying to get in. When he did sleep he had wild dreams of being chased by both the Jersey Devil and the Headless Horseman at the same time. He was quite grateful when morning came

The next day they headed south on the Parkway again.

“You wanna stop by Atlantic City, kiddo? Visit some of your old haunts?” Hardcastle asked Mark as they neared the Atlantic City exit.

Mark waved his hand in dismissal. “Nah, we don’t have to. The town’s changed an awful lot since I lived there. And anyone I might have known there is long gone by now anyway.”

“Eh, suit yourself,” Hardcastle replied. “I wouldn’t have minded checking out a few of their casinos though.”

“You know what I would like to see?” Mark continued. “A few more miles down the Parkway is Wildwood-By-The-Sea. I never got to go there as a kid, but I’ve heard a lot about it over the years. It has one of the greatest beaches anywhere, and the nightclubs are great. Not to mention its five-mile-long Boardwalk.”

“Okay, kiddo – Wildwood it is!” Hardcastle said.

An hour later they turned off Exit 4B and headed for Wildwood, a seaside resort town located on a seven-mile-long barrier island. There were actually three communities on the island: North Wildwood (which was mostly residential), Wildwood City (where the Boardwalk and nightclubs were), and Wildwood Crest (the southern end of the island which was also mostly residential). The island’s main claim to fame, besides its beach and Boardwalk, was the proliferation of imaginatively-designed motels along the beachfront that were built in the late 1950's and early 1960's. The buildings strongly reflected that era, with their kidney-shaped swimming pools, thatched roofs, tiki heads, plastic palm trees, and brightly-lit neon signs.

Once into town they turned right and cruised south into Wildwood Crest down Ocean Avenue (the last street before the beach), checking out the unique architecture. But after a mile or two the Airstream began to act strange. The motor started coughing and spitting. Hardcastle pulled over to the curb, and the camper jerked roughly to a halt.

“What’s the problem?” Mark asked.

“I don’t know. Could be a clogged carburetor,” Hardcastle replied. Fortunately they had stopped just down the street from a phone booth. They both got out, and Hardcastle checked the phone book in the booth for a local repair shop. He called one located just a few blocks away from where they were. Within a few minutes a young man about twenty or so dressed in overalls and energetically chewing a wad of gum pulled up next to them in a pickup truck.

“We’ll have to tow it to the shop and look it over,” he explained after hearing the problem.

“How long will it take to get it fixed?” Hardcastle asked.

“Not long,” the mechanic replied. “A day or so.”

“Judge, where will we stay in the meantime?” Mark injected.

“It’s a little early in the season yet, but there’s a couple of motels already open along here,” the mechanic told him.

“Can you recommend one?” Hardcastle asked him.

“Yeah, sure. There’s one down the street a few blocks called the Kona Kai. It’s open. I can give you a lift there if you like.”

“Great!” Hardcastle replied. Mark and the Judge hurriedly each packed a bag from the camper, and then they were driven the few blocks down to the street to the motel and dropped off.

The Kona Kai was a three-story, L-shaped, 26-unit motel, with a rectangular pool located in the center of the L. It had a South Seas ambiance, right down to the tiki garden in front of the office, the “authentic” lava rock facing on the outer walls, and the tiki torches situated around the pool. It was only a block from the expansive local beach, and was surrounded by other colorful motels with names like Water’s Edge, Royal Hawaiian, Bonanza, and Casa Bahama.

“Geez, this looks just like back home!” Mark commented dryly.

“Yeah, come on, let’s get checked in,” Hardcastle said impatiently. They walked into the motel’s office and rang the bell on the counter. In response a short, balding, heavy-set man came out of a back room.

“Can I help you gents?” he casually asked them.
“Yeah, we’d like a room,” Hardcastle responded.

“With two beds!” McCormick interjected.

“Staying long?” the motel manager asked.

“Overnight. Maybe two,” Hardcastle responded.

“Okay, well, fill out this card. And I need to see some ID.”

Mark pulled out his driver’s license. Hardcastle put his LA Superior Court ID on the counter and began to fill out the card.

When the manager saw that Hardcastle was a Judge an uneasy expression crossed his face. He pulled out some papers from under the counter and nervously rifled through them.

“Oh, I’m sorry, Judge, but I’m afraid we’re all booked up for tonight,” he said nervously.

Hardcastle looked surprised. He turned and looked outside at the motel’s sign, which had ‘No Vacancy’ written on the bottom of it in neon letters.

“Your ‘No Vacancy’ sign isn’t lit,” he pointed out.

“Yeah, dang it, I’ve been meaning to get that sign fixed for weeks. Darn neon’s out.”

Just then one of the motel’s chambermaids came into the office. “Room 208 is all cleaned out and ready for occupancy,” she said nonchalantly, then glided into the back room.

“How about Room 208?” Hardcastle pressed.

“Oh, you wouldn’t like that room, Judge,” the manager protested. “It needs a new paint job, and the toilet doesn’t work very well. Gets clogged all the time.”

“That’s okay. We don’t need anything fancy. We’ll take it,” Hardcastle insisted.

The manager appeared somewhat frustrated, but realized he wasn’t going to win the argument. He reluctantly accepted the information card from Hardcastle and payment for the room. Mark and the Judge went outside and climbed the stairway to the second floor landing, finding the door with a bright “208” painted on it.

“This is it,” Hardcastle announced.

Once they were both inside and had dropped their bags onto the bed, Mark looked around.

“Doesn’t look like it needs a new paint job to me,” he observed.

“No,” Hardcastle replied. “And did you notice how nervous that guy got when he saw that I was a Judge? I got a feeling there’s something funny going on around here.”

“The Hardcastle radar at work again?” Mark retorted sardonically. “I guess that means that even though we’re on vacation the Batphone’ll be blinking any minute now, and then we’ll have to jump into the Batmobile and once again race out of the Batcave to save the day! Right, Kemo Sabe?”

Hardcastle didn’t reply. He just glared.

“Only this time Batmobile is in the shop!” Mark continued.

Hardcastle grunted and turned, heading away from Mark toward the bathroom.

“And don’t clog the toilet either!” Mark called after him.

#     #     #
That evening Mark and the Judge went up onto the Wildwood Boardwalk, where they strolled the boards and checked out the shops and the rides on the various amusement piers. Mark tried to coerce Hardcastle into going on the “Sea Serpent”, a huge roller coaster-type ride that went upside down, backwards, and around ninety-degree curves at speeds up to sixty miles per hour. Hardcastle would have none of it, so Mark went on the ride himself. After he got off, Hardcastle had to hold on to him for quite a while before he could stand up straight on his own again. But an hour later they were both scarfing down a large pepperoni pizza, and Mark ate more than his share with no problem.
At about eleven p.m. they went back to the motel and turned in for the night. The next morning, after having breakfast at a little coffee shop located just down the street, Mark and the Judge decided to relax on chaise lounges on the second floor sundeck of the Kona Kai while they waited for the mechanic to call. Hardcastle read; Mark soaked up the sun, lying back in his bathing suit with his t-shirt off.
After a while, Mark broke the silence.

“Judge, did you hear anything funny last night?” he asked.

Hardcastle didn’t look up from his book. “Is this a riddle?” he said out of the corner of his mouth.

“No,” Mark said. “I coulda sworn I heard bells on and off last night.”

Hardcastle snickered. “Sure, kid. Bells. Probably just the ones in your belfry.”

Mark was silent again for a few minutes. “And another thing …” he continued.

Hardcastle lowered his book and looked at Mark. “Now what is it?” he grumbled. “I’m on vacation here, and I’m trying to enjoy myself!”

“Well, I’ve been laying here watching the room just behind the motel’s office down on the first floor,” Mark went on.

“And exactly what have you observed, pray tell?” Hardcastle asked sarcastically.

“In the past couple of hours I’ve seen about ten different people go into that particular room.”

“So what’s so strange about that?”

“So far, none of them have come out. And another funny thing -- I coulda sworn that a few minutes ago I saw one of the guys who went into that room behind the office come out of a different room on the other end of the motel.”

Hardcastle glared at him. “Kid, you better put your shirt back on,” he said evenly. “You’re getting too much sun.”

A moment or two later, Mark did just that. He got up from the lounge chair.

“Now where you goin’?” Hardcastle asked him.

“Just to the can,” Mark replied nonchalantly. “I’ll be back.” He headed off toward their motel room.

With a shake of his head Hardcastle went back to his reading.

A couple of minutes later Mark peeked out of the door of the motel room, apparently to make sure Hardcastle wasn’t watching him. He observed that the Judge had his nose back in his book. Then Mark slunk quietly out of the room and tip-toed down the stairway to the first floor of the motel.

He walked along toward the motel office, trying to look casual. When he got to the door of the room just behind the office he stopped and looked around. No one was in sight. Nimbly he pulled his little leather pouch of lock-picking tools out of his pocket, and quickly proceeded to pick the lock on the door. The door clicked open. Mark stepped inside.

He closed the door. The room was dim, as the curtains on the room’s only window were closed. He waited a moment for his eyes to get used to the dark, and then he looked around.

It appeared to be a perfectly normal motel room. But as his eyes adjusted to the gloom he noticed one thing out of place. The carpet was worn in a very strange pattern. There was a worn area that led from the doorway right up to a blank wall, as if a number of people had walked up to that wall and just stopped.

Mark moved over to the wall and started to study it. He lightly ran his fingers around the wall’s four corners.

When he touched a particular spot on the wall’s upper edge he heard a click. The wall suddenly parted a few inches from the connecting wall on one side.

A hidden panel!

Mark put his fingers into the opening and pulled the panel to one side. He stepped through the narrow opening.

It was even darker inside the room on the other side of the wall than the motel room was. Mark felt around for a light switch. When he found one he clicked it on.

He couldn’t believe what he saw.

He was in a huge room filled with slot machines, craps tables, and blackjack tables!

Then it hit him. The entire first floor of one wing of the motel was a phony! On the outside it appeared to be simply a series of ordinary motel rooms. But on the inside it contained one giant room outfitted as an illegal gambling den! He remembered that when casino gambling had come to New Jersey in 1978 it had been stipulated that only Atlantic City could legally have casinos. The law didn’t allow for gambling joints anywhere else -- including Wildwood Crest!

Wait ‘til Hardcase hears about this! he thought. Bells in my belfry, huh?
He took in the amazing vista for a minute or two more, then turned and slipped back through the panel opening into the motel room. As he pulled the panel closed he suddenly realized that he was no longer alone in the room. He whirled around.

The motel room’s light flicked on. Standing in front of the room’s now-closed entrance door was the motel manager. Standing at his side was a big burly thug in shorts and a t-shirt holding a pistol aimed right at Mark’s midsection.

“Thought you was smart comin’ in here, huh, kid?” the motel manager sneered. “Well, now you know our little secret. But since you aren’t one of our regular payin’ customers, we’re gonna have to send you on an extra bonus vacation trip – straight to the bottom of the bay.”

Mark raised his hands and smiled nervously. “Now, wait a minute, fellas!” he cajoled. “Surely we can work out a better deal than that--”

As he spoke Mark abruptly smacked his right hand against the lamp that sat on the table next to him, knocking it to the floor and plunging the room back into gloom. At the same instant he dove to the floor behind the couch on his other side.

The giant thug pointed his gun at the couch, but the motel manager stopped him. “No, don’t fire that!” he ordered. “The noise’ll be heard outside!”

Mark crouched behind the sofa, unmoving, waiting and listening to see what would happen next. After what seemed like an eternity he suddenly felt a pair of big hands grab him by the scruff of the neck and haul him up to his feet.

He found himself face-to-face with the manager’s giant sidekick.

The big thug started choking him. Things were just starting to go black when he heard the door to the motel room bang open.

“All right, fellas, it’s all over!” came Hardcastle’s booming voice. “Drop the kid, Hugo, before I’m forced to put a nice little round hole between both your eyes with ol’ Henry here!”

Hardcastle stood in the motel room doorway, his gun pointed right at the huge thug’s head.

The thug let go of Mark’s throat. Mark sat down heavily onto the floor. At the same instant the big thug made a grab for his own pistol that was now tucked into his waistband.

He wasn’t fast enough. Hardcastle clipped him in the shoulder before he could grab the weapon, and with a groan he went down too.

Mark slowly stood up, rubbing his throat. The motel manager stood wide-eyed, his hands up in the air. After what he had just seen he made sure that he did not move his hands an inch.

“You all right, kid?” Hardcastle asked Mark.

Mark waved him off. “Yeah, yeah,” he said, his voice still raspy. “Tonto plenty grateful Kemo Sabe show up once again in nick of time!”

Hardcastle ignored Mark’s smart remark. “C’mon, you two – the local pokey’ll be real interested in meeting you!” he said, as he proceeded to herd the two felons out of the room.

#     #     #
By early evening the paperwork concerning the two felons from the Kona Kai had been completed, and the Airstream had been repaired. Mark and the Judge headed toward the Delaware Memorial Bridge and the state of Delaware. Mark drove.
“Can you believe that the one motel in Wildwood Crest that was running an illegal scam was the one we ended up staying in?” Mark said.

“Yeah, with my luck I can believe it,” Hardcastle retorted. “My life has tended to drift sideways into the wrong side of the law ever since I first met you.”

Mark looked indignant. “What are you saying -- that all the criminals we’ve come in contact with are my fault?” he shot back. “Don’t you think your files might have had something to do with that?”

“Ah, maybe a little,” Hardcastle admitted, grudgingly.

They drove on in silence for a while.

CHAPTER XI:
Delaware/Maryland/D.C./Virginia
After a stop just over the state line in Delaware (the Blue Hen State) at a nondescript campground, they made an early start the next morning.  The drive through Delaware and Maryland was quick, with only one stop, for lunch in a roadside cafe advertising the world's best crab cakes.  Then on to the Nation's Capital.

As they sailed along the Capital Beltway, the Judge patted his stomach one last time, murmured “Damn, those were good” again, and pulled the map out of the passenger side pocket.  “We saw a buncha stuff in Washington in January,” he mused as he pored over the map.  “Too bad we're gonna miss the cherry trees again, though.”

“Cherry trees?  Oh, the ones where that pool is, in front of the Lincoln Memorial.”  McCormick kept an eye out for the exit he wanted.

“Yeah, the pool you almost sat in, walking backwards.”  The Judge partially re-folded the map.  “The Reflecting Pool.  Okay, we saw the Lincoln and the Jefferson and the Capitol then.  There are two places I wanna see this trip --”

“Hey!” McCormick protested.  “I get to pick something, too!”

“Yeah, yeah.”  The Judge waved in placatory agreement.  “What do you pick?”

Without hesitating, Mark said, “The Washington Monument.”

“We saw that, remember?  It's right opposite the Lincoln.  Big tall, white, pointy thing -- you stood right there and looked at it.”

Mark snorted.  “Yeah, but this time, we're going inside, all the way to the top.  Think of the view from up there, Judge.”

Hardcastle shrugged and nodded.  “Okay, that's your pick.  The first day, though, we're doing the Smithsonian.  And the second, we'll do the Washington Monument and Arlington National Cemetery.”

“Oh, boy,” McCormick groaned.  “You really know how to show a guy a good time.  A museum and a cemetery.  C'mon, Judge, we've already done a cemetery on this trip.”

“Not like this one.  And the Smithsonian's not just any museum, either.”  Hardcastle leaned his head back and folded his arms.  “I always wanted to spend a whole day going through that place.  You wait, McCormick.  You're gonna love it.”

#     #     #
Surprisingly, he did love it.  The next morning found them waiting for the doors of the Natural History Building to open at ten o'clock, and from the enormous elephant in the lobby to the dinosaur exhibits to the Hope diamond McCormick was enthralled.

“Kitty Carlisle Hart,” he read on one of the jewelry display cases.  “Hey, is that the Kitty Carlisle who was in ‘Night at the Opera’?”

The Judge turned from his close observation of an Imperial crown.  “Yeah, she married Moss Hart, you hearda him, right?  And she was a big star, ya know, not just that one movie.”  He checked his watch.  “We gotta get a move on, kiddo.  We'll grab a late lunch in the cafeteria and then head next door to the American History building.”

“But we haven't even looked at the meteorites yet,” complained McCormick as he was dragged off.

“Thought you didn't want to go to a museum, sport,” retorted Hardcastle.
The American History Museum was just as fascinating, starting with the Foucalt Pendulum just inside the front door and going on to the original Star-Spangled Banner and a new exhibit – a piece of the original Plymouth Rock.  The two men even took a quick spin past the collection of First Ladies gowns.

“You see why we didn't go to the Washington Monument this morning?”  Hardcastle handed over a ten-dollar bill in the gift shop.  “It takes all day just to run through two buildings.  We don't have time for the other ones if we're getting on the road again tomorrow.”  He accepted a plastic bag in exchange from the souvenir clerk and nodded his thanks.  “Wish we had time for the Air and Space Museum, though.  They put The Spirit of St. Louis over there, ya know.  Oh, well,” he sighed.  “Next time for sure.”

“Well, we could stay another day.  We're not on any schedule here.”  Mark paused in his stroll toward the exit.  “Are we?  Is there something you're not telling me, Hardcase?”

“Hmm,” was the reply.  “Nah, we'll stick to the plan.  The Monument tomorrow morning, Arlington after that, and then we head for the mountains.”

McCormick stopped abruptly in his descent to the sidewalk.  “Hold it.  Plan?  Mountains?  What's going on, Judge?”

“The Blue Ridge Mountains.  We're going through ‘em to get to West Virginia.  Look, I'll tell ya later.  Get a picture of the Monument with the sun sinking behind it.”  He sauntered off, humming “The Trail of the Lonesome Pine”.

#     #     #
Mark tried fruitlessly to get Hardcastle to reveal ‘the plan’, finally conceding defeat when the Judge told him the plan was to get some sleep and get an early start the next day.

The next morning found them standing in a long line before the Monument opened at nine.  

“Don't see why we hafta wait here.”  The Judge fidgeted and grumbled.  “We could just walk up, ya know.  We don't need to take the elevator.”

McCormick looked at him patiently.  “Judge, it's almost nine hundred steps.  You really want to do that instead of waiting half an hour?”

“Yes, I do!  Come on.”  Hardcastle stepped out of line and strode toward the entrance as the doors were opened.  “This way we can see all the states’ memorial stones set in the walls, too.  What's the matter with you, McCormick?  You think you can't keep up with me?”

“Oho, famous last words, Hardcase.”  Mark looked at him slyly.  “Twenty bucks says I get to the top first.”

“You're on!”

McCormick won by a nose simply because he'd gotten a head start, but both men were wheezing and puffing, bent over, hands on knees, as happy tourists piled out of the elevator at the top and pushed towards the windows.

“I  ... owe ya ... twenty,” Hardcastle leaned against the wall at the top of the stairway.

McCormick nodded breathlessly and panted some more.

They made their way slowly to one of the windows set deep in each of the four walls, as the crowds ebbed and flowed in time with the arrival and departure of the elevator.  

“That's one incredible view,” said Mark softly.  “Hey, you feel that?”

The Judge cocked his head and concentrated.  “Yeah, the whole building's swaying, isn't it?  Good thing we're not afraid of heights.”

“Yeah, well,” Mark edged back from the window, “Right.  That is good.  Um, hey, you ‘bout ready to head down?”

“Are you serious?  Look at this view.  You can see for miles.  Hey, look out that window.  There's the Smithsonian down there, see?  McCormick?”  Hardcastle turned to find Mark edging back towards the stairs.

“Tell you what, Judge, I've seen all I need to.  You take your time, though.  No hurry.  Okay?”  And he was gone.

“Hmmp.  All the way up here for what ... thirty seconds?  Oh, well,” the Judge looked around at the horde of tourists, then headed for the stairwell himself.  “At least going down, we can take our time and get a photo of the California memorial stone.  And not risk a heart attack.”

#     #     #
They crossed the Memorial Bridge over the Potomac and almost immediately came to the Arlington National exit. 

The Judge read to McCormick from a pamphlet he'd picked up at the Washington Monument.  “You've heard of Martha Custis, right?  The widow that George Washington married?  Well, she had a son who wanted to build this place as a kind of memorial to old George.  Then they married into the Lee family – ‘Light Horse Harry’, Robert E. –  so, the place was called the Custis-Lee Mansion.  Hey, are you paying attention here?”
“No, I'm looking for a place to park.  This thing's kinda big, if you hadn't noticed, Judge.”  McCormick signaled for a left turn and inched slowly into a spot big enough for the Airstream.  “You can tell me again while we're walking the mile and a half to the house.”

That was the last light-hearted remark of the afternoon.  Arlington National Cemetery is called “the nation's most sacred shrine” for good reason.  There were groups of schoolchildren being led through the mansion itself, all of them quiet and even abashed.  There were small units of families looking for the resting place of a loved one.  There was a funeral in progress down one of the hundreds of rows of markers.  And there was a large crowd at the Tomb of the Unknown Soldier, waiting for the semi-hourly changing of the guard. 

The Judge was mostly silent, just a few words to indicate which section he'd like to visit next.  McCormick watched him closely at the Rough Riders Monument and Audie Murphy's gravesite, and then at the John F. Kennedy eternal flame. 

When they reached the Tomb of the Unknown Soldiers of the Vietnam War, Hardcastle paused for an even longer while.

McCormick stepped back a pace to give him a little more privacy, then thought suddenly, Oh, no.  Is his son buried here?  He looked around quickly at the rows upon rows of white markers, then decided against that idea.  We'd've gone there first if he was.  He inched back closer to the Judge, giving silent consolation.

They watched the changing of the guard at the Tomb of the Unknowns, where the crowd observed in silence as the honor guard sentinel was relieved.  The relief commander and both the retiring and relieved sentinels saluted those “known but to God”, then the new guard began pacing the twenty-one steps, back and forth, before the tomb.  The unknowns were once again honored, respected, and protected.

Hardcastle's eyes had a suspicious glisten, and Mark took a casual step away from him, then turned and strolled across the wide marble walkway to more closely inspect the front of the mansion.  After a couple of minutes, the Judge joined him there.

“You got nice manners, kid, I'll give ya that,” he said softly.

“Huh?”  Mark glanced at him, then back at the white facade of the house.  “I don't know what you're talking about, Hardcase.  Hey,” he checked the watch on his right wrist, “you said you wanted to hit the road by four to avoid rush hour, right?”

“Yeah,” the Judge lifted his chin and gazed solemnly at the scene around him again.  “I'm done here.  Let's get going.”

#     #     #
“So?”  McCormick raised his eyebrows as he swung to the right onto Route 66.  “The plan?”
The Judge took a deep breath.  “Yeah, okay, the plan.”  He tilted the Yankee cap onto the back of his head and pushed a thumb toward the rear of the Airstream.  “The red Monte Carlo, that's what we call an ‘open tail’.  They want us to know they're following us.”

“I know what an open tail is, Judge.”  McCormick pointed briefly at a road sign for the next major town.  “Front Royal.  We gonna get off there?”

“Nah, we're gonna head through up into the mountains, take some of the smaller roads over into West Virginia.  That's the plan, see?  We're gonna smoke out the other guys, the ones we're not supposed to notice ‘cause we're paying attention to the red Monte Carlo all the time.  On the little winding, twisty roads through the Blue Ridge, the guys who've been hanging around in the background the whole time will hafta come out of the woodwork, and we'll spot 'em.”

Mark wrinkled his nose and shook his head slightly.  “Just who exactly is this ‘we’ you're talking about?”

Hardcastle lifted his chin and smiled.  “Us and the guys I talked to on the phone in D.C.”

McCormick waited for more information, but gave up after nearly a minute.  “And that's it?  That's all you're gonna tell me?”
“Well, what more do ya need to know?  Don't ya trust me, kiddo?”  The Judge gave Mark a stern look, then laughed at his expression.  “Don't get all bent outta shape.  Everything's under control.”

“More famous last words,” muttered Mark.

CHAPTER XII:
West Virginia

The roads through the Blue Ridge Mountains were certainly little, winding, and twisty.  They also led through some of the most beautiful scenery in the country.  There were roadside pullouts that provided views of spectacular tree-covered mountains, and McCormick had used nearly an entire roll of film before they reached that night's campgrounds across the state line into West Virginia.

“I figure we'll head over to Clarksburg or New Creek, some nice little place like that tomorrow.”  Hardcastle rummaged in the tiny fridge and emerged with a package of ground beef.  “Here, take this.”  He handed the plastic-wrapped beef to a silent McCormick.  “Now, we're gonna cook up those noodles and throw 'em in with that hamburger, add a little cheese, and have a good ol' Hardcastle Panfry tonight.”  He looked at McCormick, and smiled at him wryly.  “You ever heard that old question about the cat having your tongue?  What is it, you still sore ‘cause I won't tell ya any more?”

“Well, it does seem like you don’t trust me.”  Mark put the package on the tiny counter, folded his arms and leaned against the lower cabinets.  “But hey, that's okay.  You said it would be six months before you trusted me, and it's only been ... what, seven months, so I guess I can't complain.”  He shrugged and turned away.
“When did I say that?”  The Judge pulled a cast-iron skillet out and picked up the ground beef.  “Look, did it ever occur to ya that I mighta wanted us both to just have a good time on this trip?  To let somebody else worry for a change?  Maybe I figured you oughta be enjoying the scenery and learning a little about the country instead of fretting about bad guys.  You ever think of that, huh?”

McCormick considered that for a moment, then shook his head.  “Nope, doesn't sound like a Hardcastle approach to me.”  He grinned at the Judge's disapproving expression, and added, “But give me six more months.”

The Hardcastle Panfry was better than expected, especially when accompanied by a glass or two of New York red wine, and the only disturbance came from outside the Airstream after both men had retired for the night.
“Judge, is that you?” called McCormick sleepily.

“Nah,” came the voice from the bedroom in the rear.  “It's outside.  Probably a bear going through the garbage.”

“Oh, just a bear, huh?  I guess as long as it’s not the Jersey Devil, it's okay.”


#     #     #
The next morning, they began a leisurely drive through more incredible country.  Wildlife abounded, and Hardcastle read from a guidebook about the various birds found in the area, pointing when he spotted a covey of quail.
“Look there, McCormick.  See ‘em?  They're called bob-whites around here ‘cause that's what it sounds like they're saying.”  

“Judge, we've got quail in California.”

“Yeah, but these are different quail.” 

At lunch, in a diner in the town of New Creek,  McCormick took another forkful of meat loaf and said, “We gotta find a supermarket.  I'm starting to forget what a vegetable looks like.”  

“What's that then?” replied the Judge, pointing at his plate.  “Looks like mashed potatoes to me.”

“Yeah,” Mark swallowed his mouthful, “but I meant a vegetable that's not white.  Maybe some corn or beans or something.  Hey,” he leaned an elbow on the diner table and whispered, “I haven't seen that Monte Carlo since we left Virginia.  You think they've caught on to your little scheme?”

“Maybe.  I'm not gonna worry about it when we got bigger things to figure out.”

“Yeah, like what?”  Mark sipped at his iced tea.

Hardcastle grinned at him.  “Finding some corn and beans.”


#     #     #
After Hardcastle and McCormick finished eating, they found a store to get a few items, and then filled the gas tank before leaving town.
McCormick followed the directions Hardcastle gave him, and soon they were headed north toward Keyser.  He was looking out the windows at the scenery, and every so often would check the rear view mirror.  Still no sign of anyone suspicious, he thought as he began to relax.

Hardcastle smiled when he saw Mark check behind them again, and not finding anyone there, relax.  He cleared his throat, and said, “Once we reach Keyser, we’ll head west on 46 until we come to Luke, Maryland, and 135 to Oakland, and then 39 back to West Virginia.”

“If you want to visit West Virginia, why are we leaving it, crossing Maryland and then back to West Virginia?  Couldn’t we just go where you want to from here?  And I thought we already went through Maryland?” McCormick questioned.

“We could go to most of them from here, but there's a place I want to visit in the northern part of the state first.  We did pass through Maryland, but this a different part of the state,” Hardcastle answered, and then grew quiet.

“Okay,” McCormick said, and glanced toward his friend.  When he saw that Hardcastle was simply enjoying the scenery around him, he relaxed, and continued driving.

#     #     #
A few hours later, after stopping in Oakland for something to eat and to look around, McCormick climbed in the passenger seat and fastened his seat belt.

Hardcastle got in the driver’s seat, and after adjusting it, started the Airstream, and pulled into traffic.
Mark was quiet for a few moments, and then said, “That Amish furniture shop was interesting.”

The Judge nodded, and said, “Yes, and you can bet all that furniture is well made, and not just slapped together like what you find in most furniture stores.”

“Some of those pieces were beautiful, and I bet all that hand carving took a lot of time,” McCormick replied.

“Probably,” Hardcastle said, and turned his attention to the road.

Not far out of Oakland, they noticed a horse-drawn buggy traveling ahead of them.  McCormick sat up straight to get a better look at it.  “Look, it’s a buggy like we saw at the Amish farm,” he said, and after a moment added, “His horses don’t seem bothered by all the cars.”

“Probably used to traveling along the road like this,” Hardcastle answered as he slowed so he would not get too close or spook the horses.

They followed until the horse-drawn buggy pulled off the highway and onto a dirt road.  As they passed, McCormick waved out his window, and smiled when the man waved back.

Hardcastle and McCormick continued on their way, and soon found themselves at the West Virginia border.  “It’s just a little further, and we’ll stop for a bit,” Hardcastle said.

“Okay,” McCormick replied, and looked out the window at the trees lining the road.

CHAPTER XIII:
Maryland

An hour later, when the pair came to the four-way intersection in Reedsville, Mark asked, “Okay, which way now, Kemo Sabe?”

“We go left.  The place where I want to stop is about a mile down the road,” Hardcastle answered, as he turned in the direction he stated.

“Not a very big town, is it?  Just a gas station, a fire station, and some houses,” the younger man remarked.

“Small, but sometimes they are the best kind.  Safe enough to let the kids play in the front yard without being afraid someone will hurt them,” the jurist replied as he watched some children playing near their home.

#     #     #
As the pair entered the next town, Hardcastle pulled off in a parking lot at the top of a hill, and said, “This is Arthurdale.”
McCormick looked around, but didn’t see anything that different than he had seen for the last several minutes.  He shook his head, and said, “So what is so important about Arthurdale?”

“Well, it might not seem important to you because you weren’t around at the time, but this was an important place during the Depression,” Hardcastle responded.

Sensing that the Judge’s mood was serious, McCormick bit back the smart remark he was tempted to say.  He knew that the jurist had some memories of the Depression, and that it was a bad time for many people in the country.  He waited for the Judge to go on.

“During the Depression there were many miners in the area out of work; this town was the first of many Great Depression New Deal communities.  Because of the rich land in the area, this one combined farming and industry, and gave those settlers a new chance.  It was also Eleanor Roosevelt’s pet project, and she visited the area many times to check on its progress,” the Judge explained.

“I learned in school that she was very interested in the people in the country, and was involved in helping them get a new start during the Depression, especially miners who had lost everything,” Mark said.  At Hardcastle’s look of amazement, he said, “What?  You didn’t think I would know that she helped the people?  Just because I don’t go spouting off history all the time, doesn’t mean I didn’t learn anything.”

Hardcastle nodded in acknowledgment of the ex-con’s statement.  He had been surprised that he knew about Mrs. Roosevelt’s involvement in the work after the Depression.  He was about to say something when Mark went on.

“I didn’t recognize the name, or realize this town was one of them.  It looks like any other town, and you can’t tell it to look at it,” McCormick stated.

“Yeah, I know.  There were about two hundred of them across the country.  I remember hearing about them as a kid, and thinking it was great that someone was helping some people out.  I was amazed then that the President’s wife was interested in this particular community, and always wanted to visit it.  I know it’s just a town …” Hardcastle said, and stopped when he was unsure of how to say what he was trying to.

“Nah, I think I understand.  You were there and remember what it was like, and want to touch base with a part of yourself.  This town being the first of its kind is something special, especially to those who lived at that time,” McCormick said, and then turned his head to stare out the windshield.  He could feel the Judge’s gaze on him, but could not bring himself to face the older man.  I can’t believe I said that.  Where do I get off trying to explain what Hardcastle is trying to say?  But I really do understand that this place has special meaning for him.  Never thought I’d understand anything about the old donkey, let alone something like this Mark thought as his face flushed at the thoughts.
Yeah, that’s exactly what it is.  This place and what it stands for is a link to my past, and I wanted to visit it.  Never would have thought you would understand that, but I’m coming to find you’re not all you appear to be on the surface either Hardcastle thought as he studied his young assistant.  He could tell from the red tinge to the ex-con’s earlobes that he was flustered.  He waited a moment, patted him on the shoulder, and said, “Thanks.”  A few moments later, he said, “Switch places with me, and you drive for a while.  It’s a long road ahead of us before we get to the place where we’re stopping for the night.”

McCormick was glad Hardcastle didn’t say anything else about Mark’s previous comment, because he didn’t know how to explain it himself.  He quickly switched places with the Judge, and once the older man was seat-belted in he put the vehicle in drive and pulled back onto the highway.

CHAPTER XIV:
West Virginia

They were once again on Route 92, after traveling on Route 250 from Elkins to Huttonsville.  They had been traveling for four hours, and neither had seen any further sign of their tails.
McCormick had been watching the scenery as he drove.  Until they reached Elkins, it had been a pleasant drive through the country.  Most of the towns had been small, and the open spaces in between were beautiful.  They had entered the Monongahela National Forest shortly after leaving the larger town.

They were approaching the town of Cass.  Hardcastle looked at his tour booklet, smiled, and said, “We’ll stop here for the night, and tomorrow we’ll ride the train to the top of the mountain.”

McCormick pulled into Whittaker Campground, and stopped at the gate.  The attendant at the booth directed them to a camp site.  Once the Airstream was parked, the ex-con turned to the Judge and asked, “Now what?”

“Now we see what we have for dinner, and relax for the evening,” Hardcastle stated.
A short time later, both men were fed and happy from the meal they had eaten.  They were content to sit and read as they listened to the night sounds.  After a few hours the two men decided to call it a night.

#     #     #
The next morning Hardcastle and McCormick rose and ate a leisurely breakfast.  After they finished the Judge said, “We'll need to get started so we can get our tickets for the train in time.  The train ride lasts five hours, so we’ll need to stop and get some things to eat during the ride.”
“Okay,” McCormick said, as he put away the freshly washed dishes.

A short while later, Hardcastle pulled into the parking lot at the Cass Scenic Railroad Station, and parked the Airstream in the lot reserved for larger vehicles.

As Mark prepared to get of the vehicle Hardcastle said, “You’d better grab a jacket.”

McCormick looked at the clear sky and back to the Judge, who was holding a jacket and the food supply.  He shook his head, and said, “Why?  The sun is shining, and it’s not cold.”

The Judge nodded, and said, “We’re going to be riding the train up the mountain, and the brochure I have says that the temperatures up there are often about thirty degrees cooler; plus it tends to be windy.”

McCormick reached in the Airstream and grabbed a jacket.  He wasn’t sure he would need it, but he would rather be prepared than regret it later.  Besides, if it was colder up there, he’d have to listen to the Judge tell him he should have listened, and he would like to avoid that if at all possible.

The pair walked to the ticket window and purchased their tickets.  They were told that there was about twenty minutes until their train would be pulling out.

McCormick turned to the Judge and suggested, “We could go check out the gift shop while we wait.”
“No, I thought we would do that when we got back.  We’ll have more time then,” Hardcastle answered.

Mark saw the engineer standing by the engine talking to some other passengers and said, “Let’s go talk to the engineer.”  He started down the steps to join the others below.

Hardcastle shook his head at his young assistant’s enthusiasm, and followed him down the steps.

McCormick stood listening quietly for a few minutes, and when the others walked off, asked, “How fast can it go?”

Hardcastle chuckled to himself as he thought, Yeah, everything’s about speed with you, isn’t it, kiddo?  He returned to the conversation in time to hear the engineer say “… although we won’t be traveling anywhere near that speed today.  We will only be going about four miles an hour for a more leisurely pace to allow time for seeing the scenery.  Also, because we will be traveling uphill first, our speed will be reduced.”

“We will be going that way, right?” Mark asked, and pointed back toward the passenger cars.  He knew the train was pointed in the wrong direction, and didn’t see where it could turn around.

The engineer was used to this question, and smiled.  He nodded and said, “Yes, on the trip up the mountain we push the train backwards.  It puts less strain on the engine.  Halfway up, we will actually hook a second engine in front of this one to give it the added power needed to reach the top.”

“Wow, I didn’t realize you could push the train up the mountain.  All the trains I’ve ever seen were always going forward,” the ex-con said.

Hardcastle was listening while his friend talked to the engineer.  He was glad the younger man was enjoying himself, and was also enjoying their little get-a-way.  He could tell from the conversation that the engineer enjoyed his job and answering questions from curious passengers.  The Judge looked at his watch, and noting the time said, “Come on, kiddo.  We need to go find our seats, and I’m sure the engineer has things he needs to do before we leave.”

McCormick held out his hand to the engineer and said, “Thanks for answering my questions.”

The engineer shook the ex-con’s hand and said, “You can see a lot from the seat, but to really get the best view you might want to stand near the windows.  You might get a little smoke on you, but the view is better.”

“Thanks,” Hardcastle said as he waved to the engineer and started up the steps, followed by McCormick.

#     #     #
Hardcastle and McCormick boarded one of the passenger cars and found a spot near the windows.  They sat their bag of food near their feet.  A few minutes later they heard a voice over the loudspeaker tell them a little of the history of the railroad line and the two stops they would be making.  They learned how the line was used to transport lumber from the mountain to the WV Pulp and Paper Mill in Cass.  When the mill closed, the town of Spruce at the top of the mountain slowly died out, until there was nothing left but the concrete foundations seen today.  The announcer stated that their trip would take them to Bald Knob, the second highest point in West Virginia, and that they could stand at the windows but were cautioned not to lean out of them.
As the train began to move, Mark walked to the nearest window.  He watched as they passed the water tower, and the Cass Shop, where the locomotives where repaired.  As they proceeded on their way they passed a lot with old cars and locomotives on the side track.  He turned to the Judge and said, “Hardcase, look at all those old cars!”

Hardcastle was caught up in his young assistant’s excitement, and smiled as he walked over to join him.  “I see them,” he said, and took a picture of the old equipment.
The voice came over the loudspeaker to tell the passengers that those old cars and engines had at one time been part of this rail system, but were retired there when they quit functioning.  They were being kept as a link to the past.

Hardcastle and McCormick stood at the window and enjoyed the sights and sounds of the train.  Their side was mostly forest, with the other side being more open, overlooking the hillsides.  The steady clackity-clack of the train was a soothing sound, as was the gentle swaying motion of the car as it traveled along the track.  The sounds and feeling added to the feeling of peace the surroundings gave the two men.  The announcer would occasionally point out things that might interest the passengers.

#     #     #
An hour after the train started it hit the series of switchbacks that allowed it to gain the altitude it needed to pull into Whittaker Station.  The voice on the speaker told them that switchbacks such as these were necessary here, because the train was traveling up an eleven percent grade, where a grade of two percent on commercial track is considered steep.
Hardcastle and McCormick exited the train and walked to one of the picnic tables.  They ate a light lunch, and then walked around exploring the recreated logging camp, including living quarters with logging equipment inside.  They took some pictures to remember the place, and then boarded their car to continue their trip.

A short while later the train stopped, and McCormick asked, “Do you think something’s wrong, Hardcase?”

Before the Judge could answer, the voice came over the loudspeaker to tell them that the train had stopped to take on water.  This was a necessary stop to make it the rest of the way up the mountain.  The announcer told them that the second engine would be hooking up to the train shortly.

After the second engine attached to the train, it continued on its way for another hour until it pulled to a stop at Bald Knob.  As Hardcastle and McCormick were preparing to exit the car, the announcer told the passengers that if they looked to the southeast, they would actually be looking over parts of West Virginia and Virginia.

As they stepped off the train McCormick pulled on his jacket, and nodded to the Judge, who was wearing his jacket and wearing an “I told you so” look on his face.  Mark smiled and said, “Okay, you were right.  It is a lot cooler up here.”

“I just wish you would listen that easily all the time when I tell you to do something,” Hardcastle said.

“Keep wishing,” McCormick replied, and ducked the playful swing the Judge sent his way.

Hardcastle stood for a few moments taking in the view.  The area was mostly flat, with trees all around.  There were a few partial buildings, and the bridge where Mark and the Judge moved to take in the view.

“Stand here with the horizon behind you and I’ll take your picture, kiddo,” Hardcastle said.

“Okay,” the ex-con said, and stood where the Judge indicated.  Once the picture was taken he traded places with the Judge and took one of the older man.  As he stood there he said, “You sure can see for a long way.”

#     #     #
Hardcastle and McCormick ate a snack before boarding the train for the return trip down the mountain.  They stood on the other side of the car so they could see the view from that side, and also get pictures.
Once they arrived back the station, McCormick took the Judge’s picture standing by the engine, and then gave the camera to the Judge to have his picture taken.  As he walked to the engine to have his picture taken McCormick looked around the parking lot.  Good, still no sign of the Monte Carlo he thought as he turned to pose.  He decided to enjoy the trip and not worry about being followed, unless he or the Judge noticed anything suspicious.

After they had taken the pictures they wanted Hardcastle and McCormick went to the gift shop.  Mark got a bell for Barb Johnson, and a pewter train on cut quartz for Frank.

The two men then ate at the Cass Station.  The menu was mainly hamburgers and the like, so both were able to find something to enjoy.

“Where to now, Hardcase?” McCormick said as he dumped his tray and picked up his bag of souvenirs.

“Well, for tonight we’ll head back to the campground we stayed at last night, and then start out early in the morning for Droop Mountain Battlefield.  It’s about an hour or an hour and a half from here,” Hardcastle replied.

“Okay, sounds like a plan,” Mark said.

#     #     #
The next morning after traveling across Route 66 to Route 150, Hardcastle and McCormick had been traveling for a short while when the Judge said, “Take the next right ahead.”
“I didn’t see a sign for the battlefield,” McCormick stated.

“I know.  We’re not there yet, but I saw a sign for a visitor’s center, and I want to stop,” the Judge replied.

“Okay,” the ex-con said, and turned onto the road indicated.  A few minutes later he pulled to a stop in the parking lot of the visitor’s center.

When Hardcastle and McCormick entered the Cranberry Visitor’s Center they saw that it was an open area consisting of two rooms, with exhibits on one side and books for purchase on the other.  The two men walked to the large exhibit in the center of the room on the right.  It had several stuffed animals and plants that were native to the area.

McCormick walked to an exhibit on the left, while Hardcastle remained at the center exhibit.

The Judge turned to say something to the younger man and noticed he was missing.  Seeing him at the other exhibit, he walked over and watched him for a few moments.  He chuckled and said, “With all the sand we have on the beach back home, you have to play in it here.”

“Very funny, Hardcase.  This is interesting.  You take these molds of animal feet and push them into the sand.  Then you can see what their tracks look like,” the ex-con replied.

Hardcastle picked up a mold he was curious about, and pushed it into the sand.  He looked at the resulting imprint and said, “Well, look at that, coyote tracks.  You’re right, it is interesting.”  He tried a few more molds, and then looked around the room.  Seeing another exhibit on the other side of the room he grinned evilly.  He grabbed the ex-con’s arm and started to pull him across the room, saying, “I see something over here that you’re gonna love.”

“Just a minute.  I wasn’t finished yet,” McCormick said as he hurriedly tossed the molds in his hand back into the display.  He turned to the front just in time to come face to face with a large assortment of snakes in glass aquariums.  “Snakes!” he exclaimed and jumped back.

Hardcastle laughed at his young assistant’s unease, and then sobered.  He patted Mark on the shoulder and said, “Relax, kiddo, they can’t hurt you.  They’re in aquariums and behind glass.  They’re not so bad, now are they?”

McCormick stepped a little closer to the glass display and looked at the large rattlesnakes and copperheads.  He shook his head and said, “You might find them interesting, but I still don’t like them.”

Hardcastle decided he had tortured the ex-con long enough, and said, “Let’s look at the other exhibits, and then we’ll head out.  I found some brochures on some other local attractions that we can visit.  They’re all close together in the National Forest, and close to the battlefield.”
“Okay,” McCormick replied, and followed the Judge to the next exhibit.  He cast one last look at the snakes as he moved on.  Thinking on what the Judge said he asked, “Is this the same forest that the Cass railroad was in?”

“Yes, that forest is quite large, and covers areas of several counties in the state,” the Judge answered.

#     #     #
Ten minutes after leaving the visitor’s station, McCormick pulled into the parking lot at Cranberry Glades.
Hardcastle was reading the pamphlet he had picked up.  As they neared the boardwalk he said, “Listen to this, kiddo.  It says the glades cover 750 acres, and the bogs here are similar to those found in the Muskegs of the arctic tundra.  It also says that many of the plants that grow here are similar to those there, and are thought to have been seeded over 10,000 years ago.”  He scanned the rest of the pamphlet as they walked along.

“That’s incredible,” McCormick replied, as he looked at the growth around him.  There were many Mountain Laurel bushes and many other shrubs.  There were some trees, but most of the vegetation was shrubbery and grasses.  Mark stopped at the signs describing the animal and plant life of the glades.

They had walked about ten minutes when they came across a downed tree.  When it had collapsed it pulled up the dirt, other small trees, and all the vegetation that surrounded it.  “Judge, look at this.  When this tree fell, it pulled up everything on this fifteen-foot circle.”

Hardcastle said, “Yeah, the pamphlet said that the trees here have to have shallow roots in order to survive, but it gives them little protection from the wind.”

Mark and the Judge continued to walk along the boardwalk, taking in the sights and sounds as they went.  There were a few birds chirping in the trees, but otherwise it was quiet.

They had just entered an area that was open on the left, with shrubs on the right, when they heard a sound from behind them.  They looked to their left, and about twenty yards away was a black bear cub playing alone.

Before McCormick could say anything, Hardcastle placed a hand on his arm, and said, “I know the cub is cute, but I don’t see the mother bear anywhere, and it would probably be a good idea to move before she comes back.  She can’t be far off, so we should leave quietly so we don’t startle the baby.  If it gets scared, we could be in big trouble.”
Mark was fascinated by the young cub playing by itself, until he heard the Judge mention the mother bear.  He started looking all around them to see if he could see her.

Hardcastle could see Mark becoming alarmed and said, “Easy, kiddo.  As long as we’re quiet and leave the area, there shouldn’t be a problem.”  He started to slowly back away from the cub.

“Maybe we should move faster,” McCormick suggested, as he also slowly backed up.

“No, we don’t want to move too fast, or we’ll scare the cub,” the Judge replied.

After the men had moved about twenty feet, they heard a rustling in the brush on the right.  Hardcastle clasped his hand tighter on the ex-con’s arm when he felt him flinch and want to run.  “Slowly, kiddo; just keep walking back very slowly,” he said to the younger man, as he saw the bear emerge from the undergrowth.

McCormick wanted to run, and would have had it not been for the Judge’s hand on his arm.  He was sure his heart stopped when the mother bear stopped on the boardwalk and looked directly at them.  After a moment she must have decided they were not a threat, because she walked over to her cub, at which point McCormick released the breath he had been holding.

The two men continued to walk slowly away from the area until they were out of the bear’s sight.  Then they quickened their pace to put more distance between them and the bears.
Once they felt they were a safe distance away, they slowed their pace.  Hardcastle smiled and asked, “Well, that will get the old heart pumping, right, kiddo?”

McCormick stopped walking and looked at the Judge in disbelief.  “What are you talking about?  Get my heart pumping? ... Mine stopped back there,” he said as he looked at the Judge, who seemed perfectly calm.  Shaking his head he asked, “Weren’t you scared back there?”

“Scared, me? Nah.  If you know what to do, it’s not so bad,” Hardcastle responded, as he silently willed his heart to slow its pace.  He didn’t want to let on to McCormick just how frightened he had been.  He knew running into a mother bear was dangerous, and was glad they had escaped without incident, but didn’t want to admit to the ex-con that it had affected him.

McCormick just shook his head in wonderment as he started walking again.  “Well, you might not have been scared, but I was,” the ex-con admitted.

The two men walked in silence the rest of the way through the glades, and as they were approaching the Airstream Hardcastle cleared his throat.

McCormick turned to his friend and saw him looking at the ground.  “What is it, Hardcase?” he asked.

The Judge looked at his young assistant and said, “You know, back there with the bear.  I might have been a little scared.”  He held up two fingers slightly apart to emphasis his point.

McCormick smiled at the Judge and said, “Thanks.”  He knew how hard it was for the older man to admit his fear.  As he got into the vehicle he asked, “Where to next?”

“First, we’ll fix us a snack, and then we’ll go down the road a piece to the Falls of Hill Creek.  Then we’ll find us someplace to have lunch,” Hardcastle answered.

#     #     #
Mark had been driving for about ten minutes when he saw the sign for the Falls of Hill Creek, and followed it to the parking area.
Hardcastle and McCormick walked to the paved boardwalk, and started into the forest.

Mark looked at his surroundings, and then asked, “How far to the falls?”

Hardcastle pulled the brochure out of his pocket and said, “It says here that the boardwalk is paved for 1,700 feet to the first falls, which drops twenty-five feet.”

“First falls?  You mean there are more than one?” Mark asked.

“Yes, according to the pamphlet there are three.  Each one is bigger than the last, with the second being forty-five feet and the last one sixty-three feet.  After the first falls, the path is gravel,” the Judge answered.

“How far to the second and third ones?” McCormick asked.  He was enjoying their outing, especially since there was no unwanted company.  He was curious how far it was to the end of the trail.

“It doesn’t say how far it is to the second one, but it does say that from the top to the third falls is three-quarters of a mile, and covers a drop of 220 feet,” the Judge replied.  He was about to comment on this when Mark spoke.

“Wow, that’s some drop,” McCormick said.  He listened intently for a few moments, and then said, “I think I can hear the falls.”

“Yeah, it looks like it’s just up ahead,” Hardcastle said, as they arrived at the first observation point.

The two men paused at the first falls to enjoy the scenery and to rest before starting down to the second falls.  As they descended toward the second falls, they noticed that the forest became denser, and that less light was filtering in.  They walked at a leisurely pace to enjoy their surroundings, and because of all the steps.

They reached the second falls and paused to rest again.  Mark took a picture of the Judge at this falls, and then had his picture taken as well.  They noted that it was wider as well as taller than the first falls.
After a short break, Hardcastle and McCormick continued on to the last falls.  As they neared it they could hear the water falling.

When they reached the observation deck McCormick said, “Wow, look at that.  It might not be as big as Niagara, but it sure is pretty how it comes out of the hillside like that.”

Hardcastle nodded as he looked at the waterfall.  He looked around them and said, “Sit down, and I’ll take your picture.  I think there’s enough light to get a good one.”

“Okay, then I’ll take yours,” McCormick stated, and sat down.

Once they had taken the pictures they wanted, they enjoyed the sights around them for about ten minutes before Hardcastle said, “We should get going so we will have time to visit the other places I want to go today.”

McCormick looked at all the steps that lay before him and said, “It was worth it to come down all those steps, but I don’t look forward to climbing back up them.”
Hardcastle chuckled and said, “For once, I agree with you.”
#     #     #
Arriving at the Airstream Mark asked, “Where to next?”
“We’ll head back to 219 and then head south.  We’ll find some place to eat between here and Droop Mountain,” Hardcastle answered.

Mark and the Judge ate at the Country Café in Hillsboro.  The menu had a wide variety of food selections, from sandwiches to complete dinners.  McCormick had grilled cheese sandwiches and tomato soup, while the Judge had a chicken dinner.  For dessert, both men had apple pie with ice cream.  They left the restaurant full and satisfied.

#     #     #
Mark had been driving toward Droop Mountain Battlefield for about ten minutes.  He looked over at the Judge, who had papers on the battlefield in his hands.  He cleared his throat, and once he had the jurist’s attention said, “I don’t remember much about Droop Mountain Battlefield.”
“That’s because you were probably sleeping in class,” Hardcastle retorted, unable to resist the temptation to tease the ex-con.  At the younger man’s rolled eyes he said seriously, “Okay, it was the site of the last significant battle in West Virginia during the Civil War.”

“You had this place picked out ever since you decided to come to West Virginia.  Why did you want to come visit?  Did you lose some of your friends in the Civil War?” McCormick questioned, relishing in the chance to get back at the Judge for his earlier comment.

“I’m not that old!” Hardcastle bellowed, and at the ex-con’s laughter fought to hide his smile as well.  “If you must know, I have visited other sites of battles during family vacations with Nancy and my son, but I have never been to this one.  We’ve visited Gettysburg, and I thought since we were in the area we could stop,” he went on to say.

McCormick had sobered as his friend explained his reason for coming there.  He wanted to hear more and asked, “Could you tell me about what was so important about the battle, and what happened?”

Hardcastle looked at the ex-con, and seeing that he was truly interested said, “The Confederates under General John Echols had control of the area, and it was part of the Virginia-Tennessee Railroad.  General William W. Averall knew that if he could get control of the area it would disrupt their supply shipments.  On November 6, 1863, General Averall made his second attempt to take the area, and managed to force General Echols and his troops into Virginia.  But due to the heavy load of prisoners and captured livestock, he couldn’t manage it and retreated to Beckley, West Virginia.  General Echols reclaimed the area, and held it until December that year when General Averall made his third attempt to take the area.  He was successful, and after the remaining soldiers were removed the following spring, West Virginia remained under federal control for the rest of the war.”

McCormick listened as the Judge spoke.  “With the railroad there, I can see why having control of the area was important; control it and you control shipments of supplies,” Mark said as he pulled into the park.  Seeing different options he asked, “What do you want to see first, the museum or the lookout tower?”

“The museum is only open on some days.  Let’s go see if it’s open,” Hardcastle answered.

McCormick drove the Airstream to the parking lot for the museum, and the men walked toward the museum.  As they approached they noticed the site of Confederate graves.  It was a fenced-in area, and the only markers on the graves were the stones placed in the graveyard.  After a few minutes the two men walked to the museum, which was open.

Inside the cabin were documents stating General Averall’s strategic plans for the three attempts he made on the battlefield.  There were two other rooms with various display cases with items from the Civil War period.

Hardcastle & McCormick walked into the room on the right and separated, with the Judge moving to the right and Mark walking straight ahead.  The ex-con stood looking at the display in front of him and then said, “Judge, come look at this.”

“What is it?” Hardcastle asked, as he walked over.

“It’s a drum with a bullet hole in it.  The plaque on top says that this drum was found on the battlefield once the fighting was over,” McCormick said.  After a moment he said, “I wonder if the bullet killed the soldier that was carrying it, although it doesn’t matter now.”

“It doesn’t say, but considering the drum was found on the battlefield, it’s a pretty good guess that he was killed in the battle,” Hardcastle responded.

“Yeah,” Mark agreed solemnly, and then shook off his somber mood and said, “There’s a lot of interesting stuff in here.  There are the guns and cannon balls over there, and some sort of metal things in here.”

“Those are bridles and stirrups for horses,” the Judge replied.

“How would I know that?  I didn’t grow up on a farm like a certain donkey I know,” McCormick replied.

“Watch it, kiddo,” Hardcastle remarked in his worst warning tone.

The ex-con just laughed, and walked over to another exhibit.

Mark and the Judge looked at the other exhibits in the room before returning to the Airstream to drive to the lookout tower.  When they arrived, they discovered a tower built of logs with an observation deck at the top.  It was not extremely high, but would give an excellent view of the valley below.

Once at the top of the tower McCormick read the sign that told them about the battle, and that it encompassed the entire valley below them.  “Wow, it sure was a large battlefield,” he said, as he looked at the view below.

“Yes, it was,” Hardcastle agreed.

McCormick grew quiet as he looked at the countryside, and Hardcastle knew his friend was deep in thought.  Not wanting to disturb the younger man he remained silent.

After a few minutes McCormick said quietly, “But it’s so beautiful now.  It’s hard to believe looking at it now that so many people died right down there.”

“That’s why there are places like this, so no one forgets,” Hardcastle said.

A few minutes later they descended from the tower and walked to the Airstream. As they returned to the vehicle Hardcastle said, “The last park I want to visit is Beartown State Park.”

McCormick stopped dead in his tracks and said, “Beartown.  No way, no how.  I’ve had my fill of bears, and I’m not going anywhere near any place named Beartown.”
“Relax, kiddo.  It’s not called Beartown because there are bears there.  It’s called that because people thought the openings in the rocks look like good places for bears to spend the winter, and because the rock formations sort of look like how a town is laid out from above,” Hardcastle said.  At the ex-con’s skeptical look he said, “Here, it says so right in this brochure.”

McCormick took the pamphlet and read it.  It did tell him exactly what Hardcastle had said, and also that the land had been purchased in 1970, and that development of the park had been minimal to preserve its natural beauty.  He looked to the Judge and said, “Okay, I guess it’ll be all right.”

“Now yer cookin’,” Hardcastle replied, and got into the vehicle. McCormick drove to the exit, and stopped by the replica cannon for pictures.
#     #     #
McCormick soon pulled into the lot at Beartown State Park.  He got out of the Airstream and waited for the Judge.
Hardcastle joined Mark, and the two men walked to the boardwalk.  As they walked they looked at the rock formations surrounding them.

“Look at all the pits in them,” McCormick said.

“I see them, and this sign says it’s caused by erosion of the Droop Sandstone by the weather,” the Judge replied.

The two continued on their way, and then came upon the remains of a once-large tree.  McCormick read the nearby sign and said, “It says that the tree survived being struck by lightning twice, only to fall victim to the harsh winter.”

Hardcastle nodded his head in acknowledgment, and led the way down a narrow passageway, where the two sides almost touched above.  He arrived at an observation deck, and was joined shortly by the ex-con.

McCormick looked around for a few minutes.  The forest was shielding some of the light, but it wasn’t as dark as at the third falls at Hill Creek.  He smiled and said, “It’s so peaceful here.  The only signs that people have ever been here is the boardwalk and information signs.”

Hardcastle had just been thinking the same thing and said, “With the way people are moving into every available space, it’s good that some places like this are protected.  It gives a man a place to go to find peace away from all the hustle and bustle.”

The men stood enjoying the quiet, before starting along the boardwalk again.  They read the signs to gain information about the park, and took pictures of things that they wanted to remember.  They talked about the things they saw, and how the plants were able to grow on the sides and tops of the rocks.

#     #     #
As they approached the Airstream McCormick said, “That was fun.  I’m glad we stopped at that visitor’s center and found out about these other places.”
“So am I, kiddo,” Hardcastle replied.

Once he was seated in the driver’s seat and Hardcastle was in his seat the ex-con asked, “Where to now?”

“We’ll need to camp for tonight.  I saw a sign on the way here for Watoga Park, and that there's a campground there.  We’ll find a place to get some groceries and camp for the night,” Hardcastle answered.

McCormick pulled onto the highway and asked, “Where we headed in the morning?”

“I haven’t decided yet.  Guess we’ll have to see where I’m in the mood to go in the morning,” the Judge replied.

A few minutes later, McCormick pulled into the campground. Hardcastle paid the attendant the fee, and was told their lot number.
McCormick pulled into their campsite and parked.  He exited the vehicle and stretched his legs.  He walked to the picnic table to set up the items the Judge was unloading.

After a quiet meal over which they talked about the places they had visited that day, Hardcastle decided to go to bed so they could get an early start in the morning.  McCormick withdrew his notebook, and wrote in it a short time before also going to bed.

#     #     #
The next morning Hardcastle and McCormick rose at dawn to get a start on their day.  They ate a quick breakfast, and then Mark washed the dishes, while Hardcastle looked at a map to decide where they were headed next.
McCormick put away the last dish, and then walked to the picnic table where the jurist was seated.  “Where we going today, Judge?”

“I think we’ll head west from here and into Kentucky.  We’ll head to Lexington, and then south to Tennessee,” Hardcastle responded.

“Are we stopping anywhere along the way, or just driving straight through?” Mark asked.

“I’m not sure yet.  We’ll see what we come across as we go,” the Judge answered.

“Okay -- you want to drive or do you want me to?” McCormick posed.

“I’ll drive for a while,” Hardcastle answered.
The jurist pulled out of the park, and headed south onto 219.  A short while later, he turned onto I-64.  “We’ll stay on this all the way to Lexington,” he said.
Mark nodded and looked at the map he had opened.  “I was just checking the map to see what area we were going through.  We’re going to be traveling east of Logan, which was named after Chief Logan, and the Hatfield and McCoy Mountains, where the feud took place.”

“We could check it out if it was on our way, but I want to get a good ways today,” the Judge responded.

“Okay,” McCormick replied.

#     #     #
It was nearing noon when Hardcastle pulled off the interstate in Charleston.  “I want to find the Charleston Town Center Mall,” the Judge said.
“A mall? … what for?” McCormick questioned, as he looked around for signs of the mall.

“Because we need supplies, and it also has restaurants inside it.  We can have lunch, and then pick up the things we need.  That book says there are three floors with over 130 stores and restaurants, plus a fountain-filled atrium.  I’m not much for malls, but this one I’ve got to see,” Hardcastle answered.  He had spotted a sign for the mall and pulled into the correct lane of traffic.

“The mall is three stories?” McCormick echoed, as he flipped through the book to find the page that told about the mall.

“Yes, and with that many restaurants, I can find something I like while you eat that junk you call food,” the Judge said as he pulled into the mall parking lot.

The two men walked into the mall and found a large map with the mall layout on it.  They located the food court, and then proceeded to it.

Hardcastle found a restaurant that served chili, while McCormick went to one of the three pizza establishments.

Once they had finished eating, Hardcastle and McCormick walked to the atrium, and then made short work of their shopping needs.
“It’s nice having options on where to go to get something, but I think that is a little ridiculous.  There are so many stores it’s hard to decide where to go first,” Mark said, as he loaded his bags in the Airstream.

“Yeah, I know what you mean.  Thirty men’s wear stores.  All I wanted was a few shirts and some socks,” Hardcastle responded.

Mark nodded, and hopped in the driver’s seat.  “Okay, now back on I-64 West, right?” he asked, to verify their destination.

“Yeah,” Hardcastle answered as he got settled in the passenger seat and fastened his seat belt.  “Another hour and we should be in Kentucky.”

CHAPTER XV:
Kentucky/Tennessee
Four and a half hours later Mark saw the sign for Lexington and said, “We’re almost to Lexington.”
“We’ll find some place to eat here, and then head south to Tennessee,” Hardcastle said.

McCormick nodded, and pulled off the exit.

#     #     #
Later that evening, after eating at Bellini’s Restaurant at 135 Main Street, Mark walked alongside the Judge feeling quite satisfied from his meal.  “That food was great!  What was your steak called again?” he asked.
“I think it was Bistecca alla Bellini.  It’s a rib eye with portabella mushrooms and onions roasted in garlic and marsala wine.  Whatever it’s called, it was perfect.  So were the garlic mashed potatoes,” Hardcastle replied.

“Well, my four cheese penne was good, too,” Mark stated, and then added, “Awful fancy name for it though—Penne ai Quattro Formaggi.”

“Well, a fancy place like that has to have fancy names.  Otherwise, it doesn’t seem right,” the Judge replied.

“That place was something else.  Did you see that tile, and all those mirrors and chandeliers?  All those flowers and fancy wood trim?  I bet it would be a great place to bring a date,” McCormick said.

“I think it’s a little above your usual standards.  Don’t you usually take your dates to the burger joint?  The girls you date wouldn’t have known what any of that food on the menu was,” Hardcastle teased.

“Yeah, but those aren’t serious dates.  If I was really serious about someone, I’d take her someplace classy like that,” McCormick replied, his voice having a wistful tone.  He was quiet for a few moments, and then said, “Thanks for the nice dinner.”

“No problem, kiddo.  We needed to eat, and I was in the mood for something a little different than what we’ve had so far,”  Hardcastle replied.  He wondered about Mark’s apparent mood change, and wondered if it had to do with where the conversation had headed.  He usually teased McCormick about his choice of women, and the kid usually teased him right back.  Not wanting to let it go at that, he said, “Listen, kiddo.  Don’t worry, you’ll find someone special someday.  Who knows, maybe you’ll be minding your own business, and she’ll run right into you.  When it’s right, it’ll happen.”

McCormick was surprised by the uncharacteristic comment from the Judge, and when he glanced at the older man he could see that he was uncomfortable.  He grinned as he thought about Hardcastle’s words, and suddenly felt better.  Maybe I can meet someone nice like the Judge’s wife, he thought to himself, before saying, “Thanks, Judge.”

Hardcastle humphed, and said, “We’ve got to get going if we’re going to get to Tennessee.  I’ll drive for a while.”

#     #     #
A few hours later Hardcastle took exit 128 off I-75, and took a left.  “Mountain Lake Marina and Campground is just down the road.  We’ll stop there for tonight, and head out for Knoxville in the morning.”
“Sounds good to me … I’m kind of tired with all the traveling today,” McCormick stated.

A short while later they pulled into the campground and were given their lot number.  Once they arrived at their lot they quickly set up camp.  The next few hours were spent talking about sights they had seen along the road that day.  After that, the two men fell silent, each enjoying the peaceful evening.

McCormick also spent the time writing in his notebook.  When he finished, he put it back in his backpack and said, “I think I’m going to turn in.”

“Okay, kiddo, I’m right behind you,” Hardcastle said as he also prepared to go to bed.

#     #     #
The next morning after breakfast Hardcastle said, “I’ll do the dishes while you wash the dirty laundry.”
“Again?” Mark whined, and then with a devilish gleam in his eye said, “I thought we bought clothes yesterday so we wouldn’t have to wash them.”

“McCormick, you might like running around in dirty clothes, but I don’t.  Now, go!” the Judge said, and shoved the bag into the younger man’s arms.

“Okay, I’m going,” McCormick said, and exited the Airstream laughing.

“That kid,” Hardcastle said, and broke out in his own grin as he thought of how lively things were with the ex-con around.

#     #     #
McCormick returned an hour later with the freshly washed clothes and put them in the Airstream.  He looked around for Hardcastle, but didn’t see him at first.  Then he spotted him standing looking at the lake.
“Nice,” Mark said as he joined him.

“Yeah,” Hardcastle replied, and then after a few more minutes said, “Well, let’s get going.  I want to get to Nashville by nightfall.”

“Okay,” McCormick said, and walked to the Airstream.  He got in the driver’s side, and waited for Hardcastle to get ready before pulling out.

#     #     #
They had been traveling for about an hour when Hardcastle said, “We want to get onto I-40 up ahead.  We’ll stay on that all the way to Nashville.”
McCormick made the necessary lane changes, and soon the men were headed west on I-40.  “Nashville, here we come,” he said, as he looked out the windows.

After stopping in Nashville for a quick bite of lunch, the two men continued on their way down Interstate 40.  Both had agreed that there was simply too much to see in Nashville, and that it deserved to be a vacation destination all by itself.  They stopped instead at Natchez Trace State Park for the night.  
Before getting under way the next morning Mark cleaned up the interior of the Airstream while the Judge made a few telephone calls.  Mark knew that the Judge was telling Frank of their travel plans for the day.  The Judge hoped that by making plans day by day the people following them would have a harder time laying any little surprises along the way.  The red Monte Carlo had dropped out of sight, but Mark couldn’t be sure that it hadn’t been replaced.  Traveling on a major interstate made it harder to keep an eye out for possible tails.
A few hours of driving brought them to Memphis, Tennessee.  “Home of Elvis, and some of the best blues you will ever hear,” Hardcastle said to Mark.  
“Didn’t Elvis have a house around here somewhere?” 
“Graceland,” the Judge corrected, “is just south of town.  There’s a museum there now across the street.  I hear that they have his pink caddie, his tour bus and his airplane there.  We’ve got time if you want to go and see it.”
Mark considered for a bit.  “Naw, I wasn’t really into Elvis.  My mom was though.  She actually had a couple of his records, and every time she’d hear him on the radio she’d turn it up.  Didn’t he die of a drug overdose or something?”
“Yeah, kid.  He was so messed up by then that he just couldn’t keep it together.  Damn waste of talent.”  Hardcastle was quiet for a second.  “Nancy loved to listen to him sing his religious songs.  Said that she could feel the power of heaven in his voice.”
Mark looked at the Judge and saw the faraway look on his face that he had come to recognize as “private memories” for the older man.  Somehow he felt that he had just been given a private look inside the Judge’s life, and felt touched that someone trusted him that much.   He settled back into the driver’s seat and relaxed.
“How about we tour Mud Island?” Hardcastle asked, with a note of enthusiasm. “They’ve got a long park with shops and museums down it.  Right in the middle of the park is a concrete plan of the entire Mississippi River from Illinois down to the Gulf of Mexico.  You can wade in it, read the depths in all the twists and turns.  There’s even markers along the way to mark different points in history.”
“That sounds really good.  Just point me in the right direction.”  Mark followed the Judge’s instructions and finally parked the Airstream in the huge lot before the entrance to Mud Island.  The two men spent nearly three hours poking through the various shops, eating a good lunch of rice and beans, and walking the five-block-long Mississippi River.  Mark was fascinated with the history of the river.   Standing on one of the footbridges across the concrete river, he was able to see the real thing just off to the west.  
Hardcastle joined him on the footbridge.  “The Mighty Mississippi.  If that river could talk, she’d have a hell of a story to tell.  That river has claimed more lives and dreams than I can even think about counting.  Sam Clemens got the name ‘Mark Twain’ from working on riverboats on that river.”
“How?” Mark asked.
“Simple.  To judge the depth of various parts of the river a man would stand on the bow and lower a weighted rope down.  When it touched bottom, he would yell out, “By the mark.  Twain meant something about the depth, but I forget what.”  Hardcastle looked over Mark’s shoulder.
Something in the Judge’s manner alerted Mark.  “You aren’t looking at a riverboat now.  What’s behind me?”
“Probably nothing.  A pair of tourists seemed a little interested in us.  They went into that music shop.  Time to go?” Hardcastle indicted the exit with a nod of his head.
“After you, Kemo Sabe.”  Mark took one last, long look at the river before following Hardcastle back to the entrance.
Back in the Airstream the older man took the wheel.  “Change of plans.  Instead of going through Little Rock, let’s swing south and take the long route to Fort Smith.  We can stay off the main roads and sightsee at the same time.”
“You gonna call Frank and tell him where we’re headed?”  Mark asked.
“Nope.  I’ll wait until tonight and call him at home.  I do need to touch base with a friend of mine on the Arkansas State Police.  He’s supposed to have some information for us.”  Hardcase sat lost in thought for a moment before speaking up again.  “Hand me that Arkansas map again.  I want to check on something.”
Mark handed him the map, and looked on curiously as his friend read it.  Hardcastle shook it once, folded it back up, and grinned widely.  “I thought I remembered that.  How much history do you remember, kid?”
Mark gave a puzzled look.  “You mean ancient history, like you, or something more recent?”  
“How about American history, wise guy,”  Hardcastle snorted, as he started the engine and maneuvered the camper out of the parking lot.
“Okay, I’ll bite. We’ve seen a lot of history on this trip, but what else?  Another battlefield?”
“Well just down the road here is Brinkley, Arkansas.  Just outside of that is a small state park.  That’s where we’re headed.  Remember a small thing called the Louisiana Purchase?”
Mark looked at his mentor.  “That’s where we bought the rest of America from Spain right?”
Hardcastle shook his head.  “Actually, Thomas Jefferson bought it from France, for around fifteen million dollars back in the early 1800's.  A few years later, President Madison sent out teams to survey the land.  One group headed north from where the Arkansas and Mississippi rivers came together.  Another group headed west from where the Arkansas and the St. Francis rivers came together.  Where they met was where they put a marker.  All of the land surveys for the rest of the U.S. started from there.  That’s where we’re headed.  The marker can still be seen on the tree, and some ladies' group put up a stone marker.”
Mark was startled.  “You mean that all of the western half of the U.S. was measured out from one point?”
“Yep.  We’ll be there in a little over an hour.   Be careful though, the whole area is nothing but swamp.  Watch out for snakes and alligators.”
“Alligators?”  Mark’s voice cracked just a bit.
“Alligators,” was the firm answer.  “Don’t worry though, they usually don’t get longer than about eight or ten feet.”  His chuckle was met by a confused silence from the passenger seat.
CHAPTER XVI:
Arkansas
An hour and half later, Hardcastle pulled the Airstream onto what looked like a very long gravel drive.  A sign proclaimed the road as leading to the monument.  The gravel parking lot at the end of the road didn’t inspire any confidence in the young tourist as Mark exited the camper.  He shook his head and followed Hardcastle down the long wooden boardwalk that wove in between the trees deeper into the swamp.   At the end was the marker, a short stone monument that was half buried in swamp water.  Mark couldn’t read the words as they were so worn and the water was murky.
“That water is only about a foot deep or so.” Hardcastle pointed out.  “Can you imagine walking through that, keeping a survey chain tight as you go?”
“What’s a survey chain?”  Mark asked, interested in spite of himself.
“It’s a metal chain with a hundred twelve-inch links.  A crew handles the chain and the survey keeps track of each hundred feet and maps it.  It was all done by hand. And on foot.  No wagons or horses for these guys except to pack gear on. From this point, other survey teams would start out to map the rest of the U.S.  We still use this point on modern maps.  Little Rock still has a Baseline Road that is the actual baseline set by the surveyors,”  Hardcastle explained.
“You mean, those guys walked! Carrying a hundred-foot-long chain all the way?” Mark was incredulous.  
“Yep.  And you thought pushing a lawn mower was hard work.”   Mark turned his back on Hardcastle and studied the remainder of the signs on the boardwalk.
Reboarding the Airstream, Hardcastle followed Highway 49 down to Highway 165 and followed it down to a small town called DeWitt, where they stopped for an early supper of fried chicken, mashed potatoes, home made rolls and chocolate pie.  Mark chuckled at the sign that invited diners to enjoy their seafood buffet on Friday nights.  “Seafood?” Mark asked the young waitress.
“Sure.  Don’s son brings in fresh catfish every week and we have shrimp, frog legs, hushpuppies, coleslaw, and French fries.  All you can eat for $7.99.”  Hardcastle grinned as Mark finished off his sweet tea.  Leaving the restaurant, Mark looked around the small town.  
“Is all of Arkansas like this?”
“Like what?”
“Small.  I haven’t seen fifty people all day.  The sign for the town said there was only a population of fifteen hundred.  And this is the biggest town on the map for a while.  What gives?”
Hardcastle turned to face his young friend.  “Arkansas is a farming state.  Down south like this are field crops like cotton, rice, corn and soybeans.  Up north, they raise livestock, cattle, chickens, and dairy farms.  There are very few big towns, nothing like some of the northern states.  Little Rock only has about half a million people all told.  In fact, you’ll find that most of the South is like that.  Mostly rural with few large cities.  It’s a whole different culture down here.  People are more laid back and self-reliant.”
“I noticed that back in Clarence.  I thought it was just because you knew everybody.”
“Nope, that’s how it is down here.  Most of the people in towns like this are related in some way or another.  I knew this one woman who was raised, married and died all within thirty miles of where she was born.”
Mark had no answer for that one, and was quiet and contemplative as they got under way again.  He marveled at the size of the fields, and pointed out a crop duster following the road.  He wondered what his life would have been like if he had grown up in south Arkansas, instead of New Jersey with all of its people and noise and industry.  He found a part of him falling for the quiet, uncomplicated life that he saw around him.
Reaching the turn-off for the Arkansas Post National Memorial, Mark gazed with interest at the log cabin by the road, as they passed the state park for the Post when they turned off the main road.  The road they followed now was narrow and twisting, and areas of swamp could be seen behind the rice fields.
“Now watch the water on both sides of the road.  This is a backwater of the river, and you’ll see a lot of wildlife back here.”  Hardcastle had to concentrate to keep the big camper centered on the narrow winding road.  As they were crossing over a low water bridge Mark let out a yell.
“Look!”
Hardcastle slowed the camper down and looked out the window.  “Yep, that’s an alligator.  Just a small one though, only about eight feet long or so.  They like to lie out in the sun like that.  Look over there, see that loon?  And there’s a nutria.”
“A nutria?  What’s a nutria?”  Mark asked.
“A swamp rat.  About the size of a small raccoon with big orange teeth.”  Hardcastle answered.  He fell silent as he continued up the road and turned into the park entrance.  Mark watched as they drove into the park and passed signs pointing the way to the museum and the picnic sites.
After parking the camper both men climbed out and took a deep breath of the late spring air. The early May weather was already becoming humid, and Mark could feel the promise of the heat that would be coming in the next few weeks.  He wiped his brow of the sweat already building there.  He followed Hardcastle into the museum, and found his mentor already browsing the displays.  
Hardcastle found the museum as interesting as Mark did.  The museum offered a glimpse into the lives of the Native American tribes that had lived in the area before the arrival of the first French explorers.  The displays progressed to the arrival of riverboats, the building of the first towns, the trade in cotton and animal skins up and down the river, and the establishment of the fort to protect it all.  Arkansas Post had seen combat relating to the Revolutionary War, as well as involvement in the Civil War.  After the Civil War, the state capital had been moved north to Little Rock, and Arkansas Post had died out.
Exiting the building, the two men took the mile-long hike around the plot of the old town and the re-creation of parts of the walls of the old fort.  A huge cross was erected on the spit of land nearest the river in memorial to the cross erected by the first French missionaries to Arkansas Post.
“Listen to this, Hardcase,” Mark said.  He turned back to the sign he was reading. “In the Spring of 1541, Spanish Conquistador Hernando de Soto and his army crossed over the Mississippi River into present day Arkansas, where they wandered for nearly two years.”
“I remember him from history class.  I didn’t know he was here.”
“In fact, De Soto is buried out there in the river somewhere,” a new voice broke in.  Mark turned to see a big man in a forest ranger outfit standing off to the side.
“Excuse me, I didn’t mean to scare you,” the newcomer said as he held out a hand.  “I’m Matt Lauder, one of the rangers here.”
Mark shook his hand as he introduced himself and the Judge.  The three men talked for over an hour about the history of the area.  Neither man had any idea of the part that Arkansas Post had played in the nation’s history.  The area had been claimed by the French and Spanish before being taken over by the U.S.   Archeologists had found traces of several Indian villages in the area, as well as French settlements dating back to the 1500's.  Control of the river had led to a major battle during the Civil War, and afterwards the Post had slowly died after Little Rock had become the new state capital. In the late 1930's a major flood had caused more damage to the whole area, and led to the building of a series of locks and dams down the entire length of the Arkansas River.
With the day slowly coming to a close, Hardcastle asked directions to the campground he had seen on the map.  He learned that Camp Pendleton was only about five miles down the road along the river.  They could camp there for the night, drive a few miles south to Dumas for breakfast, and then choose wherever they wanted to go from there.  They shook hands with Matt again and headed for the campground.
The next morning found them finishing up a light breakfast of cereal and milk while they sat by the riverbank of the campground.  A tugboat was herding its load of five empty barges down the river to the huge rice storage bins.  The rice would be loaded onto the barges and sent back up the river to Little Rock for shipment all over the country.  Hardcastle told Mark that occasionally people could pay for trips on the barges to travel upstream for a slow vacation.
After breakfast the two men mapped out their next move.  Neither had seen any sign of the red Monte Carlo, or any other vehicle that didn’t look like a farmer’s truck.    Hoping that maybe they had lost their pursuers for a time at least, Hardcastle went up to the general store to make his daily report to Frank, and fill him in on their travel plans for the day.  He also called his friend with the State Police, only to find that the man had retired two months earlier.  
Mark took the wheel and followed Hardcastle’s directions down 165 to McGhee, then turned west on 278.  They drove for several hours enjoying the scenery and the relative lack of traffic.   They ate lunch in the bustling town of Camden before turning north, and headed for Murfreesboro and the only public diamond mine in the world.
“You mean we can actually watch them mine for diamonds?” Mark asked.  
“Nope, you get to dig for diamonds and keep what you find,” Hardcastle answered, reading out of the brochure he had picked up at the Post.  “Murfreesboro is home to an ancient lava stream that has produced many diamonds and other semi-precious stones.  The first diamond was found in the early 1900s.  The land was owned by a private family, and then a mining corporation, and changed hands a few times after then but was always open to the public.   It became a state park in 1972.  Thousands of visitors arrive each year to prospect for diamonds.   Some of the most precious diamonds in the world were found at Crater of Diamonds state park, including the ‘Uncle Sam’ diamond that weighed in at over 40 carats.”  Hardcastle put down the brochure.  “It says here that we can rent shovels and stuff and the park staff will help us to identify what stones we find.”
“You mean to tell me that we can dig all we want, and if we find a diamond, we get to keep it, for free?” Mark was nearly speechless.  “What’s the catch?”
“No catch.  Arkansas is home to the only diamond mine in the U.S.  That’s why the state flag has a diamond on it.”  Hardcastle was enjoying the puzzlement on Mark’s face.
“So anything I dig up, I get to keep?”
“That’s right.”
Mark’s grin shone.  “Let’s go, Kemo Sabe.  I can’t wait to find a diamond or two!”
Upon reaching the park, they were dismayed to find that they only had a couple of hours left in the day to search.  Nevertheless, they paid their admission and toured the museum before renting a couple of shovels, pans, and screens, and heading out to the thirty-seven acre field.  They could see where the staff had used a tractor to turn the earth so that hunting was a bit easier.  Off to one side, a pavilion with water hoses for washing stones was available.  The field was bordered on three sides with forest, but the field itself was a flat and sunny invitation to dig.
“It’s okay, kiddo.  It’s only three now.  We can dig till the park closes at five, and come back in the morning if you want to.  The ranger inside said there are lots of spaces still available in the campground.”  Hardcastle looked around. “Okay, where do we start?”
Mark led the way to a midfield section that didn’t look as though anyone had been digging there since the tractor had been through.    He remembered the ranger’s instructions on how to dig gently and sift through the dirt a little at a time.  He and Hardcastle both put several interesting-looking rocks in the small paper bags they had picked up.  They would have one of the rangers identify the pieces for them later.  Mark was enjoying himself as he went through the slow process of sifting a shovelful of dirt.  As he started to turn another shovelful of earth, a glint of color showed up from beside his foot.  The small pebble felt oily to the touch and had a pale yellow sheen to it.  Mark turned to show his find to the Judge, when a shot rang out and sent a shower of dirt rising into the air.
Hardcastle dropped to the ground beside Mark and tried to see where the shot had come from.  More shots followed, and the few prospectors that were left in the field scrambled for cover.  Screams sounded as bullets continued to ring out.  Mark turned slightly and saw that Hardcastle had produced a gun from somewhere and was trying to decide where to return fire.    He fired off a couple of shots toward the tree line at the west end of the cleared area then lay flat, listening closely.  
Movement from the front entrance to the field drew Mark’s attention.  Four park rangers with guns drawn were running towards them.  Mark looked back to the tree line just in time to catch a glimpse of someone running away.   He continued to lay still, and saw Hardcastle doing the same.  Two of the rangers approached the tree line cautiously, while the other two went over to the Judge.
Hardcastle released his hold on his gun and allowed it to fall to the dirt.  He stood up gingerly, carefully holding his hands out to his sides to show that he wasn’t a threat.  “I’m Judge Milton C. Hardcastle of Malibu, California.  This is Mark McCormick.  Let me get out my identification for you.”  Hardcastle didn’t wait for the ranger to ask questions.  With the formalities out of the way, Mark and the Judge were escorted back to the museum and into the park manager’s office.
“Judge Hardcastle, my name is Lew Peters.  I would very much like to know what the hell just happened.  We have never, ever, had any trouble at this park.”  Peters sat down behind his desk and waited for the explanation.
Hardcastle sat in one of the guest chairs in front of the desk and crossed his legs.  “I don’t know how much I can tell you, Mr. Peters; it’s kind of complicated.”
Peters didn’t smile.  Leaning forward he fixed a steely glare on Hardcastle.  “Try me.”
“What I have to say can’t leave this room.”  After receiving Peters’ promise, Hardcastle launched into an explanation of the trial of mob boss Tony Boutros and their flight into hiding. “We’ve been on the road a few weeks now and thought we had lost them.  We haven’t seen anyone tailing us, and only one other person knew we were planning on coming here.  I’ll give him a call if I can use your phone.”
“You do that.  I’m going to see if my men found anything.”  Peters left the room, and Hardcastle dialed Frank’s office number.
“Frank, Milt here.  Did you tell anyone where Mark and I were gonna be today?  Well, someone found us.  Damn near shot our heads off.  You do that.  No, I can’t give you a number of where to reach me.  I’ll call you.  Yeah, right,” Hardcastle made a face and slammed down the phone.
“What did Frank say?” Mark asked.  He had gotten past scared and was fast approaching angry.
“He has no idea how anyone found us.  The FBI rounded up the two guys who were sharing the Monte Carlo the day before yesterday.  They thought those were the only ones after us, so they pulled their surveillance as well.  We’ve been on our own since we left West Virginia.”  Hardcastle got to his feet and began pacing the small office.  “Frank swears no one else could have known where we are.  I just told him this morning that we were headed here.”
“What are the chances that the nutcase with the rifle was just after anyone, and not targeting us?”  Mark tried the only long shot he could think of.
The door to the office opened up and Peters walked in with one of his men.  “I hate to tell you this, but you were the only targets.  None of the other visitors were fired on.  This guy was only after the two of you.”  Peters sat down.  “Howe, show ’em what you found.”
Howe, a large black man with thinning hair, pulled a white piece of paper out of his shirt pocket.  “Your guy dropped this.”  He handed the paper to the Judge.  It was a note that read simply, Hardcastle, Crater of Diamonds.  “That’s you, Judge.  We chased him out to the road, but lost him there.  Of all things, he had a horse tied to a tree and got away through the woods.  There are enough dirt roads around here that he could have a car hidden anywhere.  Sorry, but he’s long gone.”
Howe left, and a puzzled Hardcastle turned back to Mark.  “Well, kiddo, looks like we’re on our own again.  What do you want to do now?”
“Not much we can do, except keep on moving,” Mark said with a shrug of his shoulders.
“You can at least stay at the park for the night,” Peters said. “I’ll call the state police and get some extra protection for you.  You can come over to my place tonight for dinner and call your friend again.  Maybe he’ll come up with something.”  
Hardcastle accepted the offer and stood up.  As Mark stood up as well, the Judge noticed that he was rolling something around in his fingers.  “What have you got there?”
Mark was surprised to find that he was holding something.  “Just a rock I picked up just before that nut started shooting at us.  I think it’s some more of that quartz.”
“Can I see it?  I’ll tell you what it is.”  Peters held out his hand and took the small stone from the young man.  He looked at it intently for a few moments, then handed it back to Mark with a smile.  “Congratulations, young man.  You have yourself a diamond.  Let’s go have it weighed and see what you have there.”
Mark was thrilled to find out that he had found a diamond that weighed nearly .75 carats.  Not big enough to be really valuable, but big enough to make a nice souvenir necklace.  Mark decided that he could have it cleaned and mounted for Sarah.  It would make a good birthday present for the kindly housekeeper.
Mark and the Judge walked with Peters to his house just outside the park grounds, and enjoyed a hearty supper of steak and potatoes.  Mrs. Peters was a gracious hostess, and was surprised when Mark offered to help with the dishes and clean up.  She thanked him but shooed him into the living room with the other two men.  Her daughter Kari, a sweet girl of about twelve, helped her mom bring in hot coffee and slabs of chocolate marble cake for dessert.   She stayed just long enough to eat, before leaving the grownups to finish her homework.  Before leaving for the night Hardcastle called Frank at his home and talked for several long minutes.  When he rejoined the group his face was grave.
“What is it, Hardcase?” Mark asked quietly.
“The FBI stopped the wrong guys.  They found the Monte Carlo in DeWitt, abandoned. And now Frank thinks he may have a leak in his office.  I told him that I would let him know where we end up at, not where we are planning to go.”
Peters spoke up. “What will you do now?”
Hardcastle clapped his hands together and rubbed them.  “For the rest of the night, sleep.  In the morning, we’ll decide what to do.  There’s still a few more places I want to see.  Let’s go, McCormick.”  The two men left after promising to return in the morning for a home-cooked breakfast.  They walked to the campground, and were pleased to see a state trooper’s car sitting near the entrance to the motor parking areas.
Neither man retired immediately.  Hardcastle lost himself in a book, and Mark got out his notebook and wrote for nearly an hour before turning in. 

Both were up early the next morning, and arrived at the Peters residence just in time for breakfast.  Kari had already left for school, but Mrs. Peters had a hearty breakfast of bacon, eggs, biscuits, and homemade gravy ready.   Mark’s eyes lit up greedily at the sight, and he made short work of his plate.  
After breakfast the two men said their goodbyes and returned to the Airstream.  Hardcastle took the wheel again and headed west.  “Where to?” Mark asked.
“I think we’ll go over towards DeQueen, and take old Highway 71 up to Fort Smith.  From there we’ll go into Oklahoma.  I’ll call Frank at home tonight and tell him where we are.  Maybe he will have traced down the leak in his office by then.”
“So what’s the deal with Fort Smith?  Another Civil War battlefield?” Mark asked.
“Nope, the home of Hanging Judge Isaac Parker,”  Hardcastle said proudly, and refused to elaborate on the history of the historic town.  The three-hour trip took them through the mountains of eastern Arkansas.  The traffic was light, and the road was smooth.  Mark took advantage of the easy going and grabbed a nap in the back of the trailer, while Hardcastle drove.
When he awoke the Judge was just parking the camper on a side street. “’Bout time you woke up; we’re here.”  Hardcastle led the way out of the camper and across the street to the national park area.  Mark could see the courthouse, the large grounds, and the reconstructed gallows off in a sheltered area.  
“What is this place?” he asked.
“Fort Smith, just on the border between Arkansas and Oklahoma.”
“And who was this Judge Parker you were telling me about?” Mark asked, as the two began to walk around the grounds and the buildings.  The signs told the history of Fort Smith.  During the years after the Civil War, the only law enforcement for the Indian Territory was the Federal Court District for the Western District of Arkansas.  During the tenure of Judge William Story the situation had grown steadily worse.  The Indian Territory had become home to a multitude of outlaws, who considered the law to be of no threat to them.  Story’s court was full of corruption, and he was replaced in 1875 by Judge Isaac Parker, the youngest man to hold a Federal Judgeship in the West.   During his first day in court, eight men were found guilty and sentenced to death.  A week later, six of the men were hung simultaneously.  During the next few years, a total of one hundred and sixty outlaws would be found guilty, and seventy-nine would die. Parker became known as the Hanging Judge of Fort Smith.  
Mark shivered as he peered into the dank, dark basement room that served as a jail for those awaiting trial.  “And I thought San Quentin was bad,” he murmured.  
“Things were very tough out here.  Judge Parker was actually against the death penalty, but the law was the law, and he followed it to the letter.  Things haven’t really changed that much,” Hardcastle said under his breath.
Mark led the way into the building and the famous courtroom.  “I can see you up there, Judge.”
“Naw, not me.  With my luck, I’d have a whole room full of smart-mouthed young horse thieves like you back-talking me.”  Hardcastle grinned to take the sting out of his words.
“Hey, isn’t this the place in those John Wayne movies you like so much?” Mark wondered out loud.
“Yep, ‘True Grit’ and ‘Rooster Cogburn and the Lady’.  John Wayne played a federal marshal who worked out of Fort Smith and reported to Judge Parker.  Two very good movies, even if they were shot over in Colorado instead of here.”
After looking around for another hour the two headed back for the camper.  They needed to find a campground for the night, and Mark wanted pizza for supper.  They decided to return to Interstate 40, and the nearby town of Van Buren.  There was an all-night truck stop there they could park at for the night.  They found a pizza place in town, and Mark left Hardcastle there to wait for their food.  “Trust me,” was the only explanation he would give as he walked down the street.
Mark returned twenty minutes later with a rented VCR and two VHS tapes in a bag.  “Just the thing for tonight, Judge.  I got a portable VCR that I can hook up to the TV in the camper, and I found ‘True Grit’ and ‘Rooster Cogburn’.  Sound like a plan?”
Hardcastle’s face lit up as he led the way back to the camper.  The drive to the truck stop only took a few minutes, and the rest of the evening was spent with pizza, beer and John Wayne.
The next morning they ate a quick breakfast in the camper, returned the movies and the VCR, and headed west again.  Hardcastle had called Frank earlier that morning and told him only that they were entering Oklahoma, and had no idea where they would end up.
CHAPTER XVII:
Oklahoma

Mark watched the traffic carefully in the side mirrors, keeping watch for suspicious vehicles while navigating the traffic on U.S. 64. As it appeared that no one was following them he began to relax and turned to Hardcastle. “I know that we’re going to Oklahoma City, but do you have anything in mind for the trip there?”
Hardcastle flipped through a map obtained at the Welcome Station at the border of Arkansas and Oklahoma.  “If we stay on U.S. 64 we’ll pass through Sallisaw.  It’s on the Trail of Tears.”

“I remember reading about that.  It was the forced march of the Cherokee Indians from Georgia, right?” 

“That it was. Although some very important people were against it, including Daniel Webster, Henry Clay, and Davy Crockett, the discovery of gold in the north Georgia mountains and the support of President Andrew Jackson sealed their fate.  Over four thousand Cherokees died during the march. It also destroyed Crockett’s political career. He wound up leaving Washington and moving to Texas.”

“Where he later became involved with the Alamo,” Mark commented.

“True. We can see the log cabin where Sequoyah, the creator of the Cherokee alphabet, lived.”  He looked at McCormick, receiving an interested nod.
#     #     #
“I didn’t expect it to be inside,”  Mark said as he walked to where the Judge was reading displays on the eighty-four characters that related to the eighty-four syllables in the Cherokee language.
“The wind and rain and snow would’ve destroyed it if they hadn’t protected it,” Hardcastle replied.  

“I can’t imagine someone living in it for so long, over a hundred years if the estimated 1829 date of construction is right.  According to this,” he pointed to the placard, “it wasn’t even donated until 1936 to the W.P.A.  They started almost immediately building this stone building to protect it.”

The two men walked outside to the waiting Airstream, Mark carefully checking the parking lot while walking in front of the Judge.

“What do you think you’re doing?” Hardcastle growled.

“What?  I’m just walking.”

“Uh-huh.”

“C’mon, Judge, I don’t know what you’re talking about.”  Mark grinned cheekily, climbing into the driver side of the RV.

Hardcastle shook his head as he settled down in the passenger side.  “Of course you don’t.”

They pulled back out onto the road, slowly driving through the picturesque wooded area.  Hardcastle laughed, earning a sharp look from his young friend.

“What was that for?”

“Did you ever read ‘The Grapes of Wrath’ by John Steinbeck?”

“About the Dust Bowl?  I saw the movie.”  Mark shrugged.  “Thought it was pretty sad, all those people forced to leave their homes because of the drought.”

“Well, in the book, Steinbeck used this town as the starting point of the Okies fleeing for California to find a better life.”
“And why’s that funny?”

“Because of all the woods around here.  This section of Oklahoma didn’t have the plains that were swept dry by the drought and the constant wind whipping over it.”

“I always thought that all of Oklahoma was this big flat state with no trees and just grassland based on the movies I saw growing up.  But this is pretty, all green and water everywhere.”

“We’re going to drive by Lake Eufaula later today.  I think you’ll love it; we might even do a little fishing.”

As they joined U.S. 64 once again, Mark had a question: “Wasn’t Pretty Boy Floyd from around here?”

“He was actually from Adin, which is just a few miles away, but he probably visited Sallisaw a time or two.  He and his gang used the nearby Cookson Hills for their hideouts, and traveled along the Arkansas River to avoid the law.”  

#     #     #
“Hey, Hardcase, you might wanna wake up.  We’re almost to Checotah.”  Mark wriggled in his seat.  
“What’s wrong with you?”

“I’m just wondering what’s ahead.  Our pursuers are getting desperate, firing in the open like that.  The closer we get to home, the more we’ll need to take care.  We’re kinda obvious in this RV.  Not that I mind her,” Mark hurriedly added.
“No, I understand what you mean.  I have some ideas about that, possibly when we get a little farther down the line.”
Mark looked at Hardcastle.  “Oh, yeah?  Like what?”
“I’ll let you know when I know.”
And with that he had to be satisfied, no amount of teasing and questioning getting him any more information.  “I could eat some lunch.  How about you?”
Hardcastle checked his map before agreeing.  “We can stop in Checotah and pick up some lunch fixings, and go a little farther down the road and stop to eat at Lake Eufaula.”  He pointed out the large lake on the map. 

“That sounds like a plan.  Keep an eye out for a supermarket.”
Hardcastle opened the RV’s window, breathing in the air.  “Lots of ranching and farming in this area.  You can smell the growing crops.”
“So what do you know about this part of the state?” Mark asked.
“We talked about the Trail of Tears when we were in Sallisaw, remember?”

“Sure.”
“Well, that wasn’t the only Indian Nation relocated.  The Five Civilized Tribes, which included the Cherokee, were all moved out of the lands east of the Mississippi between the 1830s and 40s.  The Creek settled around this area, which was referred to as Indian Territory.”

“What other tribes were involved?”

“There were Choctaw, Seminole, and Chickasaw tribes as well.  You might also be interested to know that the Civil War made it out here.”

“This far west?”

“Yep; in 1863, the Battle of Honey Springs was just northeast of here.  It was quite a decisive victory for the Union forces.”

“What did the Five Tribes think of all that fighting amongst the whites?”
Hardcastle sighed.  “The Choctaw and Chickasaw were firmly behind the Confederacy, believing that they had a better chance of coexistence with the South.  The others were split in their loyalties, particularly the Cherokees.  In fact, they had their own Civil War over which side to support.”
“Hey, there’s a market.”  Mark carefully maneuvered the vehicle into place, far from the entrance of the building.
They quickly pushed their cart through the old building, tossing bread, lunch meat, and some salad fixings into the rickety vehicle.  Mark added fruit and cookies to munch on, as well as beer and soda to drink.
Back in the Airstream, Hardcastle took over the driving, while Mark sat in the back making sandwiches.  The Judge passed two fishing camps before he found what he was looking for, a park with picnic tables.  The RV fit perfectly beside a stand of shade trees.
The breeze off the blue waters of Lake Eufaula was delightfully cooling, and the two men enjoyed the view.  Two sandwiches each with a large salad had the men almost uncomfortably full.  Mark darted back inside the RV, returning with a quilt.  He spread it on the grass under the trees.
“What’s that for?”
“I am taking a nap.  Thought you might like to as well.”
Hardcastle was tempted by the inviting material.  “There is nothing like sleeping out in the fresh air.”
“So join me.  There’s plenty of room, Judge.”
“I don’t know, kiddo.  I’m not so sure I could get back up.”
Mark grinned.  “I’ll help you.”
“Okay, you’ve convinced me.  Let me get rid of this trash so we don’t attract any bees.”
Mark waited until Hardcastle joined him on the quilt before lying back.  He took a deep breath, holding it for a minute before letting it out.  He stared through the leaves above him and smiled before closing his eyes. 

“This has been fun, Judge, even if Boutros was the reason.”
#     #     #
Back on the way to Oklahoma City, they found themselves stopped by two police cars blocking the road.  Leaning out the window, Hardcastle soon discovered the reason for the holdup. 

“Bees.”
“Bees?  What do you mean, bees?” Mark frowned.

“See that cloud up there?”  The Judge pointed just past a roadside fruit stand.

“Yeaah … what’s is that?  It’s moving.”

“Bees.  See those white boxes strewn all over the road?  Those are beehives.  Looks like someone had an accident.”

“So what happens?”  Mark decided to watch from inside the RV, not outside where the angry bees swarmed in a golden cloud that moved back and forth across the road.

“It’s just a guess, but I’d say that we have to wait until someone gets here with smoke dispensers to calm the bees down.”  Hardcastle shut the engine off and sat back to watch the show.  

“This should drive anyone following us nuts.”  

It wasn’t long before everyone else had turned their engines off and got out of their vehicles.  Groups of people congregated, engaging in conversations about the bees, the weather, how the Sooners were doing, and where the best fishing was.  Mark was amused by the instant camaraderie, but the Judge explained that it was typical of small towns.

“You just don’t have a lot of strangers about, only new people you haven’t met yet.”

“That’s kinda what my mother used to say.”

“Really?”

Mark’s blue eyes turned misty as he remembered.  “Yeah, everyone was a friend not yet met.  I know she got it from somewhere, but I don’t know who wrote it.”

“It’s a poem, but I don’t remember the poet’s name.  It’s a good sentiment sometimes.”

“Hey, Judge, looks like we’re about to get moving again.”
It was slow moving, but they finally began to pick up speed once they moved farther west.  The delay meant that they wouldn’t get into Oklahoma City until late afternoon or early evening.  “I think we should find someplace to stay for the night,” Hardcastle said.  “Then we’ll go to the Cowboy Heritage Museum tomorrow.”

“Sounds like a plan, Hardcase.  Keep an eye out for an RV park or campground.”
#     #     #
It was early evening north of Oklahoma City in a place called Edmond.  The heart of the town was very small and rural, with oil fields and cattle just blocks away, but the suburbs were beginning to sprawl towards the capital.  Part of the attraction was the relative closeness of the larger city, but another very large part was the presence of the University of Central Oklahoma.  The two men were walking off a fulfilling meal on the main street of the downtown shopping area.
“I can’t believe that we had to come so far to find a campground,” Mark said.  “Wonder what was going on in town to fill all of them up so early.”

“Don’t know, kiddo.  The old guy at the last place we tried didn’t know either.  Said that the RV and camping season usually doesn’t start until the end of the month.  Can’t say that I’m sorry to be staying up here.  It’s nice and quiet at the place we picked.”

“And we’ve got a nice view of Arcadia Lake as well.”

“Look, there’s an old movie theater.  Feel like a film?” Mark asked as they strolled down the main street, passing buildings built long before the Depression.

“Depends on what the picture might be,” Hardcastle replied.

“Well, you’re in luck.  It’s a cowboy film festival, although I don’t think John Wayne starred in either of the ones scheduled for tonight.”

Hardcastle looked up at the marquee and smiled.  “‘Nevada Smith’?  I haven’t seen that one in years.”

“Who’s in it?”

“Steve McQueen and Karl Malden.”

“I don’t think I’ve ever heard of the second movie, ‘The Deadly Companions’, but I’m willing to watch both of them.”

“You’ll like that one; it has Maureen O’Hara in it.  She was a real woman, the kind that can be one of the boys as well as being as sexy as they come.  Smart as a whip, too.”

“Cool, I know her.  She was in ‘The Quiet Man’ with Wayne.  I like her, she’s so feisty.”

“Exactly!”  Hardcastle herded McCormick to the ticket window, handing over money for two passes.  
They bought sufficient popcorn and soda to last through the double feature and quickly found comfortable seats in the middle of the screening room, prepared to be entertained.  Over three hours later, the men departed the theater, Mark playing at shooting bad guys with his finger cocked in pistol form.  

“That was cool, Judge.  I liked the fact that there were cartoons and coming attractions as well.”

“Yeah, too bad we can’t stay a couple of weeks to see that John Wayne festival.  Not to mention the older films with Tom Mix and Bob Steele.  They were two of my favorites.”

Mark looked around the town. Most of the businesses were now closed for the day.  The street lights kept it from being totally dark.  The few others who were in the theater were heading to their nearby cars.  The RV was parked at the opposite side of town.  “We’d better head on back to our spot at the lake.”  He stretched, stifling a yawn.  “I could use some sleep.”

“Sounds like a good idea.  We’ll have a big day tomorrow at the National Cowboy Hall of Fame.”
#     #     #
“Wow, isn’t that pretty?”  Mark stared out the front window of the Airstream, fascinated by the way the museum’s buildings were open and airy appearing, with large glass windows to look out onto the surrounding area.  He climbed out from behind the wheel, carefully locking the RV.  He made certain that Hardcastle did the same on his side, then checked the side door into the living area.  
As they got closer to the buildings, he found himself stopped short in shock.  “Ohh, look at that!”

That was a lifestyle statue of a cowboy carrying his saddle and gear, no horse in sight.  The detail was so exact that Mark swore he could see the exhaustion etched on the man’s face.  Almost absentmindedly he pulled his camera out and began snapping away.  He continued walking outside the buildings, finding other statues on the grounds, from a cowboy sitting on a rearing horse to a frisky pair of horses and playing sea otters.
“These are so amazing,” he murmured.

“That they are, kiddo, that they are.  But inside you’ll find the most amazing one of all.”  Hardcastle had walked behind his young friend, pleased to see his reaction.

McCormick frowned, dubious about Hardcastle’s claim.  “Oh, yeah?  I don’t think anything could beat these.”

“Just wait and see.”

Once they paid for admission, Mark checked the information-filled brochure.  “I didn’t know that there were three separate areas.  This place even has basements.  We really may be here all day, Judge.”

“Where to first?” Knowing that they would be looking at everything contained in the sprawling museum grounds, Hardcastle left it up to McCormick as to what order.

“Let’s start with the American Cowboy Gallery.  According to this, it interprets the history and culture of the cowboy from Spanish colonial times to the present.  Sounds like something you’d like -- probably remember most of it as well,” he added slyly.

“Smart guy,” Hardcastle growled before pushing McCormick.  “Get moving.”

They wandered through the exhibits, reading all the various displays and placards that accompanied the statues and items that reflected the life of a cowboy.  Hardcastle realized after an hour that he had lost sight of his friend.  He turned back to find the younger man, smiling as he spotted McCormick engrossed in a display of branding irons.  “Whatcha got there, kid?”

“I’m just trying to figure out how you ‘translate’ the brands.  Some are pretty easy, like the Flying J -- a letter J with wings coming out of it.  But some of these others, I just don’t know.”

“Let’s sit over here and I’ll show you.”  Hardcastle led the way to some benches and sat down with a groan.  “Okay, here are a few of the basics.  If a letter is on its side, that’s lazy.  So a letter ‘S’ on its side is called the Lazy S.  Two letters attached side by side are Connected.  If those same two letters were off the same spot, such as the right side of the V using the back of the B as a common line, then it would be called Combined.  A backwards letter is Reversed.  If the S is touching the bottom of the V, it would be called Hanging, V hanging S.”  Seeing the lack of understanding on McCormick’s face, the Judge began sketching on the back of their brochure.  

“Okay, I think I sorta understand.”

“There are just three basic rules when trying to read brands.  First, read from the left to the right.  Second, read from the top to the bottom.  A bar above a letter ‘M’ would be the Bar M.  Third and last, when the brand is enclosed, read from the outside in.  So if a letter ‘S’ is enclosed in a circle, you would call it the Circle S.  Understand?”

“Yeah, now that makes more sense.  Is there a national registry of brands?”

“There should be, but no.  The registry is usually in the state your ranch is located in.  Some states are more formal than others.  Then there are foreign brands such as those from Mexico, Australia and New Zealand.  A lot of Mexican brands are a throwback to the old Spanish brands; their design is fancier, almost a flourish.”

“Huh.  I think I might see if I can get a book on them when we get home.”

“You might be able to find something in the gift shop here.”
“Yeah, I might.  So where to next, Kemo Sabe?  Your turn to pick.”  Mark tapped the map of exhibits.

“How about going through the Museum of the Frontier West?  The focus there is on the 19th Century West.”

From there they moved on to the Fine Arms Gallery, followed by the American Rodeo Gallery. Everything was a mix of laughter and questions until they went through Prosperity Junction, a two-story mockup of a western town.  As they walked through the darkened streets, Mark felt as if someone was following him.  The museum wasn’t crowded due to the day of the week that they were visiting, making it easy to find themselves alone.  But as they moved from visiting inside the bank back into the main street, Mark began to drop back.  Hardcastle was so enthralled by the restored buildings, some of which contained authentic furniture and merchandise, that he didn’t realize it.  

Passing by the church and into a very dark area where the Silver Dollar Saloon sat next to a well-lit newspaper office, Mark ducked into the alley alongside.  He waited quietly while struggling to hear the faint footsteps that had caught his attention earlier.

His wait was rewarded when a man came skulking along the edge of the darkness.  When he saw the knife in the stranger’s hand, Mark knew he had guessed right.  This was another pursuer.  He waited until the wannabe hit man came even with him and struck, grabbing the man around the neck and yanking him into the alley.  He pulled him farther into the back of the old town exhibit.

“You made a big mistake, buster, coming after Hardcastle.  Wanna tell me who you are?” he whispered harshly into the man’s ear.  

“Lemme go.”  The man struggled in Mark’s grip, unable to pull loose.

“Not a chance.  I want some answers and I want them now.”

“Or what?”

“Or I’ll truss you up and leave you here as another part of the exhibit.  You’ve gotta wonder how long it’ll take for anyone to realize that you don’t belong here.”

“Okay, okay.  I heard about the bounty and thought I’d try to collect.”

“What’s your name?”

“Case.  Case Johnson.”

“How did you know that we’d be here?”

When Johnson didn’t seem inclined to answer, Mark squeezed his arm tighter against the man’s throat, cutting off the oxygen to his brain.  He waited until the fingers digging at his arm began to weaken before loosening his grip.  “How?”

“I did some research.  I figured that anyone who quoted so many old western movies couldn’t pass this place by, especially after hearing about the shooting in Arkansas.”

“And how did you hear about that?”

“I don’t know, I just heard.”

“Not good enough, buddy.  Try again.  How did you hear about the shooting?”

“A friend … a friend out in L.A. told me.”

“Does this friend have a name?”

“I don’t …”  

Another squeeze served to reveal that a clerk in the Los Angeles Police Department was feeding him information about where they had been.  He denied knowing ahead of time where they were going.

“Somebody knew we were going to the diamond field before we got there.”
“Maybe so, but it wasn’t Jorge.  He couldn’t get me any information about your itinerary, only where you had been.  I just took a guess that Hardcase wouldn’t be able to resist coming here.”

Mark considered that, realized that anyone who knew the Judge would know about his love for westerns.  “Okay, I believe you.”

“Now what?”
“Now I’ll tie you up and continue sightseeing.”  Mark shook his head regretfully.  “I’m not having the visit here messed up by the likes of you.”

“You can’t just leave me here!” Johnson protested.

“Yep, I can.  But don’t worry.  Once we’re done, I’ll make sure someone knows you’re here.”  With that he tightened the sleeper hold and Johnson dropped to the floor, unconscious.  He took some rope and tied the man’s hands and feet.  In what he considered a fitting tribute to where they were, he pulled one leg back and fastened it to the bound hands.  Finally he shoved a bandanna from the floor into the man’s slack mouth.  He patted Johnson on the head before hurrying to find Hardcastle.

Hardcastle was waiting at the exit, gently steamed.  “Where have you been?  I thought you were lost.”

“Nah, I was just checking out the backs of the buildings.  How about we check out the Western Performers Gallery?”

Hardcastle’s gaze narrowed.  “What were you doing?”

“I told you, I was just looking around.  C’mon, Judge, we’ve got lots more to see, and the day is almost half over.”

Still suspicious, Hardcastle nodded slowly.  “You’re up to something, McCormick, and I’m gonna find out what it is.”
#     #     #
The painting just inside the Western Performers Gallery stopped both men in their tracks.
“Wow,”  Mark whistled softly.  “That’s beautiful.”

It was of John Wayne, Hardcastle’s personal hero, as large in the painting as he was in real life.  It led to a small room that contained Wayne’s personal collection of Western art, firearms, and hand-carved Native American totem figures, commonly known as Kachina dolls, a Hopi word.  Originally given as gifts to Wayne, he later began collecting the tiny wooden carvings.
“Can you imagine that some of these are worth a fortune today?”  Mark was on his knees, looking at an intricate carving far in the back of the display case.

“When the Duke began collecting, no one else was interested.  Some of these are one of a kind.”

On the way out, Mark took a photograph of the Judge standing beside the statue of John Wayne, as photographs were prohibited inside the Wayne room.
“Was this the statue you were talking about before we came inside?” Mark asked.

Hardcastle thought back before his face cleared.  “No, we’ll see that after we're done.  Do you want to check out the Art of the American West?”  

“To tell the truth, I was hoping to check out the Persimmon Restaurant first.”  Mark rubbed his stomach.  “I’m a little hungry.”

“You’re always a little hungry.”
#     #     #
After lunch, they toured the exhibit hall of paintings and sculpture.  Mark, not inclined toward most art, found himself fascinated by some of the oils depicting life on the range.  Some were so realistic that he could taste the dust and smell the cows.
“Okay, kiddo, here we go.  This is the Monumental Sculptures building.  The one that I think you’ll be most impressed with is that.”  Hardcastle pointed to the end of the hall.
“Geez, this is huge!”  Mark walked up to the white sculpture, gently reaching out to touch the smooth and cool stone.  “What is it called?”

“‘The End of the Trail’.  It’s over 18 feet high and weighs close to four tons.”  He watched as McCormick walked around the massive piece.  “What do you think of it?”
“I don’t know.  It seems … sad, ya know?  As if this poor guy knows that his way of life is over and there’s nothing but misery ahead.”

Hardcastle blinked.  He hadn’t expected that much insight into what could also be the underlying theme of the work.

A ruckus caught both men’s attention, and Hardcastle started to step forward, stopped by Mark’s hand on his arm.  

“I think we should probably leave.”

“Leave?”  Hardcastle looked at McCormick in surprise, then suspicion.  “What did you do?”

“I’ll tell you outside.  Really, Judge, we need to leave.  Now.”  He pulled at the Judge’s arm, finally convincing the older man that it might be a good idea to go along until he found out more.

Once in the Airstream, Mark got behind the driver’s seat and started the vehicle.  He carefully maneuvered it out onto the road pointed south.  Hardcastle sat in the passenger seat, watching as two police cars, lights going, passed them.  He held his tongue until they were safely far away from the museum’s grounds.

Making their way through the busy city streets, Hardcastle finally felt it was time to talk. 

“Okay, I’ve not fought to stay, even though I’m beginning to wonder if that was a mistake.  I want the truth.  What happened back there?”

“We were followed by someone trying to collect on the bounty.”

“How do you know?”

“Because I caught him.”

“You what?”  Hardcastle sat up straight, clearly surprised at the answer.  “Why didn’t you tell me?”

“Because you were having fun.  I thought it could wait until we were done exploring the museum.  I didn’t expect anyone to find the guy.  I really figured that we’d go back and question him later, and turn him into the cops.”

“Except somebody found him first.”

“Yeah, and I wasn’t really inclined to stick around and answer any questions.”  Mark’s stomach was clenched tight waiting for Hardcastle’s response.  He found himself gripping the steering wheel with whitened knuckles.

“Hotshot, I appreciate the sentiment, but we could’ve gotten important information from him.”

“You mean like who his inside man was?”

Hardcastle stared, wordlessly.

“According to Johnson -- that’s his name, Case Johnson -- according to him, his contact was a clerk in the L.A. police office called Jorge who would tell him where we’d been, not where we were going.  Now I’m pretty sure Johnson was telling me the truth, so that means Frank has another spy in the department.”

“Interesting.  Let’s find someplace to pull over where I can give Frank a call.”  He turned to glare at McCormick.  “That doesn’t mean that I’m letting you slide on this.”
#     #     #
They were almost to Moore before Mark spotted a good place to stop on the relatively new Interstate 35, a rest area with plenty of telephones and an easy view of the surrounding area.  Mark wasn’t that convinced that another hit man wasn’t lurking somewhere nearby.
He stood outside the RV, leaning against the warm metal of the vehicle while keeping a sharp eye on the Judge.  He refused to take any chances with the older man’s life, no matter what Hardcastle might say.  As far as he was concerned, no one could be trusted except Frank Harper.  And considering the leaks from that man’s own office, he wasn’t so sure that it was safe to be totally honest with him either.
Mark was sipping on a glass of ice water when Hardcastle finally returned.  The Judge took the glass from him and took a deep swallow himself.

“Help yourself, Hardcase.”

“Thank you, I will.”

“So what did Frank say?”  

“First, that you really should’ve at least called the cops.”

“Yeah, yeah, I know.”

Hardcastle sighed with exasperation.  “Right. And he said thank you. Jorge is Jorge Gutierrez, a clerk in files.  The FBI’s gonna interrogate him tonight.  Frank wants me to call him first thing in the morning.”
“What’s the plan for us?”

“We head toward the border with Texas and find a nice place to stay the night.  I saw a billboard for a KOA in Ardmore.  That looks like a good place to stop.”
CHAPTER XVIII:
Texas

As they crossed the Red River into Texas the next morning, Mark glanced over at Hardcastle. Eyes gleaming, a smile on his face, the Judge was humming a tune under his breath that Mark remembered was a western song extolling the pleasures of life on the range.  “Come a ti yi yippie yippie aye” were the only words he could remember … some kind of special language spoken by cowpokes whose occasional yodeling “whoopie ti yi oh” told of doomed outlaws, bucking broncs, and recalcitrant steers being herded over miles of dusty plains.  The young man shook his head, the corner of his lip twitching with humor. 
Noticing Mark’s expression, Milt turned his head, his eyebrows raised questioningly.
“Nothin’, Judge … just wondering if you were in pain, making all that noise.”
“No, smart guy,” Hardcastle retorted, then grinned.  “It’s a song about the old Chisholm Trail.  We’re traveling along it now.”
“Chisum?  Didn’t the Duke play him?” Mark asked.
“That was John Chisum.  He owned a ranch near Fort Sumner, New Mexico, and was involved with the Lincoln County War. Lincoln County covered about a fifth of the whole state, and two sets of wealthy cattlemen out there were in competition to supply beef to the US Army posts and Indian reservations in the West, as well as feuding over control of the local stores, banks, and businesses.  From 1876-79 there were isolated shootouts and ambushes, many of which involved William Bonney -- you know, Billy the Kid.  This here was Jesse Chisholm.  He was an Indian trader in the mid-1800’s who mapped out a trail from Abilene, Kansas, through the Indian Territory of Oklahoma, down to the Red River.  The Texas cattle ranchers set out from around San Antonio a few years later, and worked their way north along what’s now I-35 through Austin, Waco, and Fort Worth, and up to meet Chisholm’s trail.  Remember how Thomas Dunson and Matthew Garth did it in ‘Red River’?  It was an easier and safer route than the old path through Missouri, and let them have access to the new rail line in Kansas going east to the Chicago meat markets.”
“Boy, I sure wouldn’t want to be on one of those cattle drives, from what I’ve seen in movies,” McCormick commented.  “Getting saddle sores riding over dusty trails, crossing raging rivers, fighting Indians, rustlers, snakes and wolves, eating beef and beans and sourdough bread for weeks on end, having some trail boss yelling all the time … wait … that part sounds sorta familiar …”
The Judge took his right hand off the wheel and swatted the air toward the younger man.  “Just tryin’ to keep the strays in line and headin’ in the right direction, kiddo,” he rejoined.  “Though in your case, you’re more like a stampedin’ maverick!”
“Just gotta buck a little once in a while to keep you from falling asleep in the saddle, Your Honor.”
#     #     #
Milt pulled into a Kettle Restaurant in Gainesville for breakfast.  After they ate, Milt headed over toward the public pay phones by the restrooms.  
“Hey, Hardcase … I know Frank said to call him ‘first thing in the morning’, but it’s 6:15 in California!”  Mark reminded him. “Why doncha let the poor guy sleep a little longer?”

“I’ve got a plan,” Milt explained, rubbing his hands together with a grin.  Glancing over at McCormick’s doubtful expression he pouted, “What’s wrong?  You always look like that when I say that!” 
“Well, Judge … somehow your plans don’t always go according to plan,” Mark commented.
“Have faith, kiddo … this one’s foolproof.”  Hardcastle dialed the long-distance number and spoke into the phone, “Frank?  It’s Milt.  Whaddya mean ‘do ya know what time it is?’  It’s 8:15.  The sun’s up and the day is calling.  I know it’s ‘not calling yet in LA’ … hey, what didja find out from Gutierrez?  He did?   And Johnson? Great!  What’s the FBI gonna do now?  Yeah, that’s a good idea … fits in with my new plan.  I can hear you rolling your eyes, Frank … now, listen.  We’re just over the Oklahoma border and going down I-35 to Fort Worth today, then to San Antonio tomorrow for a day or two.  I’ll phone you from there.  Meanwhile, spread the rumor at work that we’re headin’ for Dallas.  Seeing JFK stuff and whatever. Maybe get the pressure off us a day or two with your ‘leak’ passin’ out the wrong info. This is such a big state that we could go in lots of different directions … it’ll make the hit guys dizzy trying to find our tracks! Fine. Yes, I promise I won’t call this early again … no, not too late, either.  Tell Claudia ‘Milt says he’s sorry’.”  The Judge listened for a few moments.  “What model? And the plate? That’s great.  Yeah, anything to get us out of the public eye.”  He listened again and nodded to McCormick. “Frank says ‘hi’. Okay, Frank. Yes, everything’s fine with us.  Okay … take care.  Bye.”
While Hardcastle talked Mark watched the lobby area for suspicious characters, noticing nothing odd except a young woman in a platinum blonde wig, tight-fitting pink jeans and lavender snake-skin high-heeled boots.  Following her sauntering progression to the back of the restaurant, McCormick was reminded of Tennessee Ernie Ford’s description on ‘I Love Lucy’ of a sexy lady having a ‘hitch in her get-along.’  A tap on his shoulder brought his full attention back to the Judge.

“Keeping an eye peeled, huh, Tonto?” he inquired.  “I don’t think she noticed you … those long lashes probably block her vision.”  He patted McCormick’s back, guiding him out of the café. “Frank says Gutierrez decided to come clean with the cops after the issue of ‘accessory to attempted murder’ was brought up.  Frank’s not only holding the leak to Johnson over his head but the tip-off to the sniper in Murfreesboro as well.  Even if we couldn’t prove that, it was a good bluff to make him think he was gonna be the scapegoat for setting up the attacks.  And it worked!  Once the FBI guy walked into the interrogation room and implied Jorge was facing a federal felony beef, our clerk was eager to spill the beans on a guy named Andy Carter in the Organized Crime Task Force whom he heard talking on the phone to someone about our movements.  Frank and the feds are keeping an eye on him … they got his desk phone bugged overnight, and are checking into his work assignments for connections to Boutros.”
“But what about the sniper?” Mark asked, climbing into the motor home. “He’s still on the loose ... and who knows how many others are after us!  And what happened to Johnson?”
“Seems like the Oklahoma City cops found a hunting knife with his fingerprints on it near his trussed-up body and a newspaper picture of me in his jeans pocket.  He already had a local history of being arrested for bar fights and public disturbances, so they still had him in custody when Frank phoned them about our report of the museum attack.  The FBI office there is sending out an agent to question him.”
“Hunt ‘em, hear ‘em and get ‘em charged with assault and conspiracy to commit murder before breakfast, huh, Hardcase?” McCormick laughed.
“Yeah, kiddo … but if you’d told me right away, we could have …”
“… Missed the rest of the tour, a nice lunch, and me listening to a musical serenade on the other side of the river this morning,” Mark finished for the jurist.
Hardcastle gave him the look, then sighed, turning the key in the ignition. “Well … all’s well that ends well on that issue. Guess you’re off the hook … for the moment.  But, from now on, remember that we’re in this together.  Tonto’s gotta tell the Lone Ranger about finding tracks in sand.  And regarding the sniper, you heard me tell Frank to casually mention our trip to Dallas at the office.  Well, we’re not goin’ to Dallas … we’re headin’ for ‘Cowtown’.  By the time any stalkers get finished with exploring Big D tryin’ to find us, we ought to be further down South in points unknown. For now, we’ll just go ahead as normal.”
“‘Normal’?  Us?” Mark exclaimed, grinning, as the older man pulled out onto the highway.
#     #     #
Entering Fort Worth, Milt exited off I-35 and turned onto North Side Drive, then North Main, finally reaching the famous Stockyards District.  Parking near the train depot, they walked into the main part of the historic area and came across a tour group being addressed by a lady dressed in western wear.  She was explaining how the coming of the railroad to Fort Worth in 1876 allowed Texas cattlemen to stop the long cross-country trail drives and ship their livestock directly to the east.  Pointing out the locations where the Armour and Swift Meat Packing Companies had started in 1900, she noted that this was the next step in independence for Texas ranchers, as they were then able to have their cattle, pigs, and sheep butchered and prepared locally, and thus saved millions of dollars from not having to rely on the Chicago plants.  The top year of meat production was in 1944, when over 5.2 million animals were processed.
Mark was surprised to learn that the Stockyards was the largest horse and mule market in the world during World War I, and had provided mounts and pack animals for the US and many Allied countries.  He tended to think of WW I as foot soldiers and trenches in the mud with lots of barbed wire, but cavalry units from the old west forts and east coast military academies and camps were still active throughout the conflict.

Drifting away from the tourists, Milt and Mark walked over to the cattle pens of the old Union Stockyards, where about two dozen longhorns were corralled.  In the afternoons they were driven down Exchange Street, so that tourists could see them up close -- but now they milled around quietly, nibbling on hay and ignoring the excited children crowding by the fence.  McCormick was amazed at the length of the horns -- some three feet from scalp to tip, and widely spread past the shoulders.  “You wouldn’t want to bullfight one of those, hey, McCormick?” Hardcastle joked as Mark focused his camera lens and snapped several images.

Continuing down the street they stopped at the White Elephant Saloon, site of the Short-Courtright gunfight.  Luke Short, a professional gambler, had lived in Dodge City, Kansas in the early 1880’s, and managed the Long Branch Saloon (yes, there WAS such a place!), where he met and befriended Wyatt Earp, Doc Holliday, and Bat Masterson.  However, a dispute with city leaders led him to move his gaming operation to Fort Worth. Jim Courtright was a bully and gun for hire, who made his living selling “protection” to saloons and businesses.  Trying this trick at Short’s White Elephant, he became angry at the rebuff he received and called the gambler out to the street on the evening of February 8, 1887.

Thus began one of the weirdest gunfights in western history. Courtright pulled his gun out of the holster, but the barrel caught on the watch chain on his vest.  While he was trying to yank it free, Short’s bullet hit and tore off Courtright’s right thumb.  As he tried to throw the gun into his left hand (a maneuver known in trick shooting as a ”border shift” … often not successful in real life, as Courtright found out!), Short shot again, killing the gunman … in what in Mark’s opinion was a ‘thumbs-down decision’.

A little further down the sidewalk, they entered a collection of shops whose windows displayed western clothing, décor items, and souvenirs.  Mark was appreciatively eyeing a T-shirt depicting a buxom young lady wearing a fringed halter top and a Stetson with the words “Yippie Yi Yay, Cow Patty!” emblazoned below when Milt suddenly grabbed his arm.  “Hey, kiddo -- look!  It’s the Ernest Tubb Record Shop!”

“Ernest Who?”

“Ernest Tubb!  The ‘Texas Troubadour’!” the Judge exclaimed, pulling him through the doorway.  “Don’t you ever listen to country music?  ... ‘Waltz Across Texas’;  ‘Walking the Floor Over You’.  Great stuff!”

McCormick shook his head in mock despair as he saw Hardcastle’s “kid in a candy store” expression.  The store had posters and still photos of all Hardcase’s film and TV western heroes, and dozens of phonograph records and audio cassettes of country-western singers and musicians.  Milt was running from bin to bin, pulling up albums and tape cases and waving them around excitedly. “Marty Robbins’ ‘Gunfighter Ballads’! … and Eddy Arnold … they called him the ‘Tennessee Plowboy’.  Hey, here’s The Sons of the Pioneers! Didja know that Ken Curtis was a lead singer for them back in the 40’s and 50’s? … you know, ‘Festus’ from ‘Gunsmoke’. He put on that hick voice for the show, but really sang great!  Remember him with the cavalry singers in ‘Rio Grande’? … and, yeah, he was in ‘The Searchers’, too!  And here’s a collection of Bob Wills’ fiddle tunes!  He and the Texas Playboys used to perform around here a lot …”

Pretty soon there was a large stack of tapes and records piled on the counter, along with five or six publicity photos of the ‘Gunsmoke’ cast, Ward Bond, Harry Carey Sr., Clayton Moore and Jay Silverheels, and the Duke (“to give the den a little more atmosphere for movie nights”).

Their final stop in the Stockyards was the Cowtown Coliseum, where they were treated to demonstrations of trick roping, expert shooting, and acrobatic horsemanship at Pawnee Bill’s Wild West Show, once a rival of Buffalo Bill’s and a Fort Worth attraction since 1909.  Mark and Milt cheered as stagecoach robbers were chased by a posse, and marveled at the complex gun-twirling abilities of a cowboy star.

In the evening they sat in lawn chairs by the banks of the Trinity River, munching on chicken salad sandwiches and Fritos and watching a beautiful pink, blue, and purple sunset settle over the lights of downtown.    

#     #     #
Heading through downtown Fort Worth the next morning, they first came to the Tarrant County Courthouse [A/N: whose imposing granite façade, tall columns, and dome was later to be seen weekly as the film site for Chuck Norris’ ‘Walker, Texas Ranger’ TV show], then drove south to the museum and zoological park area.  Milt’s “must-see” list included a trip to the Amon G. Carter Museum of Western Art, one of the biggest collections in the US of bronze statues and paintings by Charles Russell, Frederick Remington, and other famous cowboy artists.  (Carter, a newspaper magnate turned philanthropist, had supported many cultural and sports complexes in town during the 1940’s and 50’s.)  Parking in the lot of the Will Rogers Coliseum (named after the famous Oklahoma cowboy humorist, and home of the Fort Worth Stock Show), they walked across the street to the museum and were soon gazing avidly at the exhibits.  The Judge was fascinated with the color pencil sketches of cowboys, animals, and western scenery drawn by Russell on the margins and headings of personal letters to friends, and Mark enjoyed seeing the beautiful oil paintings of wagon trains, wild horse herds, and mountain and desert vistas.

Continuing south from the museum via University Drive, they found themselves driving through the scenic Trinity Park, and then the beautiful oak and pecan tree setting of Texas Christian University, its classically designed blond and white stone buildings and tall chapel spires shining in the spring air.  A student whose purple and white T-shirt depicted a Horned Frog playing a trombone and the slogan “It’s Okay … I’m With the Band” smiled at them as they stopped at the crosswalk to let her pass.
Turning left on Berry Street, Milt drove down several blocks to rejoin I-35, then headed south.  Taking a break in Everman for lunch at the Hickory Stick BarBQ (best sliced brisket plate in North Texas!), they continued on to ‘Cross the Brazos at Waco’ (song by Billy Walker, driving by Mark) almost two hours later, turning into the driveway of the Texas Rangers Museum.

As he gazed at the interesting displays of weapons, uniforms, and photos, Mark was surprised to learn about all the different activities the Rangers had been involved in.  Founded by Stephen F. Austin in 1823, they were first created to protect settlers against Indian raids, with individual members fighting Santa Anna’s troops when the Mexicans attacked the Alamo and other Texas settlements a little over a decade later.  Milt pointed out that Rangers had also taken part in the 19th Century range war between trail-driving cattlemen and farmers, using barbed wire to block open access grazing lands, oppose the 1910-19 Mexican Revolution of Pancho Villa, help federal agents locate and destroy rural alcohol stills during Prohibition, and chase (and caught) Bonnie and Clyde in 1934 after a wild crime spree.
Hardcastle was excited to find a replica of the original Ranger badge for sale in the Museum store.  Calling McCormick over from a display of prickly pear and jalapeno jellies, he showed the younger man how the badge was made from a silver Mexican five peso piece formed into a wagon-wheel shape, with the spokes being the five points of a star.  The oak leaf and olive branch designs engraved on the rim were taken from the Great Seal of Texas, and the Company ID letter was stamped in the center.  Mark felt sure that it would find a special place in the Judge’s den for display.

Continuing through Austin (stopping for a few minutes to admire the fine classical façade and stone carving of the State Capitol Building), they finally pulled into San Antonio at seven p.m.  Stopping by a Bill Miller’s Restaurant to pick up chicken fingers and gravy, onion rings, and homemade biscuits, they set up camp in Breckinridge Park, and settled down for the night, Milt’s cassette recorder playing lullabies of ‘San Antonio Rose’ and ‘Across the Alley from the Alamo’.

#     #     #
Waking the next morning to odd bird calls, animal roars, and monkey squealing (no, it wasn’t the Judge snoring … the zoo was down the block!), Mark stretched his legs with a stroll across the park lawn to the Japanese Tea Gardens.  The sunrise had thrown bright beams onto the large koi pools, which were decorated with floating lotus flower pads, and walking paths wound around colorful plots of hibiscus, gladiolus, daffodils, and lilies.  McCormick took several pictures, then raised his head and waved as Hardcastle called his name from the upper level picnic tables.  Heading up the path, he got ready for breakfast.
“How about tackling the Alamo today, kiddo?” Milt asked as he set out two plates of scrambled eggs and toast.  “Big part of Texas history.” 

“Fine with me,” Mark replied, tucking in his napkin.  “What really happened at the Alamo?  I mean … I’ve seen the Disney film with Fess Parker about Davy Crockett, Jim Bowie, and Colonel Travis fighting Santa Anna, but I don’t really know why the whole thing took place.”

“Well, it started way back around 1724, when it was one of the missions that Franciscan monks founded in the area,” the Judge replied. “‘Alamo’ is the Spanish word for cottonwood … it was nicknamed that because there were supposed to be a grove of trees near the river.  The real name of the place is San Antonio de Valero.”  

“When did the Texans get involved?” Mark asked.

“Back in 1821, a man named Moses Austin obtained land grants from the Spanish government for territory in central and northern Texas,” Hardcastle explained, reaching for the jelly and spreading some on his bread. “Spain wanted settlers there to help protect Mexico from Indian attacks.  Because the land was considered to be poor quality, they couldn’t get enough Hispanics to take part in colonization, so they opened the area to Anglos from the United States, promising to ‘protect their liberty, property, and civil rights’.  In return for land, the settlers had to obey the laws of the Spanish Constitution, be loyal to the Emperor, and convert to Catholicism. Austin’s son, Stephen, re-negotiated these terms with the Mexican government after it had won independence from Spain in 1823, but there were problems over the next dozen years.  Lots of civil wars and power struggles occurred down in Mexico City, and new laws put pressure and hardship on the Texans. Trial by jury was forbidden, the right of petition was curtailed, and often ignored if it did get to the governor, citizens of small state and district units had no rights under common law to protect them from the corrupt federal officials assigned to oversee them, Texans couldn’t trade with any other country but Mexico, and the ruling autocrats could and often did seize private property and arrest civilians under arbitrary martial law without explanation or compensation.  Also, taxes went up significantly, making it hard for settlers to pay their debts, and thus putting them more under the iron fist of the Mexican authorities.”

“Sounds like a great place to live,” McCormick said sarcastically.

“That’s not the end of it,” Hardcastle commented.  “In the early 1830’s, a new leader came along in Mexico … General Antonio López de Santa Anna.  He set himself up as a military dictator in 1834, and abolished the old Mexican Constitution and legal contracts that had granted the lands to the Anglos and guaranteed the settlers’ rights. The Anglo population in Mexico by that point numbered over 20,000, and tired of hearing their complaints and demands for a voice in their government he decided to throw all of them out and take over the land for Mexican settlers more sympathetic (or cowed) to his rule to live on.  So … he sent in the army to force the settlers to leave.”

Mark took a sip of coffee, shaking his head in sympathy. “Bet the Texans had something to say to that, huh?”

“Yeah … they had lived there for several years, making improvements in the land with agriculture and mercantile centers, and here all of a sudden comes Santa Anna’s troops marching onto their farms and in their towns trying to evict them,” the Judge replied.  “Well, the Texans, being previous citizens of the USA and knowing the history of civil liberties stated in their own Constitution and Declaration of Independence, felt they had rights under the old grants and laws despite Santa Anna’s dictatorship, and so they resolved to stand up against tyranny and fight.  Leaders of the colonists had met in places like Nacogdoches, Gonzales, and Bexar (San Antonio), and held a Constitutional Convention in 1833 to claim many of the things stated in the U.S. Bill of Rights; then after Santa Anna took control of the country, militia groups banded together to fight his army. In 1835, the Texans defeated General Cos and took over his fortifications at the Alamo, but Santa Anna marched up from Mexico to regain control of San Antonio, and massacred the Alamo defenders on March 6, 1836.  He ordered one of his colonels to do the same to James Fannin’s men at Goliad a few days later -- this time killing the Texans after they had laid down their arms and surrendered, and also murdering the wounded. Out of over 530 men, only 28 survived. Santa Anna finally was defeated on April 19, 1836 when he went to the Gulf Coast to fight Sam Houston’s troops at the Battle of San Jacinto.  Texas became an independent republic, and then in 1845 was admitted into the United States.”

Hardcastle rose and poured the remains of the coffee down the sink, while Mark picked up the dirty dishes and wiped off the dining table.

#     #     #
After washing up the plates, Milt climbed behind the wheel and started out of the park toward downtown.   “Look, McCormick … there it is!” Hardcastle exclaimed a few minutes later, pointing over to the left.  Mark peered eagerly out the windshield, but was then hit with a feeling of deep disappointment.  From film depictions, the mission and battlefield appeared to be out in the middle of nowhere on a grass plain -- but this building was surrounded on all sides by a shopping mall, hotels, souvenir shops, and modern bank buildings.  The Judge noted the sad and shocked expression of the younger man and smiled sympathetically.  “Don’t worry, kiddo … you’ll like the inside.”
Mark was doubtful, but let the jurist lead him into the grounds and soon had to admit ol’ Hardcase was right.  From the inside of the stone walls, you seemed to be in another world separate from the outside traffic and clutter.  On the left of the mission building was a large area of barracks, stables, and an old stone well overshadowed by an enormous live oak tree. The rear grounds were quiet and peaceful, with cactus and flower gardens and majestic trees lining the walking paths.  A display of the Six Flags Over Texas (Spain, Mexico, France, Texas Republic, Confederacy, and United States) was at the back wall.

The interior of the mission was a large open room three stories tall, softly lit by small wall lamps, and so quiet that you could hear a whisper.  Overseen by the Daughters of the Republic of Texas, the building was considered a “Shrine of Texas Liberty”, and visitors were asked to show respectful behavior to honor the fallen heroes and the sacrifice they made with their lives to secure their rights and freedom. Mark and Milt enjoyed the interesting displays of the defenders’ weapons, clothing, and personal objects, and studied the photographs taken over the years of the grounds.  

A side room showed the flags of thirty other states, territories, and countries who had provided defenders to assist the Texans’ cause.  McCormick and the Judge listened as one of the docents explained the layout of a large table-top diorama which showed the terrain, buildings, and placement of the troops of both sides, then, walking out the front door to the plaza, they took turns taking each other’s pictures at the monument to the “line in the sand”.  The bronze line embedded in the stone pathway commemorates the moment when Colonel Travis, knowing the Alamo to be surrounded by overwhelming numbers of Santa Anna’s troops, drew a line in the dirt with his sword tip and asked his men to step over it if they chose to stay and fight.  All but one did so.

Walking over to take a photograph of the marble Cenotaph sculpture depicting life-sized figures of Travis, Bowie, Crockett, and others, and the names of the dead Texans/defenders, Mark commented, “It was a pretty lop-sided fight, huh, Judge? About 180 men facing 2400 Mexicans.  I’m surprised it took thirteen days for Santa Anna to beat ‘em.”

“The Texans believed they had a worthy cause to fight for,” Milt replied.  “They knew it was suicidal, but they were buying time for other areas of resistance to strengthen … and making a statement to the Mexican government of their determination.  Santa Anna ordered them to surrender in the early days of the siege, but ol’ Travis blasted a cannon ball at him in defiance … pretty definite way to make your point.  Remember in ‘Rio Bravo’ when the Mexican band plays the ‘Duguello’?  That’s what Santa Anna did then … put up a red flag to show ‘No Quarter and No Mercy’, and told his bugler to play the song.  He didn’t want to take prisoners … he wanted to eliminate all the defenders for daring to rebel against him.” 

After spending a few minutes in the gift shop, they took their bags of souvenirs and, heading across Alamo Street, went past the statue of Saint Antonio and down a flight of steps to the Riverwalk.  A scenic pathway along the San Antonio River, it had several restaurants, shops and hotels on either side, and an outdoor theater stage with stone bench tiers on the opposite bank. Ordering a chicken-fried steak dinner at the Republic of Texas café, they sat at an outdoor table covered by a colorful shade umbrella and examined the pages of a city sights brochure.

“Well … what next?” Milt asked.  “How about seeing some of the Spanish Missions a little south of here?  They were founded in the 1720’s and 30’s, but still have active church services for the local Hispanic community. According to this, they have some neat architectural points.”

“Sounds good to me, Judge,” Mark replied, dunking a piece of thick Texas toast into the cream gravy. He gazed around in appreciation of the beauty of the long stretch of sidewalk flanking the river.  Arched stone bridges crossed the narrow stream of water in several places, and large trees, flowers, colorful paper streamers, and iron lantern posts decorated the paths.  The general atmosphere was celebratory … you could faintly hear the jazz trumpets of Jim Cullen’s band at the saloon down the block, and restaurants played a variety of Mexican music. 

Hardcastle smiled to himself at the expression of contentment on the younger man’s face.  He knew McCormick didn’t particularly have the same appreciation as he for the glories of cowboy and western history, although he was doing his best to train him up to that point -- but Mark had been very cooperative in the past few days as the Judge had enthused over things, and Milt was making plans for the next few days which would give the kid some opportunity to do a few things he liked.

#     #     #
Finishing off their lunch with a piece of homemade pecan pie, Milt and Mark climbed back into the RV and, heading south down Alamo Street to Probandt, followed it to the first of the two Spanish Missions they would tour -- Concepción.  It was the oldest restored stone church in the U.S., founded in 1716 and moved to its present location in 1731.  From the park volunteer, they learned that the architecture included parts of Spanish Colonial, Moorish, Native American, Renaissance, and Romanesque styles.  Outside, a large dome was flanked by twin towers on the roof, and one of the interior rooms they walked through showed traces of old painted frescos.
Continuing down Mission Road they came upon the next, and largest, church: San José. Built in 1720, it was named after St. Joseph, the earthly father of Jesus. Considered to be one of the most beautiful missions in the Southwest, its large plaza, gardens, and walled Quadrangle grounds, as well as its Spanish Baroque church architecture, gave it an air of dignity. Milt and Mark walked from the front gate across the large lawn, noting the stone walls and the wooden doors and window frames of the outer rooms.  The garden at the far end had colorful flowers and herbs, and a stone well stood nearby.  They took several pictures, then headed to the left to view the side wall of the church, built of tan tufa limestone.  The famous “Rosa’s window”, named supposedly for the mason’s fiancée who had died tragically, was an ornate stone-carved frame around the window, depicting flowering pomegranates.  Beside it was a portion of wall with a colorful geometric fresco design, and a barred open door showing a spiral staircase going upward to inside the church.  Coming around the plaza to the front of the building, they admired the fine stone engravings depicting saints and the Christ Child, and the large carved wooden double doors.

The inside of the church was, surprisingly, very plain -- but it held a feeling of history and continuation of tradition for over 260 years that gave the visitor a calm spirit.  Whitewashed walls held small Stations of the Cross markers, the pews were unadorned wooden seats on a stone floor, and the altar area was simple with small statues and a purple tablecloth being the only decoration. Many local Hispanic women were kneeling in private prayers as the tourists walked about quietly, trying not to disturb them.  Some visitors were praying as well; Mark genuflected in front of the cross at the altar and said a silent prayer of thanks for having a good friend at his side to share the fun and trials of life.  Milt looked down, rubbed his nose, and repeated the thought in his own way.  

After a few moments exploring some of the side chapels, they went back outside. Hardcastle entered the rooms along the near wall which contained historical displays of clothing, agricultural tools, native culture, and other topics.  After a minute or so McCormick joined him, and they learned that the missions were established in the 18th Century to civilize and Christianize the local Indian tribes.  The Spanish monks owned ranch lands outside the walls, where they raised sheep, goats, and cattle for meat, wool, milk and leather.  Crops such as corn, wheat, and beans were grown with the aid of dams, irrigation canals, and aqueducts linked to the San Antonio River, some of which still existed in this part of the city.  The Indians were trained to be farmers, carpenters, masons, blacksmiths, and weavers, thus making the missions self-sufficient.  Military support and protection from hostile tribes was provided from the nearby Presidio fort.  The missions stayed under the leadership of the missionaries until the 1790’s, then were secularized or put under local parish priests.  San Jose still held community services every Sunday, and was a fully active part of the local religious life.

Milt started taking pictures of some of the Quadrangle buildings and lawn, while Mark went to explore a path leading off to the rear left of the church.  In a flash, he was back, pulling at Hardcastle’s arm in excitement.

“Hey, Judge ... come look at this!”

Milt tried to pull free, complaining, “What’s all the fuss about, McCormick?  Let go of me!”

“Judge, there’s an old grain gristmill back there … and it’s still working!  Come on! … it’s really neat!”
Milt sighed quietly but really didn’t mean it.  It was nice to see Mark get excited about something. He lit up like a bright candle when he was happy, and his grin was contagious.  They walked back to the mill, and Hardcastle had to admit McCormick was right about it being “neat”.  A man was inside a small room, the open door and windows allowing visitors to view him working at a double horizontal grindstone crushing wheat into flour.  Powered by water coming from a chute connected to the creek nearby, the outside lower half of the mill had a large horizontal waterwheel whose shaft rose to connect to the center axle of the interior stones, rotating them.  The docent explained as he worked that wheat was the primary grain used by the mission inhabitants, being turned into bread and cakes by the Indian women.  

Mark and Milt took several pictures of the engineering works, and thanked the man for his information. “Boy, this place is really great!”  the young man exclaimed as they headed back toward the parking lot.
“Yep, this has been an interesting day,” Hardcastle replied.  “We’ve got time for one more stop. If you’re not too tired.”

“Tired?!” McCormick echoed. “Me?  Who’s the guy that’s always huffing and puffing after a few baskets, huh?  I’m not as old and worn out as …” He bit off the last word as the jurist delivered a finger jab to the ribs.  “How about saving your breath for driving, Sport?”  Mark rubbed his side and grimaced, holding a hand out for the keys.  The Judge threw a companionable arm across his shoulders and grinned.  “If you think this was ‘neat’, wait until the next stop!” 

#     #     #
The Buckhorn Saloon and Museum, located off Probandt Street heading back toward downtown, was established in 1881 and started its collection of animal exhibits by the offer of the owner to give a free drink to customers who brought in deer antlers, animal skins, rattlesnake rattles (made into pictures by the saloon owner’s wife!), and other objects. Over the years, they accumulated several hundred items, which were purchased in 1956 by the Lone Star Brewery.  The museum contained taxidermy specimens of several dozen deer, as well as buffalo, bear, exotic antelope, moose, elk, musk ox, giraffes, elephant tusks, stuffed birds, ocean animals such as swordfish, sharks, and barracudas, and unusual fish.  
Mark’s mouth fell open as he walked through the displays, amazed at the variety and number.  There were also dioramas of Texas native habitats showing javalina pigs, armadillos, coyotes, deer, jackrabbits, Longhorn cows, and rattlesnakes.  McCormick took pictures almost non-stop, especially of the deer with the 78-point antlers, the moose with a 67-inch rack, and the two-headed calf and Siamese twin lambs.  While Mark was busy looking at all this, Hardcastle inspected the wax figure room with dioramas of important events in Texas history, then moved on to the western gun and knife collection.

Driving back to Breckinridge Park for the night, Milt served up toasted ham and cheese sandwiches and Pringle’s chips (sour cream and onion flavor) as they discussed the next day’s plans.  Mark popped open a Dr. Pepper and tossed a can over to the Judge.  “Well, Hardcase … where to now?”

“I’ve got one more thing I’d like to see in town, then I thought we’d head up north to the Hill Country.   The wildflowers are in bloom now, so we ought to have a nice photo op driving through the countryside.  And the Guadalupe River’s up there … supposedly beautiful scenery.  We’ll have a look around, then head toward New Mexico the next day.  Okay with you?”

“Sounds great,” Mark replied.  “I need to buy more film, though -- I used the last picture up on a grouchy old bear.  Not you, Judge!” he exclaimed, ducking a swat.  “I meant at the museum.”

“Sure you did, McCormick.  Sure you did.”

#     #     #
After the late dinner Milt and Mark walked over to the pay phone outside the now-closed zoo entrance.  A conversation with Frank told them that he had paid a visit to the organized crime section the afternoon before to discuss a case with the supervisory detective, and had thrown out the “Dallas” clue in general conversation while Officer Carter was in the room.  Soon afterward, Carter made a call out to a number traced to a low level mobster named Guido Arturi, passing on the information.  
Investigation by the feds had come up with the data that Arturi was a junior partner with Willie Martinez, one of Boutros’ West Coast Syndicate leaders in a “business” near Tijuana involving smuggling, armed robbery and gambling.  The FBI planned to keep Carter in the dark about their suspicions of his informant activity and let him keep on unknowingly passing on false information as Milt and Mark continued their trip, so that they could gather more data on the whole “hit” scheme.  

The lieutenant agreed to give a hint in the morning to Carter (via his office “bug”) about Hardcastle now being in Galveston and having a strong urge to visit San Antonio the next day or two and then go to Judge Roy Bean’s “court” in Langtry. (Hardcastle laughed to himself -- that drive would put any would-be assassins hundreds of miles south from where they actually were going to be, requiring several full days of driving to catch up with them if the mobsters could puzzle out the trail!).  Frank reminded the Judge to contact the federal agent of the San Antonio Regional FBI Office who was to help set up the next stage of their journey.  Writing down the number on the corner of the phone directory, Milt bid the detective good night and promised to call him again the next evening.

A quick call to the local FBI officer allowed the Judge to discuss the next day’s plans.  The detective informed the Judge that he would be met the next afternoon in Kerrville by an Agent Mullins at Mamacita’s, an upscale Mexican restaurant.  Hardcastle was to ask for “Bob” as a waiter, and arrangements would be made to get alternative transportation for their tour.  Mark, listening over the jurist’s shoulder, wrinkled his forehead in confusion, but Milt only slapped him on the shoulder as they walked back to the trailer.  

“What’s goin’ on, Judge?”

“Hey, kiddo … you’re the one who said we were “obvious” traveling around in this RV … I’m just takin’ your advice.”

To McCormick’s frustration, Hardcastle wouldn’t answer any more of Mark’s questions … just telling the kid to get a good night’s sleep because they were moving the next day.

#     #     #
Driving into the South Texas Medical Center complex the next morning, Milt pulled into the VA Hospital parking lot.
“Feeling okay, Judge?” Mark asked.

“I’m fine,” Hardcastle replied. “Didn’t you notice the name of this place?  ‘The Audie L. Murphy Memorial Veterans Hospital’. Remember seeing his grave in Virginia?”

Mark nodded as they walked toward the building.  “Oh, yeah.  The guy you watch when the Duke’s not on,” he teased.

The jurist shook his head.  “I’m not that bad, McCormick.”

“Are you kidding?  Spending all those long hours analyzing  ‘Ride Clear of Diablo’ and ‘Seven Ways From Sundown’ to decide if Dan Duryea’s a better villain than Barry Sullivan.  Watching Robert Keith boss around the ‘Posse From Hell’, while John Saxon turns from a mild-mannered bank clerk into ‘Dick Daring, Darling of the Desert’.  Having Walter Brennan getting saved from corrupt mine bosses while avoiding an Indian war, all in seventy-eight minutes.  Great stuff, Judge.”

“You just don’t appreciate heroes when you see ‘em, kiddo.  Audie Murphy played lawmen who were dedicated to their duty and determined to get the job done, come what may.  They didn’t let bribes, threats, or a pretty face get in the way of their work.”
“Champion of Truth and Justice, huh?  Protector of the innocent and bane to the bandits. Sounds sorta familiar.”  Mark put a hand on Hardcastle’s shoulder, laughing, as he saw the older man’s mock glare.  “Just joking, Hardcase.  But, you know, in a lot of those films he becomes friends with those same bad guys … sorta buddies on the trail, saving each other’s lives, talking around a campfire, sharing grub … until he has to take ‘em in.”

“Yeah, McCormick, I know.  I’ve done the same thing myself … faced some people across my bench who later turned out to be fairly decent guys.  I’ll tell you about ‘em some other day. Sorta compare and contrast …”

Mark shook his head in wry humor, holding the door open for the jurist as they entered the hospital foyer.  “Yeah, you do that, Your Honor.”
In the entrance area by the information booth and guard office there was a small museum display of artifacts dealing with Murphy’s war and movie career.  Besides the heroes he played on screen, Murphy was the most decorated U.S. soldier in World War II. Though he was only 21 years old at the end of the war, he had killed 240 German soldiers, been wounded three times, and earned an amazing 33 awards and medals, including all the American awards for valor and the Medal of Honor, and citations from France and Belgium.  His autobiographical book, made into the film ‘To Hell and Back’, told the story of his youth in a small rural Texas town and his military service.  After the war he was invited to come to Hollywood by the actor James Cagney, who had seen Audie’s picture in Life magazine.  Over the next 25 years Murphy made 44 films, mostly westerns. 

In addition to his acting jobs he raised racehorses, wrote song lyrics for several country-western and pop artists in the 1960’s, and fought for the recognition of Post-Traumatic Stress/’Battle Fatigue’ as a valid illness of Military Veterans (he was a victim himself).  Murphy urged the federal government and the medical community to address the issue with better care options and benefits. Sadly, he was killed in a place crash in 1971 at age 46.
McCormick and Milt were fascinated at the display of military ribbons and medals, as well as the props of weapons and clothing from his films.  Many photographs and film posters illustrated Murphy’s life. On a side hallway there were framed proclamations from Texas Governors and Presidents of the United States establishing the Veterans Hospital facility and praising Murphy’s contributions to active duty, retired, and veteran soldiers through the years.
#     #     #
After a stop at the grocery store to buy film, Chex Mix, bologna, bagels, grapes, and six-packs of Dr. Pepper and Sprite (those heathens in Texas didn’t have any Pinkie Fizz!), Mark “pointed ‘em north” up Hwy 281 toward Johnson City [A/N:  named for Lyndon B.].  All along the roadway border lawns and median the Texas Highway Dept. had scattered many wildflower seeds, which had taken hold in the soil thanks to good spring rains and were riotously blooming. Roadside pasturelands were so covered in bluebonnets that the ground resembled an azure blanket.  Indian paintbrushes were ‘bursting’ with the color of their bright scarlet and orange petals, the Indian blankets’ (firewheels) serrated edges of yellow surrounded a central crimson ring, and pink evening primroses (buttercups) popped up in the wild grass alongside goldenrods and the violets of verbena, winecups, and lemon mint.

Mark was grateful after the first few stops that this was a rural highway with a large “shoulder”; they seemed to jam on the brakes every mile or so and leap out with their cameras to capture a nice shot.  McCormick had pulled out his “good” camera -- the one with all the fiddly dials to adjust for light aperture, shutter speed, and focus. It took longer to set up a picture than his “point and shoot” automatic did, but it had a great zoom lens that took nice close-ups.

Turning onto US 290 at Johnson City they drove toward Fredericksburg. A few miles before reaching the city they saw the sign for Wildseed Farms, a seed-producing garden center that had opened the year before.  Walking through the grounds they saw many kinds of flowers, including butterfly weed, corn poppies, Mexican hats, larkspurs, and, of course, bluebonnets.  The seeds were sold to amateur and professional gardeners, landscape contractors, and local highway/city beautification committees.  Mark was surprised to learn that bluebonnets actually came in different colors -- a large part of the front field was a Texas flag made out of maroon, white, and royal and sky blue flowers.

Talking to the store clerk McCormick learned that many of the flowers he’d seen on the highway actually had “cousin” plant species in Coastal and Central California.  He planned to look them up in a local garden center when they got back to LA … if he had to mow that endless stretch of lawn and weed the gardens of the estate, he could at least put in some new things to brighten the place up!

Milt took over the wheel as they went through Fredericksburg, stopping at Kerrville at around two p.m.  Entering the large foyer of Mamacita’s Restaurant, he quietly told the seating clerk that he would like Bob as their waiter, and they were quickly seated in a far corner.  Looking around with appreciation of the colorful wall murals and live green plants ornamenting the dining room, McCormick’s attention was brought back to the table as a middle-aged, dark-haired man stepped up.  Placing napkins, silverware and glasses of water onto the tablecloth, he handed them menus and said, “Good afternoon, my name is Bob.”  Pulling out an order pad, he turned it upright so they could see the FBI badge and ID taped under it.  “Judge Hardcastle?”

Milt nodded, and unobtrusively flicked a finger at his wallet, which lay open on the table to show his driver’s license and social security card.  He tipped his head toward Mark.  “McCormick’s okay.” Mullins began to tell them of the lunch specials, ending sotto voce, “After you eat, take TX Highway 27 to Ingram, then turn onto FM (which is ‘farm to market’) Road 1340 when you reach Hunt.  Go down about twelve miles to MO-Ranch Camp and turn in the gate.  Park in the left side lot of the Mabee Registration Office … we’ll make the switch there this evening.”

Hardcastle smiled his understanding, and scanning through the menu he held gave his order.  Mark chose the same selection, and they sat back drinking their water.  In a few minutes, two sizzling plates of cheese enchiladas, rice, beans, and beef tips were set down on the table. McCormick picked up his napkin and placed it on his lap, then reached for a tortilla chip.

“Okay, Judge … let me in on the plan.”

Milt picked up his fork and slid it through the hot beans, releasing a cloud of steam as he pulled a bite loose. “Everybody’s looking for a silver Airstream with California plates, right? So … we’re gonna not be in a silver Airstream with California plates.  Frank’s arranged with the FBIs to get us another RV to move into tonight … they’ll take ours and continue on another road, drawing away any guys stalking us -- if any have seen through the misleading directions -- while we drive another route.  So … get ready to pack up the trailer!”

“Me?” Mark whispered, frowning and peering anxiously around the room, but not seeing any interested eyes. “What are you gonna be doing?”  

“I’m gonna be busy talking to Frank about our touring plans and getting the federal guys here to contact the Albuquerque FBI to cover our behinds the next few days,” the Judge commented, chewing a hunk of beef.  “Hey, this stuff’s delicious!” he exclaimed as he tore a piece off into a soft tortilla.  “Remember to empty the refrigerator and pick up the bathroom stuff.  And I think I left some maps and things in the glove compartment … get those as well.”

“Want me to vacuum the rug, polish the cabinets, and clean the mud flaps too?” Mark grumped.

“Well … if you’ve got time, kiddo,” Hardcastle teased, “… maybe disinfect the stove hood as well … getting kinda smelly …”

“That was you scorching the skillet of pork sausages and sauerkraut last week,” McCormick retorted.

“Well, if a certain ex-con had told me while I was mixing up the cookie batter that I left the burner on …”

“I was busy sorting out another load of laundry, Hardcastle … that’s all you took me on this trip for, come on, admit it!”
“Kid, you wound me,” the Judge lamented.  “That’s not the complete reason, and you know it.  There’s also the fantastic job you do moving the sofa bed every morning and night, you’ve been great reaching up to the top cabinets, and there’s no one that could beat you in unstopping the kitchen sink disposal twice … no, three times. I wouldn’t think that oatmeal would clog up like that! I know you’ll do fine in a simple job of packing … there’s only six or seven weeks worth of clothes and stuff.”

“Yeh, yeh … give ‘e all de ‘ard jobs.  Pic’ on ol’ McCor’ick … tha’s fin’ wif me,” Mark mumbled irritably, biting into a sopapilla that was dripping honey off his fingers. 
Hardcastle sighed and handed over a napkin.  He paused, then, reaching over with his own cloth said, “Wait a minute … you’ve got a speck on your lip.”

“Judge!”
#     #     #
Driving through Ingram, they passed by the small dam on the Guadalupe River where the low angled slant of the spillway set up a water “slide” used by adults and children alike to play in the lower pool.  Tubing and rope-swinging from the large riverside trees were favorite recreations of the area in mid- to late summer, but the present spring weather was still too chilly for most to brave the dip. The road followed the river bank in a winding path, and they soon entered an attractive semi-forested area of live oaks, pecan trees, and sycamores.  Right before they entered Hunt, they stopped at Schumacher Crossing, a beautiful scene of low-terraced waterfalls coming from a wooded area down river.  Each level was about one to two feet tall, spilling water from the stream through cracks in the limestone and splashing down to pass under the road in a shallow rivulet.  
From Hunt, they turned right onto FM Road 1340 and continued on, going over low water crossings more than a dozen times.  Mark couldn’t tell if the river meandered that much, or the road did -- it seemed like they were going fairly straight with gradual curves in the path, but every one or two miles there was another dip in the road through the water.  Each of the crossings had beautiful giant-sized bald cypress trees flanking the river, and many could have been used in a nature postcard.  Milt and Mark took a lot of photos of the scenic views.

As they continued along Mark suddenly saw something weird off to the right side and yelled, pointing, “What’s that?”  

Milt braked the Airstream to a stop and peered out.  “That’s an Oryx.”

“An Or-What?”

“Oryx,” the Judge replied.  “It’s a kind of African antelope.  They have exotic game hunting around this part of the state -- elk, blackbuck, kudu, axis deer (they’re imports from India -- got spots even when grown) … plus javalina wild pigs, wild turkey, possums …”

“Possums?! Come on, Hardcase!”

“Mighty good eatin’ … fry ‘em up, cream gravy and ‘taters …” Milt stopped, grinning evilly, as Mark swallowed hard and held up a hand.  “No more, Judge.  You’ve just put me off eating for the rest of the day.”

“After that inhalation of enchiladas, beans, and tortillas at lunch, McCormick, you don’t need to eat any more for the rest of the week!”

#     #     #
They continued down 1340, passing several youth camps and church retreat grounds.  Longhorn and Hereford cattle munched grass quietly in green pastures, and red-tailed hawks soared slowly high in the bright sky.
Milt pulled over to the shoulder to let them watch a large herd of whitetail deer. The senior buck had an enormous rack of horns longer than McCormick’s arm!  Some of the herd was still across the other side of the road, and Mark chuckled and clicked a picture as a tiny fawn timidly stood at the pavement edge, afraid of the RV.  In a few seconds, its mother came alongside the baby, and the two quickly trotted across the cement and down the side ditch into the grassy field.

Hardcastle waited until the deer had passed a good distance away before turning on the engine, so as not to panic the animals.  Pulling back onto the road he reached over and popped a cassette into the tape deck.  “Here ya go, kiddo … Willie’s got a song about this land that I think you’ll like.”  As the music started up Hardcastle began to hum.

Mark glanced over.  “Judge, you’re making that noise again.  Are you sure you’re okay?”

“Just listen to the music, McCormick!”

The Hill Country Theme

by Cindy Walker (Sung by Willie Nelson)

The hill country, the hill country of Texas.
The hill country, the country that I love.
Where wild wings fly above the peaceful valleys,
and the Pedernales
flows lazily beneath the Texas skies.

The hill country, the hill country of Texas.
It knew my folks, my family, and my friends.
The boy who rode his pony in the sunlight,
the man who prayed at midnight,
And gave him strength to carry on again.

And when
the night falls.
And when
my God calls.

Where wild wings fly above the peaceful valleys,
by the Pedernales.
Please let me sleep beneath the Texas sky.
#     #     #
Arriving at MO-Ranch at around five p.m., they went to the lot Mullins had indicated in his instructions and parked by an ’83 Coachman A Class RV.  Two empty maintenance trucks and a flatbed trailer were the only other vehicles nearby. “Bob” stepped out of the Coachman, and Mark opened the Airstream’s door to let the agent in.
“Judge Hardcastle, Mr. McCormick, we’re going to move you over to the Coachman tonight.  We’ll take this vehicle and draw off any pursuers that try to follow after they get the fake tip from Lieutenant Harper regarding your route.”

“That’s fine,” Milt replied.  “I need to call him tonight to confirm my plans for the next few days, but right now let’s talk about what your men are going to be up to.”  He smiled devilishly at McCormick, who gave him the look.  “The kid here’s volunteered to pack our belongings, so I’ll be free for awhile.”

“Mr. McCormick, you can get empty boxes from the clerk in the lobby if you need them,” Mullins commented, holding the door open for the Judge to step out.

Hardcastle paused at the threshold, turning to face Mark. “Now remember to polish the silver, and turn off the lights before you leave, there’s a good boy. And … oh … the laundry … hey, there’s a building right over there.  Why don’t you …?” he teased, then ducked, snickering, as McCormick threw a wadded up sock at his back.

While Mark went to the office for boxes Hardcastle, stepping into the Coachman, stopped in his tracks, taken aback by the sight of two men, one stocky and white-haired, wearing a gray sweat suit, sneakers, and a NY ball cap, and the younger one tall and curly-haired, with jeans and a t-shirt. Indicating them with a gesture Mullins said, “Judge Hardcastle, meet Agent Rivers and Agent Stevens. They’re going to be riding in the Airstream as your doubles … bait for Boutros’ men. As you know, there’s a lookout specifically for the RV, but they also know who’s supposed to be driving it, and we need to keep them thinking that you are inside.”

Milt nodded with a smile as he scanned the two men’s ID’s. “Great idea.  Just be careful if they get tired of following and start shooting.”  He looked around in appreciation. “Hey, this is nice.  Got a microwave … that’ll make cooking faster.  McCormick’s got this thing about scorching things in pots … can’t figure out how high to turn the pilot light.  You can still smell a little char around the burners … but we got a new lemon Glade Air Freshener thingy on the shelf by the top cabinets, and it pretty well takes care of the odor.”  He waved his hand in front of his nose as if to waft away the smell. “And you’ve got the paperwork for this unit?”  Looking over the forged rental title, license information, and insurance papers, he nodded in satisfaction.  “Good … you’ve got Missouri plates.  We haven’t been there this trip, so they won’t connect the RV with us. Makes us look like we’re just regular tourists.  Yep … different RV model, different colors, and out-of-state tags … it oughta work. Now, here’s my plan for the routes.  Let’s see that map there …” 
Rivers unrolled a map of Texas and the Southwestern US onto the dining table.  The Judge leaned over it and traced a line with his finger.  “Okay, here’s what McCormick and I are going to do.  From here, we leave tomorrow morning about five a.m. and go down the road to Mountain Home to get on I-10 West, then north to Abilene on US 83. There’s a short jog on I-20 to US 84 en route to Lubbock, then we connect with I-27/Highway 87 to get to Amarillo. Taking I-40 West [A/N:  part of the old Route 66] from there, through Tucumcari, would bring us into Albuquerque sometime around 8 p.m. tomorrow night. We’re not making any stops except for gas … we’ve got plenty of food -- if McCormick hasn’t eaten it all! -- so we’ll make the drive in one day.  I plan to tour around the Jemez area the next day on NM Highway 4, then see Santa Fe on day 3, going through Chama to Pagosa Springs that same night, and on to Durango for two days.  I figure the Albuquerque FBI office oughta know this in case we need to get in touch with them.”

Mullins, Rivers, and Stevens nodded their agreement, and promised to get a message to their New Mexico office the next morning.

Hardcastle moved his map finger back to the center of the Rio Grande’s western border of Texas.  “Now … here’s what I’d like to have happen with you.  We’ve already been ambushed once by a free lancer who ‘guessed’ at our location by knowing of my love for western and cowboy history.  So, if one guy can reason that out, maybe more will.  I figure a good location for me to want to visit is Judge Roy Bean’s courtroom/saloon down here in Langtry.  According to our ‘story’ with Harper, we’re supposed to be spending a second day in San Antonio, so you can either go there tomorrow or just drive around the Hill Country.  The morning after that, get on I-10 West, then go South on Highway 277 to Del Rio, then West on Highway 90.  If the guys stalking us take the bait and follow you, that’ll put them way away from where we’ll actually be.  If they show and ‘hit’ you at Langtry, get ‘em rounded up, and then the next day continue on west a little more on 90, then take Highway 285 to Carlsbad. We’ll say that I promised the kid I’d take him to the caverns … he’d fit right in with the bats.”

The Judge grinned and the agents smiled. Finished with their planning, they escorted  Hardcastle to the Mabee building lobby so that he could call LA. Passing the front windshield of the Airstream, he waved and smirked to a scruffy-looking McCormick, the young man’s curls stuck to his forehead with perspiration, who was packing the pots and dishes in a box.  The ex-con squinted his eyes menacingly and brandished an iron skillet toward the jurist.
Entering the lobby, they saw that the room was empty except for a clerk checking the next morning’s reservations.  Going to the pay phone over in the far corner, Milt phoned Frank at his home and told him the switch in vehicles was being made, and the plans for travel for both he and Mark as well as the agents.  Frank informed him that Carter’s office phone tap was giving out good information to the feds, as the rogue cop made contact with several members of Boutros’ lower echelon of employees.  The California FBI had obtained a probable cause warrant to bug Carter’s house as well, having proof that he was involved with the mobster’s associates, and had also found out why the officer was playing at being a spy.  According to an ex-Mafia ‘driver’ turned informant, Carter owed several thousands of dollars in gambling debts to Boutros, and had been given the choice of going to the pier to ‘feed the sharks’ or overlooking certain discrepancies in the mob leader’s business activities during the police department’s investigations -- as well as feeding him information on Hardcastle’s movements.  Tony said he ‘owed the Judge’ … and he didn’t mean it in a positive way.

Milt told Harper that he would call him when they were near Santa Fe, and asked him to pass a hello along to Claudia and to Mattie.  

Returning to the parking lot, the Judge entered the Airstream just as Mark finished cleaning out the last cabinet.  “Good job, kiddo,” he exclaimed.  “Here, let me help you with that.”  Picking up the smallest box, full of brochures, magazines, and maps, he opened the exit door and stepped down, heading for the Coachman.  His voice trailed back over his shoulder as Mark stared through the entryway.  “Come on, McCormick, grab a box! Let’s get moving!”

Mark shook his head, sighed, picked up a box, and followed the jurist.

#     #     #
Getting up at 4:30 a.m. to shoot some baskets was one thing.  Mark knew that he’d get to go back to bed for an hour or two after the game when that happened.  Getting up at 4:30 a.m. to drive halfway across Texas and almost two-thirds across New Mexico was something else again. It was even worse when a certain party had to stay up past 11 p.m. unpacking all the boxes and stocking the cabinets, plus getting all the clothes through the dryer. Well, the Judge had helped … a little. He tried to ignore the banging and shuffling the jurist was making with his morning ablutions, but finally had to concede defeat when Milt turned on the bright fluorescent light in the kitchen, pulled the blanket off of Mark’s huddled form, and slapped the young man’s foot with his fingers.  “Rise and shine, McCormick!”
Mark pulled the covers back over his head, groaning.  “Aw, Judge!  Can’t we just warp or something to New Mexico?  I think there’s a spare dilithium crystal in the glove compartment.  Or maybe get Jeannie to ‘blink’ us there. I'm really tired.”

“Hey, I did most of the driving yesterday.  You just sat in the passenger side and made comments about escaped animals from the zoo wandering in the fields.”

“Well, I know where the donkey ended up,” McCormick muttered softly, yawning and reaching for his shoes.  A sharp swat on his arm told him Hardcastle had heard the comment, but when he looked up Hardcastle was turned partially away, trying to hide a smile.

“Do ya want Cheerios or Granola this morning?” Milt asked, holding up two boxes.  “And no ‘nut’ jokes!”

“I’m too sleepy to joke, Hardcase,” Mark responded, pulling out the milk from the refrigerator and snatching a bunch of bananas from the fruit basket.  “Besides … I can’t shell it out like you can.”  

“Just for that, Smart Guy, you get bread and water.”

“Aw, Judge!”

#     #     #
After eating, they went over the map one more time, then revved up the Coachman and headed out of the camp’s grounds, turning right on the main road. 
Switching driving tasks every three hours all day, plus snacking and grabbing naps during their ‘off time’ helped keep them fresh, avoiding fatigue and headaches on the long 800-mile trip.  To their relief, they hadn’t noticed any suspicious cars -- Monte Carlos, sedans, vans, or otherwise -- following them. Listening to the western music tapes Milt had bought in Fort Worth relaxed their mind and got them in the mood for more exploration.  As Hardcastle noted, they had just seen the ‘cowboy’ side of things -- now it was time to learn about the Indians. 

CHAPTER XIX:
New Mexico

The next day dawned clear and bright over the Sandia Mountains, making the granite glow in shades of pink and blue.  From their camping area in Corrales, a rural suburb of Albuquerque, Milt and Mark could faintly see the tramway car and cables that took skiers and other visitors from the foothills of the mountains to the top of Sandia Peak, where a restaurant, gift shop, and ski center was located.  Packing up their bed linen and breakfast dishes, they headed down I-25 to US 550, then turned a few miles later onto NM 4, going toward their first stop in Jemez Springs.
The Jemez Indian Reservation was one of 19 in the northern half of the state.  Many of the tribes had originally come from large ancient Anasazi pueblos such as Chaco Canyon in northwest New Mexico, and Mesa Verde (on the Colorado border near Four Corners), after the year 1200 AD, when drought and enemy tribes had driven the inhabitants further south and east to the Rio Grande area between what was to become Albuquerque and Santa Fe.  They first settled at Bandelier, but later split off into smaller pueblo groups centered around individual clans and kinship groups. 

As Milt and Mark drove into the famous ‘Red Rocks’ area, they were amazed at the brightness and contrast of colors in the local scenery.  The red-orange rock formation was made of sandstone dating to the Triassic period, and the deep green of the piñon pines, the lighter green of the cottonwoods, and the yellow of the tall grasses shone with an unearthly glow against the bright blue sky.  The whole effect made a beautiful luminous scene.

“Wow!” Mark gasped, struggling with his camera bag zipper.  “Look at that, Judge!”

“I see it, kiddo … very nice,” Milt responded, clicking away himself with his Canon.

Wooden stalls lined the front of the park area, with Indian women selling baked goods, pottery, and jewelry.  Mark stopped to watch one patting out a disc of dough about the size of a paper plate.  She then dropped it into a deep frying skillet, where it puffed up with bubbles and became crispy. “This is fry bread,” she explained.  “It’s made with wheat flour, baking powder, salt, and milk.  You can eat it with honey, powdered sugar and cinnamon, or jelly, or make an Indian Taco.”

“What’s an ‘Indian Taco’?” McCormick asked.

“You use the bread as a ‘plate’ and cover it with pinto beans, grilled ground meat, diced onion and tomatoes, lettuce, and shredded cheese,” she answered.  “Would you like one?”

“We’ll take two,” Hardcastle answered, having come up while the lady was talking to McCormick, and deciding that the recipe sounded pretty tasty.

After she had cooked up two new pieces of hot bread and covered them deep with toppings, they thanked her and went over to a picnic table to eat.  Mark took a bite and sighed with happiness.  “This is great!”  he enthused.  “The bread’s sorta like a sopapilla, but more flaky.”  Milt agreed with the judgment and went back to the stand a few minutes later to get two pieces of plain bread to eat that night.  They then went by more of the booths and admired the handmade clay pottery, buying several pieces to give as gifts.

The next stop down the road (the Jemez Mountain Trail National Scenic Byway) was the Jemez Soda Dam.  A large torrent of water, fed by hot springs, flowed out of a cavernous hole in the mountain into the Jemez River.  As Milt and Mark sat on rocks by the stream, dangling their bare feet in the water, a Forest Ranger jeep pulled up.  The officer, Barry Fisher, came over to say hello, and Milt and Mark introduced themselves. 

“Why do they call this a ‘soda’ dam?” McCormick asked.
“It’s because it’s made out of calcium carbonate deposits … the stuff that’s in ‘Tums’ antacid tablets.  It’s also called Travertine rock,” the ranger explained. “It’s similar to the Mammoth Hot Springs in Yellowstone. There’s also sulfur in the water, as you can probably smell.  Are you going further up north, or down to Albuquerque?”

“We’re going north … sorta figured on seeing some of the national forest area, then heading to Santa Fe,” Hardcastle responded. 

“Well, you’ve got a lot of interesting things right around the bend,” Fisher replied.  “As you just said, this area’s part of the Santa Fe National Forest.  As you get a few miles up the road, you’ll rise in elevation and start seeing pine, spruce, and aspen trees. At the highest point we’ve even got some alpine habitat.  However, most people don’t realize that the land’s also part of an extinct volcano, the Valles Caldera.  Its last eruption, about a million years ago, was reportedly 100 times more powerful than Mt. St. Helens’ was in 1980.  Specimens of the volcanic ash have been found as far away as Iowa, Missouri, Oklahoma, and East Texas; locally you can see the effect of the cloud’s debris sediment in the tuff cliffs at Bandelier.  The rock there was so soft that the Indians carved cave rooms out of the cliff walls -- they’re worth a look if you’ve got time.  Most of the caldera’s on a private ranch, but you can see the meadows in the crater area. There’s herds of elk and deer, and we’ve seen the occasional mountain lion, black bear, coyote, and bobcat.  If you’re thinking about camping around here, we’ve got several areas on the forest lands that you could use … just check in at the ranger station and let them know where you’ll be.  There’s lots of hiking trails to explore as well.”

“Sounds like a good idea,” Milt remarked.  “I figure we’ll tour around the forest a bit and then go to Bandelier this afternoon.  We’ll camp out tonight and go on to Santa Fe in the morning. How’s about it, kiddo?”

Mark smiled in agreement, and they bade goodbye to the ranger, continuing down NM 4.  Both men were impressed with the woodland scenery and wildflowers growing along the river.  They stopped to snap photos of a large bull elk with an impressive rack of antlers standing guard over a small herd of cows and their calves in the meadow.  Mark also caught sight of a golden eagle and several prairie dogs, who popped their heads up out of the ground, then scampered back into their burrows upon hearing the rattle of the vehicle on the road.  Pulling into a campground, Hardcastle went up to the ranger desk to pick a good spot to reserve for the night, while Mark caught up with making notes in his book.  After staking out a nice area, they drove to Bandelier National Monument.  

#     #     #
Named after the anthropologist Adolph Bandelier, who had extensively studied the Indians of the American Southwest and Mexico during the 1880’s, the site was used by the Anasazi Indians from about 1250-1550 A.D.  Located in Frijoles Canyon, it had been carved over thousands of geologic years by its creek’s water eroding through the soft volcanic tuff stone.  The elevation varied from 5,000 to 10,000 feet, with plants such as yucca and cholla cactus on the canyon floor, and cottonwood, box elder, juniper and ponderosa pine climbing up the slopes at different levels to the summit of the cliffs.  Mark and Milt saw a small mule deer along the wooded hiking path, and heard the songs of mountain chickadees and Western tanagers.

As McCormick took pictures of the cave dwellings and mud brick ruins along the cliff bases and in the meadow areas, Hardcastle read through the tour guide.  “Hey, look!” he exclaimed, tapping Mark on the shoulder.  “There’s a trail at the end of this path that goes up to a special ceremonial cave.  There’s a kiva [A/N: religious ceremonial room] in it … and you only have to climb a short ladder.”
Putting up his camera in his backpack, Mark followed the older man down the trail, coming to a sudden stop as he caught sight of the cave area.  “Judge! Are you kidding!  That’s not a ‘short’ ladder!   That sucker’s a mile up!”

“Don’t exaggerate … it’s just 140 feet.  Come on, you can do it.  Pretend it’s the gutters.”

“Yeah, the gutters on the Empire State Building!”
“Don’t be a baby, McCormick!” Milt retorted. “Look … you’ve got four strong log ladders.” He stepped onto the bottom rung and bounced a few times. “… See … nice and sturdy.  Here … take my camera and go on.”

“Aren’t you coming?”  

“Someone’s gotta be the cheering section, McCormick,” the Judge replied with a smile, putting his camera strap over the young man’s head. “Here … you might need some more water. Take my canteen too.”  Fixing a stern expression on his face he ordered, ”Now … git!”

Mark started climbing slowly, grumbling under his breath, Damned ol’ slave driver!  ‘Cheering Section’, my foot!  The only thing that oughta be up there is something with wings.  I’m gonna have wings before this is over ... probably fall off and kill myself, and end up explaining to St. Peter how I was kicked by a donkey up Jacob’s ladder.  He paused to wipe his hand off on his shirt.  Gee, these wooden rungs are slippery … my palms are sweaty. Heck, my whole body is sweaty … Gotta catch my breath for a minute …  Stepping off the third section of ladder onto the small cliff outcrop (about 5 x 10 feet), he looked down, but couldn’t see Hardcastle at the foot of the path.  “Judge?  Hardcase, where are you?”  he called, but there was no answer.  Worried, Mark clung to the metal railing at the edge of the ledge and tried to stretch out to see, but was assailed by vertigo and quickly sat down against the rock to clear his head.  Closing his eyes for a moment and breathing deeply, he was regaining his composure when he suddenly heard a high-pitched voice address him. “Mister?  Mister?  Can I get by, please?”  Glancing up, he saw an eight-year-old girl in jean overalls and pigtails by his side.  “Sure,” he replied, bracing himself against the cliff and standing up carefully.  “Thanks,” she said, smiling, and went up the next ladder with ease.  

Mark shook his head in disbelief and sighed.  Well, that had done it.  If a little kid could do this climb with no fear, by golly, a grown man … a race car champion, no less… wouldn’t be scared of a little thing like being fourteen stories up in the air with no net, rope, or parachute.  He pulled his backpack up higher on his shoulders and continued up the last long ladder, and then walked down a short path to the kiva.  Sitting down inside the cave he pulled out his canteen and took a long drink, trying to calm his nerves.  The sound of applause drew his attention away from his meditation; glancing up he saw Hardcastle, an evil grin on his face, clapping his hands.  “Wanna go for twenty?”

McCormick rose slowly, his glaring eyes never leaving Milt’s face.  “How much time would I get for murdering a magistrate, Judge?”

“Oh, come on, sport … I knew you could do it.  Heck, you’ve faced down killers, drug dealers, gang members, and the Mafia … you weren’t gonna let a little exercise wipe you out.”

“‘A little exercise’?!” Mark retorted.  “Heck, I’m exhausted!  I won’t be able to move for a week!”

Hardcastle came over and pulled Mark to his feet, putting a friendly arm over the young man's shoulders.  “You’ll be okay, kiddo,” he comforted, patting McCormick’s back.  “Just rest. I won’t make you go down for another ten minutes.”

Mark groaned, but soon saw the humor in the situation.  Besides, the Judge had made it up to the cave without problems, and McCormick wanted to show the Lone Ranger that Tonto could keep up on the trail … even carrying two cameras and two canteens!  

After recovering from the long climb the two enjoyed exploring the inside of the kiva and the cave ruins, and took a few minutes to enjoy the scenic view of the forest visible from the cliff edge.  Going down … slowly … the ladder was less tiring, although their calf muscles were a little shaky on the last descent.  Stepping onto the ground Mark felt his knees give with fatigue, and vowed to burn all the ladders at Gulls’ Way. 

#     #     #
Later that afternoon, back at the campground, Milt had McCormick set a fire in the outdoor cooking pit while he spiked beef tips and chunks of carrots, potatoes, and onions on metal shish kebab skewers. Letting them simmer over the grilling rack, he tossed a cold cola over to Mark, and the two sat back in lawn chairs, watching the flames crackle and dance.   Mark rubbed the cold metal of the can on his lower leg.  “I’m gonna get you for that one, Hardcase,” he promised.  “Just wait until Kemo Sabe takes siesta one day … you’ll see …”
Hardcastle put on a pout, dropping his head to hide his amusement.  “I’m sorry you’re not having fun on this vacation,” he commented with a sigh.

“Did I ever say I wasn’t having fun, Judge?”

“I know … I’m working you too hard … making you do all these hikes, forcing you to look at trees and flowers and cute little animals …”

“I don’t mind the flowers … and the animals are sorta cute … well, except for the buzzard eating the road kill in Tucumcari.  He kinda looked like someone I know … with the black feathers and the bald head …” Mark ducked as Hardcastle threw a piece of ice at him from the cooler.  “Hey! … police brutality!”

“Justifiable ex-conacide, smart guy!” the Judge smirked.  “Come on, aren’t you having a good time, McCormick?”

Mark nodded.  “Yeah … it’s really peaceful out here.  I like the mountains and forest … all the different colors of green, the smells of river algae and pine bark, the little things like seeing small birds in a tree hollow or lizards sunbathing on a rock … sorta makes you feel that there’s more valuable things in the world than what we make of it in steel and concrete.”

“I feel the same way, kiddo,” the Judge replied quietly.  “Lots of people wouldn’t notice the bumblebees or squirrels or wildflowers except to judge them as pests or weeds.  But everything has a value to Him who made them … so why can’t we value them as well?”   He threw a glance over at Mark’s thoughtful face and smiled inwardly at the way his ‘weed’ had bloomed into something of great worth, then reached over with a mitt to pick up one of the skewers.  “Looks like dinner’s done.  Why don’t you get those pieces of fry bread and we’ll have a great feast!”

#     #     #
Rising the next morning at sun-up, Mark and Milt went on a hike through the forest, taking pleasure in hearing the gurgling of the brook that ran through the area and seeing the early morning light reflect off the white bark of the aspens and the greens and browns of the pines.  The air was full of birdsong, and Mark took a deep breath of satisfaction, smelling the dewy grass.  Hardcastle tapped him on the arm.  “Come on, McCormick, gotta get to breakfast, then I’m gonna phone Frank.  After that, we’ll head to Santa Fe.  Gonna be a long day.”

After packing up the Coachman and making sure the fire embers were cold, they returned to the ranger station and were able to borrow the desk phone to call Frank’s house.  Milt chuckled as he heard the detective’s account of the problems Carter was having with Boutros’ men. “Getting miffed, are they?  Serves ‘em right … you can’t always believe everything you hear, ya know! Gotta cover all your bases if you want to score … but it’ll spread you thin.” He listened to Frank’s comments. “Yeah?  Are they okay?  Well, great!  Yeah, it was a good idea.  Send out the word to Carter that Boutros’ guys missed the hit.  We’ll fake ‘em again at Carlsbad today. Hardcastle nodded, grinning. “Sure … I’ll tell him.  And we’re covered by the Albuquerque office?  Fine. Yeah, I think so too.  Take care and I’ll phone ya from Colorado tomorrow night.  Bye.”
McCormick looked anxiously at the Judge after the receiver was hung up.  The older man clapped him on the shoulder, smiling with pleasure.  “According to the conversations picked up by the FBI’s wires on Carter’s office and home phones in the last few days, Boutros’ guys seemed to be getting a little upset at having to spread themselves thin scouring through all the major cities of Texas to try and locate one roving Judge and his sidekick, because their ‘spy’ wasn't giving them correct information.  Frank says that Carter was sweating blood after a particularly nasty implied threat by Arturi, and was greatly relieved when he got word that the Airstream was located yesterday in Langtry by two of Tony’s employees.  They had parked in a truck stop a little west of Del Rio, and tailed the RV as ‘we’ drove by, making a play as our look-alikes were walking across the parking lot by Judge Roy Bean’s Saloon/Courthouse.  Luckily, the agents’ protective body armor was effective, and both gunmen were wounded and then arrested. They’re being held in San Antonio. Carter is still in the dark about the wiretapping on his lines, so they’re gonna monitor his phone calls for the next few days to see how Tony’s boys react to the news.  The next step is get a few more rounded up at Carlsbad when Rivers and Stevens get there, and then we’ll see how far they’re willing to chase ‘us’ in the Airstream past that point. Anyway, don’t worry, kiddo … the feds in New Mexico and Colorado will still be overseeing our progress to keep us safe.  Now … off to Santa Fe.”

After thanking the ranger for his help, they drove off down NM 4 North. Milt pulled out his travel guide and started reading out loud as they turned south on Hwy 84: “Originally a home for the Tewa culture of the Anasazi Indians, who had moved from the Four Corners Region around 1050 A.D., Santa Fe was part of the lands claimed for the Spanish Crown by the explorer Coronado in 1540. Conquistador Don Pedro de Peralta laid out the plan for Santa Fe at the base of the Sangre de Cristo Mountains in 1609-10 and named the colony La Villa Real de la Santa Fé de San Francisco de Asís (The Royal City of the Holy Faith of Saint Francis of Assisi).  During the 17th Century, Spanish soldiers and officials, as well as Franciscan missionaries, tried to conquer and convert the pueblo peoples of the region, but their disrespect for and abolishment of native languages and the practice of cultural and religious beliefs, as well as forced labor of the tribes on hacienda and mission lands, led to discontent of the Indians.
“In the 1670’s, drought swept the region, which not only caused famine among the pueblo peoples, but also provoked increased attacks from neighboring nomadic tribes -- attacks from which Spanish soldiers were unable to defend their dependent populations.  At the same time, European-introduced diseases were ravaging the natives, greatly decreasing their numbers. Unsatisfied with the protective powers of the Spanish crown and the god of the Anglos, the natives turned to their old religions for aid. This provoked a wave of harsh repression on the part of Franciscan missionaries, who hanged some medicine men and flogged and imprisoned others.
“The Pueblo Revolt of 1680 was an attempt of the native peoples to throw out the invading Spanish and regain control of tribal lands, customs, and lifestyle practices.  It endeavored to restore traditional ways back into the lives of the tribes, but squabbles and divisions over control of the land broke out between clans, weakening the Indians’ power and ultimately aiding Diego de Vargas to ‘re-conquer’ Santa Fe in 1692. 
“When Mexico gained its independence from Spain, Santa Fe became the capital of the province of New Mexico. American trappers and traders moved into the region, and in 1821, William Becknell opened the 1,000-mile-long Santa Fe Trail as a trade route from Arrow Rock/Franklin, Missouri. It served as a vital commercial and military highway until the introduction of the Atchison, Topeka and the Santa Fe Railroad in 1880.
“The creation of the Texas Republic in 1836, the treaty of Guadalupe Hidalgo in 1848 (which ended the Mexican-American War), and the Gadsden Purchase of 1854 all added parts of present-day New Mexico to the United States. Santa Fe is the oldest capital city in North America, and the oldest European community west of the Mississippi.”
Arriving at the north end of Santa Fe via Hwy 84, they turned onto Paseo de Peralta and entered the Plaza area.  The modern State Capitol Buildings were located on its fringes, as well as the St. Francis Cathedral and the Loretto Chapel.  The Palace of the Governors, built in 1610, was in the heart of the square, and was surrounded by restaurants, shops, and museums.  Milt and Mark decided to visit the two churches first, and headed down a side street to the Cathedral.  

Started in 1869 and finished in 1895, its construction plan was based on the ideas of its first Bishop (later, Archbishop), Father Jean Baptiste Lamy, who wanted to make it a copy of his French homeland’s Romanesque churches.  [A/N: The story is told in Willa Cather’s novel “Death Comes for the Archbishop”.]  Mark and the Judge were very impressed with the beauty of the imported stained glass windows (from France), and the La Conquistadora, the oldest Madonna statue in the United States, which was brought to New Mexico by Franciscan friars in 1625.
Retracing their steps for two blocks, another side street took them to the Loretto Chapel, founded in 1873 as a place of worship for the Sisters of Loretto, a local Catholic teaching order.  The nuns had traveled from Kentucky in 1852 at the request of Bishop Lamy, and founded a school for local children.  After the chapel construction was complete, the builders realized that there was no access from the ground floor in the sanctuary to the choir loft.  Faced with the problem of either risking life and limb on a ladder to ascend the 22-foot height, or building a standard staircase which would take a large amount of space away from parishioner seating/worship, the Sisters prayed a Novena to St. Joseph, the Patron Saint of Carpenters.

The legend of the “Miraculous Staircase” stems from this prayer … according to the story, on the ninth day of the Novena a man showed up at the chapel with a box of wood-working tools and asked for a job.  It took him about six months to complete the staircase, and the architectural design was a marvel of engineering.    Built without nails or glue (just wooden pegs to hold it together), the staircase made two complete 360-degree turns in a spiraling double helix form.  There was no central pole support … the angle of the inner steps’ edges balanced the form so that it braced itself.  The rails were added later in 1887.       

The odd thing about the event, according to the legend, was that the man showed up apparently in answer to the prayer to the Saint of Carpenters; he left quietly and quickly, accepting no pay; no one in the local area had ever seen him before; and the kinds of wood used weren’t from any trees in the region.  Some of the nuns believed that the mysterious stranger was St. Joseph himself, come to Earth to help them. Milt was skeptical about the ‘miracle’ theory, but had to agree with McCormick that the finished product was graceful and attractive.

Returning to the main plaza, the two men began examining the goods for sale by the local Indian artisans.  Along the front wall of the Palace of the Governors blankets were laid on the ground, and jewelry, pottery, woven baskets, and other handcrafted items were displayed for tourist purchase.  Many beautiful examples of Hopi (northern Arizona tribe) and Navajo silver bracelets, rings, key chain medallions, and belt buckles were available.  Mark fell in love with a finely-engraved sterling silver overlay (3-D effect) buckle depicting a coyote standing by a flowering yucca plant and howling at the moonlit sky, but the $85 price made him uncertain.  He was fast running out of his savings, and was torn between the deep emotional pull of wanting to buy it versus the reality of his limited funds.  They still had Colorado, Arizona, Utah, and points west back toward LA to see, and he had to start some kind of budget control. Sighing, he thanked the man and went slowly on with Hardcastle, looking at other blankets and shops.  They bought some t-shirts with nice western/Indian design art scenes, purchased several pieces of pottery from a lady of the Acoma pueblo (noted for its fine ceramics), and got a turquoise bead necklace for Sarah, as well as a silver and coral key chain for Frank.  

Milt found a bola tie for himself with a beautifully carved silver metal “slide”, showing mountains, pine trees, elk, and a cowboy riding a horse.  The Judge wasn’t much of a fan of cloth ties, but if bolas were good enough for Clayton Moore and Gene Autry, then Milton C. Hardcastle could emulate the fashion.  Besides, they looked good with his Pendleton cotton and flannel shirts!

Mark kept on edging back to the belt buckle, picking it up and examining it, then reluctantly putting it down.  Hardcastle nudged him.  “That’s nice. Why don’t you get it?”

Mark shuffled his feet and softly muttered something about “… too much”, then quickly changed the subject. “Getting thirsty?  There’s a Woolworth’s down the street that has a soda fountain.  Whaddya want?”

Milt ordered a Cherry Coke (“Make sure they put the cherries in the soda, McCormick -- I don’t want just a squirt of juice!”) and watched the younger man stride off.  Turning, he knelt down at the blanket and picked up the buckle, studying its detailed design and then turning it over to check the price.  After a few minutes’ conversation with the Indian artist, a trade was arranged with some contents of the Judge’s wallet, and Hardcastle headed down the street to the Coachman, where he placed the wrapped package in Mark’s jacket pocket.  Returning to the plaza, he saw McCormick gazing around confusedly, holding two cups in his hands.
“Over here, kiddo!” Hardcastle called, waving his arm in the air.

Mark came over.  “Here ya go, Judge ... cherries and everything.  Where’d you go?”

“Oh, I was checking out some postcards in that shop there,” Hardcastle said hurriedly. “You got anything else you’d like to see?  We’ve got to get going soon; there’s one more stop a little north of here, then we’re off to Colorado.”

McCormick fidgeted for a few seconds, then took a deep breath and muttered, “I’m gonna do it.” He said out loud, “Wait right here … I want to see one last thing.”  Milt sat down on a bench and sipped his soda, watching with amusement as Mark made a beeline toward the Indian blanket he’d been haunting.  Hardcastle saw him look closely at the buckles and ask the jewelry maker something. The Indian put on an expression of sympathy and gestured that the item was gone.  Mark’s shoulders slumped and he turned away, trudging slowly back to the jurist.  

“Not gonna get it?” Milt asked.

“Nah … got too many t-shirts and caps and stuff anyway,” Mark said, waving his hand aimlessly. “I’m ready to go, Judge … how’s about it?”

Milt could hear the tension and disappointment hidden under McCormick’s casual manner, and smiled to himself at the surprise the kid would get in a little while. They headed back to the parking lot, and Milt climbed into the driver’s seat, tossing the map over to Mark.   “Figure out the way to Chimayo … you gotta take a small rural road to get into the village.”

Passing by the eroded sandstone “Camel Rock” formation along the highway, they stopped and got a picture, then continued on to the turnoff at Espanola, and within forty minutes they were at the famous Ortega’s Weaving Shop.  

Since the early 1700’s, there had been nine generations of the Ortega family working as master wool weavers.  They had become world-renowned for producing fine quality hand-woven blankets, rugs, coats, vests, purses and cushions. Large stacks of their goods were displayed on tables for the public to choose colors (made with natural dyes) and sizes.  Milt and McCormick enjoyed watching one of the employees weaving a long piece of fabric on an old wooden loom; then they went through the piles of small-sized mats (good for putting vases, statues, and other small items on), and the larger 10 x 14 inch and 15 x 30 inch ones that could be used on top of a desk or bookcase -- buying some nice pieces for the den, Hardcastle’s bedroom, and the gatehouse.  

Continuing a short distance down the cottonwood-shaded road, they ate an early dinner (blue corn enchiladas con carne y frijoles -- delicious!) in the outdoor patio of the Rancho de Chimayo Restaurant, then went on to see the Santuario de Chimayo.  Part of the Archdiocese of Santa Fe, the simple but beautiful church was constructed in 1814-16 with Spanish Colonial-style architecture.  Inside the sanctuary Mark picked up a flyer about its history.  The story was that in 1810, a local friar saw a light shining from the ground near the Santa Cruz River and dug a hole there.  Finding a crucifix, he brought it to the altar of the nearby Santa Cruz village church, but the next morning it was missing.  The villagers and priests returned to Chimayo and found it back in the hole.  Picking it up, they carried it back to their church, but it returned mysteriously to the hole again, and again yet a third time.  Realizing that the crucifix seemed to want to stay in Chimayo, they built a chapel there.

Soon afterwards, miraculous healings began to occur in the local community. As word spread, visitors from more distant villages began to flock to Chimayo to collect some of the sacred healing soil of the cavity in the church floor -- and even today, tourists and pilgrims from other cities and states came to take part in the ritual, so much so that the site was known as the “Lourdes of America”.  McCormick and Milt looked at the crowded walls of the sacristy where discarded crutches and braces, pictures of saints and Christ, and before-and-after photographic ‘proofs’ of healing were hung.

Mark sneaked away while the Judge was examining the brightly painted wooden altar screen and scooped up a little of the “holy sand” in an empty film canister.  He wasn’t really superstitious … well, not much … but he thought that a little memento of the visit wouldn’t hurt.  Inwardly he understood that the soil was just a symbol for pilgrims to have to increase their faith in God’s healing power.  Aided by the emotional love and prayerful support of friends and family, they put their energies into positive thought and confidence in God rather than dwelling mentally on their suffering and complaints, so many got better or well by their optimistic behavior. 

He knew that the symbolism of his St. Jude’s medallion, protecting ‘lost causes’, wasn’t really appropriate any more, since he was beginning, with Hardcastle’s help, to see himself in a more positive light and have confidence and hope for a good future … yet, the medal still was a part of him -- a sign of where he had been, just as the soil here was a symbol of faith, giving you the power of inner happiness and peace, no matter what trials and challenges were to come, because you realized that God was always there for you as a guide and protector.  

Feeling uplifted by his thoughts, Mark walked back to the main sanctuary as the Judge strolled out toward the entrance.  McCormick shivered -- the sun was going down, and dark clouds were visible off to the east, bringing a stronger wind through the canyons.  

“Why don’t you get your jacket?” Milt asked, as he climbed into the trailer and turned on the ignition.  “I don’t want ya to get a chill … especially when we’re gonna be outdoors a lot the next two days.”

Mark walked back to the sofa bed where he had tossed his jacket down that morning.  Picking it up, he slid an arm into the sleeve and suddenly felt a heavy object hit against his hip.  Pulling out a wad of taped bubble-wrap, he stared at it in confusion for several seconds, they eagerly tore into it.  Milt chucked softly as he retraced the route back to 84, hearing the high-pitched “pop” of the bubbles.

Finally Mark got all the tape off and pulled up the last fold of wrap.  His legs suddenly gave way, and he plopped onto the bed, staring in shock at his right hand.  The silver buckle gleamed in the light from the kitchen.

 “Hey!”

“What?” the Judge asked innocently, keeping his eyes on the road and laughing quietly to himself.  

Running to sit in the passenger seat, Mark waved around his present.  “Where did this come from?”

“Oh … that?” Hardcastle said airily.  “Hey … that looks like the buckle that was on that blanket back there.”

Mark shook his head in wonder. “Judge!  Why did you do this?  It was too expensive.”

“Just consider it an early birthday present.  And Christmas present.  And your wages for the next four months.”

“Heck, Hardcase … you know slaves get more wages than I do!”  McCormick grinned, then turned sober.  “Thanks, Judge.” He reached over to wrap his arms around the older man, but Hardcastle squirmed in embarrassment. “Hey, kiddo, don’t distract the driver!  I’m trying to steer over five thousand pounds in a straight line!”  Mark sat back down in the seat, staring at the buckle, then back at the Judge as the older man reached over to pat his shoulder affectionately.
“So … are you sure you like it?” Milt asked.  “I didn’t know if it was the right thing to get, but I sorta had a feeling you might want it.”

“Judge!”

“Well, anyhow … I did owe ya for some back wages, and I know you’ve been workin’ hard on the cases and around the estate, and you did do a good job cleaning out the Airstream, so I figured I’ll give ya a little bonus.”

“Hardcastle … you’re too much.  But, thanks … really.”

“I figure you’re worth it, McCormick.  Now we’ve gotta find you a decent belt to put in on. That piece of twine’s gettin’ pretty frayed.”

“Yeah?  This from a guy who ties his sneakers with duct tape!”

“I do not!” the  Judge retorted.  “… Well … only that one time. We were in the middle of the game, and I didn’t wanta have to go back into the house and hunt around for a new string.  How about the time you used a binder clamp ‘cause your jeans snap broke?” 

“That was only one day … and you yourself told me Judges didn’t want to see those kind of briefs.  Sarah fixed the pants that night, remember?  And besides, at least I try to make my clothes blend in with each other.  Remember that first day of the Coyote trial when we were in your chambers? -- God, that shirt -- red, blue, green, and yellow tropic print -- looked like you’d fallen into a vat of watercolors.  Sure went well with those dingy gym shorts and the sneakers someone wore to clean out a septic tank.  No wonder you wear a black robe over your clothes … it hides the horrid haute couture choices you make!  I guess it’s lucky that Lady Justice is blind!”

Hardcastle glared over at the smirking younger man, then began to laugh.  McCormick always cracked him up with his snappy comebacks and humor.  “Well, if you’re not blind, why dontcha look out the windshield, kiddo … you’re missin’ a lot of nice scenery.”

Mark turned his attention to the surrounding countryside.  This was Georgia O’Keeffe Country -- the famous artist had made her home at Ghost Ranch in 1936 near the town of Abiquiu, and painted the picturesque canyons and mesas of the area.  Climbing from the dusty valley around Espanola they were now driving through a high desert in the Chama Basin part of the geologic Colorado Plateau.  Red, tan, and white-layered sandstone formations reached into the blue sky, and the rocks shone with the late afternoon sun reflecting off their bluffs. Yucca, sagebrush, and prickly pear cactus grew from the sandy soil, and scarlet paintbrush and penstemon flowers made flashes of red and orange along the roadside.  Reading the guidebook, Mark found out that many dinosaur fossils -- Coelophysis and Phytosaurs (crocodile family) -- from the late Triassic (205 to 228 million years ago) had been found nearby.

A little ways down the road (Highway 84), the rocks and sand gave way to a scenic corridor running between the Santa Fe and the Carson National Forests, as the sun went down on the road to Chama.  Crossing the Continental Divide [A/N: the "backbone" of North America, which stretches down the Rocky Mountains from Alaska to New Mexico and is the watershed “edge” which diverts mountain snow melt runoff and ground streams into two drainage basins along its line -- one to rivers flowing west and the other to rivers going east] on the road to Pagosa Springs, they found a campground just over the Colorado border, set up the Coachman’s drain and water hoses, and set about reheating the remains of the shish kabob meat and vegetables for dinner.
CHAPTER XX:
Colorado

While the Pyrex dish contents bubbled in the microwave, Hardcastle nudged McCormick as the younger man was setting the table. “Gonna have a great time tomorrow … look at what I’ve got!”  He pulled out a slip of paper from his billfold and waved it in the air.  “Reservations to ride the Durango and Silverton Narrow Gauge Railroad!  It’s a steam train that was used a hundred years ago to haul gold and silver ore from mines in the San Juan Mountains around Silverton and Ouray back to the larger settlement at Durango, and returned with food and other supplies.  It’s still used today to take tourists up to the old mining towns, and goes through forty-seven miles of some of the prettiest scenery in southwest Colorado!”

Mark put down the package of napkins and took ahold of the paper. “Wow, Judge … how’d you set this up?”

Hardcastle smiled, buttering slices of toasted garlic bread.  “I’ve got a friend, Cy Scarborough, who I knew years ago in Little Rock.  He runs a Chuckwagon Supper/Cowboy Music Show, the Bar-D Wranglers, in Durango.  I phoned him when you were gassing up the RV back in Amarillo, and told him we’d be out here this week.  He arranged with the railroad depot to reserve us two seats on the train, as well as having his box office hold tickets for the evening western dinner and concert. We just have to let him know what day when we arrive in town.”

As they settled down to the stew, they looked over a brochure from the campground office which showed pictures of films that had been shot in the Durango area.  ‘Butch Cassidy and The Sundance Kid’ had several scenes filmed locally, including the “exploding box car” train robbery scene, as well as the jump off the cliff into the river when they are fleeing the posse. The train was also seen in ‘Night Passage’ (James Stewart and Audie Murphy), and John Ford’s ‘How the West Was Won’.  Other movies made in the area included Clark Gable’s 1951 film ‘Across the Wide Missouri’ and the Duke’s ‘The Cowboys’. The brochure also mentioned that western author Louis L'Amour wrote his ‘Sackett’ series while staying at the historic Victorian-style Strater Hotel.
After washing up the dishes, Mark took out a book on Colorado history that Hardcastle had found in his library, and started reading about the town of Silverton. Located high in the San Juan Range of the Rockies (9,318 feet in elevation), it was founded when gold was discovered in 1860.  Silver deposits were discovered soon afterward. The mining camps quickly “boomed” with activity, but problems included the isolation from larger towns and dependence of settlers on pack animals to haul supplies and ore over the rugged Continental Divide. To solve the transport problem, crews blasted through mountains and built bridges across rivers and creeks during the winter and spring of 1881-82 to lay the tracks of the Durango and Rio Grande’s Silverton Branch.  The rail head reached the mining town in July of 1882.

From 1860 through 1904, the state produced a total value of  $889,203,323 in gold, silver, lead, copper and zinc ore, but there were problems looming around the bend toward the end of that period.  In 1893, ten large mines in the Silverton district were forced to close when national silver prices dropped from $1.05 an ounce to $0.63 an ounce due to the Sherman Silver Purchase Act of 1890. The act was designed to help farmers who, hurt by a severe drought, were straining to survive under growing debt and sharply falling prices for their crops, as well as to support the new western states such as Idaho, Montana, Washington, Wyoming and the Dakotas, who wanted to boost their economies by tapping into their mineral and other resources.
The U.S. Treasury’s plan was to increase the federal purchase of silver from the level set by the Bland-Allison Act of 1878 to 4.5 million ounces -- equivalent to 281,250 pounds of weight.  The national government would buy silver bullion each month at market rates, and issue bank certificates redeemable in either gold or silver coinage. The general economic idea was to get the westerners to sell silver to get the certificates, then cash the certificates for gold and use it to buy more silver. With more silver coins in circulation, farmers in debt could pay off their old notes with them, taking advantage of the created financial inflation which decreased the value of the original paper money that they had to pay back. At first the price for silver increased, as originally planned, making profits for the mine owners; however, the success led to an increase of silver ore output from the mines, which flooded the market and began to drive down the certificates’ value rapidly. This sent a shock wave through all of the silver camps and mines in the west. Many mine operators tried to reduce expenses by cutting the miners’ wages, but labor unrest and sporadic violence followed.
As the price of silver continued to decline, the Act backfired -- holders of the government notes began to redeem them for gold, and then hoarded the coins instead of circulating them with purchases. The result of the growing inequality between the two metals’ value was the depletion of the U.S. gold reserves, an event that played a prominent role in decreasing the power of the Populist Party and causing the Panic of 1893, which in turn led to severe drops in prices/values for goods and ruination of agriculture, businesses, transport lines, and banking. Industrial strikes increased, with many turning violent, and a widespread depression plagued the U.S. for the next three years.
Other problems for the area mines included the playing out [A/N: no more ore to be found] of the large-sized Yankee Girl and Guston Mines in 1896.  At the peak of mining operations in the early 1900s, there were two smelters and more than thirty mills in the area, but the Spanish Flu Epidemic of 1918, which killed ten percent of the population of Silverton (about one hundred and twenty people) in just six weeks, plus World War I and the Great Depression, added to the financial problems for the mine and railroad owners. The Silverton Railway Line stopped its service on June 13, 1922. By the end of the 1930s most of the mines were also closed. 
The railroad lay mostly unused, its equipment slowly rusting and decaying, for the next decade or so, until local residents encouraged its use in tourism in the late 1940s.  The ‘breath of life’ for the train occurred with the new interest of the area by Hollywood in the ‘50s and ‘60s, allowing restorations to the engine, cars, and track to be financed and carried out. The National Park Service designated the Silverton Branch of the Durango and Rio Grande Railroad as a National Historical Landmark in 1967, and the American Society of Civil Engineers selected it as a Civil Engineering Landmark the year after.
Mark yawned and stretched. Looking over toward Hardcastle’s bed he saw the Judge’s head tilted down, a book held limply in his right hand.  Grinning, McCormick got up from the couch and walked toward the back of the trailer.  Closing the book and putting it on the side table, he plumped up the pillow behind Milt’s head, pulled the blankets over his chest, and, for a last appropriate touch, placed a stuffed baby bear he’d bought in Santa Fe (dressed in buckskins and a feather headdress, a la Tonto) in the crook of Hardcastle’s arm.
#     #     #
After an early breakfast at Pagosa Springs, they drove west on Colorado Highway 160, enjoying the sunrise of a bright and clear day, and arriving in Durango at 7:30 a.m.   Parking the Coachman near the train depot, they walked over to the ticket window, where Milt showed his identification and written note regarding their reservations, and obtained the tickets for the open air gondola car.  Located near the end of the train, it avoided the dark smoke blowing back from the coal-fueled engine, and allowed free vision on both sides for photography.  Packing their backpacks with snack food, extra rolls of film, a canteen, and a thick coat (the temperature was still in the 40s and 50s at the higher elevation terminus, getting up to the low 70s in Durango in midday), they boarded the locomotive and got settled for an exciting ride.
At 8:15 the engineer blew the steam whistle, and the long link of train cars was towed slowly down the track, picking up speed as it reached the outskirts of town.  Starting at 6512 feet elevation, Milt and Mark were carried through the beautiful Animas River Valley, first passing rock cliffs tinted with mixtures of red, orange, and tan, then watching as the landscape in the rising elevations quickly gave way to lush green fields and sparkling streams fed by a constant flow of melted snow from the high mountains.  Snow was still visible on the summits, but the spring had brought a rich growth of thick grass and evergreen and juniper trees in the San Juan National Forest.  

Taking pictures of the wondrous scenery -- the rugged rock of the peaks towering over 10,000 feet above the tracks; hawks and eagles soaring above in the blue sky -- the Judge and McCormick shifted from side to side of the open car to get good shots. As one exclaimed over a vista, the other one would come running to view it.   Deer paused in drinking, their heads alert, as the train passed close by the quickly flowing Animas River.  Abandoned log cabins sat in sunlit meadows, pines framing the view and tall waterfalls trickling down the cliffs behind.  There was no smog or car honking or graffiti … just the beauty and peace of nature.

Hardcastle nudged Mark as the younger man was cleaning his camera lens from the cool air condensation -- they were approaching a tunnel, and the track made a slow curve to the right before entering it, so that the whole length of the train from the engine back to near their section was visible.  Mark quickly focused his Nikon and leaned over the car siderail to snap several pictures. Doing the same, Milt grinned at the kid’s palpable excitement … he reflected to himself that he got a lot of enjoyment out of life by just absorbing the reflection of joy off Mark’s being.  The kid was slowly awakening to the fact that there was happiness to be had in the world, not just rejection, sadness, and pain.  Thinking about it, the Judge acknowledged silently that a lot of the positive ‘vibes’ made him feel better about things in his life … he had covered his past memories and feelings in a sheet of thick ice, but now some of it was melting in the spring air -- just like the mountain snow -- and was giving nourishment to its environment.

The conductor had been making occasional comments over the loudspeaker about the train. Its engine dated from 1923, and was powered by coal furnaces which, with water from holding tanks, created steam.  The round trip between Durango and Silverton would consume six tons of coal (shoveled by a fireman over the seven hours of travel), and ten thousand gallons of water! The power thus created allowed the train to travel at a top speed of eighteen mph.
The track had narrow gauge rails, three feet (36 inches) apart. Milt and Mark learned that standard gauge rails are four feet, 8 1/2 inches (56 1/2 inches) wide, which is a measurement based on Roman chariot wheels. Narrow gauge was used because it was easier and less expensive to install around sharp mountain curves.
As the track ran past the foot of the bare white and gray cliffs protruding above the tree line, they looked far down into a valley filled with lesser peaks and thick tree growth. Entering the ‘High Line’ area, the train went along a narrow ledge that jutted out from the mountain 400 feet above the river. Finally, going downhill in elevation into the ‘bowl’ valley where Silverton was located, they watched in wonder as the train went from near the top of the peaks to their foot, leaving the tips of the crags 12,000-14,000 feet above their heads.

Pulling into the depot and coming to a stop with steam hissing from the engine wheels, Mark and Milt got out and stretched their legs.  McCormick watched as the engineer went through the end-of-trip check of the locomotive, and admired the old engine.
Hardcastle looked at his watch.  “Okay, kiddo, it’s almost noon. We’ve got two hours and fifteen minutes to see the sights. Better think of it as two hours even from now, so we don’t miss the train departure.  What do you want to see first?”
Mark decided to hit the shops first.  The town covered about a space twelve blocks long and seven blocks wide, but the majority of tourist businesses were concentrated on Blair and Greene Streets.  As they had different interests, they split up, agreeing to meet in forty-five minutes. After getting a t-shirt and a small pewter statute of a old-time miner holding a pan and crouching by a stream, McCormick went into a fudge shop and bought a large walnut-topped brownie and some cherry and orange-flavored candy sticks.  Munching happily as he walked down the sidewalk, he got some photos of old buildings dating back to the late 1880’s up to the first few decades of the twentieth century.  The town looked like it never had modernized ... that was the charm of it.  The rustic cabins and old board houses, as well as the simple brick buildings, could have fit in perfectly with the times of Matt Dillon or Ben Cartwright of TV fame.
As he crossed the street to the next block, he heard Hardcastle calling his name.  Turning around, he saw the jurist standing by a small café, waving his hand.  “Whatcha get, Hardcase?” he asked, walking up to meet the older man.
“Aw, just a t-shirt and some postcards of the mines up in the mountains,” Milt replied.  “I also called Cy to let him know we’d be back in Durango about 5:30 tonight, and I figured pretty tired from the train journey, so I decided we’d tour Mesa Verde tomorrow morning to about 3 p.m., then drive back to Durango for the Chuckwagon in the evening.  That suit you?”
“Fine, Judge,” Mark replied.  “We’ve got to phone Frank tonight anyhow, and the show would have gone on for about three hours, counting the dinner, so it’s good we have the time off this evening.” 
Hardcastle smiled, rubbing his hands together.  “So, got one more hour or so to see the sights.  What next?”
McCormick lifted his head to look at the lofty mountains and forest area surrounding the town.  “If you don’t mind, I’d just like to take a walk down toward the end of town, out into the countryside.”
“Okay with me, kiddo,” the Judge said genially.    
Walking out past the shops toward the mountains, they passed some of the old homes and miners’ cabins that had stood there for nearly a hundred years.  Further up the trail they entered a lush meadow filled with marsh marigolds, columbines, yellow paintbrush, and other colorful blooms.  A waterfall rushed over the rocky cliffs nearby, water bouncing off terraces of moss-covered rocks and running into a depression in the ground, making a deep pool.  Mark stood silently, drinking in the peaceful beauty.  It was great to be able to look out over miles of nothing but mountains, trees, and grassy pastures ... forgetting the crowded and noisy city he was used to.  This is why he liked Seagull Beach so well ... it was a place where you could walk away from all the strife and stress of life and watch nature’s gifts -- sparkling waves rolling in gentle waves onto the sand and the blue sky stretching out to the far horizon.  Both men took several snapshots, inhaling deep breaths of the fresh air and turning slowly to drink in the sights, letting the spirit of the place relax and enthrall them.
Hiking back through the rocky areas on the slope above town, Mark’s shoe caught in a jagged piece of rock half-buried in the ground.  Reaching down to brush the dirt away from it, he exclaimed excitedly to the Judge that it had crystals.  A little bit more digging with his fingers allowed him to pry a two-inch chunk of purplish rock out of the soil.
Milt took it out of the younger man’s hand and brushed more dirt off of it.  “Hey, kid … looks like a piece of amethyst.  That’s a quartz stone with iron and manganese in it.  It’s a pretty good crystal hunk … it’ll make a nice paperweight!”  

Mark took it back from the Judge and rubbed it to remove the last of the debris stuck to it, then wrapped it in a handkerchief and put it in a small pocket of his backpack.  Walking on through the old mining shacks, he noticed small rocks with black shiny blotches and streaks on them.  Milt picked one up.  “You’ve struck it rich, McCormick … that’s silver.”

Mark scoffed, “Come on, Hardcase … that’s not silver, that’s black.”

The Judge shook his head and sighed.  “If silver gets exposed to moist air, it tarnishes due to its reaction to atmospheric hydrogen sulfide.  The more humidity or sulfur gas in the air, the faster it turns color. If you wear silver jewelry a lot, your skin oils slow the oxidation, but if you store it away, it turns blackish and you have to re-polish it.”
McCormick assumed an expression of wonder and gasped, “Wow, Judge … how do you know all these things about crystals and minerals and stuff?  You rock!”

Hardcastle couldn’t hold back a chuckle as he slapped Mark’s back.  “That’s not punny, McCormick.”  He threw the stone over to the young man.  “We better get back down to the depot, the train leaves in 15 minutes.  Ore you coming?”

Mark grinned as the jurist passed him and started down the trail.  “One Injun going to the engine ... lead the way, Kemo Sabe!”

As they rode back to Durango in the crisp, clear afternoon, they enjoyed the return trip as much as the morning excursion.  Since they had taken most of their photos of the sights riding to Silverton, they were able to lie back and drink in the scenery at leisure, not seeing it through viewfinders and worrying about setting light and shutter speed levels.  Arriving in Durango at 5:30, they drove through the city, going south on Highway 550 to the RV campground.  

After dinner, Milt and Mark walked over to the pay phone by the campground’s registration office. Other RVers sat outside their trailers nearby, relaxing in lawn chairs by campfires and listening to the night sounds of the forest.  Not seeing anything particularly suspicious, Mark still kept his eyes peeled for the unusual.  Of course, living with Hardcase made doing that almost impossible to accomplish … McCormick never could quite distinguish “unusual” from “everyday” when he worked for the jurist.

A deep chuckle from the older man drew his attention back to the Judge’s conversation with Frank.  Turning his head, he noticed Hardcastle’s wide grin.  Whispered queries of ‘What?’ were met only with shushing sounds and a waving hand ordering silence.  After Hardcastle had notified the detective of their schedule for the next few days, he hung up and turned to face the younger man.

“Well, kiddo, looks like we’ve got ol’ Tony backed against the wall.  Frank says that our friends Stevens and Rivers made it to Carlsbad last night.  It was too late to tour the caverns, and they weren’t about to actually go inside ‘em, anyhow -- too much chance of getting pushed over a chasm in the dark, but they made a big show inside the visitor’s center about seeing the nightly bat flight out of the cave entrance.  So, about 30 minutes later there they sit, oohing and aahing with all the other tourists as the swarm comes out.  They dawdled a bit as the tourists got up to leave, when suddenly Rivers got his arm grabbed and was swatted alongside the head.  Stevens turned to help him and saw a flash of a knife coming over his shoulder. He threw an elbow into the guy’s gut, and the next second, four other men jumped up from the benches, pointing guns at the two thugs and ordering ‘em to surrender.  It turns out that Stevens had called in agents from the El Paso and Las Cruces offices to mix in with the crowd in case some move was made.”

“Are they all right?”
“Yep, just a little bruise on Rivers’ temple.  The two goons are Carlo Giovanni and Timothy Malone ... part of Willie Martinez’s smuggling ring, working out of the Juarez/El Paso border area.  Frank got a report from the local FBI office this morning.”

“What about the situation in LA?” Mark asked.  “Once Tony’s bunch realize that Carter’s given them info again that led to a trap, they’ll make a hit on him.”

“Frank’s already taken care of that,” Milt smiled, rubbing his hands together in glee as they walked back to their camp spot.  “The California feds working with him went over to the Organized Crime Task Force section at the station early this afternoon to have a conference on the latest captures of Tony’s men. Once Carter heard about the Carlsbad events, he suddenly got a bad stomach ache after the meeting and asked his boss for the rest of the day off.  Frank and Agent Andrews took him into custody as he stepped into the elevator.  He’s now secured in a holding room with a federal officer guarding him.  Meanwhile, other agents are staking out Arturi and Martinez’s homes and the local warehouses Willie is known to use for trucking.  Within the next hour, there’s gonna be a big dragnet roundin’ them all up.”

“That’s great!” Mark exclaimed.  “So, has anyone figured out that we’ve changed vehicles?”

“According to what Frank and the feds have picked up on Carter’s phone lines, none of Tony’s men have brought the possibility up.  Frank’s fake leaks have emphasized the Airstream’s movements, so from what they can gather from what the wires recorded, that’s all the mob’s been looking for.  But, just in case, we’re to meet a FBI agent named Philip Smith in the morning over at the Strater Hotel.  He’ll set up a guard system to get us through the next few days, and back to LA.”

#     #     #
Packing up at sunrise the next morning, the Judge and Mark drove back into the center of Durango and parked around the corner from the historic Victorian-themed Strater Hotel founded in 1887.  Walking into the lobby, they were approached by a man dressed in jeans and a western shirt.  Showing the Judge his ID card and FBI badge, he escorted McCormick and Hardcastle to a private dining room, where a hot breakfast was laid out on a buffet table.  Three other men were sitting in chairs and rose as they entered.  They were attired in jeans as well, and wore long-sleeved shirts with the logo of the Crow Canyon Archaeological Center (a local ancient pueblo anthropological study foundation) on the pocket.
“Judge Hardcastle, Mr. McCormick, Lieutenant Harper and Agent Andrews from Los Angeles have apprised me of your situation and plans for travel,” Smith commented. He turned to indicate the other men. “Let me introduce Agents Coleman, Davison, and Edwards from the field office here.  They will be driving a tan van with the Archaeological Center logo to Mesa Verde, and blend in with the other visitors as you tour the park.  When you return tonight, we will also be attending the Bar D dinner and concert with you.  Mr. Scarborough is aware of our presence, and has arranged for us to be seated in tables behind and to the side of your reserved spots. We will not draw attention to you, but will be close enough to assist if anything suspicious occurs.”

Mark and Milt shook the agents’ hands and fell into conversation about their trip so far and the problems with the Tony Boutros court case as they piled their plates high with scrambled eggs, bacon, hash browns, and homemade biscuits.  Sitting at the end of the table with Officers Coleman and Davison, McCormick found out they had an interest in local Indian archaeology, and had been glad of the opportunity to tour the ancient ruins. While they discussed some of the sites in the park that were open to tourists, Hardcastle was happy to hear from Smith and Edwards that the previous night’s FBI raid in LA had netted almost a dozen men connected in some way to Boutros’ criminal organization in the Southwest, including Arturi and his cousin Vito, Willie Martinez’s son, and Roberto Romeu, Tony’s contact in Nogales [A/N: in Mexico, south of Tucson].

Smith then went over a map of the Southwest with the Judge, and explained the plans to have agents from the Gallup, Flagstaff, and St. George FBI offices oversee the Coachman and its inhabitants through their passage through Monument Valley and Southern Utah.  The Vegas office would take over when they entered Nevada, and would coordinate with Frank and the California feds to get them back home.

#     #     #
After filling up the RV with gas, Hardcastle and McCormick set out west on Highway 160 at around 7 a.m. and arrived at the Far View Visitor’s Center at Mesa Verde 45 minutes later.  The Crow Canyon van entered the lot about three minutes afterwards, and turned into a parking space about 50 yards away from the mobile home.  Walking into the building, Mark and Hardcastle joined the other dozen or so people who were waiting for the information booth to open at 8 o’clock.  Since some of the sites were very popular with tourists, visitors had to obtain tickets that spaced them out in separate tours over the day in order to limit the wear and tear on the fragile ruins; the procedure also allowed guests of the park to experience personal enjoyment of the area without fighting dense crowds.  
Once the rangers opened up the lines, Milt was able to get tickets for two for Cliff Palace at noon and for Long House at 3 p.m.  This last ruin was down a separate road 12 miles away, so they would leave it until the end, since they had several closer ruins they wanted to view and tour.  Giving a friendly nod as they passed Agent Edwards, who had picked up tickets as well, Hardcastle and Mark looked through the brochures in the information racks, and bought a small book on the history of the park.  Tossing it over to McCormick as they climbed back into the Coachman, Hardcastle headed toward the nearby Far View Ruins.

Mark opened up the text and began reading out loud. “‘The first Anasazi Indians settled in Mesa Verde (Spanish for ‘green table’ -- referring to the grassy cliff tops of the canyons) about 550 A.D.  Originally, nomadic hunter-gatherer peoples, they were attracted by the fertile land, fed by branches of the Mancos River. Crops of corn, beans and squash were raised along the canyon bottoms and in cleared areas on the mesa tops. To supplement farming the Anasazi hunted deer, squirrels, and rabbits with snares, nets, or a bow and arrow or atlatl (spear thrower), and collected edible plants such as piñon nuts, acorns, and juniper and fruit berries.  Over the years, they were able to domesticate dogs and turkeys.
“Because of their fine skill in weaving mats, baskets, and other articles out of yucca leaves, willow wood, and other plant fibers, later scientists named these ancient peoples the Basketmakers.  The baskets they created were used to store dried seeds and berries, as well as being lined with pitch to allow water collection.  Stones heated in the fire could be dropped into a water vessel to cook items, much like a stew pot. Toward the end of this period they began to form simple pottery out of gray clay.
“The Basketmakers first lived on top of the mesas in subterranean pithouses, with inward-sloping walls and roofs made of wooden poles and mud rising about 2-3 feet above ground level.  Fire pits gave heat and light to the interior, and entry into the room was made through a roof opening via ladders.   Step House has both pithouses from this period as well as a later Classic Pueblo settlement.  Other Basketmaker pithouses can be found near Square Tower House on Chapin Mesa and on Wetherill Mesa.
“Later (around 750 A.D.), the inhabitants began to build adobe and wood post aboveground dwellings connected in long rows and blocks of rooms. Pithouses were deepened and turned into underground kivas (ceremonial and social rooms). Some of the park’s sites such as Coyote Village and areas around Badger House illustrate this period of time, which is called Developmental Pueblo. 
“Tools such as hide scrapers, meat cleavers, axe heads, and arrow points were made out of river stone and flint, and animal bones provided materials to make needles, awls, and ceremonial objects. Gambel oak wood was carved into bows and digging sticks for planting. Pottery, corrugated [A/N: imprinted with fingertips or a pointed stick to form a rough surface appearance before firing] or made of whitish clay with simple black paint designs made from ground-up minerals and plants, began to replace basket use.
“By 1100, the construction materials had changed again, as the mesa top inhabitants began to cut and shape sandstone blocks, mortared with a mud mixture and the addition of small, flat ‘chinking stones’, to create a neat masonry appearance in their homes.  Far View Ruins is an example of this style of building.  Over the next hundred years, most of the Mesa Verde peoples moved off the upper plateaus of the canyons down into crevices and caves in the Cretaceous sandstone cliffs.  Using the rock face to support their  ‘brick’ architecture, they were able to create beautiful three and four-story buildings, towers, and storage rooms, with plazas, courtyards, and kivas interspersed throughout the village.  Access to upper stories and to the farming areas on the mesa tops was via ladders, notched tree trunk poles or hand and foot holes chipped in the cliff wall.

“Within the park, Spruce Tree House, Cliff Palace, Long House, and Balcony House are the representations of these ancient communities of the Classic Pueblo period (1100-1300 A.D.).”  
McCormick broke off to exclaim, “Hey, Judge … did ya know that, of the approximately 600 cliff dwellings in the park, about 90% contain just one to ten rooms? According to this, the ancient peoples made a wide use of very small rock crevices all through the region that could only house a few individuals or just were used for storage.  Most people don’t notice them because the publicity’s gone to the large ruins.”
Hardcastle nodded in interest as Mark continued reading from the book: “During the two hundred years of the Classic Pueblo period, more decorative pottery designs appeared on a variety of vessels such as pots, bowls, canteens, ladles, jars, and mugs, created to hold and cook food and store seeds and corn, as well as being used in ceremonial roles.  Clothing was made of animal hides and fur, turkey feathers, and woven yucca (sandals, aprons, etc.).   Trade with other tribes allowed them to import turquoise, hematite, seashells, and cotton. 

“The question why Mesa Verde was abandoned in the early 1300’s is still under investigation by modern anthropologists.  The prevalent theory is that severe drought and climate changes caused crop failures and migration of game animals, forcing the inhabitants to move further south into New Mexico, settling near the Rio Grande in places like Bandelier and later in the modern-day pueblos near Albuquerque and Santa Fe, as well as in the Hopi lands of northern Arizona.  Other scientists believe that hostile tribes infiltrated the Mancos Valley from the north and west and pushed out the agricultural Mesa Verde peoples.  Whatever the reason, the ruins were left alone and forgotten except by local Indians and a few isolated miners and hunters for almost 600 years. 

“In 1888, Spruce Tree House, Cliff Palace, and Square Tower House were discovered by ranchers Richard Wetherill and Charlie Mason, who were looking for stray cattle.   Over the next few years, the Wetherill family excavated many sites in the area, but when others arrived soon afterward solely to ‘treasure hunt’ and began to severely damage the ruins, several leading anthropologists and historians of the American Southwest led a fight to get federal recognition and protection for the Mancos Valley. A bill for the creation of ‘Mesa Verde National Park’ was passed by the 59th Congress in 1905 and signed by President Theodore Roosevelt.  The final ceremony establishing the park took place on June 29, 1906. 
“Another bill passed by the same legislature that greatly aided the scientists trying to protect the park’s natural and cultural resources was the ‘Act for the Preservation of American Antiquities’, taking effect June 8, 1906. It made it a federal crime to collect or destroy any historic or prehistoric object or building on federally owned land. 

“Two years after the establishment of the park, excavation and repair of the major sites was begun so that visitors could see and enjoy them.  The goal was to stabilize fragile areas of masonry while limiting the impact of new and replacement construction material on the original buildings and natural surroundings. Most of the scientific work over the next several decades was done by scientists of the Smithsonian Institution, the National Geographic Society, and the School of American Archeology /Museum of New Mexico in Santa Fe.” 
#     #     #
Climbing out of the RV at the Far View Ruins area, Milt and Mark pulled on their light jackets, threw their camera bags over their shoulders, and walked down a short trail to the pueblos of Far View and Coyote Village. The absence of roofs in the interconnected blocks of rooms allowed them to see the interior features, such as aligned doorways running through three or four room widths (to allow quick movement through the complex without running into walls), kivas, and plazas, as well as a section containing several mealing bins, where hand-held grinding stones had been used to crush corn and seeds.

Walking down the trail a little ways further they saw a shallow gully running down the forested hill with rows of stones laid across its width, splitting the land into descending levels about five feet apart from top to bottom. An information sign told them that the Developmental Puebloans and their Classical Period descendants had developed the technology to direct the flow of ground water for drinking and crop irrigation by building check dams in natural drainage channels in the soil, creating rock “fences” down slopes which stood a few inches above the ground and collected the downward-flowing water at the rear of the stone row.  The check dams also limited erosion of the forest slope and allowed terrace farming.
Passing Agent Davison, who was examining the grayish-blue berries on a juniper tree, they came upon a gradually depressed rounded area about 12 feet deep at its center and 90 feet in circumference, surrounded by a stone and mud masonry wall.  The nearby placard informed them that from 900 to a little over 1100 A.D., the area (known as Mummy Lake) had served as a water reservoir, collecting rainwater as well as snow run-off and water from diverted creeks.  The drainage channel into it was designed to allow debris and silt to be removed from the water before it entered the basin. The clay particles in the soil were water resistant, allowing clear fluid to run on top of and past them down a slope and into a depression.

Reading the information book from the visitor center, McCormick learned that in good years, the rainfall accumulation could average 18 inches, allowing good crop growth on the mesa tops, but the Anasazi had planned these back-up systems to collect as much water as they could during drought seasons.

After taking a few pictures, McCormick and Milt climbed back into the RV and drove to their next destination, the Spruce Tree Ruins at the north end of Chapin Mesa.  A short discussion led to the decision to tour the ruins first before seeing the museum and gift shop, so they headed down the half-mile trail, taking photos of the views each turn in the path showed of the cliff dwellings.  The clear blue sky could be seen through the forested area, and flowering yucca, penstemon, and lupines gave color to the light-colored sandstone. Milt pointed out some Steller’s jays that were picking at fallen acorns and pine nuts on the ground, and a hummingbird darting among the Indian paintbrush blooms. Further on, Mark yelped in surprise, then laughed with Hardcastle as an Abert’s squirrel ran in front of them and jumped on top of a large rock by the trail, its whitish tail jerking with indignation and its silvery-black coat and long ears making it look like a miniature Easter Bunny.

Arriving at the ruin Mark fell into conversation with the park ranger, who told him that the site had been inhabited from 1200-1276 A.D. with as many as 100 people living there. The complex had 114 rooms, used for habitation and storage, as well as eight kivas. The location had been named by the Wetherills in the 1880’s for a large Douglas spruce that had been growing at its entrance.  

Nodding as he and Milt passed Agents Edwards and Coleman, who were taking photos of the multistoried rooms at the rear of the alcove, McCormick continued to question the ranger, asking about the grindstones used for making corn flour.  “These are called ‘metates’,” she said, indicating three flat stones about a foot long, resting at the edge of a room wall. “The women would put corn kernels or seeds on top of them and use the smaller ‘mano’ stones to rub them into the surface, crushing the kernels into meal.  ‘Mano’ means ‘hand’ in Spanish, and this was quite a ‘by hand’ job, taking several persons a good deal of time to make enough flour to prepare a form of bread.  Besides causing cramping and blistering of their fingers, the process also had another significant drawback -- small particles from the stones were added into the flour and wore the Indians’ teeth down quickly; excavations of skeletons aged only in their 20’s and 30’s have shown severe cavities, or even missing teeth.”  

Mark jabbed an elbow softly in the Judge’s side, whispering, “The real ‘True Grit’, huh, Hardcase?” as the older man gave him the look.  The park guide added the information that because of constant exposure to the environment/climate through winter and rain, plus hard working conditions in hunting and farming -- i.e., living in a Stone Age culture -- the life expectancy of the Indians was only in the mid 30’s.  Osteoarthritis, misshapen healed fractures, and malnutrition signs on bones were frequently seen by physical anthropologists doing human specimen studies.

Moving over to examine an unroofed kiva, Milt asked the ranger about its construction and use. “The kiva is an underground room used by individual families and clans for both ceremonial and social gatherings, sir,” she replied. “Regarding this one where we are standing, it has no roof left, so its interior can be seen.  It is circular in shape, about six feet deep, and has a small ventilation shaft on its ground-level rim.  This draws fresh air into the room through the lower opening, which hits against the deflector -- the upright slab there -- and is diverted all through the area.  On the other side of the deflector is the fire pit.  The ladder would come down through a hole in the roof just past there, allowing the smoke to rise and create a sort of spiritual purifying mist around persons entering. 

“Another feature is the sipapu, the small round depression in the ground between the fire pit and the back wall.  This is a special feature found in most pueblo kivas of this area, and still used today by the Anasazi’s Hopi descendants.  It represents the emergence opening from which their ancestors came into this world from their previous home.  They believe that their people have gone through many stages and worlds before entering this one, and therefore honor their ancestors’ journey.  The pilaster columns around the circumference helped support the roof beams, and the spaces between them were used to store pots, carved stones, ritual sticks, and other ceremonial objects.  

“Over there,” she pointed back toward the plaza area where ladders protruded from openings in the clay/stone surface, “there are kivas under the courtyard.  The ancient villagers utilized the plaza for doing daily tasks and access between buildings, but we don’t let anyone walk on top of it today for fear of damage to the underground rooms. We do allow visitors to descend into this reconstructed kiva over here, but please be careful on the ladder.”

Hardcastle and Mark carefully descended the rungs and took a good look around.  The room, about ten to twelve feet across, was cool and smelled faintly of evergreen wood and moist soil.  Though only a few feet below the tourists walking nearby, they had the feeling of peaceful isolation.  Surface sounds were dimmed, as was the bright exterior sunlight, giving the room a pleasant, calming effect. Mark backed up and got a nice shot with his camera of a view of the ladder rising from the floor through the opening in the roof, catching the interesting architecture of the wooden upper wall and ceiling beams, as well as the neatly laid lower wall stones in his frame.

Coming back up to the surface they thanked the ranger and took several photos of the attractive site before heading back up the trail to the museum. 

“Well, kiddo, that was pretty neat, wasn’t it?” asked the Judge. As Mark nodded with a grin, Hardcastle added, looking at his watch,  “Okay, it’s 10:15.  We’ve got to be at Cliff Palace at noon, but there’s a loop road south of here with some nice overlooks to go through also.  So … we can spare about forty-five minutes here at the museum and gift shop before we have to leave.  All right?”

“Fine with me, Your Honor,” McCormick replied, following the older man into the building.  

The museum held many attractive specimens of Anasazi baskets and pottery, as well as ornaments made from turquoise beads and shells, stone axes and spear heads, and photographs of archaeological excavations done during the late 1800’s and early and mid-1900’s.  Mark enjoyed looking at diorama scenes depicting the changes in architecture over time, and the different tasks in the everyday life of the ancient villagers.  

After meeting up with Hardcastle, who had been examining a display of carved bone fishhooks, arrows, and woven nets and snares of yucca used to catch small animals, they entered the gift shop to look around, buying coffee mugs showing a cliff dwelling scene, magnets, postcards, and t-shirts … Mark’s ornamented with pictograph symbols and the slogan, “My Life’s in Ruins”.
Glancing at the time on the wall clock (10:58), they left the museum and climbed back into the Coachman, throwing a friendly wave to the Crow Canyon van as it followed behind them toward the road loop skirting Spruce Canyon.
Pulling off into several overlooks, the Judge and Mark were impressed by the multi-story Square Tower House, Oak Tree House, and the Sun Temple, the last giving them a long view across Cliff Canyon to Cliff Palace.  Heading back to the fork in the road at Spruce Tree, they descended the right hand road of Chapin Mesa and arrived at Cliff Palace at 11:45.

Walking out to the overlook area where the park guide would meet the tour group, they were able to get some spectacular photos of the overall view of the site.  The ruin’s 217 rooms and 23 kivas filled a wide alcove from floor to ceiling.  A few minutes before noon, the ranger came down the path and checked everyone’s ticket to make sure they had the right time slot.  He then greeted the crowd and started them down the short trail, telling them that the site had housed approximately 250 people. The dimensions of each “living” room was about 6 by 8 feet; space enough for only two or three persons to reside in. The average height of the Indians was 5 to 5 ½ feet, and the roofs were only a few inches taller, forcing people to bow their heads and upper backs to enter.  

Directing their attention to the pile of broken rocks and brush at the front lower edge of the cave, the guide explained how the inhabitants would toss out broken pottery and tools, cold fire ashes, food and bodily wastes, and other “trash” down the slope, creating a sort of compost heap called a midden.  Since decaying objects kept the soil there warmer and looser than the stony surroundings, the area had also been used during the cold winters to bury deceased members of the group.  This occurred solely as a matter of practicality, not to show disrespect for the dead person; in fact, in the past few decades, anthropologists had excavated skeletons in middens like this all over the southwest, buried in a flexed position and wrapped in yucca mats, animal furs, or turkey feather robes with jewelry ornaments, tools, pottery, and ceremonial objects by their side to use in the “next” life, showing that the pueblo peoples practiced an advanced form of spirituality.

Entering the ruin complex, the ranger pointed out storage niches in the top rear of the alcove.  A stone brick wall about two to three feet high formed the outer wall of small “closets” where pottery and baskets had been found containing dried meat, seeds, and corn cobs.  As they continued onward, Mark and Milt taking photos of many interesting features, the guide lectured, indicating different areas: “The roof beams jutting out from the masonry were made from ponderosa and piñon pine as well as Douglas fir.  Core samples of these logs give archaeologists tree-ring data on which to calculate the habitation period of the dwelling.  

“As you see all around, many of the structures in this site are multi-storied. Floors of upper story rooms were covered with juniper bark and five to six inches of mud to support the residents’ weights, as well as allowing fires to be used in the interior without damaging the levels above and below.  ‘Doors’ were made of animal hides or the positioning of sandstone slabs like the one seen here to cover the entry. Over the years, as some areas were discontinued in use, the villagers would block the windows and doors with bricks, as in this building. Other sections were added later; their walls connecting smoothly to the older structures.

“Many rooms were plastered inside with a clay mixture to help decrease evaporation breakdown of the mud mortar, and were decorated with painted designs.  If you go to the lower window of the tall square tower on the right end and look upward, you can see a nice geometric design on the second story wall as well as well preserved roof beams for the upper two levels.”  Mark and Hardcastle took turns following the suggestion, and were able to get a nice snapshot of the interesting room interiors.
The guide continued, walking toward the right: “Also, look at the fine architectural design and careful squaring of the tower corner edges on both this structure and the one to its left.  The Anasazi had no surveying equipment such as levels, protractors, tape measures, or plumb bobs to assist in making such careful alignment, but nevertheless, they accomplished great engineering tasks in the finely performed shaping of the masonry, the even surfacing and attractive terraced levels of the courtyards, and the dimensional balance of the entire site.  There is also a fine example of a round tower, shorter versions of which are found in the Far View area ruins.”

Milt and McCormick reflected in respectful silence on the ways the villagers had created beautiful architecture using only stone and wooden tools and mud.  The ancient puebloans had faced problems of food gathering, crop irrigation, tool making, and shelter building, and made intelligent inventions and adaptations to the environment that matched any (and beat some!) of the peoples in the concurrent Dark and Middle Ages in Europe.  It was amazing and humbling at the same time.

Allowing the group a few minutes to walk around and examine individual sections of the site (Agent Davison drawing a sketch of the kivas and towers of the right side as McCormick peeked over his shoulder, impressed with the officer’s artwork), the guide finally called for everyone to get ready to depart.  Walking past the ruins and going right to the trail leading back to the parking lot, the ranger, pointing out hand and foot holds in the cliff that the Indians had used to climb up to the mesa top farms, remarked that scientists had determined that the slots were “coded” to begin the first step with a certain foot.  If the climber used the opposite limb, he found several feet up that he was “stuck” and couldn’t progress further unless he made a dangerous attempt to correct the alignment of his body! Looking up at the high distance from the ground to the top of the cliff, Mark decided he’d much rather brave the Bandelier ladders again rather than trust two-inch-deep crevices to bear his weight up a sheer cliff!

#     #     #
Arriving back in the parking lot at a few minutes after one p.m., Milt and Mark passed casually by the open passenger window of the Crow Canyon van, talking out loud about eating lunch at the nearby overlook for Balcony House, then heading for Wetherill Mesa.  Back in the Coachman, they drove the short distance to the Soda Canyon pullout and broke out bread, ham, chips, and cookies for a quick meal.  Placing lawn chairs next to the overlook railing, they sipped on Pepsis as Mark recited the history book’s notes on the ruin:  “Located 600 feet above the canyon floor, access to Balcony House is not for the faint of heart or persons with a serious medical condition. It requires a climb up a 32 foot tall ladder, a low crawl through a 12 foot long tunnel, and then an ascent up an additional 60 feet on other ladders and stone steps.”
“Sounds great, McCormick!” Hardcastle exclaimed excitedly, then let his smile fade slightly.  “I’m sorry I didn’t get tickets for it, but we were limited to two guided sites.   Hey …” he perked up, “... maybe we can go over there and switch spots with someone else!”

“No more ladders, Hardcase,” Mark emphasized, giving the Judge the look.  “At least, none over ten feet or so.  I plan to limit all my future climbing to getting into bed!”

“You’re already good at that, kiddo,” Milt laughed. “Gotta challenge your vertical abilities a little.  How about I rig up a pulley and you can trim the dead leaves off all the palms when we get back home?”

“You’re barkin’ up the wrong tree, Kemo Sabe,” Mark laughed, shaking his head at the jurist’s teasing.  “Now listen … this is interesting: “Inhabited from around 1190 to the late 1270’s, Balcony House contains 40 rooms and had an estimated population of 50 people.  The inhabitants were fortunate to have their own water supply at the rear of the alcove. ‘Seeps’ were caused by mesa top moisture leaking through the sandstone until it reached the impenetrable shale rock underneath and trickled down its surface, becoming a natural spring at the base of the cave’s back wall.
“The protruding roof beams above the ground floor room seen here” (Mark turned the book so that the Judge could see the picture) “support a horizontal balcony about 18 inches wide, made of smaller tree limbs and adobe, on which the villagers could sit while doing daily tasks as well as providing access to the second story rooms and creating a ‘tightrope’ walk access between the courtyards to the buildings behind and to the right.”  McCormick winced, visualizing this last event, then continued,  “Because of the severe drop-off in the front of the cave, a retaining wall/parapet of stone masonry was constructed by the Indians, who added fill dirt, rocks, and timber poles behind it to further secure the inhabitants from falls.  Access to the cave in ancient times was via natural stone ledges and hand and foot depressions in the cliff.”

Hardcastle stretched and reached into the bag for another handful of chips.  “Yeah, well ... guess it’s all for the best that we can get a good view from here.  You might have snitched a few cars in your life, but I don’t think you’re a ‘highwayman’.  You might have turned into a ‘fall guy’!”

Mark groaned and rolled his eyes.  “If that’s all you can ‘rise’ to, Judge, you’ve ‘slipped’ in your old age.”

“Who’s old, McCormick?” Milt demanded, a gleam in his eye. ”I’ll take you down a rung or two …”

“As long as I’m going down, I don’t mind, Hardcase.  I always try to ‘step in the right direction’.”

Swatting Mark on the arm and rising, Hardcastle commented, “Speaking of steps, the next stop’s ‘Step House’.”  He threw the RV’s keys over to the younger man and snatched up the last Oreo as Mark made a lunge for it.  “Sorry, kiddo … that’s the way the cookie crumbles.  Now let’s head back to the Far View Visitor’s Center and take a left to get on the Wetherill Mesa road.”  

As they pulled out of the overlook lot, Officer Davison started up his vehicle and followed a few hundred feet behind.

#     #     #
Going down the twisting twelve-mile road toward Step House, the Coachman passed a small group of mule deer walking up the piñon pine and juniper-covered slopes.  Red-tailed hawks wheeled slowly above in the clear afternoon sky, showing the unrushed tempo of nature.  They drove by more of the check dam terraces, which had collected water for the wide area of farmland cultivated on Wetherill Mesa over an 800-year period. Following the park signs, Mark pulled the RV into the parking lot and they refilled their canteens, threw some granola bars in their camera bags, and started down the paved trail, joining Agent Coleman as he climbed out of the nearby van.   
It took a little over fifteen minutes to reach the site, coming out into the right side of a cave where a small group of stone masonry dwellings and kivas were situated in levels going up to connect with the back rock wall.  Hardcastle and McCormick progressed further left to the opposite end of the alcove and looked at a long upward climbing path made of flat boulders placed in intervals among the natural rock and soil debris -- the “steps” from which the site got its name.  

Returning to the center area, they took photos of a reconstructed pithouse, part of its roof and wall cut away to show the construction pattern.  Other original pithouses were nearby, their roofs missing and floor depressions showing the fire pits and where roof support poles had stood. The information sign stated that this had been a Basketmaker site around 626 A.D.  About twenty-five individuals had inhabited the location at that time.  

Joining Officer Coleman at the rear of the cave, they looked up to where he pointed and saw a faint outline of a hand, surrounded by burnt wood charcoal specks, made by one of the ancient villagers high on the rock wall. Hardcastle and Mark continued on with the federal agent to examine the right side ruins of the Classic Pueblo period, built around 1226 for a population of thirty to forty people.  They climbed up a short ladder to the upper plaza area and took a few photos. A sign inside a large room told them that excavators in that area had discovered a large pot buried under the floor that contained the seeds of ten different plant species, and 1682 dried corncobs had been discovered in the room’s debris.

Climbing back up the trail to the parking area, they found that the open-air tram was pulling up to take visitors to Long House.  McCormick made a dash back to the Coachman to grab heavier jackets for himself and the Judge, as well as another water bottle and two film canisters.  Getting on board the park vehicle, they were driven down the road another mile and pulled up at the trailhead.

A short walking path brought them to the impressive Long House Ruins, built in the early 1200’s.  The park ranger gathered the tour group together and started pointing out the interesting features of the site:  “Long House is the second largest dwelling in the park. It housed a population of 150-175 individuals at its peak, and contained 120 rooms and 21 kivas, staggered in three terraces rising to the top of the cave, and a large rectangular plaza.  That plaza, here before us, is believed by archaeologists to have been used as a ceremonial dance site. To the upper left of the alcove, near the ceiling, is a long row of stone-bricked storage rooms, which were reached by ladders in ancient times.

“As in Cliff Palace, the area in front of the cave is a trash midden where debris, food scraps, and other wastes would be tossed. Twenty-eight human burials were excavated there from 1959 to 1961 by scientists from the Park Service and the National Geographic Society.  The skeletons were wrapped in rabbit fur and turkey feather blankets, with offerings of pottery and jewelry in the graves.

“Daily life would see the women grinding corn meal and cooking, weaving items from yucca leaf fibers, forming clay into pots, and taking care of the children.  Some men would go up to the mesa top to work in the farmland where crops of beans, squash, and corn were being grown -- or they might hunt turkey, rabbits, or deer to provide meat for the community, while others stayed in the village making stone tools, doing house repairs, or performing religious ceremonies.  Domesticated dogs would run around the plazas chasing squirrels or lizards, or lie by a stone wall basking in the sun.  

“The Long House residents did not have to go far for water; there is a natural seep spring at the back of the cave that provided water for cooking and drinking, similar to the one at Balcony House.

“You may ascend the ladders to see the upper stories, but please do not lean on the walls or climb over them to enter a room.”

While Agent Coleman ambled off to look closer at the left side rooms, the Judge and Mark started up the path to the next terrace level, taking many photo shots of the interesting architecture.  After a brief whispered discussion (“Aw, not again, Judge!”), which ended in a sworn promise by the jurist to give the kid extra helpings of the chocolate cupcakes they had bought at the Durango market, Mark took Hardcastle’s camera and climbed up two ladders, each about fifteen feet long, to the top level of the dwellings.  From here, he could get a nice long overview of almost the entire site in one frame.  

He took several pictures with both cameras, zooming in with the lenses to get close-ups of certain features.  Looking out into the valley, he was enchanted at the nice color contrast between the tan ruin walls and the green and light grays of the plant life nearby.  The buildings, made of the same stone as the cave, seemed to flow into the surroundings with ease, making the landscape a beautiful and tranquil sight.  Mark closed his eyes and concentrated, trying to make all the sights of the day stay embedded in his memory, so that he could write his thoughts in his journal later.

Hearing Milt call up to him, McCormick came out of his reverie and waved to the older man, then carefully descended to the lower level.  Handing back the Canon to the Judge, he put his Nikon back into the bag and took a swallow from the water bottle Hardcastle handed him.  Mark bit his lip, wondering if he should voice his feelings out loud, but then remarked quietly, “I know you don’t like mushy stuff, Hardcase, but … this is beautiful.  It’s so peaceful and natural … like somebody just sculpted the houses and towers and courtyards straight out of the cliffs.  It’s really amazing that people did this with their bare hands and stone tools.”  He blushed and shuffled his feet.  “Well … anyway … thanks for bringing us here.  I had a real good time.”

Hardcastle clapped the younger man on the shoulder with affection and grinned.  “I liked it, too.  It’s a fascinating place.”

They walked around to the rear of the buildings, examining the shallow pool of water at the cliff base spring and enjoying the shaded alcove, then returned to the front to look up at the storage sections under the cave roof.  After a few more minutes, the ranger started rounding up the group, and they walked back the trail to the waiting tram, which took them to the main parking lot.  Coleman waved to the Judge as he stepped into the Crow Canyon van, joining the other two FBI men. 
The Judge climbed into the driver’s seat of the Coachman and started up the engine.  “Okay, kiddo … it’s 4:30.  We’ll get back in Durango around 5:15 or so.  You can start cleaning up and changing for the chuckwagon show … wear jeans, a long-sleeved shirt, and take your heavy coat -- it’s gonna be in the high forties or low fifties tonight.  And you can have a cupcake … just one -- you don’t want to spoil your appetite for the dinner!”

#     #     #
At 5:22, Milt pulled into the Durango campground and took his turn with the hot shower and change of clothes. After a quick shave, he put on his bolo tie he’d bought in Santa Fe and took his light brown Stetson off of the closet shelf.  Starting up the Coachman, he headed down Highway 550 about 10 miles, turning right on Trimble Lane (County Road 252), and then left on County Road 250.  
Parking in the large Bar D lot, he walked over to the ticket office and told the clerk that Cy Scarborough had held two tickets for Milton Hardcastle.  She looked through her notes and smiled when she found the slips.  Handing them over to the Judge, she directed them over to the small office by the serving tent.  Knocking on its door produced a tall, thin, balding man in his mid-50’s who grinned and whooped,  “Hey, Milt Hardcastle, you ol’ son-of-a-gun!  You finally made it!   Welcome to the Bar D!”  

Hardcastle smiled, shaking hands, and turned to introduce Mark.  “Cy, this is Mark McCormick.  He works with me, roundin’ up the bad guys of the West.”

Cy smiled.  “‘Hunt ‘em, hear ‘em and hang ‘em’, right?” 

Milt laughed.  “Heck, I’m retired.  I can’t do anything any more but hassle ‘em a little.”

Mark shook his head in humorous disbelief.  “He’s pretty good at doing that,” he confessed to the Bar D cowboy.  “We spend most of our time playing ‘I Spy’, ‘Dragnet’, ‘Columbo’, and ‘Batman’ … with a little John Wayne and ‘Lone Ranger’ thrown in for excitement when we get bored. Lots of fun … right, Kemo Sabe?”

Hardcastle rolled his eyes and grinned at Cy.

Mark continued, shaking Cy’s hand:  “Mr. Scarborough, the Judge has told me all about your music program … playing the songs of the Sons of the Pioneers, Marty Robbins, and others. We bought a lot of cassette tapes of them when we were in Fort Worth, and I’ve been listenin’ to ‘em all through Texas and New Mexico.  I think my favorites are ‘Twilight on the Trail’, ‘Riding Down the Canyon’, and ‘Blue Shadows on the Trail’.  And ... there’s one other song … the one about ‘Get Along, Little Doggies’.  I think that’s a neat one, too.”

The Judge, blushing, jabbed a thumb into McCormick’s ribs and hissed “Dogies!”
Mark just grinned and winked at Cy as the cowboy laughed at the jurist’s embarrassment.  Cy threw an arm around Hardcastle’s shoulders.  “Hey, Milt … come on and see the dining room.”

They entered the large tent and saw five rows of large picnic benches labeled A through E (right to left looking from the front of the tent); each letter having a column of tables numbered 1-10 from front to back.  Cy pointed out that Milt and Mark’s seats would be front row center (i.e. C1), right next to the small fire pit and the stage.  “Each table can seat 14 people -- that’s 700 visitors in here.  We’ve got it down so that we can run ‘em all through the serving line in about 30 minutes.”

Mark looked a little disbelieving at the statement, but Cy just grinned at him.  “You’ll see.”  He looked at his watch.  “Hey, it’s nearly 6:30.  Sorry, guys … I have to get back to the kitchen to check on things.   Why don’t you look around in the stores for awhile.  Be back here by 7:25 to take your seats.  The dinner bell rings at 7:30 sharp!”

Hardcastle and Mark “saved” their spots on the picnic bench by putting down their coats, then split up to look around the grounds. As McCormick headed for the Art Gallery, Agent Smith waved to the Judge from across the courtyard and pulled him back inside the tent, escorting him to the rear to make sure they were alone.  

“Judge Hardcastle, I’ve been in contact with Lieutenant Harper today.  The latest news is that he and the LA FBI team have been talking to some of the minor members of Martinez’s bunch they picked up in the raid.  They say that Boutros is very upset with the failure of the hits he’s tried to make on you in the last few weeks … seems like his assassins either miss the target, can’t find you, or get taken out by the cops.  According to them, he’s decided to call off all the regional hits and just ‘get’ you when you return home to Malibu.  The LAPD and our men in California are currently planning how to use your doubles in the Airstream to set up a final trap and arrest at Gulls’ Way.  We will still have agents in Arizona and Utah to protect you along your route just in case, as we discussed this morning.”

“Sounds good,” Hardcastle smiled.  “I really want to thank you and the other agents for helping us out today. McCormick and I ran those poor guys ragged hiking all over the place, but they sure helped us feel more secure.  Nothing unusual happened to us, so they didn’t get much to do, but I was impressed with their professionalism and competence.  If I get a chance to take them aside tonight, I’ll tell them so.”

“Thank you very much, Your Honor,” Smith replied. 

#     #     #
Joining Mark in the Art Gallery, the Judge admired the western scene paintings of Buck Teeter, the baritone-singing Upright Bass-playing member of the Bar D performers.  They bought a box of Christmas cards with a depiction by him of the Durango Train coming through the snowy mountains, then got some postcards of the chuckwagon’s singers and the surrounding countryside.  Entering the western wear store nearby, they looked through a nice selection of well-tooled leather belts. Hardcastle pulled one off the rack and held it against McCormick’s shirt.  “There … doesn’t that one look nice?  Not too flashy with the stamped design.  I bet your new belt buckle’ll look fine with it.”
Mark took ahold of it and examined the smooth edges and good quality screws that undid the buckle end.  “Yeah ... it’s really cool.  Let’s see if they’ve got my size.”  He looked through the rack and finally found the right one. Paying for it, he took the sack back to the RV and quickly attached the Hopi buckle.  Pulling the leather band through his jeans loops, he fastened the peg into the belt hole and stepped over to the mirror on the closet door.  He smiled at the sight … as the Judge had said, it was a good match.  Stepping down from the mobile home and locking the door, he saw Agent Edwards leaning on a car about 30 feet away, apparently trying to get a rock out of his shoe.  Passing by him Mark whispered with a grin, “All’s quiet on the ‘old western’ front. Thanks for keeping a look out,” then continued back to meet Hardcastle. 
Over at the Record Shop booth, the Bar D’s fiddler, Terry Morris, was selling records and tapes of the group’s performances. From Decatur, Texas his brothers, sister-in-law, and nephew were well-known fiddle and guitar performers. Terry himself had won the Texas State Fiddle Championship many times, as well as the World Championship and the Grand Masters Fiddle Competition in Nashville.  His brother Dale had fiddled with Marty Robbins’ band, Ray Price’s Cherokee Cowboys, and Bill Monroe’s Bluegrass Boys, and joined The Sons of the Pioneers in 1981.  Dale’s son Dale, Jr. was carrying on the tradition, learning to play the fiddle, guitar, and mandolin.
Seeing the Judge leaning on the booth’s bar top, Mark headed over there and found himself the audience in an enthusiastic conversation on the historical mixture of Dixieland, big band music, western “cowboy” songs, and Southern/Appalachian folk fiddling, as performed by such music legends as Bob Wills, Johnny Gimble, and The Sons of the Pioneers’ Hugh Farr. Hardcastle recounted how he’d taken his wife to Santa Monica in 1945 to dance to the sounds of the Spade Cooley and Deuce Spriggens Orchestras, two of the top Western Swing bands of the West Coast in the post-war years.

A tap on his shoulder brought his attention back to McCormick, who smiled at the enthusiasm of the two music lovers.  “Sorry, guys, but it’s 7:15 -- ‘bout time to get ready for dinner.”  Milt shook hands with Terry, thanking him for an interesting discussion and promising to come back after the concert to buy some recordings.  Walking back with Mark to the dining area, they put their jackets back on and took their seats at the table, several other people doing the same as the tent was filling up quickly. Cy stepped onto the stage at the front of the room and spoke into the microphone: “Howdy, folks -- welcome to the Bar D Chuckwagon!  We’re gonna ring the dinner bell in a few minutes, but since it’s a nice clear night, we’re gonna roll the roof canvas back right now and get ready to enjoy a night under the stars.”  He waved at two of his workers, and they unlocked the metal clasps that held the top of the tent down, then retracted the material with a horizontal winch system, folding it up neatly like an accordion.
Milt and Mark noticed that Agents Coleman, Edwards, and Davison, in plainclothes western wear, were finding seats at tables B1, D1, and C2. Officer Smith sat at their own table a few seats down and across, next to a man in his 40’s who was wearing jeans and a flannel shirt. “Gentlemen,” Smith addressed them, “this is Walter Mitchell. He’s a friend of mine from Gallup, and is heading toward the Four Corners region.  Didn’t you mention that you’d be going through Monument Valley tomorrow?”

The Judge understood by the off-hand reference that Mitchell was an FBI man who would pick up their protection responsibility for the next day, and replied casually, “Yeah, Phil, I plan to drive through some of the Arizona part.  I’m a big fan of John Wayne films, and really want to see some of the locales they used around here.” He smiled and shook hands with the other man. “How do you do, Mr. Mitchell. I’m Milt, and the kid here’s Mark.”

“Pleased to meet you,” Mitchell replied with a smile.  “From what I’ve heard, the scenery out there is beautiful, and Frank from the weather station says they’re expecting a nice and clear day … no trouble on the road.”

Hardcastle winked, a smile twitching on his lip. He turned toward the stage again as Cy announced: “Ladies and Gentlemen, it’s time to dig in to a good ol’ cowboy dinner.  We’ve got a choice of sliced roast beef or boneless chicken breast, both simmerin’ in our famous barbecue sauce.  You also get a baked potato, oven-baked brown-sugared beans, homemade biscuits with butter and honey, chunky applesauce, a piece of our old-fashioned spice cake, and the choice of coffee or lemonade.  What we’re gonna do, after I ring the bell, is start with the people sittin’ at table A1.  Y’all come up here and get in line, then we’ll continue on down to A2, A3, and so forth.  You’ll come out on the right side of your table and return on the left side with your plates.  After the folks in A10 start out, we’ll pick up at B10 and bring y’all forward by tables until B1, then go to C1 and backwards again.  We’ve got some fine young men and women out there in the aisles who’ll help y’all get the hang of it, and we’ll be able to get it runnin’ smoothly and pleasantly.  I hope you enjoy your meal and your time at the Bar D Wranglers Chuckwagon! So …” he picked up the large iron triangle and striker rod and rang it, “... come and get it!”

Mark watched in amazement and amusement as the procession of visitors actually did go through the line quickly and calmly as Cy had claimed.  When it was the turn for his table, he and the Judge proceeded up to the stack of tin plates (replications of  real-life cowboy/camping dining ware), and passed through the line behind the stage area where all the music performers were working over pots and trays of food, helping out their kitchen staff.  Terry advised McCormick, with a wink, to put his fingers under the cold applesauce when carrying the platter, as the hot beans and meat would burn the hand through the metal if touched!  The plate was filled high with “chow”, and Mark and Hardcastle picked up a large tin cup full of lemonade as they passed out of the serving line and headed back to their table.  

After passing the salt and pepper, sugar, and honey bottle around, and buttering the steaming foil-wrapped potatoes, the table’s inhabitants dug in with enthusiasm.  Both McCormick and the Judge found the food delicious, and enjoyed conversing with the husband and wife from Canterbury, England who were touring the southwest, as well as with the Johnson family from Topeka.  Mark kept an eye on the group from table E10 as they left the serving line with their plates, and looked at his watch.  Twenty-eight minutes and forty-seven seconds.   He whistled to himself in admiration at the efficiency of the kitchen staff.
In about ten minutes, Cy came out to announce seconds on the food, and refills for the coffee and lemonade.  As Mark got up with several others, Hardcastle muttered something about “I should have expected that … he’s like a bottomless pit.”  McCormick cocked an eyebrow at the jurist. “Sorry, sir. Would you like some help with your tray?”  He patted the Judge on his shoulder with a solicitous air, reaching for the plate, then ducking the swat the older man threw at him.  Mitchell and Smith smiled in amusement as Milt sighed in mock exasperation, then handed his plate over, glaring at Mark.  “Sure, sonny.  I’d like some more beef and beans, and another piece of cake.  Make sure they give you a piece of roast without the fat … these old teeth of mine can’t chew up certain things as well I’d like to.”

“Don’t worry … his bark’s worse then his bite,” Mark whispered to the FBI agents.  “We ran out of Polygrip back in New Mexico, and since then his grasp on things has sorta slipped.”

He yelped as a hand swatted the rear part of his torso, then headed off to the serving line, whistling happily.

Returning with both plates filled back up, Mark got into a conversation with the British couple about Thomas Becket and the Canterbury Cathedral, as well as the areas in America they had toured so far. Milt discussed Colorado mining history with Mitchell and Mr. Johnson.

After everyone was full and content, the kitchen staff went around a final time with refills.  Hardcastle and McCormick changed over to coffee, since the night was getting colder.  Keeping the filled cups on the table, they took their plates and silverware to the rear of the tent, where large plastic trash cans and boxes were set up to collect the dirty items -- then took a quick trip to the “outhouse” facilities before returning to their seats.

The lights were dimmed throughout the tent except over the stage, where the canvas backdrop Teeter had painted (depicting mountains and pines reaching into a bright blue sky) was highlighted. Looking up, Mark saw the wide expanse of the night sky, lit by bright starlight and a large golden moon, and the silhouettes of the nearby pines and mountain peaks.  Milt tapped his shoulder as Cy came on stage and thanked everyone again for their attendance, then introduced the musicians of the chuckwagon.  Buck Teeter came out with his tall Bass Fiddle.  Bob Minser was the lead tenor, as well as a yodeler and guitar soloist. Cy sang back-up tenor and did the comedy bits.  The bass voice was provided by a tall, thin kid in his 20’s, Jerry Baxter, and Terry Morris handled the fiddling, as well as occasional back-ups with the guitar.  

The concert began, and McCormick was impressed with the nice harmonies and enthusiasm of the performers.  Slow ballads and songs like ‘The Streets of Laredo’, ‘Tumbling Tumbleweeds’ and ‘Shenandoah’ were mixed in with up-tempo tunes like ‘The Master’s Call’, ‘Whoopie Ti Yi Oh’ (the “dogie” song!), and ‘Way Out There’.  Mark glanced over at the Judge, and was inwardly pleased to see the relaxed and happy expression on Milt’s features.  Hardcastle was smack in the middle of his favorite daydream of the world of cowboys, mountain men, and old west lawmen, cheerfully humming along with the melody of ‘Old Faithful’ as the firepit’s flames crackled and threw golden flickers of light on the front of the stage.

After Cy performed (in drag with a wig and a old calico gown!) ‘Come a Little Bit Closer’, Terry stepped up to the microphone.  “I know there’s a few of you out there who like Western Swing, so here’s a little something for ya.” He smiled at Hardcastle, and went into a spirited performance of ‘San Antonio Rose’ that set everyone’s toes tapping with the rhythm.  The last flourish received a long ovation of appreciation; then the group continued with ‘Cool Water’, ‘The Cowboy’s Dream’, and ‘Wagon Wheels’, most of the audience (Milt and McCormick included) singing soft accompaniment. After a few more songs, the concert ended with ‘Riding Down the Canyon’, a tune about appreciating the quietness and beauty of nature.

The Judge and Mark joined the rest of the group in prolonged applause for the music group.  After putting up their instruments, the band members announced that the Record Shop would be open for the next half hour or so if anyone wanted to get phonograph or tape copies of their past performances.  Waving to Milt and McCormick as they passed by the stage, Cy put down the microphone cords he’d been rolling up and reached back behind the equipment box, pulling out a sack containing two albums and a cassette tape box.  “Milt, I don’t want y’all to have to wait in a long line to get these out at the booth … I’ve got the boys to autograph ‘em for you.  Let me give ya these as my present.”

The Judge held up a protesting hand, offering to pay for them as the other visitors were doing, but the cowboy finally got his way, insisting that Hardcastle and Mark accept them with his best wishes.  They shook hands with Cy and thanked him for a great meal and entertainment.  As he walked off to check in with his office staff, they eagerly examined the albums (one with western songs performed by the group the previous season, and the other a collection of Old-Time Texas fiddle tunes performed by Terry).  The cassette was a Wranglers’ recording of cowboy gospel and traditional hymns.

Allowing the crowd to exit the tent, Agent Smith tapped the Judge on the shoulder and requested a quick meeting in the Coachman with all the FBI officers. As they walked back toward the parking lot, Milt passed by the Record Shop where Morris was busy with requests for purchases.  Waving the sack in the air to catch the fiddler’s attention, he called out “Thanks!  I really enjoyed the show!”

Terry waved back and called out, “Thank you!  I hope y’all have a nice trip back home!”

Mark unlocked the RV and held the door open as the agents and Hardcastle stepped inside.  Opening up the refrigerator, McCormick pulled out colas for everyone and a bag of cookies. 

“Still hungry,” the Judge mumbled.  

“Want a cupcake?” inquired the younger man, then looked back into the refrigerator. “No, sorry … that one’s mine … and that one … and …”

“Shut the door, McCormick,” growled the Judge.  “It’s chilly enough outside without you addin’ to it.”

“Chili?  They had chili?” quipped Mark, as the agents sat down on the couch and in the dining seats.

Hardcastle sighed and gave up, taking a seat at the dining table as well.

Agent Smith pulled out a map of the Arizona/Utah border.  “Judge Hardcastle, let’s review your plans for travel for the next two days. Today we had it a little easier, since you had crowds of tourists to blend into to avoid a long-distance sniper -- but from what you’ve told me about tomorrow, you’ll be visiting some isolated spots with fewer sightseers to shield you.  That’s why Mitchell will be accompanying you closely in your movements. In fact, we’re going to have him move in with you in this RV for tomorrow, so it looks to other tourists as if he’s a part of your “party” as you drive around, eat, and tour your sites together.  We’ll meet you at your camp site tomorrow morning at 7:45 ... okay? … then he’ll come in and travel with you until tomorrow night’s last stop.  Most of the time, you’ll be able to talk to him freely, without worrying about anyone overhearing your comments as we had in today’s situation.”

Milt nodded.  “That makes sense.  I don’t want to be way out in the middle of the desert without a close backup.”  He patted Mark’s shoulder with affection, noting the younger man’s mock pout.  “Not forgetting ‘Tonto’ here.  It’ll just be nice to have someone out there ridin’ shotgun on the guy who’s ridin’ shotgun.  Okay, kiddo?”  He slapped McCormick on the back, grinning as Mark nodded his head in acquiescence.

Smith smiled. “So, Your Honor, let’s go over exactly where you plan to go.”

The Judge leaned over the table to examine the map.  “Okay … here we are in Durango.  Once we have breakfast and Mitchell meets us at the RV, I’ll try to pull out around 8 a.m. tomorrow.  I’m gonna take Highway 160 through Clovis to the Four Corners Monument, then on to Kayenta.”

Mitchell interrupted, “Judge Hardcastle, I’ve already taken the liberty of making reservations for three with one of the Navajo guides there who conducts tours into Monument Valley.  Our office in Gallup checked out his background, and everything seems fine. We’ll see the Arizona area of the park … most of the spots you mentioned last night where the western filming took place.  It’s an hour and a half round trip. We figured that it would be quicker and more secure to do this, rather than to make you have to spend time when you got there walking among the tour offices trying to reserve a vehicle.”

“Good thinking ... thanks,” Milt smiled.  “Well … after finishing up there, it’ll be early afternoon.  I want to keep on 160 until it joins Road 98, and then head north, going through Page to connect to Highway 89.  Crossing the border into Utah, we’ll go west and end up at Kanab around 5 pm.  I figured to spend the night inside Zion National Park at one of the campgrounds.  The next day, we’ll tour the park until late afternoon, then take the Zion-Mount Carmel Highway (Highway 9), and reconnect with 89 North toward Bryce Canyon.  From there we’ll leave the next afternoon to Las Vegas on I-15, via St. George.”
Smith and Mitchell nodded their understanding.  “That’s fine,” Mitchell replied.  “I’ll get one of our men in St. George to call the Zion park tomorrow morning to set up a camp site for you.  We are also going to have other cars following this RV at a short distance in case something occurs -- one from the Gallup federal district until Kayenta, then another from the Flagstaff office covering us from there until we get to Zion.”

Now that the plans had been finalized, Milt and Mark got the chance to talk further with Coleman, Edwards, and Davison, thanking them for the “guard duty” during the day.  The agents replied that they’d had an enjoyable time seeing the park and concert, and wished Mark and Hardcastle the best for the rest of their journey.  Exiting the Coachman, they blended in with the exiting chuckwagon crowd.  The Judge turned on the ignition and drove back to the campground, tired and ready for a good night’s sleep.

#     #     #
In the morning, after a breakfast of Cheerios and fruit, the Judge began to straighten up the interior of the RV.  Hearing a knock on the door, Mark peeked out of the kitchen window and, seeing Officer Mitchell, let him in.  The federal agent was wearing jeans, a long-sleeved pullover, and a tan field jacket, and carried a backpack and canteen.  Shaking hands with Milt and McCormick, he indicated the man standing in the doorway behind him.  “Judge, Mr. McCormick, this is my partner in the Gallup office, Agent Baker.  He’ll be driving a blue Ford Thunderbird behind us on the road.”  Baker waved and turned back to his vehicle.
Starting up the engine, Hardcastle pulled out of the campground and headed west. Arriving at the Four Corners Monument just before nine, he parked over at the edge of the lot, and they walked over to the concrete square depicting the only spot in the U.S. where four state borders met.  It was intersected by a cross, dividing the platform into quadrants labeled “Arizona”, “Utah”,  “Colorado” and “New Mexico”, each section containing an inlayed bronze state seal. A sign nearby informed them of the survey history that had been done in 1868 and 1912, as well as giving them information about the part of the Navajo reservation they were presently on.

Mark started playing “Twister” in the middle of the square, posing for photos.  “Hey, Judge … should I put my left hand in Arizona, my left foot in Utah, and my right foot in New Mexico?  Or … my left foot in Colorado, my right hand in Utah, and my right foot …?”

“Just stand in the middle and try to look intelligent, McCormick,” Hardcastle growled, focusing the camera.  “I know it’s early in the morning, but maybe you can manage it.” He snapped a shot as Mark complied, grinning.

“Is he always like that?” Mitchell asked, smiling at the young man’s antics.

“Nah … this is one of his better days,” Milt replied with a sigh.  “I usually keep him penned up when company comes, but sometimes I have to let him off the leash.  Here, take this,” he ordered, handing the camera off to McCormick and climbing onto the concrete slab.
“Come on, Judge … smile!” Mark coaxed, as he lined up the shot through the viewfinder.  “Is that the best you can do?  I’ve already got a Halloween poster for my room.”  He muttered to the agent, “Jeez … forget about the ‘Creature from the Black Lagoon’; I’ve got a Beastly Barrister … a Monstrous Magistrate … a Spooky … Whoops, looks like he’s morphing into his Ominous Official form.”  He ducked, chuckling, as Milt kicked a pebble toward him.  “Okay, Judge, seriously … ready?  One, two, snap.”  He lowered the camera, grinning widely as Hardcastle strode toward him and snatched the camera.  “You, go and get yourself a cupcake to put your mouth to better use.  I’ll let Walter take my picture.”

The young man withdrew, snickering, and followed the Judge’s suggestion. When Milt and Mitchell re-entered the vehicle, Hardcastle threw over the keys to a munching McCormick.  “Okay, smart guy, see if you can follow the map to get us to Kayenta.  We’ve got a lot of sights to see.”

CHAPTER XXI:
Utah

Once at Kayenta, Agent Mitchell went to the tour office to check in with the reservations clerk.  Milt and Mark reloaded their cameras, checked their canteens, and filled their backpacks with trail mix, cookies, and chips.
Stepping into the 4x4 jeep driven by Nathan Sandoval, a Navajo guide, they set off down the dirt road, waving at Agent Baker who was staying at the sightseeing company’s headquarters to keep an eye on the Coachman. 

As they drove, Sandoval informed them that the park status of Monument Valley was established on July 11, 1958 by the Navajo Tribal Council.  It covered 91,696 acres, in both Arizona & Utah. 

The Native Americans had been living on this land since ancient times, but it wasn’t until the mid-twentieth century when the area became nationally and internationally known via the western films made by John Ford and others.  Among the movies that had been made in the area were ‘Stagecoach’, ‘My Darling Clementine’, ‘Fort Apache’, ‘She Wore a Yellow Ribbon’, ‘The Searchers’, ‘Rio Grande’, ‘Warlock’, ‘Cheyenne Autumn’, ‘The Comancheros’, ‘Wagon Master’, and ‘How the West Was Won’.

Geologically, Sandoval explained, turning the jeep right on the road that entered the formation area at Mitchell Mesa, Monument Valley had gone through a lot of literal ups and downs over time. Throughout the Paleozoic Era, it had been part of the bottom of an inland sea that covered a large amount of land of the Four Corners states known as the Colorado Plateau.  Thick layers of limestone, sandstone, siltstone, and shale were laid down in the shallow marine waters. During times when the water retreated, stream deposits and dune sands were deposited, or older layers were removed by erosion. Over 300 million years passed as layers of sediment accumulated.

When the sea dried up, the area was a vast lowland basin.  During the Eocene epoch of the Cenozoic era, layers of eroded soil from the early Rocky Mountains that surrounded it were deposited in it over time and cemented into rock, due to weight pressure from the top layers. Then, twenty million years ago, pressure from below the surface caused by movements of the tectonic plate slowly elevated the Colorado Plateau a kilometer higher than its surroundings. Since then, the natural forces of wind, rain, river flow, and temperature had eroded the rock layers, carving out buttes between 400 and 1200 feet tall. 

“What gives the rocks their different colors?” Mark asked.

“Differing levels of iron oxide makes the sandstone red, orange and yellow,” Sandoval explained, “and manganese oxide is in the blue-gray and black streaks.  The bottom part of the rocks is shale, topped with what’s known as ‘DeChelly (D Shay) Sandstone’.  It dates from the Permian period … about 250 million years ago.  The very tops are a mix of shale and siltstone.”

Riding down the loop trail, Milt and McCormick passed the formations of The Three Sisters, John Ford’s Point, Camel Butte, Rain God Mesa and Thunderbird Mesa.  The bright reds, oranges, and yellows of the striated rocks showed brightly against the blue sky and yellow-green and orange of the valley floor. Isolated Juniper trees, yucca, and Russian thistles (tumbleweed) grew in the dry sandy soil. The Judge and Mark, as well as Agent Mitchell, took many photos, thankful that the zoom lenses really came in handy in getting close-up shots.  
The images they were seeing brought back fond memories of their use in the films Milt so avidly watched, and was introducing McCormick to.  Both of them were excitedly pointing every few minutes, saying “I remember that from ‘Rio Grande’”, “Wasn’t that the view from the wife’s grave in ‘She Wore a Yellow Ribbon’?”, and “There’s the place in ‘The Searchers’ where Natalie Wood ran down the sand dune!”   

As they drove on to view the Totem Pole and Spearhead Mesa Mark asked the guide, “What’s the difference between a mesa and a butte?”

“A mesa is the largest free standing land formation made from erosion of a plateau,” the Navajo man explained.  “You start with an area of hard rock with underlying levels of softer stone.  River abrasion and wind damage erode these softer areas, and cause cracks in the earth around the edges of the stone mass, resulting in isolated mesas.  As the mesas continue to be eroded to smaller sizes, they become ‘buttes’, then turn into needle-like thin projection ‘spires’ and ‘pinnacles’, as at Bryce Canyon and Canyon deChelly … finally being worn away to nothing over time.”

Sandoval braked calmly as a roadrunner dashed across the road and into the scrub brush.

“Too bad I left the Coyote at home,” McCormick joked, nudging the Judge with his elbow.  “It’s an in-joke,” he explained to Mitchell and the guide.

Circling around the road loop toward the entry point, they passed Elephant Butte and The Mittens, taking more photos of the scenic views. Then Sandoval headed back down the road to the tour office. 

Thanking the Navajo man for a very enjoyable tour, Milt and Mark tipped him and picked up their backpacks from the storage “trunk” of the jeep.  Agent Baker met them, and introduced FBI detective Marty Andrews from the Flagstaff regional office, who’d be taking over from him until they reached Zion.  Hardcastle, noting that it was already 1:45 in the afternoon, offered to buy lunch for all the officers before they headed down the road.  Some local Navajos had erected food and craft stands nearby and, seeing the Indian Taco listed on the menu of one of them, the Judge and Mark were quick to take advantage of the “last chance” to eat fry bread.  They consumed one and a half tacos apiece, then bought several plain bread pieces to take with them for later consumption.

Finally, the group split up; Baker heading back to Tucson, and Milt, Mark, and Mitchell in the RV, with Andrews coming behind them in a brown Chevy Camero.

CHAPTER XXII:
Arizona/Utah
Passing by the Glen Canyon Dam at Page, Arizona, they stopped for a few minutes to get a photo.  The dam had been constructed from 1956-1964, blocking off part of the Colorado River to provide hydroelectric power for the surrounding states. It took 4,901,000 cubic yards of concrete to create the dam, which is 1560 feet at its crest (top edge) and 583 feet tall (deep). The backed-up waters behind it created the elongated reservoir of Lake Powell, which is 186 miles long and holds about 24 million acre feet (30 km³) of water at full capacity. Besides being a back-up source for power and water, the lake area is also used for fishing, boating, and camping.
In addition to power generation, the Glen Canyon Dam supplies water to California, Arizona, Nevada, and New Mexico; 85% is used for farm irrigation, and the rest for urban purposes. 

Continuing on to Kanab, they stopped at a gas station. While Mark was overseeing the pump, Agent Andrews used the pay phone on the side of the building to check in with the St. George FBI Office.  Coming back after a few minutes, he knocked on the Coachman’s door and entered, telling Milt and Mitchell that reservations had been made in the Watchman Campground at Zion, and that the latest word from LA was that they were still picking up minor members of Boutros’ organization, and working on the plan to use the Airstream agents to trap the mobsters back at Hardcastle’s house.  Lieutenant Harper was expecting a phone call from the Judge later that night to discuss the matter.

Milt nodded and thanked the officer.  McCormick, opening the door to enter, stepped back to let the agent go out.  Once everyone was back in their vehicles, Hardcastle put the Coachman in gear and headed to Zion.  
Once safely in the campground, they met the FBI agent from the nearby town of St. George, Bill Wilson. He would ride inside the Coachman during the day as Mitchell had done, pretending to be part of their tourist party and covering the security needs of their Utah travels. Agents Mitchell and Andrews bid the Judge and Mark goodbye, with plans to drive to Kanab for the night and then head back to Flagstaff the next morning.

Wilson escorted Hardcastle to the pay phone by the nearby mini-mart, and kept an eye out while the jurist phoned Frank’s house.  The lieutenant assured Milt that the LA feds were 99% sure that no other “hits” would be made on him or Mark, but they wanted the local FBI men to still be around if needed. From all the interviews they’d had with Boutros’ and Martinez’s men the last two days, the reference to the change of plan from chasing the Judge across the country to making the hit when he returned home had been repeated several times.  Tony knew that they’d have to come back to LA sometime soon, and he was planning to set a trap at their own front door.  

Frank and the California FBI officers involved in the case believed that Boutros still believed Milt and Mark to be in the Airstream, so Agents Rivers and Stevens were going to do one last imitation performance the next afternoon, and pull up the drive of the estate. Anxious to do as much dealing with the feds over his spying work as he could, ex-police officer Carter had agreed to call up Willie Martinez in the morning, and tip him off that he’d overheard that the Judge and McCormick were coming home -- while, at the same time, the LAPD and the feds were going to have several plainclothes officers assigned to cover the beach access and gardens of the Gulls’ Way property, as well as officers hiding out in the pool house equipment shed, in the shrubs behind the basketball court/gatehouse, and inside the main house.  If any move was made on the RV inhabitants, the troops would be ready to act.

Milt chuckled.  “Sounds like a plan.  Just make sure they don’t break any windows or step on the delphiniums.  And ... have ‘em be careful!  That goes for you, too, Frank.  I’ll phone you tomorrow night to find out what happened. Yeah … the kid’s okay.  We just got to Zion … we’ll tour it tomorrow, then go to Bryce Canyon for the night. We’ll be there until the afternoon of the next day, and then back to Vegas that night. How’s Claudia?  Great.  Tell her ‘hi’. Okay ... talk to ya later, Frank.  Bye.”

Agent Wilson walked back with Hardcastle to the RV, then headed over to the next camp spot where his tent was set up. Milt entered the Coachman, noticing that Mark was listening to Marty Robbins singing ‘The Red Hills of Utah’ and writing in his journal.  “Everything’s fine with Frank,” he commented as the young man looked up.  “Stevens and Rivers are playing 'Let’s Pretend' again with the Airstream … gonna head back to Gulls’ Way tomorrow and let ol’ Tony make his final move.  Frank and the feds will have the whole place staked out, ready to pounce.  Meanwhile, we’ll see some more nice bits of nature -- okay, sport?”
He ruffled McCormick’s hair affectionately, then turned toward the back of the trailer.  Changing into his night clothes, he settled into bed and got out a book to read.  

#     #     #
Walking at 6:27 the next morning, Hardcastle turned on the lights in the kitchen and living room, made a loud show of looking for his right slipper, pushed an Al Hirt cassette tape into the dashboard player, and rattled the coffeemaker unit as he filled it with water, a filter, and grounds in a concerted attempt to roust McCormick out of bed. A groan was his only response; then Mark stuck his tousled head out of the layers of blankets and  complained, “I thought that cruel and unusual punishment  was banned by the Eighth Amendment!”
“You haven’t seen ‘cruel and unusual punishment’ yet, kiddo. This is only the beginning of my repertoire,” the Judge responded, whacking the young man’s foot with a rolled up magazine.  “Now quit yer griping and get up!  It’s going to be a good day.”

“Well, at least no one’s throwing a basketball against the camper wall,” Mark yawned, pulling up the bed covers and searching for his socks, which had worked themselves off his feet while he slept.  He went into the bathroom to wash up while Milt changed the music to a smooth, crooning Eddy Arnold performance, peeked through the window blinds to see what the morning looked like (clear and bright), folded up the blankets and sheets Mark had used overnight, then rummaging around in the refrigerator. Cutting up two pieces of fry bread into smaller sizes, he basted them with butter and sprinkled them with sugar and cinnamon.  Popping them into the toaster, he turned and cracked four eggs into a bowl.  Adding bacon bits and a handful of French fried onions, he scrambled the contents and poured it into a skillet.  Stirring it around with a spatula, he hummed along with the tape.

Coming out of the shower in a robe and wiping his wet hair with a hand towel, Mark leaned over the stove and sniffed appreciatively. The Judge good-naturedly elbowed him back, growling, “These don’t need any help from ‘Vidal Sassoon’ to cook!”

McCormick grinned, “Is he coming to breakfast?  Better put on some more coffee.”

Hardcastle shook his head and sighed.  He was doing more of that these last few days.  “Looks like the hot water woke you up a little.  Now, check the toaster and see if the bread’s done.”

“Done what?” Mark inquired innocently.

“McCormick!”

#     #     #
At 7:45, Agent Wilson knocked on the camper door and entered.  “What are your plans today, Your Honor?”
“Well, let’s start out along the scenic drive road going north.  It’s about eight miles long and follows the Virgin River all the way through. There’s several opportunities for short hikes to waterfalls and such.”  He looked around the camper.  “I think we’ll be ready in about 15 minutes … get on your hiking boots and fill up a canteen.  The temp’ll be in the 70’s or so today … might take a light jacket just in case the higher elevations get a little cooler.”

The officer nodded his understanding and left.  Milt nudged McCormick.  “Check your water bottle … we’ll be doing a lot of walking in spots.  Got enough film in your camera? Fine. We’ll be riding in here for much of the first part of the park, so we can munch on stuff from the fridge, but pack a few of the granola bars and some fruit for food on the trail.”

After Wilson rejoined them, Hardcastle started up the RV and headed to the nearby visitor’s center, where they viewed displays of the area geology, vegetation, and animal life.  Zion had been the home of the Anasazi Basketmaker and Pueblo peoples from around 500-1200 A.D., with the northern part of the park also occupied by people belonging to the Fremont Indian culture.  After they had migrated south, the area was left alone by most pioneers until the 19th Century, with only scattered bands of Paiute Indians living in the fringes of the canyons.  Their spiritual legends of the “bad spirits” in the rocks and valleys made them fearful and superstitious of the land, so they often refused to enter it when asked to be guides for Anglo explorers.

When the Mormons entered Utah from the east in the mid-1800’s, Brigham Young ordered several of his men to explore the canyonlands of the south for potential farming and habitation locations. In 1858, Nephi Johnson explored the upper Virgin River section of Zion.  A few years later, Joseph Black also investigated the region, and came back to the settlement with glowing reports of its beauty. Local Mormon farmer Isaac Behunin was reported to have said that the great mountains were natural temples of God, where they could worship in nature as they could in the heavenly city of God (Zion) -- so the Mormon peoples adopted the name for the area. Zion is an ancient Hebrew word meaning ‘a place of refuge or sanctuary’, and the settlers felt it was appropriate for the peaceful and attractive region.

John Wesley Powell performed a limited exploration of the vicinity in 1872 while studying the lands of the Grand Canyon, but it was thirty years later when the first comprehensive land survey of the region was done by Leo A. Snow (an United States Deputy Surveyor from St. George, Utah) during the summer of 1908.  Presenting his report to the Department of the Interior, the administrators there were so impressed by his findings that they were brought to the attention of President Taft, with the suggestion that the area should be set aside and preserved. In 1909, the region was established, by presidential proclamation, to be the Mukuntuweap (Paiute for ‘Straight Canyon’) National Monument.

Local Mormon settlers lobbied for and won a change in the name to “Zion” when the monument was enlarged in 1918. The next year, it became a national park. It presently covered approximately 147,000 acres.

Geologically, Zion Canyon had undergone the same changes as Monument Valley.  Located along the western edge of the Colorado Plateau, mineral-laden waters slowly filtered through the compacted mountain debris sediments that fell into the empty sea basin, with pressure from overlying layers over long periods of time transforming the deposits into stone. Iron oxide, calcium carbonate, and silica acted as cementing agents. Ancient seabeds became limestone; mud and clay became mudstones and shale; and desert sand became sandstone. 

During the period of tectonic plate uplift, this part of the plateau had an elevation rise from near sea level to as high as 10,000 feet, causing water steams to tumble off the steep gradient of the land at a rapid rate, eroding the rock layers to form deep and narrow canyons. Present elevations in the Park ranged from 4,000 feet in the valley floors to nearly 9,000 feet on the upper cliff crests.

The southeast side of Zion National Park along the Zion-Mt. Carmel Highway (accessed from Highway 89/Road 9) is slickrock country. Slickrock is sandstone that is lacking large concentrations of iron oxide, making its colors appear in whites and light yellows and oranges. The soft rock is easily eroded, and forms almost-bare buttes and domes. Checkerboard Mesa was the most well-known landmark, viewed as one entered the park.  Surrounding areas appeared as sandy and rocky desert-like bluffs, with sparse scrub brush and Utah juniper trees. 

Zion Canyon itself, along the north/south Scenic Drive Road, is made of shale and Navajo sandstone. Iron and manganese oxides color the cliffs in bands of red, orange, and gray/black.

Leaving the visitor’s center Milt, Mark, and Wilson began the journey up through the main road.  At the Court of the Patriarchs viewpoint they looked left to see the three tall peaks named for Abraham, Isaac, and Jacob. Mount Moroni was to the right, and in front of  “Jacob”. The right side of the road had views of the Mountain of the Sun and the Twin Brothers. 

Continuing to the Zion Lodge, they parked in the large lot and walked to the trailhead of the Emerald Pools Trail.  There were three levels of pools accessible on a three-mile round-trip path; however, the reported steepness and ruggedness of the Upper Pool Trail made them decide to just brave the first two sections.
Starting along the river, they made their way through a meadow brightened by evening primroses and blue flax.  The path was pleasantly shaded by cottonwoods and box elders, leading the hikers in a little over ten minutes to the Lower Pool section.  On the way, Milt pointed out rock squirrels running up a live oak, and a few minutes later McCormick saw a piñon jay flying by.  

Arriving at the pool they were delighted to see the striking landscape.  Several small pools of water, interspersed among dusty-red stones, were colored in shades of green by algae growths. Small blooms of monkey flower and golden columbine were growing in the moist soil nearby.  Three long waterfalls cascaded from the Middle Pools over a sandstone cliff, their force causing fine sprays of mist to float in the air.  Seepage from the rock bluff had allowed lush hanging gardens of Maidenhair ferns and moss to sprout from cracks in its face.  The trail passed behind the waterfalls, giving the Judge and Mark a great photo opportunity to shoot through the water to the scenic canyon view of the Virgin River Valley beyond. They took several pictures of the region, then sat on some boulders and pulled out oatmeal bars and apples to munch on, sharing with Wilson. Relaxing in silence, they mentally drank in the calmness and beauty of the site for several minutes.

After finishing their snacks, they continued on past the waterfall base to the Middle Pools, the origin of the water spill. Its shallow pools were formed by the 175-foot cascade of water from the Upper Pools. Looking out into the canyon, they had good views of Red Arch Mountain and Lady Mountain.
Heading back down to the Lodge, they arrived there about 10:15.  Looking over the map, Mark and the agent agreed with Hardcastle’s suggestion to continue on to Weeping Rock.  It got its name from the continuous “weeping" of water between layers of sandstone and shale from Echo Canyon above, whose slot shape (narrow and deep) allowed a stream of water to percolate through the stone, keeping the rock face wet and allowing lush hanging gardens of moss and fern plants to grow from its surface.

Starting out on the short trail, Milt warned the others to be careful walking on the slippery regions where the cliff water had overrun the walkway and led to moist algae patches on the stone.  The cliff face was covered with small green vegetation, some with long strands of stems and leaves trailing like hair down the cliff.  The great sandstone monoliths of Angel’s Landing, The Great White Throne and Cable Mountain were visible from the site.

Finishing their rolls of film, they returned to the RV and reloaded the cameras.  Mark took over the driving and, in another mile or so, they came to the end of the Scenic Drive Road at the Temple of Sinawava (“Coyote" -- Southern Paiute).   This region was the “Gateway to The Narrows”, a 16-mile rugged hiking trail going though regions of meadow environments along the river, changing in increasing elevations to a deep gorge bordered by dramatically colored and tall sandstone walls, and a ponderosa pine habitat.  Several waterfalls and creeks in the region supported lush vegetation. 
The Judge and McCormick decided after a very short discussion (limited to the single word “no” and a grimace at the exercise it demanded) to forgo this touring option, and just see the waterfall near the trailhead and go along the path for about a mile.  
The waterfall was spectacular, with a large flow of water falling down a flat cliff face of sandstone, with cottonwood trees framing the sight from the river meadow and fluffy white clouds floating in the blue sky above.
After getting several photos of the beautiful scene, the men turned to view the Pulpit Rock formation, then continued down the trail into an area of Box elders and Velvet ash trees, with grassy meadows full of wildflowers.  Red sandstone cliffs towered above the path.  McCormick reached for his camera and, silently pointing between the trees, showed the others a mule deer foraging. 
The trail came to a small boggy area, but soon angled up past it onto a wooded slope and into a rocky section where a little bridge sat over a creek. Walking over it and going onward, they found that the canyon narrowed and the trail went up another rocky hill to come out at an area of springs, where hanging gardens of plants were watered by small waterfalls seeping from the walls of the canyon. Hardcastle, McCormick, and Wilson laughed at the antics of the gray American Dipper birds, which were bobbing along the river pebbles searching for food, their sharp calls of “zeet” filling the air.
Looking at his watch, Hardcastle announced that it was 12:15.  They decided to hike back on the trail to the RV and drive to Zion Lodge for lunch, then head out of the park, seeing the slickrock formations on the way.
Digging into a hamburger and fries, Mark looked on as the Judge and Wilson studied a Utah map, figuring out the time schedule in traveling between their present location and Bryce Canyon. As McCormick finished his fries and began to make inroads on a large piece of coconut cream pie, the two older men went over to the Lodge’s desk phone and called the Bryce Visitor’s Center for information on campgrounds for the night.  Returning in a few minutes, they met Mark at the entry to the restaurant and then headed out to the Coachman.
After dropping off Agent Wilson at the campground to pick up his vehicle, Hardcastle headed east on the Zion-Mt. Carmel Highway.  The pine and cottonwood vegetation along the red cliffs gave way to a desert/grassland appearance, with cholla, claret cup cactus, prickly pear, yucca, and sagebrush now being the primary plant life. Looking across the sandy plateau, they saw a desert cottontail rabbit scurrying across the ground.  Checkerboard Mesa was the last formation they viewed as they exited the park, its white and pale yellow conic shape having horizontal layers of sediments split vertically by cracks.  From there, they took Road 9 to the Mount Carmel Junction, turning north on Highway 89.

#     #     #
Reaching the gates of Bryce Canyon at 4:42 p.m., Hardcastle checked in at the North Campground office and positioned the Coachman into its reserved slot.  Meeting with Wilson, who had obtained a camp site three spaces down, he and Mark figured that they’d give Frank a few more hours before contacting him, since it was still mid-afternoon in LA, and the “trap” at Gulls’ Way might still be in play.  Looking at a brochure of the Bryce area, they decided to concentrate the next day’s touring to the main “Amphitheater” section of the Sunrise, Sunset, Inspiration, and Bryce Points which overlooked the famous rock formations.  Relaxing in the RV with music cassettes playing and the three talking or reading books, they spent the next few hours in pleasant company.
At 9 p.m., the Judge and Wilson walked over to the pay phone by the laundry, Mark having been “requested” to utilize its services after dinner.  After a few rings Claudia answered, and reassuring Milt that both she and Frank were fine put the lieutenant on the line.

“Milt … we did it!” exclaimed Harper.  “Carter phoned Willie Martinez about 10 a.m., telling him that he’d been sick for the last two days with food poisoning, and had just got back into the office that morning.  He claimed to have overheard me telling Mattie Groves on the phone that you and Mark were coming back to LA around 2 p.m., and we’d made plans to have the poker gang over for a celebratory dinner later in the evening after you’d unpacked.  

“Martinez took the bait … showed up at the estate about 1:20 in a plumbing van, with another car parked down by the alley going to the beach road.  They hung out in the street until they saw the Airstream pull off the PCH, then followed behind it at a distance as it came up the drive.  We’d radioed our men out on the beach and in the gardens to come in closer a few minutes earlier, since they’d detected no unusual activity out there, and planted them behind the main house. Hearing that everyone was in place, we then called Rivers on the walkie-talkie to come on in through the gate.

“Rivers parked by the fountain and shut off the engine.  We saw him get up from the driver’s seat, then the side door opened and he came out and started yelling for ‘McCormick’ to grab the bags…he really did a good imitation of you, Milt! … and when Stevens climbed out with an armful of  clothes, there was a loud screech of brakes and Martinez’s bunch jumped out of their cars and started shooting.  Stevens dropped his load and he and Rivers hit the deck, and then all hell broke loose as the FBI guys and my bunch came pouring out of the front door, the gatehouse area, and the drive going back to the pool.  Our side only got minor wounds … all of ‘em had flak vests on, including the Airstream bunch, and we rounded up six of Boutros’ best guys, including Willie.  Guess he was tired of depending on his lower echelon of mugs, and hired outsiders to get the job done.  No windows were broken, and the delphiniums are safe.”

Hardcastle laughed with excitement. “Great job, Frank!  You really got to Tony now!”  He patted Agent Wilson, who was listening over his shoulder, on the arm in celebration.  “Hey Frank,” he continued,  “Everything’s not quite over yet with the case. We’ve still got tomorrow to see Bryce Park, and I figure we’ll head out of here by two in the afternoon.  Do you want us to spend the night in Vegas, or just come on in?”

“I can’t guarantee that the estate is 100% safe yet … if any word gets back to Boutros about this trap of ours, he’ll know you apparently survived the hit any way you look at it.  Stay with Wilson tomorrow. You’ll arrive at Vegas at around 5 p.m. if you leave the park as you plan, so continue on to the Henderson KOA, where an Agent Montoya will meet you. Ask for Alberto at the reception desk and you’ll be directed to him.  He will switch out with Wilson, and escort you back the next morning to Pomona, where you’ll go to a RV dealer helping us out, leave the Coachman, and move into Montoya’s Suburban.  He’ll drive you from there to Mattie’s house, where I will meet you.  By that time, we’ll know better how safe it’ll be to let you go back to Gulls’ Way.”
“Sounds like you’ve got it planned out pretty well, Frank,” Milt praised.  “I’ll see you when we get back.”

Hanging up, he and Wilson returned to the Coachman, where the FBI man bade him good evening and returned to his tent. Hardcastle, pumped up with exhilaration at the outcome of the LA strategy, offered to help Mark fold the dry clothes.

#     #     #
After a late breakfast (8:30) the next morning with Agent Wilson, Milt and Mark prepared to see the last scenic stop in their long tour of the country.  The Bryce Visitor’s Center gave them some basic information on the region as they toured its museum and educational area.  Bryce Canyon was 55 square miles in area.  As with Zion, Anasazi, Paiutes, and Mormon settlers had lived nearby, one of the latter being Ebenezer Bryce, who moved into the land in 1875 to harvest timber.  Soon after the turn of the 20th Century, outside visitors were beginning to come to look at the colorful and unusual formations, increasing in number so much over the next two decades that area naturalists called for federal protection of the area. Answering their demand, President Warren G. Harding declared the region a National Monument in 1923.  The next year, legislation was started to expand its status into a National Park, but it wasn’t until 1928 that the change became final.
Bryce Canyon had a similar geological past to Zion, but differed in that the sights in Zion were in a river valley surrounded by tall cliffs, whereas Bryce’s overlook areas were at the top rim of a canyon, looking down into a valley filled with rock formations formed by water flow of the tributaries of the Paria River.
During the Cretaceous Period of 63-144 million years ago, the land was covered by seawater from the present-day Gulf Coast of Texas and the south. Dakota Sandstone layers were created from the thick deposits (up to 300 feet) of silt and fossil-rich silica on the ocean bed.  As the waters receded, mud deposits accumulated on top, making the sediment layers (shale and sandstone) dark gray to brown in color.  This was the lowest level of rock in the park.
In the Tertiary Period (40-63 million years ago) which followed this event, area rivers and streams deposited iron-rich limey sediments on top of the shale, the limestone’s layers containing iron oxides (hematite and limonite) that created colors of reddish-pink and soft yellow. This was known as the Claron Formation, which was seen all over the park in the “hoodoo” spires.
Ten million years ago, fault line movement underground caused land displacement/elevation and cracking of the various rock layers, allowing different geologic age rocks to end up side by side in the same elevation level.  The limestone of the Claron Formation was softer than the older shale layer beside it, and thus more easily eroded by water. River flow against the rocks scoured their surface with silt, pebbles and debris, abrading the outer layers.  The exposed sandstone absorbed moisture from the ground streams as well as from rainfall, and was weakened by the formation of carbonic acid from water and carbon dioxide, which loosened and displaced small sand grains. This process of chemical and physical weathering changed plateaus to thin “fins” (elongated narrow cliffs) over time. Then holes/windows eroded in the rock face and, finally, the land was separated into individual pinnacles called hoodoos.
Reading the bottom of the timeline chart, McCormick noted that there was good news and bad news in the future for the park’s sights. Internal layers of mudstone, conglomerate rock and siltstone are scattered through the limestone horizontally. These layers are more resistant to attack by carbonic acid, and can therefore help to protect the fins, windows and hoodoos of which they are a part. Also, many of the more durable hoodoos are capped with a type of magnesium-rich limestone called dolomite, which dissolves at a much slower rate, and consequently protects the weaker stone underneath.
On the negative side, in the winter melting snow seeps into cracks and joints in the stone and freezes at night. The force of the expanding ice helps to erode the rock of the Claron Formation.  From this, as well as from the continuing weathering by water forces, geologists have calculated that in three million years (That’s still good news for me Mark thought) the continually thinning hoodoos will erode away entirely, allowing the streams and branches of the Paria River, now blocked by formations, to enter the canyon more easily and slowly create a broad valley devoid of the present stone pinnacles and arches.
Leaving the visitor’s center, they began the drive through the outlooks of the “Bryce Amphitheater”. Milt and Mark noticed that ponderosa pines were the dominant tree along the canyon rim, at an elevation of approximately 7800 feet.  The whole 18-mile length of the park transcended 2000 feet of elevation, with three distinct climatic zones: spruce, fir, and aspen forests at the highest part, the southern tip near Rainbow Point (9100 feet at the canyon rim), ponderosa pines in the lower canyon rim locations (center and north parts of the park), and piñon pine and juniper in the bottoms of the canyon.  The diversity of habitat provided for high biodiversity -- over 100 species of birds, dozens of mammals, and more than a thousand plant species lived in the Bryce region.

Over the next three hours, they looked at this part of the canyon from the four main viewpoints on its rim, seeing many of the more famous formations:  the Queen’s Garden, Thor’s Hammer, The Three Wise Men (one of Mark’s favorite sections), The Cathedral, and the Wall of Windows, where erosion had opened up several holes near the top of a “fin” cliff.  They were able to get several nice photos, and enjoyed watching ospreys soaring through the air, and the little chipmunks running along the overlook paths trying to snatch up small pieces of granola bars Mark “accidentally” dropped. Scarlet paintbrush and penstemon blooms sprung up between orange sandstone rocks and manzanita bushes close to the top of the trailheads nearby, adding to the scenic “desert” feel of the area.  

Hardcastle sighed with reluctance. “It’s nearly one o’clock, kiddo.  We’ve got to take Bill back to get packed up, then hit the road.  Did you see everything you wanted to around here?”

McCormick nodded with a grin.  Picking up his camera bag, he walked over to unlock the RV, then climbed into the driver’s seat as Hardcastle pulled out the ingredients for sandwiches, making extras for Wilson.  Once back at the campground, the Judge and Mark helped the FBI agent to pack up his tent and personal equipment, and then they all had a quick lunch before heading toward Cedar City and Highway 15, en route to Vegas.
CHAPTER XXIII:
Malibu, California
“Here you go.”  Mark handed the next folder of photographs across the table to Frank.  “These are from Vegas, the last stop before we got home.”

“Oh, yeah,” Harper murmured.  “I like this one of the Nugget.  But how come there aren't any pictures of the buffet?”  He raised a satirical eyebrow at McCormick.
Hardcastle grunted in amusement.  “There woulda been a bunch of them, especially of McCormick grazing through, but you know casinos don't allow cameras inside.”  He took a sip of his iced tea and gazed placidly over the pool to the glittering blue surface of the ocean beyond.  “Always have a good time in Vegas.  Had a great trip all-around, actually.”

Mark nodded in emphatic agreement.  “It was great.  I'll never forget that trip, never.  And the weird thing is that we were off having a vacation and still managed to get the bad guys rounded up.”

“I meant to ask you about that.”  The Lieutenant handed the photos to the Judge and sampled his own tea.  “Mark, you told me you’d taken care of Boutros himself.  That was a week ago, right after you got back.  You ready to tell me how yet?”

“I'd be kinda interested in hearing that myself,” said the Judge.  “You said when we got to Mattie’s that you needed to make a phone call, and then everything would be okay.”  He stuffed photographs into a manila envelope and wrestled with the little metal clamp.  “So, who'd ya call and how come we were cleared to come back that night?  And how come you couldn't tell us that night?”

“Well,” McCormick modestly buffed his nails on his ‘Indy 500’ t-shirt, “I called a guy I know, who knows another guy, and we got word to Boutros that if anything happened to you, Judge, there'd be a little visit to his cell one night.  By a guy who might be a little upset by that.”
“You threatened him?”  Frank shook his head, pursing his lips.  “You know that's against the law.”  He looked at Mark from under his brows, and winked.  “Seems to have worked, though.  Boutros has backed off all the revenge talk, and started to act like a model prisoner.”

The Judge had his chin resting on his palm.  “You know that’s not the way we do things.  We let the system handle it, we depend on the guys who --”

“Look, it worked, didn't it?”  Mark reached for another cookie.  “'Course it didn’t hurt that Boutros was out of money.  If you can’t pay the fee, you won’t find any contractors willing to make a hit.”  He took a large bite of cookie and spoke through the crumbs.  “His lawyers must’ve really stiffed him on their bill.  Poor old Tony’ll have to learn a new trade while he’s doing his time.”

“And he's gonna have a lot of time to become a real expert, too, with that sentence.”  Harper shook his head again.  “Not exactly the way the department likes to handle a problem, Mark, but . . . well, I’m gonna pretend I don’t know anything about it.”

Hardcastle frowned at them both, then took another cookie himself.  “Well, I suppose it’s not something we can fix.”

“Not unless you want me to personally apologize to Boutros and promise him it was some kinda joke.  And, really, Judge,”  Mark leaned over the table and lowered his voice, “I don't think he’d believe me.”  He sat back and smirked.

“So, look,” Frank caught the look of disapproval from the Judge and hastened to change the subject, “Milt, what was your favorite part of the trip?  Seeing ‘the Old West’, the Cowboy Hall of Fame?”

The Judge pondered for a few moments, idly tapping his glass with a finger.  “Nah.  You know ... I think the parts I liked the best were at night.  We'd just sit around, maybe have a campfire, coupla hot dogs and some marshmallows ...”

“Yeah,” McCormick chimed in, “or have some popcorn, sit around and shoot the breeze for a while.”

“Talk about what we'd seen that day, plan out the next one.  That’s what I remember most.”  Hardcastle shrugged.  “Not that the places we went and the stuff we saw weren't great.  They were.  But ... I dunno.”

“It was a vacation,” Mark said.  “You don't have to do something on a vacation for it to be the best time you have.”

The Judge nodded.  “Yeah.  And we had some terrific times, didn't we, kiddo?  But those times were the best.”

Harper nodded his understanding, and smiled at the two men across the table.  “Sounds like you two had a great time, all right.  You ever decide to do something like that again, maybe I'll tag along.”

McCormick propped his head on his hand and eyed the Judge thoughtfully.  “You did say you wanted to see that Air and Space Museum in Washington.”

“And we didn't get to New Orleans at all,” mused Hardcastle.  “The French Quarter, some real dixieland.”

“Just let me know when,” said Frank, “and I'll come along for the ride.”
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